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PRELUDE

* 01142007 *

»1

Clifford Geertz has called anthropologists “merchants of astonishment.
But for me, it’s Tooy who plays that role. Some thirty-five years into my
research with Saramakas I met him, and it wasn’t long before he took
me through the looking glass and down the rabbit hole. He has shared with
me hidden worlds that, for him, make life worth living and, for me, con-
tinue to amaze and fascinate. This book, in unbridgeably different ways, is
his as much as mine—his gift to me, my gift to him.

At first glance, the rough shantytowns that ring Cayenne, where Hai-
tian, Brazilian, Guyanese, and Suriname migrants live cheek by jowl, might
seem the least likely of places to meet a fellow intellectual. And yet ... The
poverty that threatens to crush the spirit of both the hardworking and the
unemployed can leave largely untouched the richness of the imagination.
Amidst the mud and stench and random violence, Tooy—captain of the
Saramakas of Cayenne—runs a household in which spiritual and rhetori-
cal gifts abound. I've felt privileged to play a part in it during the past seven
years.

Tooy belongs to a long and distinctive tradition of emigration by Sara-
maka men to French Guiana (or “Guyane”—not to be confused with the for-
mer British colony of Guyana). For a century and a half, the migrants have
clustered in sites spread across Guyane. Though often working for outsiders
to earn money, they spend the great bulk of their social lives with other Sara-
makas. Meanwhile, their imaginaire—their thoughts, their dreams, their
hopes—is forever grounded in their homeland in the neighboring country
of Suriname. In Guyane, even if they’ve come there voluntarily, they’re al-
ways in exile. Their central point of reference is their home village and its
spiritual possessions, the stretch of river and forest that surrounds it, the
places where they’ve hunted and gardened, the world that their heroic an-
cestors first carved out in the Suriname rainforest more than three hundred
years ago.



VIII * PRELUDE

Saramakas—today some fifty-five thousand people—are one of six Ma-
roon peoples whose African ancestors were brought to the Dutch colony of
Suriname as slaves.” Individually, in small groups, and sometimes in great
collective rebellions, they escaped plantations into the rainforest, where
they created a new society and culture, drawing on their diverse African
heritages. For nearly one hundred years they fought a war against the colo-
nists and, in 1762, were granted their freedom, a full century before gen-
eral emancipation in the colony. During the French Guiana gold rush of the
1860s, Saramaka men crossed the border and soon became the mainstays
of that colony’s river transport, using their extraordinary skills in building
canoes and maneuvering them through the fierce rapids to carry merchan-
dise and men upriver and gold back down. During Suriname’s recent civil
war (1986-92), thousands of new Saramaka migrants joined those who had
long been in Guyane, so that today nearly one-third of Saramakas live in
this little piece of France in South America, the majority illegally (that is,
without French papers).

Beginning with our initial visit to Suriname in 1966, Sally Price and I
have spent much of our lives living with Saramakas and writing about their
history and culture. Like so many of these people, we have shifted our fo-
cus to French Guiana since the Suriname civil war. References to our pub-
lications about Saramakas and other Maroons can be found at http:/fwww
.richandsally.net.

Many times as I worked on these pages, I've asked myself whom I was
writing them for (besides of course myself). I imagine at least three kinds
of readers. First, historians, anthropologists, and Afro-Americanists with
attitude, who will grasp to what extent this book constitutes a demon-
stration of the remarkable processes of creolization® that occurred in the
formative years of Saramaka society and the stunning continuation of
similar processes into the present—a testimony to African American, and
humankind’s, imagination in highest gear. Then, general readers, who are
prepared to accompany me—and Tooy—on a fabulous journey. And finally,
Saramakas, to the extent that my displaying even a small portion of their
collective wisdom may serve as example to the world, and be a source of
pride and dignity for themselves in that wider world.*

- THE ISSUE OF AUTHORSHIP. A colleague in France, hearing that I was
writing a book based on work with a Saramaka “best friend,” asked whether
Iwould share with him the “signature” (credit for authorship). She pointed
out that a colleague of hers had recently published a book “in two voices”
with a homeless man who was his friend, and that their two names appeared
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as coauthors. A little reflection should make clear that, from the outset, I
must take sole responsibility for authorship in this case. Though Tooy’s
knowledge and imagination and personality animate the text, the act of
writing a book, and all it entails, would be as foreign to him as organizing
and conducting an 6bia ceremony would be to me. Tooy humors me and tries
to please me by telling me things I can use in my book—though his real
dream, he sometimes tells me, is that I'll move down to Cayenne and join
him in his dbia practice, combining my skills and knowledge with his. We
respect each other’s expertise, to the extent we find appropriate we share
each other’s knowledge and passions, and we do our best to make each oth-
er’s life a bit more worth living. But in the end, I'm the American writer and
he’s the Saramaka dbia-man.’

- CAVEAT. Tooy is a wise, spirited Saramaka—but there are a number
of other men of his age who share these traits. In a real sense, I present
our friendship, and something of his gifts, not because theyre unique
or because theyre typical but because theyre exemplary. His personal
interests—his own Ldngu clan’s interests—differ from those of a man of
his age belonging to a different clan, and the stories he cherishes and the
knowledge he possesses differ as well. But not like night and day. Rather,
like different contributing elements of the marvelous world that Sara-
makas have collectively built in the Americas over the past three and a half
centuries.

+ ABOUT PERSONAL NAMES. In a very few cases, I have altered names
and other identifying markers to protect people’s privacy. To assist readers
with keeping track of unfamiliar names, I provide a list labeled Dramatis
Personae on pp. 391-94.

- ABOUT ORTHOGRAPHY. Following long-standing conventions in the
literature, I call the people Saramakas, their language Saramaccan (in Sara-
maccan, Saamdka and Saamdka-téngo, respectively). In Saramaccan, vowels
have Italian values, except ¢ = the vowel in English met, 6 = the vowel in Eng-
lish all; vowel extension in speech is indicated by vowel repetition in writing;
anasalized vowel is indicated by Vm before labial consonants and by Vn be-
fore nonlabial consonants; single prenasalized consonants are indicated by
mb, nd, ndj, and ny. Both kp (= kw) and gb (= gw) are single consonants. High
tones are indicated by an acute accent; low tones are unmarked. The texts of
songs and other esoteric language materials mentioned in the narrative are
spelled out and explained more fully in the Coda.
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- ABOUT QUOTATIONS. Throughout this book, the passages within
quotation marks (or set off as extracts) are translations of verbatim tran-
scriptions from a recording device that I had at hand during the great bulk
of my encounters with Tooy—at first a tape recorder, later a digital sound
recorder. From 2003 onward, the latter was rarely out of my hand as I spoke
with Tooy, who encouraged me to use this “crutch” for my learning. With
few exceptions, all paraphrases of Tooy’s speech were also written on the
basis of these recordings, rather than simply from memory or notes.*

- WARNING: Captain Tooy is an inveterate time traveler—so fasten your
seatbelts. Like other Saramaka men, he spends a great deal of time think-
ing about his distant ancestors, some of whose lives he knows intimately,
as well as other normally invisible beings. Neither nostalgia nor intellectual
exercise, these voyages help him understand who he is—his forebears’ spe-
cific powers, wrapped up in their individual histories, give him much of
the energy he has to confront the world. Tooy has spent a lifetime putting
together his knowledge of them as he participated in countless rites, politi-
cal gatherings, and family councils. Over the years that I've known him, he
has generously shared fragments of what he knows of them with me, in part
in the hope of learning more from my own stock of stories, built up over
years as an ethnographer of the Saramaka past.
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Tooy loves crossing boundaries, between centuries and continents, bet-
ween the worlds of the living and the dead, between the visible and the in-
visible, between villages on land and under the sea. Whoosh! We're in the
eighteenth century, surrounded by African arrivants who are as familiar as
our friends and neighbors. Whoosh! We're talking about migrant Saramakas
who built a new world in French Guiana at the end of the nineteenth century.
Whoosh! We're speaking with the sea gods who control the world’s money
supply. 'm tempted to let Tooy take us on a quick tour of some of his favorite
stopping places: the sister sites of Loango and Dahomey, whence his three
best-known African forebears—Gweytnga, his wife Béti, and her brother
Wii—boarded the ship called Sanfémaindi for the Middle Passage; Society
Plantation on the coast of Suriname, where they landed during a war and
where Béti gave birth to Gweytinga’s son Antamd; Wet Eye Creek, where after
thirty years as runaways deep in the forest, Gweytnga unleashed the pow-
ers of his rain god against the invading soldiers; Victoria Plantation, where
Antamd’s younger brother was killed in fierce battle with the whites; Malobi,
where Gweytinga welcomed the double agent Kwasimukdmba, who cuck-
olded him; Bundjitapd, Tooy’s natal village where, during the whole second
half of the eighteenth century, Antamd held sway as political chief but also
as priest of the rains, having inherited these powers from his father, and as
priest of all-powerful Flibdnti-ébia, which he learned from his father’s nem-
esis, Kwasimukdmba; the underwater palace where a bevy of young girls
waits on the lucky visitor. And many other places that Tooy likes to visit in
his mind and with his ever-flowing words. But, we’ll postpone these visits
for later, as each ties in to the larger story. (There will be other border cross-
ings as well—between Saramaka pantheism and Christianity, between the
Saramaka and French legal systems, and between numerous languages.)

Derek Walcott, in Another Life, asks,

for what else is there
but books, books and the sea,
verandahs and the pages of the sea.”

It’s a question I, too, ponder, gazing out from our verandah—how much
colonial (and anthropological) history that word evokes!—across the
breadth of the Caribbean, realm of the marvelous Wénti sea gods.

Anse Chaudiére, Martinique
January 14, 2007
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MARTINIQUE

* 01012000 *

When I stop by to deliver New Year’s greetings at the local rum shop, Pat-
rick, the proprietor, pulls me aside to deliver a message: his cousin, Roland
Legros, has a delicate problem that he thinks I might be able to solve but is
hesitant to approach me directly. It has to do with his business but—Patrick
reassures me—he’s not trying to borrow money. Might I be willing to speak
to him about it?

From Patrick’s tone, I suspect it’s about magic. Curiosity piqued, I
say yes.

Roland is an island big man—owner of the largest lumberyard and build-
ing supply company on the Atlantic coast, a breeder of champion fighting
cocks, and in the process of building a large second house up on the moun-
tain that dominates the southeast of Martinique. I know him only slightly,
but within days he phones and comes by for a chat. Over whiskey in our liv-
ing room (Scotch replaced rum some years ago as the preferred drink of taxi
drivers, businessmen, and politicians), Roland pours out a litany of prob-
lems to Sally and me, hardly taking a breath for a half hour.

Last year, the henchmen of his biggest cock-fighting rival traveled to
Grenada, where they had a coolie priest (a Hindu) sacrifice a goat to assure
his dominance—they may even have done it again near his own cages be-
hind the house at night while he slept—“some kind of voodoo,” he says,
adding that he’s been told that a Haitian specialist was called in for the local
ceremony. And when he arrives at the lumberyard each morning, he feels
something settling upon him which stays until he leaves at night. What’s
more, the new house he’s building on the mountain isn’t making progress—
for the past two years his workmen have refused to show up.

A while back, there were some break-ins at the lumberyard and he
changed the locks. After the employees had left for the day, he climbed up a
ladder with the old ones to store them on a platform in a corner, in a magical
bath a specialist had prepared for him. There on the platform, he discovered
a piece of wood carved in the shape of a goat’s head, tied all around with
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string. Showing his bravery, he grabbed it with his bare hand and started
down the fifteen-foot ladder, which promptly collapsed. He saw stars, awoke
on the floor, tested his limbs to see that nothing was broken, and as he was
leaving, slammed his head against the steel-curtain door, which had been
only partially rolled up.

Not long after, he had an accident on the autoroute which shattered his
windshield—he found slivers of glass in his socks. And then there are the
dreams. In one, he walks into the cock pit all alone and sees a plate contain-
ing some sort of offering exactly in the center of the sandy floor. In another,
an Amerindian woman (“areal red Carib!”) guides him into the entrance toa
cave, offers him a glass of champagne, and tells him to go no further. But he
keeps going, until he comes upon a black man trembling in trance. He wakes
up covered with goose bumps.

Roland insists to me that he is “very Catholic” and “very spiritual”—he
absolutely draws the line at sacrifice, any shedding of blood. He’s already
sought out specialists, including priests who have performed exorcisms
at the lumberyard—an abbot from France and a Jesuit from Burkina Faso
(where his brother lives). Each time, it helped for a couple of months but
the troubles then returned. He’s convinced the cause is something in the
ground, something that happened during slavery times in the cane fields
that once stood where his father built the lumberyard. There must have
been tortures, killings, who knows exactly what, but it keeps coming back
and won’t leave him in peace. Sometimes he dreams about what must have
happened there.

And finally he comes to the point.

MightI, through my Saramaka connections, be able to suggest an appro-
priate specialist to rid the place of its demon, once and for all?

What a tangle! How to reconcile personal and professional ethics while try-
ing to bridge the various worlds we inhabit. How to suspend certain kinds of
disbelief while holding on to others, never forgetting the inextricable links
that bind modernity to magic in our present world. We are plunged into the
middle of a very Caribbean imbroglio, with tentacles stretching from Haiti
to Trinidad—and now to the descendants of escaped slaves in the tropical
forest of Suriname, whose fame as conjurers radiates all the way to Marti-
nique and beyond.' On balance, it seems like too good a story—and too good
away of tying together the strands of our own lives—not to see how it will
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play out. I take the bait and promise Roland to make some phone calls and
find an appropriate specialist.

April 7, 2000. After numerous calls and messages, everything is in place
(imagine trying to communicate Air France record locator numbers to non-
literate Saramakas over the phone). A man named Tooy Alexander, Saramaka
priest of Diinguldli-Obia, a power that maintains the separation between
the living and the dead, will be arriving that night accompanied by our old
friend Kalusé, who will serve as his assistant and traveling companion. They
will live in our house for the week of work so that Roland’s neighbors and
employees won't suspect that he’s involved.

Roland picks me up in his powerful sedan for the trip to the airport. Hav-
ing shelled out for their tickets, he wonders whether they’ll really show. The
plane is a couple of hours late, giving him time to invite me for a leisurely
dinner of braised kidneys (Roland’s choice) and fine Bordeaux at the upscale
airport restaurant—remember, were in France. Later, waiting for the pas-
sengers to deplane, Iworry aloud about the forest leaves and roots and vines
the Saramakas will certainly bring, how in the world to get them through
customs. Roland disappears to speak to an inspector he knows and tells me
he’s taken care of it. And soon, Tooy and Kalusé emerge through the glass
doors, dragging sacks of vegetable matter plus a couple of sports bags, Tooy,
in his seventies, wearing an ill-fitting brown safari suit and matching be-
ret, with shiny shoes that look like they pinch; the younger Kalusé, more
worldly, in tee shirt, jeans, and Nikes. Embraces. Greetings. And we're off for
a midnight visit to the haunted lumberyard.

Stepping out of the air-conditioned car, the sweet smell of burnt ready-to-
harvest sugarcane overwhelms us. Roland goes to roll up the giant steel door
as Tooy calls Kalusé and me over to examine the only tree in the vicinity, an-
nouncing it’s such-and-such, to which Kalusé says maybe, but Tooy insists
and picks two leaves, breaks and smells them, and shows them to Kalusé and
me with a smile of triumph. Roland calls us inside and quickly rolls the door
shut behind. A row of large, yellow, portable cement mixers greets us on the
showroom floor. “I've had them two months and not a single sale! I'm totally
blocked!” He ushers us into his inner office, flips on the air-conditioning,
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offers chairs, and slips into the big one behind his desk. (I feel like we’re
applying for a car loan.) After asking if Tooy understands Creole (he says
maybe half of it), Roland launches into his life history, with me translat-
ing—his entrance into the lumber business, his passion for raising cocks,
how they worked him over in Grenada (he mimes the slitting of the goat’s
throat), the dreams about the plate in the exact center of the arena—he says
that Nicolas, who used to work for the owner of the cock pit but now works
for him, has told him that his main rival personally instructed Nicolas to put
that plate in the exact center of the pit—and the Carib woman who offered
him champagne at the mouth of the cave, and on and on.

Tooy fixes him with a stare and asks if he has a copy machine, rummag-
ing in his shoulder bag for a sheet of paper and asking for exactly four cop-
ies. ('m excited that he needs a translator, since that means I'm going to be
an integral part of the operation, from beginning to end.) Roland takes the
paper into the next room while Tooy tells me that what they can do here is
merely preliminary, that they’ll have to take Roland, and me, to Cayenne, to
Tooy’s shrine for Dinguldli-Obia, where he’ll get the full treatment—what
Tooy refers to as “knocking the stone.” Roland calls out that the machine
has jammed after making just one copy, then, carrying the papers to me,
jokes nervously about how tough his case is turning out to be. Tooy says
no problem, we’ll make the others tomorrow, and hands me the original for
safekeeping. “You see that picture on the wall?” he asks Roland, pointing at
a framed photo of Roland’s father and some workmen posing in front of a
large stack of lumber. “Take it down.” And he explains that Roland should
take the photocopy, turn it upside down, place it so it will be facing outward
toward the room, and tape it against the back of the picture. Roland gets a
roll of tape and awkwardly follows the orders, finally returning his father to
his place on the wall. The next day, Tooy tells me, he’ll give Roland a second
copy of the paper to fold up and wear next to his heart.

Tooy tells me to explain the two taboos related to this charm, things Ro-
land will need to hold dear: first, if you have that paper pinned inside your
shirt and someone strikes you, he’ll die—so, no fighting allowed. Second, if
youre wearing it and make love to a woman, it will be your last time—your
cock, he winks at me, will never crow again. Roland asks me, hesitantly, if
it’s OK for him to pose a question to Tooy, who nods. What if he is wearing
the paper and makes love because he forgot? Tooy hesitates and answers
evasively, saying maybe if you forget just once . . . but certainly not twice.
It’s very strong! Tooy leans over to me. “It’s really to protect you in war,” he
confides. “A man named Kuset wore it in a war for fifty-five years and lived
to tell the tale!” Tooy unbuttons his shirt and shows me that he has a flat red
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square of cloth containing this very same paper, which he wears over his
heart, suspended from a string around his neck. Like other Saramakas of his
generation, Tooy has never been to school and cannot read.

Before Roland drives us home, Tooy announces the program: the next
night, after closing time, we’ll do a “smoking” of the lumberyard (which
I translate to Roland as a parfumage, the Martiniquan equivalent) and the
following night a special bath in the sea to ask the Mother of Waters to help
with the problem. Roland is to show up at our house after dark with one
bottle of rum, another of sugarcane syrup, another of molasses, six bottles
of beer, and three eggs. (Roland asks if supermarket eggs are OK, and Tooy
shrugs yes.)

Once Roland drops us off at the house, hugs for Sally, libations for the
gods, joy at being together. Tooy speculates about Roland’s case—he thinks
it could be a woman. . . . but concludes with a proverb: “It takes patience to
find out what’s in the belly of an ant.” Suddenly, he spots a toad in the grass
and tells Kalusé to catch it. I bring a plastic bag and they suspend it from a
beam. Tooy says we’ll need it at the lumberyard the next night.



THE SOLDIER’S CHARM

* 0000800 *

Let’s back up just a bit. In 1962, while spending the summer in that same
fishing village in Martinique (on an undergraduate research project), I vis-
ited almost daily with a famous quimboiseur, a sorcerer who cured people and
canoes from all over the island. Many of the spells he prescribed (along with
parfumages, aromatic baths, and other potions) came from grimoires, medi-
eval books of magic still widely used today by Caribbean sorcerers. These
little books were originally printed in Latin (hence grimoire, from grammaire,
alluding to Latin grammar, which was unintelligible to the uninitiated), but
they have been reprinted throughout recent centuries in French (and, by
the Chicago-based De Laurence company, in English, largely for the British
West Indian trade).

The day after Roland affixed Tooy’s sheet of paper to the back of the pic-
ture of his father in the lumberyard, I searched for its sources in my col-
lection of occult French books, which the sorcerer had helped me build up
decades before. Le Dragon Rouge (1521), nothing. Le grimoire du Pape Hono-
rius (1670), no. Le livre des conjurations du Pape Honorius (1670), no matches.
And then, bingo!—the Enchiridion du Pape Léon (1660), dedicated to the
“Serenissimo imperatori Carolo Magno,” which had all of the texts and im-
ages, spread amongst others, between pages 9o and 102. The edition from
which Tooy’s page had been constructed is clearly different from the one I
own—the typeis set in smaller columns but the words and images are iden-
tical. Someone had painstakingly cut up the spells and pictures from this
seventeenth-century edition of a work that was originally composed
(so goes the story) shortly after AD 800, and pasted them together to
form the magic page worn around the neck by the soldier, and now by Tooy
himself::

First, there’s a prayer against arrows, on the page of the grimoire fol-
lowing one noting, “It is said that Charlemagne used this in battle and,
thereby, remained invincible” (“N.” is your own name, to be inserted in
the appropriate space):
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Iimplore you, Arrows, by the charity, flagellation, and coagulation of our Lord
Jesus Christ, O Arrow, to remain without effect. . . . Do no harm, O Arrow, I
implore you by the terrible and frightening Day of Universal Judgment, by the
Virginity of the adorable body of our Lord Jesus Christ and that of the glori-
ous Virgin Mary His mother . . . to do no harm, by the Holy Trinity, by the
head of Saint John the Baptist, by the Twelve Apostles, by the Four Evange-
lists, by the Martyrs, Confessors, Virgins, and Widows of God, by the Angels
and Archangels. O Arrow . . . I forbid you to wound me or harm me, N., who
is the servant of God, and by the ineffable memory of N. + 2 + 1. +q.g. 222.
L.M. +1+ S.J.C. Alpha + and Omega + Emmanuel that no sword can pierce
me. . . . Take up your arms! Brandish your shield! Rise up and come to my aid
and assistance. . . . Let Him break into a thousand pieces the steel that fights
against me. O Arrow, I command you by the aforementioned broken spear, to
have no effect upon me and to assure that all my enemy’s arms, visible as well
as invisible, do not touch me.
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Detail of the magic page Tooy gave Roland to protect his lumberyard, which was worn by
the Saramaka soldier in World War II, and is now worn around his neck by Tooy himself.
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The next invocation on Tooy’s page is prefaced, in the book, by the reassur-
ance that “the person who wears this prayer around his neck has nothing to
fear from arrows, swords, or other arms, which can do him no harm. Nor
can the Devil (unless he has made a pact with him), nor the Magicians, nor
other persons do unto him any harm.”

Barnasa + Leutias + Bucella + Agla + Agla + Tetragrammaton + Adonay +
our Lord. . . . Help N. your servant, and deliver me from all danger, from the
death of my soul and my body, from the attacks of my enemies, visible as well
as invisible.

The next protects against “every kind of arm,” and the following one quotes
the spell that Pope Leo is said to have sent to Charlemagne, king of France,
whom he himself had earlier crowned Emperor of the Occident, and which
assures protection against fire and water as long as it is worn on the body.
And finally and most miraculously, Tooy’s sheet of paper contains, ac-
cording to the grimoire from which it was copied, “the very words spoken by
Adam, when he was in Hell or in Limbo, by the banks of the Charon—If a
person wears them on his body during war, he cannot be killed by anyone:

+ Valeam da Zazac + AdonayN. + + + + + + ... Matthew + John + Mark +
Luke + + +.



SEA GODS

* 00000000 *

Firstlight, the morning after Tooy and Kalusé arrive in Martinique. Sally and
I awake to the sound of Tooy in full voice, sitting on a plastic chair facing
the blue-green Caribbean, gesticulating with his arms, happily singing his
greetings to the sea gods.

We've had a special relationship with these divinities for forty years,
Sally and I, ever since Naai, the nonagenarian sister of Paramount Chief
Agbagd, who was our immediate neighbor in the Saramaka village of Ddn-
gogo, announced matter-of-factly one day that it was a Wénti-Gddu—a sea
god—who brought us to Saramaka. (Saramaka sea gods are known to have
particular affinities with whitefolks.) During that time, I have seen and spo-
ken with Wénti-Gddus a number of times, when I happened to be present
when they possessed someone, and I have bathed with them in the sea near
Cayenne and in the Oyapock River as recently as last year. These particular
Weéntis varied from boys who spoke Sranan-tongo, the language of coastal
Suriname, with a strong East Indian accent, to voluptuous women who
spoke and sang seductively in Saramaccan and enticed men into the deeps
of the rivers. Despite considerable individual differences from one Wénti
to the next—on the same order as the differences among humans—Weéntis
(like humans) do have certain things in common. Pretty much everything
that Saramakas know about Wéntis has been learned from people in pos-
session, through whom the gods recount aspects of their normally invis-
ible lives. Let me tell you a little of what I've learned about these marvelous
creatures over the years.

Weéntis are much like people, except that they live underwater. Their
home territory is the sea, where they have numerous towns and cities (in-
cluding Gadnlolo, Oléni, Akinawebi, Kinazaan, Sindibo, Laibeni, Gongon-
gondéme, Luwézaan, and Loonza®), often at the base of mountains that rise
steeply from the waters. But they also travel up rivers and sometimes live
for a time at the foot of a rapids. When they feel like it, they come ashore
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and mingle with people, unnoticed, which they very much enjoy. Most
important, Wéntis bring humans good things—in particular, money,
whitefolks’ goods, and babies.

The first Wéntis were discovered by Saramakas working on the coast of
Suriname in the late nineteenth century—gods such as Wdnanzdi, who pos-
sessed K6dji (who later became the first Saramaka captain on the Oyapock);
Tatd Yembudmba, from the undersea city of Oléni, who possessed Pobdsi
of Ligdlio and was the first Wénti to show himself in Saramaka territory;
and Tuli, who possessed Djameléti of Gédo and ritually prepared hundreds
of early twentieth-century Saramaka men to go to the coast to earn money.
I've met men who saw Tuli in their youth and describe him diving into the
river and coming up hours later wearing a beautiful necklace and holding a
perfectly dry flower in his hand, asking a bystander to take two bottles to the
river and to fill them up, and when they tasted them back in the village one
was filled with rum and the other with sugarcane syrup.

When Saramakas first came to the Oyapock as canoemen in the gold
rush, around 1900, they realized they had truly arrived in the heart of Wénti
country. Kédji’s god Wdnanzdi would dive into the river in the morning and
come back in the evening with remarkable tales of the underwater world,
and he brought back other Wéntis who, in turn, possessed other residents—
Kositdn got the Wénti called Zaime, Agbagd got Todjé, and one Wénti named
Asantéa even came and possessed Antudni, a Creole woman® who was mar-
ried to a Saramaka. The folks at Tampdki, the village Saramaka men founded
along the river, learned from Wdnanzdi and the other Wéntis he brought
back, for example, that at Gaamd Lajan (which might be translated as “The
Mother of All Money”)}—a rock formation several kilometers below Tampadki
on the French side of the river—under the water was what might best be
described as the Central Bank of the World. There, Wénti maidens—not
at all unlike Wagner’s Rhine Maidens (Woglinde, Wellgunde, and Floss-
hilde)—stand watch over barrels and barrels of golden coins, which they
sometimes roll out into the sun to dry, singing beautiful songs all the while.
They learned that Wénti villages are “almost like a school, there are so many
children running around,” and that if asked appropriately, Wéntis delight in
placing a baby into a human woman’s womb. They learned that Wéntis have
strong affinities with whitefolks. And they also learned that Wéntis abhor
death and blood, nor do they like rum or other strong drink, nor do they like
sun or heat, nor do they mix with evil. Rather, they love white, bright, shiny,
clean things, sugary, bubbly things, and all things cool from the sea.*

At about the same time that Kédji was discovering a host of new Wén-
tis on the Oyapock, back home in Suriname two girls from one of the
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northernmost Saramaka villages drowned when their canoe sank in a
rapids. Some time later (some people say seventeen days, others three
months, others a year), one of them—now called Wentia—appeared on a
river rock at Mamddan, the great rapids that marked the effective border
between “real Saramaka” and the outside world.* When she had been ritually
“cured” and could speak once again, she told of having been taken to a beau-
tiful underwater Wénti palace, where she was waited on by a bevy of young
girls. She eventually returned, she said, because she missed salt (which
Weéntis do not eat) and begged them to bring her up to the surface. Older
men have told me how, throughout the first half of the twentieth century
when on their way to the Oyapock to work, they would stop at the Wénti
shrine at Mamddan and pour an offering of white kaolin-water, and then, on
their way back with their canoes laden with whitefolks’ goods, they would
pour offerings of sugarcane syrup.

Todjé, the Wénti who possessed the future Gaamd (Paramount Chief)
Agbagé Abdikdni, was often credited by Saramakas with instigating the
program of gradual rapprochement with the world outside tribal terri-
tory that took place during the second half of the twentieth century. And
Todjé provides one of the links between the early twentieth-century Oy-
apock and Sally and me, for it was this god who is said to have “brought”

Mamaddan Wénti shrine.
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us—renowned as “the first outsiders ever to have slept in the village of
Ddngogé”™—into the world of the Saramakas.

This part of the story begins around 1905, when the aged Asimadjé—
one the first Saramakas to go to French Guiana—brought his sister’s sons
Gasitén, Kositdn, Gidé, and Agbagé from Mana, where they’d been working
for several years, to the recently founded village of Tampdki. There Agbagé
married a Brazilian woman named Laguai and had a daughter with her. He
also—apparently via relations he had developed with a Brazilian coffee
planter across the river—traveled to Belém, where he then shipped out for
three years on a freighter that plied the Caribbean, visiting among other
places Martinique, Guadeloupe, St. Lucia, and Trinidad. When he was in his
eighties, the Paramount Chief used to tell me how he and his fellow sailors,
on shore leave once in Fort-de-France, were arrested and spent a brief time
in jail in the wake of a political assassination—which dates the incident to
1908, when Mayor Antoine Siger was shot on election day. The chief also
enjoyed telling and retelling me about the size of that ship, and imitating
the sounds of its powerful, chugging engines.

Steamships, which Saramakas experienced close-up for the first time
during this period, exercised a powerful pull on their imagination and play
an important role in Weénti lore. In Saint-Georges-de-I'Oyapock, the main
town in the region, I recently spoke with Creole women in their sixties, the
daughters of Saramaka men, who remember as children standing with the
nighttime crowd at Tampdki watching great Wénti ships, ablaze with lights,
steam up the far bank of the Oyapock and dock at the mouth of a creek there.
They also told me that just below the mouth of this creek, across the river
and a bit upstream from Tampdki, was a large underwater Wénti village
called Tésudsu. According to men I've spoken with, whenever Saramakas
riding downstream in a canoe make an offering of beer in the river near that
shore, a hand reaches up to accept the bottle—which they say they have
seen many times. I myself saw such an offering being made last year, but I
missed seeing the hand.

Agbagé was one of the young Saramakas who was possessed by a Weénti,
brought by Kédji’s Wananzdi, in the early days of Tampdki. Thereafter this
god, Todjé, shaped his life in many ways, bringing him into especially close
relations with whitefolks, assuring his success in a broad range of eco-
nomic and political endeavors, and even bringing him two children with
a wife who “could no longer have children.”® Todjé’s full sisters and broth-
ers also possessed Saramakas and played (and continue to play, even today)
an important role both in Tampdki and back in Saramaka territory—Tatd
Yembudmba (mentioned above, who led his “master,” Pobdsi, to become
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official guide for the ill-fated early twentieth-century Eilerts de Haan ex-
pedition into the Suriname interior), and three beautiful Wénti women, Ko-
rantina, Amentina, and Yowentina (who is currently married to a god who
recently told me, through the mouth of Tooy’s elderly, blind brother Sensilg,
in Cayenne, that he is “at least nineteen hundred years old” and who, with
this same husband, had a Wénti son called Bdsi Yontini, who is in the head
of one of Tooy’s wives and with whom Sally and I swam at dawn recently
on a deserted beach on the edge of the city—the very large, middle-aged
woman, once possessed, frolicked in the surf like a young mermaid). The
parents of this sibling set, Digbednsu of Oléni (“a name to be very careful
with—she is the sea,” says Tooy) and her husband Adjéunsu, are also active
today: each has a clay vessel for offerings in Tooy’s Wénti shrine. And Sally
and I have spent a good deal of time lately at an elaborate shrine to a Wénti
called Djéunsu-Etéunsu along the Cayenne[Saint-Laurent-du-Maroni high-
way, maintained by a classificatory great-grandson of Kédji, whose name is
forever associated with the Weéntis of the Oyapock.

In any case, here was Tooy, sitting on our verandah in Martinique, singing to
the sea gods, feeling what Derek Walcott calls that “sense of elation you get
in the morning in the Caribbean . . . the width of the ocean.”” The clarity of
the green-blue water, through which you can see the rocks on the bottom of
the sea; the warm, sensual trade winds; the luscious air; the hills behind hills
behind hills on three sides; the black snow drifting down and depositing a
fine layer of ash from cane fields burning on the other side of the island over
the mountains—all this is a joyful discovery for him. His own firmly con-
tinental world, whether the rivers and forests of Suriname, where he grew
up, or the squalid shacks of Cayenne, where he’s lived for decades, are equa-
torial, damp, hot, and largely still—no hurricane ever touches there, not
to mention trade winds. And the sea, as he’s known it at the mouth of the
Suriname, the Oyapock, or near Cayenne, washes a muddy coast, stretching
all the way to the mouth of the Amazon—mangroves, mudflats, the detritus
from the great rivers that flow northeast from the Orinoco to the Amazon,
leaving the seaside brown and ugly, a place of murk and miasma.

Late afternoon, Tooy summons Kalusé and me for a formal palaver in the
living room. How much should Roland be asked to pay for this cure? Kalusé
listens with only one ear, watching Real Madrid vs. Barcelona on the TV until
Tooy reprimands him. Tooy says he once cured a person in Guadeloupe and
received fifty thousand francs ($8,000), and that’s what they should ask for
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From our verandah.

now. The follow-up Cayenne ceremony—“knocking the stone”—will cost
less, he says, though they will have to buy a goat (since the original damage
was done, in part, with a goat). We agree to discuss it with Roland later on.

Tooy tells us to select the proper leaves from the sacks and lay them out
on the terrace before the sun goes down so that they’ll dry out sufficiently.
Tonight, he says, we’ll first bathe Roland, then “smoke” the lumberyard,
then bring some leaves home to do a “smoking” here, since the things we
chase away at the lumberyard will try to follow us back home.



DUNGULALI-OBIA

* 00000000 *

We've been sitting on the verandah, Tooy, Kalusé, Sally, and I, watching the
sun descend into the Caribbean as Tooy regales us with First-Time stories—
tales and songs about his eighteenth-century ancestors. I'm beginning to
suspect that I haven’t met a Saramaka with his range of historical and ritual
knowledge since I worked with the great historian Tebini near the end of his
life, twenty-five years earlier."

Do you know the god called Sda? he asks, testing me. I say I do and have
even seen the raffia skirt she wears when she comes to visit in the village
of the gaamd—but he retells the story anyway.” Then he breaks into a se-
ries of beautiful dbia songs, many in the esoteric language of Komanti
warrior spirits, which as a bakda (“outsider”) I've hardly ever been permit-
ted to hear. Kalusé chimes in on the choruses, whenever he knows them,
which is much of the time. Tooy’s baritone is resonant and throaty, col-
ored by the quantities of tobacco juice he’s ingested over the years. Ever the
teacher, he explains each song as he goes along. “Woodpecker,” he says of
the first, “whose name is Gwedudnka in Komanti language, says: ‘My wings
are strong, my beak is strong, my feet are strong—but my tail is the stron-
gest of alll’” Then he sings a Komanti prayer: “The wonderful things you
have in your house, bring some to me, too!” Then a lighter Komant{ song,
“You those crude people, those bullshitting people, today we're calling ev-
eryone,” calling out to all kinds of people, indiscriminately, to come join the
“play.”* (“When folks get together,” explains Tooy, “there will undoubtedly
be liars among them and thieves among them, but whoever they are, let’s
all work together—this song summons them all!. . . That’s what Komant{
says!” Tooy assures me.) And finally, Gingéé-o, gingéuwawa! (“When you go
hunting and get deep into the forest and can't figure out which way to go,
this is the song you sing to ask the Komantis to help you—we're still praying
here!” he says.)

Tooy follows with a couple of songs in the powerful ritual language
of Papd, normally reserved for funerals, where they’re sung with drums.



16 * DUNGULALI-OBIA

(Papd is even more secret and dangerous than Komanti—in all my years in
Saramaka, I'd never been able to discuss its songs in any detail.) The first is
particularly sweet, Kénu gé na wald, wald mi yéi, wala mandekii tjéndmewa.
“That’s how Papd-men from the Matjdu clan sing it,” he explains. “Now,
here’s how the specialists from the Abaisa clan do it: A konu misi wand, a
kdnu misi wand-o, wana mandekii mdnde-o, a konu misi wand, djdemade wdna,

4«

wana mandekii mdnde-o0.”* “This song,” he says, “is what Macaque sings to the
Awara palm [which has long thorns all up and down its trunk, protecting
its orange fruit], after which it simply drops its thorns so the monkey can
climb up. It’s a prayer you can use whenever things are really rough.” And,
he adds, really getting into it, “In Apuku [forest spirit] language you sing it
this way: Linga linga kdlu, kdlu tei, mangdnu ta linga kdlu-ee, kolu tei [repeat].”
Iam reminded how many times I've heard Saramakas say that no one knows
Apukus like the specialists of Tooy’s Lingu clan.’

Then, as welook out to sea and discuss the shifting patterns traced by the
currents on the surface,’ he sings a few of his favorite Wénti songs, boast-
ing that he could go on all night and all day without repeating a single one.
(I'd heard only a handful of Wénti songs, mainly from Tebini, in my years
in Saramaka.) Tuun tuun, tuun tuun, which the Wénti named Métolan once
sang to stop a “war” between Papdgddu (Boa Constrictor) and Akami (Trum-
peter Bird), who ever since have kept their distance from one another. Then,
the song of the Wénti maidens who guard the money: Tuusé, tuusé, a lélo
muddji-oo, e-e-e [sound of hard work] . . . sobénu zogamé . . . tuusé, tuusé. (Tuusé,
Tooy explains, “is the Wénti word for ‘money.” As the women are rolling the
money barrels [muddji] into the sun to warm them up, this is what they sing!
Sobénu zogamé means ‘roll them into the sun.””) And then he offers another
song about rolling out the barrels: Panyd mi aki . . . [normal Saramaccan for
“grab me here”]. But not all Wénti songs are celebratory. He next sings a
haunting, immensely sad one, Aladjimeedji-e, aladjimeedji-o, té¢ na Alonugbe.
(“The plant called Waterlily,” he explains, “has no paddle, the whole paddy
of leaves is powerless to direct where it will go, it’s completely adrift, at
someone else’s mercy. This song is its lament, the way it asks Mother Di-
gbednsu to protect it. You can sing it when you’ve left one place and arrived
inanew one and are asking the new one to receive you well, to give you a firm
anchorage.”)” And then, three Wénti sailor songs: Den ddu-ye, den déu-ya. Ya
ya di boto kd [“They’ve arrived, they’ve arrived. Yes, yes, the ship’s arrived”]
(“In those days,” explains Tooy, “the incoming ship would have to wait at the
river mouth for the tide to turn and carry it into the river. This is the song
of rejoicing sung by the people waiting onshore”), Naost, Naosi. Naosi-e, mbéi
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mdu (“The Wénti ship,” says Tooy, “is loaded and ready to depart, awaiting
the outgoing tide. With this song, the captain is calling the people on shore
to come back on board.”) And finally, a song of Wénti sailors in distress at
sea: Goonseé-e, Goonse, yedoo . . . (“Your ship is sinking, you're going under,
this is the way you call on Ma Digbednsu to help you”).

I wonder again whether anything could be more Wagnerian: the songful
maidens guarding their gold under the river, the sailors singing their greet-
ings and departures. The Ring, The Flying Dutchman, Tristan. .. and yet it’s
another world—or is it? Might there have been ex-Wagnerians among the
late nineteenth-century Moravian missionaries who visited Saramaka from
Germany? Might Rhine maidens and Rheingelt have influenced the Wénti
maidens and their barrels of money at Gaamd Lajan?® Or, as I suspect, are we
dealing with parallel cases of la pensée sauvage?

I ask if Sally can accompany us tonight, and Tooy says sure. So, before
Roland arrives, he calls us into the bedroom, where he pours a few drops
of foul-smelling stuff from a clay Diinguldli-Obia bottle into our cupped
hands, with instructions to wash our faces, the bottoms of our feet, and
our forearms with the liquid. “We’re going to work tonight,” he chuckles.

1”

“Duinguldli work

Like Wéntis, Dtinguldli-Obia has long been part of our lives, ever since a par-
ticularly traumatic personal experience in the 1960s, when a four-year-old
boy who often stayed with us in Dangogé while his mother worked in her
rice field was attacked on the head by a flock of hornets and, within a min-
ute or two, died of cardiorespiratory shock in Sally’s arms. During the sub-
sequent days, we were treated by the powerful Saramaka gadn-dbia (“great
spiritual power”) called Dinguldli, in order to ritually “separate” us from
the dead child we had been so close to and to prevent him from taking us
with him to the land of the dead. Dinguldli specializes in keeping the living
separate from the dead, removing harmful ghosts from the lived environ-
ment. Hence its relevance to Roland’s lumberyard, where an unspeakable act
during slavery was apparently still working its effects.

For Saramakas, the extraordinary powers known as gadn-ébias—the
magical forces to which they credit their eighteenth-century military victo-
ries over whitefolks and their ability to survive in a hostile environment—
remain each clan’s most valuable possessions, and many are believed to
have been brought by specific ancestors from Africa. Dunguldli is different.
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Excerpt from my 1968 field notes, describing some of the apparatus used to “separate”
us from the dead child: the climax involved our being led through the opening in a
9-foot-tall maipd-palm frond, planted in the earth in front of the Dinguldli shrine, with a
vulture feather and a piece of sangadfu plant (east side whitened with keéti, west side black-
ened with soot) stuck through it.” Three times we circled and passed through, holding the
“good” end of the sangadfu that had been lopped off with a machete, and with which we
returned to our house, which was then “smoked” by Dunguldli, and where we were shut
in for the rest of the day. The wooden ornament at right is made by men to sew onto their
Duinguldli biceps rings, along with a cowrie shell.

Tooy tells it by means of a parable. “There were three brothers: Bofadngu,
the eldest [the gadn-ébia owned by the Abaisa clan and said to have been
brought from Africa], Maddnfo, the middle one [owned by the Awand clan
and said to have been brought from Africa], and Dingulili, the youngest.”
Like so many Wéntis, who are such an important part of present-day Sara-
maka life, Dunguldli—despite being a major gadn-dbia—was in fact “dis-
covered” for the first time on the Oyapock, only at the very beginning of the
twentieth century. The man called Kédji once again played a central role in
the story.

Kddji had several gods in his head besides his famous Wénti Wdnanzdi,
including a ghost-spirit known as a Néngekonde-Nénge (roughly, “an Af-
rican person”), a class of ghost-spirits conceptualized as ritually powerful
African men who can possess Saramakas and teach them dbias and other
ritual lore. Kédji’s ghost-spirit was Akoomi, who worked closely with a Ko-
mantf spirit called Afeemaénsu. In an oft-told story, a Saramaka paddling
down the Oyapock would see a small, white-haired old man with a short
paddle standing on the bank calling out, “Take me across, please! My canoe
got loose and drifted downstream.” And after the paddler did as requested
and continued to the Saramaka village of Tampdki, he would see Akoom at
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the landing place, speaking through Kédji, accosting him and joking with
him, “Man, that place you left me on the other side of the river—that was
no place to leave me, I almost got killed there!” So the miracle of Akoomi’s
omnipotence would again be confirmed. (Tooy confided to me once that
Akoom{’s mother was Ma Ninf and his father Wangéso—both from Kom-
antiland.)

It was Akoomi (perhaps in the guise of Afeemadnsu, who often spoke
through him, becoming almost synonymous with him) who taught the
secrets of Diinguldli-Obia to K4dji, but Akoom{ himself had learned them
from his father-in-law in the land of the dead. Here, very much in brief, is
how Tooy says it happened. (This, again, is the sort of story that no Sara-
maka before had felt was appropriate to share with me.)* In the land of
the dead a powerful man named Pupt, the owner of Dinguldli-Obia, had
a beautiful daughter called Djesu-akébita. One day she crossed paths with
Akoomi, who was on one of his frequent visits from the Oyapock to the land
of the dead—Néngekdnde-Nénges are so ritually powerful that they move
effortlessly between the worlds of the living and the dead—and she decided
to sleep with him, the dead with the living (as Saramakas say). But other
dead people intervened and bound him up preparatory to killing him, so
she ran off to tell her father. Pupti prepared himself ritually, throwing his
sack of Diingulili leaves and roots over his shoulder, grabbing his calabash
rattle, putting his pipe in his mouth and lighting the Diinguldli tobacco,
and setting out on the path, very displeased. Eventually, his sack “barked” to
warn him he was arriving, and he chased off the aggressors, found his son-
in-law, untied him with Diingul4li-Obia, taught him the ins and outs of its
rituals, and then sent both Djesu-akdbita and Akoomi off to the land of the
living, where they lived for a time in a place a day’s journey upstream from
Saint-Georges-de-1'Oyapock called Dadiafé (a.k.a. KokosékosGampé), where
Saramakas still proffer offerings whenever they pass on the river."

Over a period of years, during the treatment of many cases of illness
and misfortune, Kédji learned the leaves, roots, and vines, the taboos, the
songs, the drums, the sacrifices, and the other esoterica of the Dinguldli
cult, which has always specialized in separating the living from the dead—
helping free living people from the machinations of the dead. In fact, the
young Agbagd (the future gaamd) was cured by K6dji’s Dunguldli at Tampdki
after he had accidentally caused the death of his own brother in a tree-felling
accident on the Approuague River, and eventually, he and another brother,
Gasitdn, learned the ébia and, around 1920, brought it back to Ddngogé in
central Suriname, where Gasitén established the shrine and cult that, in
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1968, ritually separated Sally and me from the ghost of the boy who had died
in Sally’s arms.*

Two hours after dark, Roland shows up at our house. Tooy tells Kalusé to
catch and bag another toad—the one from last night died from the midday
heat. At the lumberyard, the great steel door rolls up and we file into the
showroom, with its lineup of unsold cement mixers and row upon row of
hardware, hand tools, and other building supplies. Off to one side, outside
Roland’s office, are plastic chairs, fake flowers on a table, and magazines on
a rack for clients to read. And a large reproduction of the Last Supper on
the wall. The rice sacks full of leaves are hauled in and the door lowered and
locked. Roland shows us around the place expansively—the modern hard-
ware supermarket plus a couple of large hangars, filled with tall stacks of
lumber from different parts of the world, sacks of cement on pallets, and
great conical piles of sand and gravel.

Out behind the largest hangar, which islined with stacks of South Ameri-
can hardwood, there’s an empty lot filled with weeds and refuse. Looks like
workmen throw the remains of their packaged lunches out here, along with
empty soda cans. A few meters outside the door, Tooy tells Kalusé to start
digging the hole. Roland brings out a crowbar for Kalusé as well as a shovel,
which he uses to dig out the loosened earth. Twenty minutes later, there’s a
hole a half meter deep and a half meter across. We're in semidarkness, with
a single bare lightbulb outside the hangar door. Tooy moves us around, say-
ing we must avoid casting our shadows in the hole. We bring out the bags
of supplies and line them up. Kalusé begins to pour a libation of water into
the hole from an unmarked calabash as Tooy prays—to various ancestors
but mainly to the god-who-has-the-earth. Kalusé gets his turn to pray. Then
it’s mine. And finally, Roland is told to stand over the hole and slowly pour
water as he prays for protection, that the evil—whatever it may be—leave
him. Tooy asks me to tell him to say that the evil must become as cold as the
water he’s pouring.

Tooy next does divination with the bottle cap of a Heineken—it always
reminds me of Evans-Pritchard’s descriptions of the Azande poison oracle.”
Tooy says, if such-and-such be true, then flips off the cap, observing whether
it falls open-side up (good) or down. From this point on, throughout the
evening, he periodically shakes the bottle cap (like a die) in his hands, asks
his question, and drops it, getting his instant answer. His first startling find-
ing: Roland, since he’s inherited the lumberyard from his father, has never
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once spoken with the god-who-has-the-earth there, the true owner of the
place. (So, when bad things happened, when someone tried to harm Roland,
the god of course did nothing, just let it happen. But from now on, the god
will stand firm for Roland.) Tooy prays some more, pouring beer into the
hole. “We're giving you beer here, were giving you cane syrup, were giving
you rum, we don’t know if you like rum or cane syrup or molasses, so were
giving you all of them. Take them and help the man!” Half a bottle of cane
syrup, half a bottle of molasses, half a bottle of rum, and a bottle of beer are
poured into the calabash and it’s dribbled into the hole as prayers are said.
We all drink a bit as the calabash is passed around, with Tooy joking that
Kalusé has downed too much, not leaving him enough. Then Tooy directs
the filling of the three empty beer bottles, one with the left-over cane syrup,
the second with molasses, the third with rum. Kalusé is instructed how to
place them in the hole, the first to the west, the next to the east, the third to
the north.

Following orders, Roland brings out the carton of six supermarket eggs,
and Tooy asks him to select three. Then, Tooy puts them in Kalusé’s hand,
turns his back, and asks Roland, then Sally, then me to tell which egg we like
the best. Turning, he asks Kalusé which one each of us picked. Roland and
Sally chose the same one, so, he says, that’s the one we’ll use. Kalusé placesit,
onTooy’s instructions, in the very center of the three bottlesin the hole. Then
two green leaves are pulled out of the sack, and Roland is told to place first
one, then the other in the middle of the hole, on top of the other things. He
starts to put them in together and Tooy says no, first one and only afterward
the other. (Roland has to kneel in the mud, soiling his trousers, to do this.)
Tooy continues his bottle-cap divination mixed with prayer and occasion-
ally tells Roland to say such things as “Protect me from my enemies.” Tooy
asks for the toad and tells Roland, who’s beginning to look frightened, to
hold it over the hole and feed it the remains of the calabash of beer we’ve been
drinking. He tries to pour it down the toad’s throat as the animal wriggles its
legs wildly. Then, on Tooy’s instructions, he places it in the hole, and Kalusé
and Roland, with their hands, quickly pile the earth back in. The toad tries to
escape, but they bury it before it jumps out. The earth is smoothed over and
packed down, and all is left as if nothing had taken place there at all.

Tooy takes Sally and me inside, telling Kalusé to take care of Roland.
Through the doorway, I see Kalusé adding water from a hose to a plastic
bucket containing the leaves, roots, and vines they’ve brought. He then
bathes the naked Roland out back in the moonlight, farther from the build-
ing, amidst the strewn garbage. Tooy tells us he can’t get over that Roland
had never even thought to communicate with the god-who-has-the-earth.
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When we're all back in the waiting room outside Roland’s office, Tooy
instructs Kalusé on how to use some special vegetable tinder he’s brought
to start a fire under a few pieces of charcoal in an old cooking pot—using
kerosene as a starter is taboo in Diinguldli-Obia. Once the coals are glow-
ing, a dozen varieties of Diinguldli leaves are placed on top for the smoking.
Kalusé is instructed to carry the coal pot to each corner of every room of the
establishment, spreading the smoke around with his hand as he intones the
sacred chant, Diinguldli-é¢, Pdsi-paatt! Diinguldli-¢! Awii kdndikdndi, awii kdn-
dikdndi! Tooy lounges in a waiting-room chair. For him, it’s just a procedure
to be carried out correctly. He’s the priest, his acolyte does the work. Roland
urges Kalusé, “Do it in there” (indicating where the money is kept), and
Kalusé makes sure the broken copy machine gets a full dose as well. When
he’s done, Tooy has him place the coal pot on the floor in the center of the
waiting room.

I try to explain to Tooy that he should do some singing, some fancy ex-
planation in Saramaccan for me to translate, as a kind of show, to make sure
that his client, Roland, gets some sense of the gravitas of all this. But neither
Tooy nor Kalusé seems interested in persuading Roland of anything. It’s as
if they’re so confident of their procedures that they don’t need public rela-
tions.

After Roland drives us home around midnight, Tooy tells him to go to
the lumberyard at the crack of dawn and throw the remaining cinders from
the coal pot to the wind, but to be sure to do it in the front of the building.
And he asks me to tell him to bring three things tomorrow: a bottle of Crésyl
(a disinfectant for cattle, used by local quimboiseurs, too)—it must be the
kind that comes in a bottle, not in a can, he specifies—a bottle of kerosene,
and a bottle of rum.
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From his plastic chair, Tooy greets the sunrise and sea gods as usual, se-
ducing them with song. Later in the morning, he decides to prepare a
Diinguldli bath for Sally and me to use over the coming days. He asks for
a bottle of rum, and he and Kalusé rip up various Diinguldli leaves and
vines in a plastic basin, sprinkling some ashes from the wild papaya tree
(which Diinguldli likes to work with, instead of kaolin) on top. I cut three
green sticks as “payment,” since no dbia can be made without recompense,
and we go through the standard ritual exchange between dbia-man and
client: “Madjomina!” “Kd!” “Madjomina!” “Kd!” “Payment on the ground”
(I put down the first stick and say, “A jug of rum!”) “Madjomina!” “Kd!”
“Madjémina!” “Kd!” (I put down the second stick and say, “Thirty lengths
of cloth!”) “Madjémina!” “Kd!” (I put down the final stick, saying, “Twenty-
four bottles of beer!”).! Tooy then pours a libation of rum to the Dinguldli
ancestors, from Pupt and Akoomi to those who have served as its priests,
and tells me to put water in the basin and let the mixture soak for a while
under the coconut palm.

Roland arrives to report he’s scattered the ashes. Tooy sits us down to
discuss money—how he wants 50,000 francs, how Roland says he can only
pay 3,500 now but will come up with the balance in good time—Ilots of
back and forth, some of it testy. Eventually, Tooy instructs Roland to buy a
1-meter length of white cotton cloth, a box of eggs, a bottle of cane syrup,
and a bottle of rum for tonight’s ceremony. And he should write out on a
sheet of paper all of his problems and all his desires. We’ll also need a not-
yet-ripe calabash, which Sally can pick from one of her trees, a bucket, and
some camphor, which Roland will also need to buy. He rushes off before
the stores close in the city—you can’t buy cloth for miles around.

Tooy goes into his bedroom and rummages in his carry-on sports bag
that he’s shown me holds, among other things, the impressive-looking bot-
tle belonging to Yontini (his wife’s Wénti), heavily swathed in cloths and
surrounded by dbia arm rings, along with a complex Komanti whisk, whose
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handle is covered with colored cloth and a good bit of kaolin. Standing
upright together in the bottom of the bag, they look much like what Euro-
peans of another era called a fetish. He reaches in and brings out an ¢bia fan,
a two-foot-long basketry device folded in two and covered in kaolin. Along
the edges are sewn cowrie shells and jingle bells. Tooy sits on a stool and in-
terrogates the fan quietly as it opens and closes according to his questions.
Have there been money problems between Roland and an employee? Prob-
lems with another woman? Tooy satisfies himself and puts the fan away.

You see that yellow flower? he asks Sally, pointing out toward the yard.
It’s called komanti sangadfu. On Tooy’s instruction, Kalusé puts a few of its
leaves in rum, and we each knock down a swig after carefully crossing our
ankles, holding the liquid for a while in our mouths, and covering our ears
with our hands as we swallow. (We continue to do this over the next couple
of days, whenever Tooy gives the word.) You're supposed to hear “the sounds
of the universe” when you swallow the mixture in this fashion.

Tooy spends much of the morning telling First-Time stories and singing
sweet dbia songs—in Komanti, Papd, Ludngu, and Wénti language. (Oh, for
the time—and energy—to record and annotate them all!)

“You see that plant?” he asks me, pointing toward the front gate. “If you
wash with seven of its seeds, you won't have pimples for seven years. If you
swallow its seeds, snakes won't bite you.” He also asks about our palipii palm
(native neither to Martinique nor Suriname), which I tell him we brought
as a seedling from Guyane. We'd gotten to know its delicious orange fruits,
which need to be boiled for an hour before theyre ready to eat, in Ddn-
gogd, where it had been brought in the early twentieth century by Sara-
maka canoemen returning from Tampdki, the same ones who brought back
Dtinguldli-Obia.

I take Tooy and Kalusé for a drive in our pickup truck, sightseeing. Tooy
whoops it up each time we go over a mountain, like a kid on a roller coaster.
(Guyane and Suriname are flat, while Martinique is notoriously hilly.) He
teaches whenever the spirit moves him. We see a dead opossum. “You can’t
eat roadkill if you’re with Dinguldli,” he tells us, adding that there’s a new
taboo for Dinguldli adepts: if you go hunting and shoot an animal, wound-
ing it but not killing it, and then find it dead the next day, you can’t eat it.
So-and-so did that and he died. Divination said that’s what killed him. This
leads Kalusé to ask whether you can eat a chicken that’s been used ina ritual.
Tooy explains that if it has been used as a sacrificial offering, you can’t or
you’ll die, and gives an example of someone who did. But if it’s just been
used in divination, you can eat it like a normal fowl.
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We drive through the neighboring fishing village of Diamant, where a
1925 election-day massacre marked the height of colonial oppression and
where, today, with the boom of tourism, the fruits of globalization flower—
there’s a new French-owned boulangerie et patisserie whose window touts
Hiagen-Dazs, the Bronx-born ice cream with a name invented to sound “Old
World.”

Driving through the silent Sunday streets of Martinique’s capital, Fort-
de-France, Tooy enthuses that it’s bigger than New York City—though he’s
never been beyond Guadeloupe. Tooy has us in stitches for much of the way
home, entertaining us with stories, for instance, of how he hoodwinked
some gendarmes who'd stopped him for running a red light in Cayenne and
discovered he had no driver’s license, no insurance, and no registration.
(Tooy drives an ancient Toyota that a grateful client gave him as a gift—
he drives slowly, seemingly by instinct.) At the police station where they
hauled him in, each time they would ask him a question he’d grin broadly
and shout “Oui!” (He mimics the gendarme perfectly, asking questions,
interrogating him.) No matter what the gendarme asked, he’d say oui! In
the end, immensely frustrated by the old man, they simply let him go, say-
ing (and Tooy again mimics the French gendarme), “See that in future you
drive correctly. Proper conduct on the road is the duty of each citizen of the
Republic.”

A couple of hours past dark, Roland shows up with his equipment, and
after we've settled down on the verandah, he proffers his page of desires.
Tooy, who is not literate, asks him to read it out loud. When Roland gets to
the part about “regaining his physical, moral, and financial health,” he asks
if he shouldn’t add “and spiritual,” and Tooy says why not. Does he need to
rewrite the whole? he asks solemnly. They say no, just add the word. We get
apen, and he does. He’d also left out the word workmen, which he now adds.
Tooy then asks for the paper and examines it. “Where’s your signature?” he
asksincredulously. Roland seems confused. Tooy presses, “How in the world
will they know who sent this, who it’s about?” We all laugh—Sally and I
thinking of students who forget to put their name on an exam paper. Roland
pens his name on the paper and passes it back to Tooy. We agree to set our
alarms for a 3:45 a.m. rendezvous on the road in front of our house. Tooy tells
Roland to be sure to bring a five-franc coin.

Tooy asks me to make a photocopy of Roland’s page for him to take back
to Cayenne. On the porch, we set things out to prepare the dbia for the cock’s-
crow ceremony. Kalusé tears a piece of the white cloth into strips for tying
with. The remaining rectangle is laid out with the wish list in the center.
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On top is placed a small bottle of cane syrup, one of beer, and another empty
beer bottle filled with rum. An egg is set in the center of the bottles. (Tooy
gives the instructions, Kalusé and I carry them out.) Kalusé folds up the
whole packet and ties it tightly, winding a strip of white cloth around the
bottles, creating a white bundle with the heads of the bottles on top. Tooy
spends the rest of the evening singing.

The awkward handwriting on Roland’s statement lists his problems and de-
sires (I retain his faulty grammar and spelling):

LEGROS ROLAND
—entreprise bloqué [business fucked]

Argent - nentré pas - [money won't come in]

Le materiel - ne se vend pas - [the goods won't sell]

maison sur le morne bloqué [house on the mountain fucked]
—_élevage coqs bloqué [cock breeding fucked]

maison du bourg bloqué [house in town fucked]

assiette au pitt [plate in the cock pit]

je demande que mon argent entré [I ask that my money flow in]

que les clients me donne mon argent [that my customers pay me what
they owe]

que je vends beaucoup de materiels [that I sell lots of merchandise]

que je finisse mon entreprise [that I finish building my lumberyard]

que tous les obstacles soient Rayés [that all obstacles be Removed]

que mes poules retrouvent leur fécondité [that my hens regain their
fecundity]

que mes cogs deviennent fort et gagnent leurs combats [that my cocks
grow strong and win their matches]

que je trouve une santé physique [that I get my physical health. .. |

spirituelle morale et financiere. quon annule [ .. . my spiritual health my
moral health and my financial health]

tous les travaux diaboliques qui ont été [that they stop all the diabolical
work that has been. .. |

faits contre moi que je finisse ma [ . . . done against me and that I finish

my]
maison du bourg et sur le morne que [house in town and on the mountain

that|
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tous mes ouvriers retrouve leur dynamisme au travail [all my workmen
find their dynamism once again]

The ceremony lasts less than an hour. Roland, who has picked us up in
front of our house, pulls his sedan in under the almond trees at the west
end of the beach, where the surf is highest. Pitch black. I've brought two
flashlights and hand one to Kalusé. The tide is up. Tooy is dressed formally
and keeps on his shoes and socks. Kalusé strips to his underpants. Roland is
told to undress fully and hangs his clothes on a sea-grape branch. He looks
so vulnerable, covering his nakedness with his hand, which he eventually
just drops and stands there, facing Diamond Rock, shivering and miserable.
Roland had given me the five-franc piece they’d asked for earlier; I pass it to
Tooy, who hands it to Kalusé, who now, at water’s edge, unwraps the whole
bundle, places the coin right in the middle on top of the egg, and rewraps
everything. (Tooy tells me the money, which he'd forgotten earlier, is to pay
the Mother of the Sea.) Then Tooy instructs Kalusé how to do the bath: first
he pours rum over Roland’s head, telling him to rub it all over his body. Then
the same with a bottle of beer. The bottle cap falls open-side up, and we all
nod in approval.

Roland is told to pray as he is being washed, and as he rubs the stuff all
over himself he prays his heart out. Kalusé then prays to the sea gods and
Tooy prays to the ancestors, the god-who-has-the-earth at Roland’s lum-
beryard, and to the Mother of the Sea herself. Tooy tells Kalusé to take the
plastic basin with leaves and, using the calabash we’d brought, fill it with
seawater. At the edge of the sea, Kalusé, Tooy, and I each wash ourselves from
the basin and then Kalusé pours what’s left over Roland’s head, Tooy praying
and singing all the while.

Suddenly the sea surges, soaking us all before swishing away in a spray of
foam. Tooy shouts with delight. The god is taking the evil away! For the final
washing, Tooy tells Kalusé to take Roland in up to his waist. They wade out
into the surf, where Roland is told to break an egg over his head and wash
in it but to hold on to the shell. Finally, Tooy tells Kalusé to tell Roland to
throw the eggshell as far as he can, which he does baseball fashion. (Again,
it suddenly looks comical to me, seeing Roland naked and shivering, trying
to fling an eggshell into the wind in the direction of Diamond Rock.) Then
Kalusé goes ashore and returns with the bundle, and Tooy tells Roland to
hold it underwater and let the undertow pull it out to sea. We beat a hasty
retreat, Roland slips on his clothes, and we pile into the car. A few hundred
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meters down the road, Roland realizes he’s forgotten his baseball cap. Tooy
decides we have to go back, and Roland finds it on the sand. Back in the car
again, he hesitantly asks if he can go jogging on the beach at 7:00 a.m.—on
the other (Atlantic) side of the island near his home—as is his Sunday habit.
Tooy says no problem.

Tooy’s final days in Martinique are filled with song, dbia-making, and story-
telling. He fabricates various dbias as gifts for Sally and me, teaching us
much about the sea gods and other invisibles who live all around us, and
exchanging the kinds of First-Time lore that creates such a strong bond bet-
ween us. Libations at every turn, and, of course, intermittent swigs of the
mixture that lets you hear the sounds of the universe.

One morning, Roland shows up with his 3,500 francs. Tooy displays his
unhappiness with the paltry sum, but Roland assures him he’s good for the
rest, as soon as his cash flow improves. Tooy lays out the next step: we’ll ar-
rive in Cayenne on a Friday, do a washing before noon, do the heart of the
matter (“knocking the stone”) at his Diinguldli shrine Saturday night into
Sunday morning, and by Monday, Roland can fly home. They’ll need three
live chickens—the kind raised at home, not “by machines.”* And, of course,
the goat. We agree on a date a couple of months hence.

At the airport, Roland presents the visitors with a jar of candied local
plums. As Tooy opens his hand-carry sack to stick it in, Roland, wide-eyed,
spots the “fetish.” Looking mortified, he asks me how in hell’s name they’re
going to get that through the X-ray machine. I say it’s stronger than any ma-
chine. And so it proves to be.
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The tiger is the fetish of Dahomey.
ARCHIBALD DALZEL, History of Dahomey (1793)'

It is one of those sultry June nights at Tooy’s when the air stands still and
sweat runs in rivers off your face and chest. Mosquitoes “the size,” says
Kalusé, “of blackbirds” slowly circle, choosing their moment to alight on
arms, shoulders, ankles, and backs, our conversations punctuated by the
sound of palms slapping skin. The shed behind the house forms a hermetic
world, yellowed by the bare lightbulb, surrounded by a deafening wall of
insect sound. Beyond the corrugated metal door, the absolute darkness ex-
tends, unimpeded by houses or humanity as far as any of us can tell, out
through the high trees all the way to Brasilia, fifteen hundred miles away.

The last of the day’s clients are finishing their business when Sally and
I arrive around seven: a Brazilian who'd parked his Yamaha cycle out in the
mud, a man Saramakas would call “Syrian,” and an Afro-Guyanais married
to one of Tooy’s relatives who had accompanied him with three of their kids
to the consultation. Four of Tooy’s acolytes—his sister’s son Frank, another
twenty-year-old named Lowell, and two others—are chopping vines and
bark, pulping roots, and mashing leaves in the side room he uses as phar-
macy and bathing place. Kalusé, finished with his construction job for the
day, drops by to chat. Before long, the Brazilian, then the Syrian, and finally
the Creole/Saramaka family, after having stripped down to their underwear
and been bathed by Tooy, pull on their clothes, say their goodbyes, and leave
carrying plastic basins of vegetable matter with instructions on how to
bathe in them. When the Creole asks if there are any taboos he needs to keep
during the week he’ll be using the leaves, Tooy jokes, “Only one—you can’t
play with your wife’s titties during that whole time, only I can!”

Whenever the rusty door squeaks open, another tiny pussycat slips in.
Tooy reaches down with resignation, curses the beast which he calls only
“animal,” and tosses it out in the direction of the creek. Kalusé tells us that
Tooy already drowned a whole litter last week, and they seem to be com-
ing back now. (The Komanti spirits that Tooy deals with can’t tolerate these
miniature versions of their tiger-selves, nor can he hear their true name.) As
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the evening wears on, more and more kittens squeeze under the door, three
at a time, four at a time, only to be cursed out and thrown back toward the
creek—each time, one or another of the young men teasingly pleads for
their lives with Tooy: “Please don’t drown them, please don’t drown them.”

Tooy brings out a six-pack of warm Heinekens, which fizz over when
opened, and launches into a hunting story. There’s nothing he likes better
than to dd dto, what we’d call “shooting the breeze.” Kalusé and the young
men listen raptly.

There was an epic battle with a “spotted beast,” a tiger (or, more correctly,
ajaguar), at the creek head called Tamanua (“Giant Anteater”) in the north
of Saramaka territory. There, turning a corner around a tree, Tooy came
face to face with the animal. With one swipe of his paw, the tiger knocked
away his shotgun. Tooy stared him down for what seemed like an hour as
he ever so slowly inched the gun back toward him by means of the strap
that was lying not far from where he stood. Then, a boxer’s right hand to
the tiger’s shoulder, the scratch across his face that the tiger gave him, how
he commanded the beast to lie down and how it did. And how he told it he
had come to the forest to hunt, not to do battle, and then how “something”
took possession of him and the next thing he knew he was waking up in the
village, where they’d brought him after finding him stretched out on the
forest floor.

Meanwhile, three of the kittens return, slinkily, only to be thrown out the
door with alook of disgust from Tooy. The night grows late, and as one of the
acolytes leaves with the bucket of leaves Tooy has prepared for him “to give
him strength,” Tooy hoarsely whispers instructions: “Wash in them as often
as you have patience for, keep the bucket at the head of where you sleep.”

Kalusé picks up the pace again, following with a story about his father,
Tandd, a friend of ours in the 1960s who had a famously powerful Komanti
spirit. Once, he ran into a whole band of spotted beasts, and in the ensuing
battle managed to shoot four. Kalusé says he saw them dead on the ground
with his own eyes. At one point in the pitched encounter, Tandé became a
vulture and circled high over the battleground—people later saw the ripped
vines in the trees above the scene which couldn’t have been broken unless
he’d flown right through them.

The tale is interrupted by more kittens and more ejections. Suddenly,
Tooy breaks into a Komanti song that warns, “You can play with Jaguar’s
whiskers, but don’t even think about playing with Pussycat’s whiskers!” “Be-
cause,” he explains in a rush of interrelated, abbreviated, stories, “Pussycat’s

1”

whiskers are the fighting dbia of Jaguar



NIGHT OF THE CATS * 31

Jaguar once went to Pussycat to ask him for Ndki-Kii-dbia [“knock-kill dbia,”
the power that lets you kill an animal with one swipe of your paw]. Pussycat
agreed to teach him. First, Pussycat cut off Jaguar’s whiskers, roasted them in
afire, and told him to put a bit of the ashes in a glass before he drank it. After
Pussycat left, Jaguar gave some of it to another spotted beast to see what would
happen. Two hours later the animal rolled over dead. Next time he visited,
Pussycat said he’d teach Jaguar another ébia. He cut his own whiskers, roasted
them, and left the ashes with Jaguar. When Jaguar tested it on another spotted
beast, in only an hour and a half the animal was dead. So Jaguar knew which
was stronger. One day Pussycat came by and left his five children with Jaguar
to baby-sit. When he returned a week later, one was missing. Together, they
went to divination, which pointed to Jaguar, saying he’d eaten it. Pussycat said
he wouldn’t take back his dbia, but that thenceforth, if Jaguar used his left paw
toknock an animal, he couldn’t eat it or he’d die. Jaguar went hunting without
success. He'd been hunting for twelve days and twelve nights before he met up
with some peccaries. He was so hungry he knocked the first one with his left
paw! Realizing what he’d done, he called his older brother, Vulture, who was
able to remove the taboo for him so he could eat the animal without dying.

And then Tooy tells us, excitedly, that when you're in the middle of a Kom-
anti “play”—Tooy’s a master Komant{ drummer and singer—and you hear
this song, it makes you think of all these stories.’

Komantis, who walk in tiger cats and vultures, are the greatest of Sara-
maka curing gods and warrior gods—they're also the quintessential mean-
ing of the word dbia. Tooy knows them like the palm of his hand.
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My house may be small, but it’s filled with conversation.
TOOY

When we arrive at the Cayenne airport from Martinique, Tooy, Kalusé, and
Tooy’s sister’s son Frank, who'’s driving for them, are there to greet us. We
rent a car and follow the old Toyota to Tooy’s house. Once inside, he brings
out some glasses—a beer mug, a champagne flute, a wine glass, a shot glass,
awater tumbler—and places a generous wad of dried herbs in the bottom of
each, saying, “Each person must kill himself.” So we each pour in a measure
of rum from the bottle he offers. As Kalusé leans over to clink glasses, Tooy
stops us—“That’s not allowed. And you have to stand up when you drink this
mixture!” So, without further ceremony (no libations allowed, either), that’s
what we do. Tooy tells everyone to swallow the herbs, which go down with
difficulty. (I see Kalusé spitting the residue outside the door and I follow suit,
discreetly. Sally doesn’t notice but somehow manages to get it all down.)

For years, Tooy haslived at the edge of the city, where Cayenne meets the for-
est. The neighborhood just preceding his, as you travel beyond the market
and over the stinking canal, is called Chicago, because of its frequent crime
and gunfire. That’s also where, even during the day, women and girls from
various nations peddle their bodies in front of frail wooden shacks. The oc-
casional Chinese store, stocked with liquor and a few staples, is the only
other local commerce. (A decade earlier, we'd described that neighborhood
ina phrase that still works: “a mean-looking area of mixed Chinese, Creoles,
Maroons, and some longer-established Haitians, as well as some dreadlocked
immigrants from Guyana, where recorded reggae, kadans, zouk, merengue,
soka, salsa, and kaseko pour from various doorways.”)' Beyond Chicago, you
turn off the last paved street onto a deeply rutted track that winds its way
through a vast complex of single-family structures crammed with recent
Brazilian immigrants. Tooy’s place is at the very end of the road, next to a
fetid canal he generously calls a creek.



END OF THE ROAD * 33

Tooy’s lived in this spot for almost twenty years, since the government
drained the mangrove swamp on which it sits. (Before that, he lived nearby,
atthe edge of the swamp.) He pays off the property year by year—along-term
loan from the French State. From the front, a sliding iron grate leads into an
open space of packed earth covered with rusting corrugated metal. There’s
an old beaten-up sofa against the front wall of the wooden house, a shrine
to the ancestors in a corner, a plastic tricycle, and in the center, a sawed-off
tree trunk for butchering meat, and a couple of large pots. Indoors, there’s a
tiny kitchen with stove, refrigerator, and sink and pots hanging on the walls,
a grungy bathroom with flush toilet and ancient washing machine, and a
living room-dining room painted green and blue. A steep staircase leads to
a sleeping loft. Off to one side is a room just big enough for a double bed.
Everything is dirty, with spiderwebs and frayed electrical cords hanging all
about. Aesthetically, it is a man’s house, though the kitchen pots are sparkly
clean and shiny when his wife’s around.

Behind the house proper is where most of the action takes place. My field
notes describe

a lush calabash tree with lots of beautiful fruit growing next to a fetid creek
with sewage pouring into it from a concrete pipe. Tooy’s waiting room added
on to the back of the house is 9 x 5 meters, with a concrete floor and zinc roof.
There’s junk all over—a large plastic cistern, a Chinese bicycle, a broken-down
gold-mining pump, nine drums—an agidd [large snake-god drum], several
apintis [talking drums], a few déindéins [small drums beaten with sticks]—old
bike tires, several dozen buckets, plastic and metal basins of all sorts, clothes-
lines strung here and there. Over the door is a Komanti [warrior-god] staff, a
kdndu [a protective charm made of a tiny bow-and-arrow], an dbia package
wrapped in black cloth with a red ribbon, and a ritual fire fan [to blow away
evil]. There are two pewlike benches and seven chairs in bad repair, each one
different. Large table with oilcloth. A couple of rum bottles and one of sugar-
cane syrup. Two or three others with leaves in the rum. Some empty beer bot-
tles. In the corner, a synthetic Christmas tree decorated with paper, balls, and
tiny electric lights. A smaller table with a bottle of champagne covered with
keéti [kaolin]. Two large Komanti staffs alongside a hoe, a pair of old leather
sandals, various auto engine parts, a large jerrycan for gasoline. Plastic bags,
including one of sugared almonds, hanging from rafters. Two large hairy spi-
ders crawl on the ceiling. In a corner, one lifeless dog. There’s a rusty straight
razor on the table.

Inside, in the dining room, there are four clocks: one marked “High Class
Quartz Clock,” one with a revolving pendulum, one with a swinging pendu-
lum, all set for different times. TV with “Made in Europe” sticker affixed to
the screen. There’s a chainsaw, a broken electric fan, mosquito coils, and an
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outboard motor under the rickety stairs leading up to the sleeping loft. There
are ritual objects here and there: white flags, dbia packages, a black ball of
compressed leaves, a basketry dbia bottle hanging on the wall. There are two
old stereo systems, neither of which works. On the floor, a Barbie doll, another
pink doll, alarge stuffed turtle. A cassava squeezer made for tourists hangs on
the wall. Christmas decorations are strung around. Various bottles of French
pharmaceuticals near the TV. Lots of Chinese calendars (different years) on
the walls. Under the TV table (which is actually an old metal office desk) some
twenty-five widely varied and partly consumed liquor bottles. There’s a great
big wooden dishware cabinet with a glass front holding pots, pans, photos of
Tooy drumming, dancing, and doing 6bia. An old sofa and a stuffed armchair.
There’s an eating table in the center covered by oilcloth, with 4 chairs. Just
outside the one shuttered window is a pigeon house with several birds. Elec-
tric wires hang everywhere. Walls are pastel blue and pastel green. There’s a
telephone with along cord set on the armchair.

Up the stairs—more like a ladder—is Tooy’s double bed. It’s covered by a
mosquito net and flanked by a heavy armoire on which are piled ten old valises
holding clothes, photos, papers, and who knows what else.

Off the waiting room, behind the house proper, separated by a corrugated
zinc wall, is a dirt-floor, zinc-covered consulting room where Tooy admin-
isters ritual baths and stores his leaves, roots, vines, and other ingredients,
piled more or less neatly all around the walls and shelves. On the floor there’s
a hose, various plastic buckets and basins, some plants in pots, a mortar
and pestle, a couple of machetes, metal graters, knives, and cutting boards.
On the rough shelving there are commercial lotions and perfumes, small
seashells, conch shells (which Wéntis use to call each other to council meet-
ings under the sea), barks, roots, bottles of bleach, starch, and Crésyl, some
eggs, balls of kaolin, seedpods, lots of candles, matches, and a lightbulb in
its packaging. There’s a tangle of electrical connections and relays and when-
ever a wire gets loose, the house plunges momentarily into darkness.

Off of this space are three smaller ones—the first chamber, where Tooy
consults tarot cards with his clients, is devoted to the Wéntis. Lit by a small
window and bare bulb, the tiny space, floored in concrete, contains among
other things a table or altar with two folding chairs before it, along with
several decks of Marseille tarot cards, various bottles of beer, champagne,
and Coca-Cola, plant medicines of different kinds in calabashes, a Black
Forest-style gingerbread house of wood, Christmas wreaths and gold tin-
sel decorations, a large Chinese-made clock, various porcelain figurines,
boxes of candles, plastic flowers, and on the walls and draped from the ceil-
ing a terry-cloth image of Jesus, embroidered Saramaka textiles, a couple of
chromolithographs of saints, a “tapestry” with sheep grazing and another
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of the Virgin Mary, and a model ship in gilded plastic. On a wooden rack
sits a cordless phone. The altar also holds two similar liter bottles, elabo-
rately wound about with white cloth and embroidered neckerchiefs and
topped with braided red-and-white cloth necklaces and cloth-covered bi-
ceps rings—these are the “seats” of Tooy’s possession god Dinuydngi and
his wife, Ma Yaai’s, possession god Yontini. To one side of the altar, in an
almost hidden alcove at the rear of the tiny room, are the clay pots of several
sea gods—Digbednsu, Adjéunsu, Yowentina, and others—alongside conch
and other seashells and several bottles of beer. One large white platter holds
awhite stone not much smaller than an American football, bathing in herbs.
On the floor is a pitcher containing a yellow liquid.

The second small back room is more private—permission to enter must
always be asked by knocking and inquiring, “Father, may I come in?” This is
the shrine of Diinguldli-Obia. The red door is marked with darker-red blood-
stains. The dirt-floor chamber—2% by 3% meters with alow ceiling—is win-
dowless and has a two-foot-high post, representing Akoomi, whose top half
is stained with blood, flanked by two rows of crusty bottles of rum and beer,
and iron and clay pots filled with medicinal leaves and sacrificial blood—the
iron pots are for Gisi, Dankund, and other ¢bias we’ll meet later on. There’s
abull’s horn, ritually prepared cutlass blades, and balls of kaolin before the
altar and along one wall. A wooden plank with an oracle bundle attached is
on one wall, waiting to be taken down for divination. All around the walls a
forest vine is draped. Whenever friends gather to eat a meal with Tooy out
in the waiting room (which is cooler than the indoor dining room), Tooy
always dishes out a plate of food and brings it into the Diinguldli chamber
so the dbia can share the meal. The room is always kept pitch dark, unless
Tooy is inside.

The third room contains an dbia boat, a four-foot-long, two-foot-deep
“canoe” that holds a solution of whatever leaves, barks, vines, and roots were
prepared for the last ceremony that took place in the house. This is where
Saramakas, rather than other clients, come to bathe, using calabashes to
pour the water over their bodies.

Tooy may well be the best-known curer in Cayenne. At the time we got to
know him, he had a large and varied clientele as well as a group of eager
apprentices who helped him find forest leaves, roots, barks, and vines and
then grind them up according to his instructions, to be made into baths for
patients. On a typical day, there were always clients waiting their turn—
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The back door (clients’ entrance) to Tooy’s house—the low structure at right. The taller

concrete-block structure is the neighbor’s house.

Brazilians, Haitians, Martiniquans, Guadeloupeans, Creoles, East Indians
from Guyana, Amerindians, Paramakas, Alukus, and Saramakas, some-
times a couple or a family group, and even the occasional French metropoli-
tan woman or man.”

The telephone rings frequently, with Tooy answering in Saramaccan,
Ndyuka, or Creole, as appropriate, and the general atmosphere is lively, re-
laxed, and welcoming. The young apprentices joke among themselves, and
we often have the sense of being at a spontaneous theatrical performance.
“Who’s the boss, sugar or salt?” “Who else thinks he’s boss—water, blood,
fire? .. .” “What part of the body is boss?—feet, because they carry all the
rest.” Once we heard an hour-long debate in Saramaccan about this exotic
thing that the French call salade (meaning both “lettuce” and “salad”). The
question was: could you have a salade if there is no lettuce in it? And then,
could you be considered an authentic Saramaka if you ate salade more often
than rice?—which one of them claimed he now did.

Most of Tooy’s consultations are part of an ongoing set of cures for a per-
son who comes with a physical ailment (stomach pain, arthritic troubles,
what is now called on American TV “erectile dysfunction”. .. ) or a problem
with a job, a lover, or a spouse. For routine visits, Tooy charges the equiva-
lent of twenty bucks. But for serious cases, the costs quickly mount.
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Two of the salad debaters.

Tooy now has two wives. Ma Yaai, his Ndyuka wife of forty years, is short
and rather round, her face generously embellished with decorative scarifica-
tions. She suffers from diabetes (for which she receives two injections a day
from a nurse who works for public health), and she has difficulties attend-
ing to her household chores—the two children she’s adopted from sisters
are Mireille (five) and Sammy (nine), too small to be much help, but both are
as fond of Tooy as he is of them. She’s recently begun to get a small old-age
pension, having reached the age of sixty. When she gets dressed to go out,
for example for a doctor’s visit, she chooses one of two stylish wigs. For the
past four decades, Ma Yaai has been the medium of an important sea god,
Yontini. When her god and Tooy’s come into their heads together, they sing
the most beautiful songs you've ever heard.

Tooy’s second wife, Céline, is a fifty-year old Guadeloupean who looks
younger than her age. Divorced, she works in a copy center downtown and
lives with her two daughters about a mile from Tooy. He spends almost ev-
ery night with her, leaving Ma Yaai with the two young kids at home. Even
though they’ve been together ten years now, Céline’s never learned any Sara-
maccan, and she and Tooy speak to each other in Creole. She’s wildly in love
with Tooy and blushes as she confides to us he’s at once a husband, a father,
afriend, and a lover to her. Ma Yaai isn’t happy that Tooy spends almost all
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Tooy and Yaai. Tooy and Céline.

his nights with his younger wife, even though she’s grateful that Céline is so
generous to her, helping her fill out her welfare and medical papers, driv-
ing her to the doctor, and coming to visit when she’s ill. From time to time,
to show her pique, Ma Yaai goes off for weeks or even months at a time to
her house in Saint-Laurent, where many Ndyukas live, on the border with
Suriname.

Sitting in the house one day, Tooy tells me about an incident that happened a
couple of years earlier. His older brother Sensilé, who'd recently gone blind,
was visiting from Paramaribo. (Tooy explains to me that his brother’s pos-
session god, Flibdnti,’ is extraordinarily jealous about Yowentina, his wife
in Wénti land—if you tell her you want her, no way Flibdnti won't kill you!)
Tooy went off to Chicago to buy some nails for a canoe he was building out
behind his house, leaving Sensilé alone on a stool. He bought his three kilos
of nails and had come out on the sidewalk when two beautiful women, one
tall and one short, and one of their children came along and greeted him in
Creole. He describes an animated conversation with the two of them, all in
Creole. It’s both playful and flirtatious—they tease him about whether he
doesn’t really know them, leaving him confused but intrigued. Finally they
part, saying, “Bonne route,” “Meci Mesdames,
forth. Arriving home, Tooy (before he says a word) is confronted by Flibdnti,

» « » «

‘Meci Monsieur,” and so

who scolds him, “It’s damn lucky I love you, because otherwise I'd have hit
you over the head with a two-by-four!” and teases him about the identity of
the women he met, letting on that the shorter one was in fact his own wife,
Yowentina, and that Tooy had better watch his ass. Two days later, when I'm
driving to the market with Tooy, he has me stop the car and get out, and he
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shows me the Chinese store as well as the exact place on the sidewalk, next
to a vacant lot in Chicago, where he met the two Wénti women and their
child.

Tooy likes to tout Flibdnti’s powers.

Once, at the village of Gédo during a Komanti “play,” they summoned Flibdnti
to come join them. While he was dancing along with the others, a man from
the village of Akwdukéndé came up to him with a hen’s egg he'd specially pre-
pared with 6bia, saying, “Handsome fella, I like the way you dance. Here’s a
little gift from me!” Flibdnti said, “I don’t think I'll take that egg. [he recounted
his praise name:| Peesi en koko hen kwdtaki fu hdndugbdu—Man, you're trying
to mess with me! I came to dance, not to fight!” Then he took the egg and
slammed it down and jumped right up on top of the shrine of the biggest
avenging spirit of the village! “You know who you’re messing with here?!”
he asked. The house collapsed! It was the house of the kiinu [avenging spirit]
called Djakdi. Djakdi showed up and asked, “What’s going on here?” Flibdnti
said, “You know me, kid. And I know you too.” [He says some esoteric words.]
Djakdi said, “Leave off! Calm down!” Flibdnti replied angrily, “Quick now!
Twelve lengths of cloth, twelve bottles of rum, twelve bottles of cane syrup,
twenty-four bottles of beer—bring them quick!” The man who'd insulted
Flibdnti had already fled, so the elders of the village quickly ran off to get to-
gether the payment to finally calm things down.

Another time, Gaamd Agbagd was staying near Afobaka on some busi-
ness, and almost every morning he’d hear a loud unpleasant noise. When
he finally complained and was told that it was Sensild’s dbia calling out, he
quickly assembled and paid the ¢bia twelve lengths of cloth, three bottles of
rum, twelve parrots’ feathers, and twelve cowrie shells.

More recently, during the Suriname civil war, a Javanese officer, with “160
soldiers in seven trucks,” ordered thirty-seven Saramaka women to lie belly
down on the ground at Wéti Sdndu, south of Paranam, but Flibdnti stormed
in, machete in hand, and the commander told his men to run for it—they
threw down their weapons, jumped in their trucks, and on the road, six
of the trucks overturned, killing them all. Ronnie Brunswick—the leader of
the Jungle Commandos—was an eyewitness, says Tooy.

The day before we leave for Martinique, after our first visit to Cayenne since
we've known Tooy, he tells us he’s making identical dbia bottles for me and
Roland to take back with us. It’s a man’s thing—don’t share the bottle with
anyone, he warns. Into two empty rum bottles he loads shavings, which he
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makes with a knife, of selected biydngo (ritual spices or power objects)}—
quartz crystals, mica, vulture bone, and the claw of a giant anteater, to
which he adds some komanti sangadfu (the plant he showed us in Martinique
that when drunk properly in infusion allows you to hear “the sounds of
the universe”), some long black weeds, various roots and leaves, some salt
and sugar. Each bottle is topped with a cowrie shell with a parrot feather
stuck through it pointing downward. I'm told that when I arrive back home,
I should load the bottle up with a mixture of molasses and water, spray a
mouthful to the left, then to the right, and then drink a bit, and give Roland
the same instructions. The cork, he warns, should be fitted only loosely—
otherwise, the bottle will explode.



TOOY POSSESSED

* 2000[2006 *

He slips into possession so gently that it’s only by the way he addresses Sally
(as “Madame,” rather than his usual “Sister-in-Law”) or Kalusé (as “Bdsi
Ronal” instead of “Father”), or the distinctive way he laughs or the way he
goes on about the man he calls Stupid-Head, that you realize it’s no longer
Tooy who's speaking. But he never waits too long to erase all ambiguity by
calling out one or another of his praise names: “I'm Sdki-awdngba-djingmbe,
Big Man of the Water! 'm Maning-awtsu-djingmbe, Big Man of the Forest!
But you can just call me Maning,” he laughs. And then he gets right into his
teaching and preaching, boasting and cajoling.

Here’s a transcript of a recording where he’s talking to me in 2004, after
Sally and I had helped get him out of jail:

Man, the goddess called Digbeénsu of Oléni, heh heh heh! She bore that
whole lot of Wénti women. She’s in the water, she’s in the air. How could you
begin to measure yourself against her? Man, when Death comes to take you,
you simply have to go. Your ultimate destiny in life is death. I know you can’t
live forever and that you don’t want to die yet, so 'm going to beg the Great
God that helet you live. But there’s no one on earth who won’t die, so you’ll die
one day too, heh heh heh. 'm Awdngbadjingmbe! I'm Kdsi-fu-wdmba! Man,
come embrace me, come give me a big hug, Brother! I'm Awdngbadjingmbe,
I'm Kdsi-fu-wdmba! [We embrace. ]

The animal called Bush Hog, it says that its secret name is Gungu-vuldng-
mammbd." It’s also Soséo-gidigidji—that’s its play name. [He sings:] Sosdo-
gidi-gidji, Ma Yéndjila. | Sosdo-gidigidji, Ma Yéndjila. And what Bush Hog tells
us is mbémbe-na-sabdnga—which means, “The thing we were talking about
yesterday is still with us today.” That’s what the song says. And when those
animals stampede through your village, you can’t tell me that you don’t shake
with fear. Any man would wither! That animal has the whole world frightened
of it! ('m so happy you're here again today!) The bush hog—it’s also called
Bataa-a-ku (that’s what forest spirits call it). And Frenchmen call it cochon
bois. Don’t be afraid! 'm the one teaching you this. 'm Awdngbadjingmbe!
I'm Kdsi-fu-wdmba! Big Man of the Forest, Big Man of the Water! If you try to
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trick me, you'll just be tricking yourself, my brother! If you ever try to trick
me, you'll just be tricking yourself. Mother Digbednsu, she’s in the air, she’s in
the water, heh heh heh.

Because of the wonderful deed you did for me, I'm going to give you some-
thing special today. The others won't like that but 'm going to do it, because
of what you did for me. Had you done it for Flibdnti [Tooy’s brother’s god],
he’d have given you the very same gift. I'm telling you straight! When you go
home, find yourself a bit of nutmeg, in the shell. Get four sticks of cinnamon.
(Brother, I'm giving you some heavy witchcraft! Serious stuff! Make sure you
don’t tell Stupid-Head about this. Stupid-Head mustn’t hear that I'm telling
you this. This is something that only you and I should share. And you’ll have
to pay me twelve coins for it!, heh heh heh.) That nutmeg, it’s Akoomf’s nut-
meg! [The spirit who brought Diinguldli-Obia] This is a really big thing for me,
Asdki-awdngba-djingmbe. I'm also Kdsi-fu-wdmba. And Akumbuld-dénde.
I'm Pakatd-fu-adju. I'm Kuldng-kdma-buld-dembu. Heh, heh, heh, heh, heh!

Well, you take those things and you pound them in a mortar, piim pim
pum, mash them up. Find four biscuits, two male and two female. Put them
in and mash them, pim pim pim. ('m really giving it to you now! So do
it! It’s your work! You can’t go back now.) OK. There’s one more ingredient,
but I don’t know if you can find it anywhere near here. When the wind blows,
there’s a certain tree that cries out [high-pitched] kwéén-kwéén, kwéén-kwéén,
kwéén-kwéén! [to Sally] Haver't you heard that, Madame? . . . [She says yes.]
You know it! [He laughs with pleasure . . . | Well, you pound the bark, you take
two pieces of the bark, put them together and pound them in the mortar. Then
take some konsdka leaves, man. And you put them in a large clay pot with the
rest. Get three bottles of beer. (If you dor’t have any, just ask Stupid-Head for
them. The man who lives here, he’s Stupid-Head. He makes out that he knows
things, but what does he really know? If he doesn’t watch out, I'll cut him to
pieces! I've already cut him up twice. Brother, haven’t I cut him up twice? He
pretends he’s “ripe”—what kinda ripe? But I won’t cut him up again, not yet,
anyway. Brother, you needn’t be afraid of me.) Now, go down to the sea, wait
for the third wave that rolls in, catch a bit of it in a calabash and bring it home.
Open three bottles of beer, man! Put it all in the pot. Then wash in it, Brother.
And watch how things go for you after that! (But don’t tell Stupid-Head—or
anyone else. This is between you and me.) Ma Yowentina and her father Adj-
éunsu and her grandmother Digbednsu of Oléni, heh heh heh. The big man
who’s master of the sea—do you know his name? (The man, not the woman!)
[I say: Adjéunsu.] That’s right! So, you call his name. You stand before your
doorway. You open one more bottle of beer and you pour a libation to him
right in front of the clay pot. Then you wash yourself with what’s in that pot
until you're clean all over. The woman can wash, too—you needn’t be afraid.
Other men will desire her but the man who takes her will drop stone dead!
Don’t worry. It’s me! I'm telling this woman, whether she sleeps with a man on
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Stupid-Head’s watch or she doesn’t, he couldn’t help you out either way. But
from now on you're dealing with me! The man who tries to seduce her will col-
lapse in his tracks! Time for me to leave, now . . . [and he sings a strange song,
Wayo, wayo, tjala, tjala . . .] 'm still here, man! I want to thank you for what
youve done. Only the Great God himself can really thank you in a fitting way.
But I walk with Oldni. The things I've given you today, take them, hold them
tight! Wayo, Wayo, tjala, tjala . . .

And the god sighs very deeply, and leaves. Tooy looks up, wearily, and asks
Ma Yaai to bring him some tobacco.

From the time I met him, on our first visit to Cayenne after Roland’s lumber-
yard cure, Tooy’s god, Diinuydngi, has displayed special courtesies to me,
explaining that he’d been to our home in Martinique and had been treated
with respect. Do we happen to know, he now asks slyly, what he’d seen out in
front of our verandah? I say I have no idea, so he elaborates. “If you seek me,
you shall find me,” he sings. “If you seek me, you shall find me.”

I'm Master Djidjingmbe, I'm Sdki-awdngba-djingmbe as well. Now, you and
Stupid-Head, you're like two brothers—but don't forget, I ain’t no relative of
yours!If you enter the forest and curse it, it's me youre cursing! If you go in the
water and curse it, it's me you're cursing! Because 'm Sdké-awdngba-djingmbe
and I'm Mani-awénsu-djingmbe, too! So, I'm going to tell you some lies, and
you’d best listen up!

In front of your house, near the edge of the sea, where the water doesn’t
even think about trying to be cool anymore, there’s an old man out there. His
eyesare here, right in the middle of his head! [He points to the top of his skull.]
That’s not his home, just a place he likes to rest. You know that little cove be-
hind the mountain? That’s another place where the old fellow likes to relax.
In fact, those are his two preferred places.

Now, when this guy looks up at you, it’s from the two eyes on the top of
his head. It happened like this: He had a daughter named Zoofayatinde who
was one beautiful girl. People were coming from all the underwater villages
for a féte at his place. The man is in a house over here, his wife is over there.
The “play” really heats up. And then the visitors notice Zoofayatinde. “Oh,
that woman there, we want her! We want to take her away with us!” There
were two brothers who came to the féte. One said, “Brother, 'm going to start
drumming. You go dance with the woman.” He grabbed the drum and began
playing, [he sings] “I'm drumming my heart out, 'm drumming my heart out
in ayadnde [repeat].” The place was really on fire! One of the boys jumped on
the father, grabbed his face with his fingers, and put out his eyes. Meantime,
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the other made off with the daughter. (I was there, but I wasn’t the one who
took her.)

A long time later, she showed up at her parents’ village and sang out, [he
sings] “I've come to see how you're doing, I've come to visit. 'm Zoofayadnde,
and my mother’s Ahémedji. (Now, her father is Konki-fu-Az6, the King of Azd.
Her mother is Ahémedji. The village is Azd.)

The old man, you can see him coming up for air just off the point to the
south of your house. But he has two gardens—one, where you see the fire-
flies at night on the hillside, and another on a hill called Zeeagbagébuka.
You should pour offerings of beer—not rum—to him, calling him by name:
Konki-fu-Az6. He owns that part of the sea. He’s the king there. His eyes are in
the middle of his head. He’s looking up at you from down below the sea with
his eyes on top. Because the boy jumped on his head and struck out his eyes so
the other one could make off with the daughter, Zoofayainde. (Man, was she
alooker!) By his powers, the king grew back his eyes, but they came up on top
of his head.

And he concludes, “Come embrace me, man, come embrace me, woman.
We've talked along time . . .”

Before he leaves, I ask the god what ayadnde means. “It’s underwater lan-
guage!” he chuckles. “Ayaiinde is the name of the gong, the great gong un-
der the sea. They have one in the meetinghouse of each of the towns down
there, Gadnlolo, Oldni. . . . When it rings, the whole world of Wéntis hears
it.” And then he confides, “If I hear it ringing—even though I'm not a ‘wa-
ter person’ myself, I can dive in and go to the meeting, too.” Another time
he tells me ayadnde, or ayaiinde, is the way Wéntis speak of a great rocking
motion—sometimes it refers to the tides and sometimes to the ringing of
the great underwater bell, back and forth. Perhaps, I suppose, they’re one
and the same (Dinuydngi’s hermeneutics of depth. .. ).

“Give me some tobacco,” Tooy’s god orders me another time, suddenly add-
ing, “There are words in this world that you've never once heard! Heh heh
heh.” And then he regales me with a few of them.

The creature called Papdgddu, have you ever heard of it? [I allow as I've had
some experience with these snake gods.] OK. But I'll bet you don’t know
how it says its praise name. It says, “I'm Adji-kédo-gidi-tinzu-moyon. If the
wind blows, I coil up, if the wind doesn’t blow, I coil up.” But this isn’t just any
Papdgddu! It’s the one that lives underneath the earth—The Great Papdgddu,
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The Earth Mother, The Big-One-of-the Forest, it’s all black without any stripes!
And it’s got an agouti’s head! [sort of like a rabbit] It doesn’t have a snake’s
head!If you travel till you come upon it, you've seen the face of Evil. You’ll die.
Here’s how he says his name: “I'm Adji-kédo-gidi-tinzu-moyon. If the wind
blows, I coil up, if the wind doesn’t blow, I coil up.” .. . Brother! When I shoot
the breeze with you, you must remember it all, and when you repeat it, don’t
be afraid! Don't be afraid, man. I know what I'm telling you. This is exactly
what that Papdgddu says: Adji-kddo-gidi-iinzu-moyon.

Brother, the forest—that’s what they call zumé. The secret name for “for-
est” is zumé! (Man, I just love to talk with you, because we understand each
other, not like when I talk with those young folks who don’t understand a
thing.) Man, the secret name for “forest” is zumé! If you're in the forest, don’t
ever say that word! If you say it, you'll never come out! (Now;, it’s really kwamd
reeds that have that secret name. Kwamd’s secret name is zumé. They use it in
Papd songs, they play it on the apinti [talking drum)], but they use it as the se-
cret name for the whole forest as well.) That’s why both Papdgddu and Howler
Monkey have the same praise name. They say they’re “Ztimé-koko-kudjumé,
the child of the forest, the mother of the forest.” (I don’t care what you do with
Stupid-Head, but when you and I are talking, don’t forget a word I tell you,
Brother!)

That great snake who lives at the base of hills. He’s the one who gives Wéntis
clothes when they come ashore to walk among humans. Just the way the police
give you a visa to walk in a country when you cross the border. That snake
lets the Wéntis come onto shore. One of these snakes was called Asoddtan,
that’s the name already! People from the Matjdu clan killed him. I worked four
years with a Matjdu man and learned all about it. That god, Asoddtan, has the
agouti head. He gave me three words to say, but I don’t use them anymore.
They're too dangerous. Howler Monkey says his name is Zumé-koko. He has
the same name as that thing. They both say their praise names the same way. It
means that he’s the child of the forest, the mother of the forest. Asoddtan says
his name is Gwesfalingi, or Zumé-koko-fu-ztime. The great money dbia of the
Matjdu clan, this is its god! I made that dbia seven times with my Matjdu-clan
friend. He didn’t hide any of it from me. This is the dbia that Chief Agbagé used
to get his money!

Yet another time, in the midst of some other story, he adds more about
bush hogs, sharing some esoteric hunting lore that he still hasn’t told me
the end of.

The woman called Gwdgasa-Gwandimbo, [loud, high:] heheheh! heheheh!
heheheh! [to Sally] Madame, the woman called Gwdgasa-Gwandimbo [loud,
high:] heheheh! heheheh!heheheh! [he almost loses control, beginning to sob
but catches himself] Oolo! [to me:] Man, I'd better snort some tobacco . .. The
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Tooy Possessed

woman called Gwdgadja-Gwandimbo has a daughter who is guardian of the sa-
vannah called Tjéntji-mbéi-na-tjéntji. She watches over all the bush hogs, and
her name is Ma Gumbd. You need to know exactly how to call on her to get her
tolet them out of that savannah. If you don’t do it right, Brother, watch out!

Sometimes, he teaches us moral lessons.

Man, you go to a large “play.” You're there for quite a while, watching the ac-
tion. Then a young man has cramps and feels diarrhea coming on. He has no
idea where people go to shit in that village. So he walks out the main path, as
fast as he can without attracting attention, pulls off his loincloth, and squats
next to the path. He shits right there, but before he can straighten up, pieces
of shit stick on one side of his cheek. The path says to him, accusingly “You've
come to the ‘play’ to ruin my reputation?” He answers, “No, I didn’t come
with that intent. But I couldn’t help myself. I just had to go.” “You just had
to go?” asks the path, sarcastically. “Well then: Zuunzjé dé kwaydn, kwaydn sa
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kd zdddome.” That’s what Main Path says to Living Person. The guy gets back
to the crowd and people begin asking, “What smells exactly like shit around
here?” The crowd parts until the guy is standing all alone right in the middle,
with the shit reeking on his body. That’s what this means: Zuunzjé de kwdyan,
kwaydn sa kd zdddome. You come to ruin my name, and you've got shit sticking
to your own body!

This, the god tells me when I ask, is “kéndé [‘country’ or ‘old-time’] talk,” not
a particular esoteric language.
On another occasion, after he’d been with us for an hour, the god said:

Man, let me snort some tobacco . . . Time for me to go, heh heh heh. Woman,
[sings to Sally] “If you deceive me, I'll deceive you, too. I'm one smart guy.
If you love me, I'll love you, too. You're one shapely gal!” [addressing Sally:]
Madame? If you forget me, it’s no one’s fault but your own. But 'm not the
kind of guy someone ought to forget, or else! When you see me, be sure to
greet me, cause 'm Sdki-awdngba-djingmbe, 'm Kdsi-fu-wamba, I'm Aguin-
gula-bitjémbe-who-pays-for work, I'm Guldn-kdma-guldn-beyimbé. Eh, heh
heh heh heh heh heh! Woman, I knew my father, I knew my mother, I knew
my grandparents. [sings, almost as if in pain:] “If you deceive me, you're only
cheating yourself. If you deceive me, I'll deceive you, too.”

The god then calls out to Céline, Tooy’s Guadeloupean wife, who has driven
over right from work downtown.

Woman, you just walk by without even greeting me? Heh heh heh. Woman,
how is Yowénza doing? Céline, I'm talking to you! (That’s what I've heard
Stupid-Head call her: Céline.) How’s Yowénza? [Céline comes up and hugs
him from behind, saying in the few words of Saramaccan she knows, “I don’t
understand.”] You don’t know who Yowénza is? You and he sleep in the same
hammock every night and you don’t even know his name? Well, why do you
sleep with him then? [I translate for her and she giggles.] I'm talking about
Stupid-Head! [He laughs.] Let’s split, Brother. Let’s rest.

And suddenly the god is gone.



ENSTOOLMENT

* 06302001 *

Since before we've known him, Tooy has been reluctantly but inexorably
pulled into the vortex of Saramaka politics in Cayenne, his name pushed
forward by the younger men who surround him to stand as their representa-
tive to the French State. The choice is in some ways paradoxical, since Tooy
cannotread or write, and they know that’s a gamble. Yet for many Saramakas
in Cayenne, he represents the epitome of traditional wisdom as well as a
generous sociability, and that’s a face they’d like to show to the authorities at
a time when more and more young immigrants are having run-ins with the
law over issues that range from immigration papers to drugs. They reason
that if anyone can help smooth over the problems of the rapidly growing
population of Saramaka immigrants in the city, now some 4,000, it would
be Tooy, who has carved out a firm niche for himself over a forty-three-year
residence in Guyane. (Tooy holds a renewable ten-year residence permit—
something like a U.S. green card—and receives welfare benefits from the
State.) Against his better judgment, Tooy has let them plead their case with
the Guyanese and Saramaka authorities.

Saramakas have had captains in Guyane for over one hundred years, men
who serve as official buffers between the migrants and the French adminis-
tration. During the heyday of canoe transport, there was a Saramaka captain
on each of the major rivers: the Mana, the Sinnemary, the Approuague, and
the Oyapock; and in the 1970s, a decade after Saramakas poured into Kourou
to help build the European space center, a new captaincy was created there.
Each of these positions (like village captaincies in Saramaka territory) is a
combination of political and spiritual authority and is subject to the Sara-
maka gaamd in Suriname. A man becomes captain for life, and his successor
is chosen by divination with the coffin of the deceased officeholder. Cap-
tains in Guyane get paid 30% of the official minimum wage and are given
two sets of official uniforms for public events.

Following the official go-ahead from both Guyanese and Saramaka
authorities, the date of June 30, 2001, was set for Tooy’s enstoolment as
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the first Saramaka captain of Cayenne. We flew down from Martinique for
the occasion.

It’s a typically hybrid event. Part One’s in the Place des Palmistes, Cay-
enne’s main square, on a Saturday night. A delegation has come over
from Suriname, including the premier Saramaka dance troupe. In the
bleachers are five hundred onlookers, Saramaka immigrants and curi-
ous citizens of Cayenne, who drift in and out throughout the evening.
Lots of waiting. The lighting system has failed, and in the end the mayor
of Cayenne doesn’t show up for his speech, which is given by an aide. I
follow up on the stage with a speech the Saramaka organizers had asked
me to prepare about their people’s contributions to the development of
Guyane. Aniké Awdgi, Saramaka Headcaptain from Suriname, then makes
a presentation of gifts from the Saramaka people to the town of Cayenne
(a carved stool, a model of the canoes Saramaka men used when carrying
gold miners up and down the rivers). A Creole MC, provided by the mu-
nicipality, introduces performances by various Guyanese folkloric dance
troupes, who lackadaisically go through their routines. Finally, around mid-
night, the visiting Saramaka group performs, ending with the traditional
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Djangili dancing at the evening event. Tooy sits at left, Headcaptain Aniké Awdgi (with
cap) in center.
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“fire dance,” in which warriors dance barefoot in the flames and burning
embers.

Part Two the next day is more fun, a more purely Saramaka event, in
the ample yard of a house that Tooy inherited from a brother and now lets
younger relatives live in. Tables are decked out with colorful textiles, every-
one’s wearing féte clothes. Lengthy libations to ancestors and former cap-
tains. The Association of Young Active Saramakas of Guyane, which hasbeen
the driving force behind Tooy’s designation as captain, directs the event,
performing Tooy’s actual enstoolment, then draping the new captain with
various gifts: an embroidered hammock, stylish neckerchiefs, loincloths,
and many handsome capes, all embroidered and fringed with crochet. Oth-
ers, including ourselves, follow suit, and Tooy is nearly buried under the
textile gifts. A bottle of champagne is presented. Drinks and toasts. And
then celebratory dancing, both by the troupe from Suriname and by local
Saramaka girls, who really know how to shake their thing. The crowd of one
hundred or so Sunday celebrants is appreciative and involved.

Back to Tooy’s house, where Ma Yaai and other women have made peanut
rice, ginger drinks, coconut sweets, and other festive dishes. Headcaptain
Aniké Awdgi, Tooy’s brother Sensild, other dignitaries, and ourselves get
pride of place at the table in Tooy’s waiting room.

The next morning, when I greet him as Captain, Tooy confides that he’s
not at all sure about this captain business, but he’s resigned to waiting to
see what comes of it. He acknowledges that he’s worried about envy and the
sorcery it inevitably brings.



MOTHER AFRICA

* 1690[1712 *

In the 1960s, living with Saramakas for my dissertation research, I kept in
our tiny house a small shelf of anthropology classics including The Nuer,
with its photos of lanky leopard-skin chiefs and other Nilotic men with their
lengthy male members. Saramakas, examining the photos, remarked to a
man, “We’ve lost it! Look at how those Africans were hung!”

What is Africa for Tooy? A land of men’s men. Where those who prepared
themselves properly could take off and soar like eagles. Where others could
dive into the river in the morning and commune with the spirits underwater
till nightfall. Where men had gods and 6bias who could cure any disease that
ailed their fellows—a land of warriors impenetrable to spears or bullets,
men who had never eaten salt or ever shaken hands with a white man.

Tooy’s first remembered forebears, like those of most other Saramakas,
are those Africans who came on ships, those who experienced the Middle
Passage—in Tooy’s case, Gweytinga, his wife Béti-Kaddsu, and her brother
Wii. “Bavili,” says Tooy, “is where they came from—but they called it Bavili
Ludngu.” He adds, perhaps to see if he can get a rise out of me, “In that
forest, there were people who ate other people—I've seen it at the mov-
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ies, but I'd already heard it from my elders long before.” “Bavili,” he says
with a guffaw, “is a place where there were naked cannibals!” And indeed,
though images of Tarzan—who was popular in Suriname, as elsewhere in
the Caribbean—may play some role here, Central Africa was home to the
Imbangala and others whose ritual consumption of human flesh, and tales
thereof, was part of a broader political idiom that ebbed and flowed through
the region during the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries. So I tell Tooy,

when he asks my opinion, that indeed it might have been so.

Throughout the Americas, slave masters pinned labels—something like
brand names—on the newly arrived Africans they purchased. (Often, they
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were merely accepting labels that had been devised by traders, whether in
Africa or on shipboard.) In particular colonies at particular times, Africans’
imputed behaviors directly determined prices: Congos and Loangos, Ibos
and Coromantees, Nagos and Mandingos—each had their characteristic
work habits and temperament (so the planters believed). For a long time,
Western historians associated such labels with African ethnicities or tribes
or kingdoms, though more recently they have been realizing the complex-
ity of the ethnogenetic processes that made, say, a “Congo” out of people
coming from scores of different ethnic and linguistic groups. As historian
Joseph Miller puts it, regarding the case at hand, in Loango “traders known
as [Ba]Vili mediated between European slavers and a partially distinct net-
work of trading villages dispersed eastward toward Malebo Pool and south-
ward across the Zaire as far as the Ndembu region.”* And he describes how
the enslaved Central Africans would have discovered new social identities
beyond the local and already multiple ones that they had when they began
what he calls “their tortured ways toward the coast™:

Yoked together in slave coffles with others of unfamiliar linguistic and cul-
tural backgrounds, they must have gained a sense of familiarity with one
another and would have created alliances out of it, which the Europeans
labeled “Congo” [or “Loango”]. They would have extended these character-
istics as bases for collaboration for sheer survival while being held near the
shore, amidst many others, awaiting transfer to the ships. Entirely separate
European and African inventions, building on different aspects of the same
cultural background, thus converged to stimulate “ethnic” communities out
of the dehumanizing confrontations of enslavement. The slaves’ further ex-
periences of confinement during the Middle Passage and the specific circum-
stances they encountered in the Americas created changing incentives for
Central Africans to draw on differing aspects of their home backgrounds as
they searched for a morally restorative sense of humane community among
themselves. The meaning of being “Congo” [or “Loango”] in the Diaspora
changed accordingly.”

The enslaved peoples who arrived at the West Central African port of
Loango, accompanied by the BaVili traders who sold them for transship-
ment to Suriname, came from an increasingly diverse catchment area in
the densely inhabited regions of the interior: “The Dutch were more partial
to Loango, where forest peoples from modern southern Gabon would have
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been prominent among the slaves they boarded.” But after 1670, more, and
ever more distant, parts of Central Africa were being exploited, and BaVili
traders assembled peoples of increasingly diverse origins. Miller concludes

that the cargos brought by the BaVili to Loango in the early years of the
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eighteenth century—when Tooy’s remembered ancestors arrived on that
coast—were notable mainly for “the extreme diversity of backgrounds they
brought onto the ships.”*

In Suriname, Tooy’s newly landed ancestors took as their collective iden-
tity the brand name Bavili Ludngo, perhaps the main thing up to that mo-
ment that they shared, besides their suffering. Two of them, Wii and his
sister Béti-Kaddsu, are among the honored founders of the Saramaka clan
called Langu, which still holds sway over the Gadnlio in central Suriname
today.

But, according to Tooy, his African ancestors didn’t hail only from Loango.
He’s told me that “the name of the country was actually Dahtimbe, though
Saramakas later changed it to Ddome [the name of one of their villages to-
day]. Dahtimbe and Bavili are like brother and sister.” That Dahomey and
Loango lie more than one thousand miles and several nation-states apart on
white men’s maps does not matter one whit to Tooy—and in fact, he surely
has many ancestors from both regions. But he expresses this mixed heri-
tage through a merged geographical image I've heard only from him: “The
man called . . . [long hesitation] . . . He doesn’t want me to say his name. . ..
The first man in Africa who made peace with whitefolks, the first one to eat
salt. .. . He still doesn’t want me to say his name. . .. [t was. .. Djasibumbul!
He was from Dahdmbe and Bavilil”

Nearly 9o% of the Africans arriving in Suriname in the early eighteenth
century—when Tooy’s remembered forebears stepped ashore—were either
from Loango|/Angola or from Togo/Dahomey (see “Reflections from the Ve-
randah,” later in this book). So, Tooy’s merger of Loango and Dahomey nicely
captures historical reality, as long as we take it as metaphor. Other Saramaka
stories about ancestors, as well as songs, drum rhythms, and prayers, pre-
serve a much larger array of African place-names: Aladd, which Saramakas
also call Papd country (from the names of the major slave-shipping ports of
Allada/Ardra—the coastal kingdom of seventeenth-century Dahomey—
and Grand and Little Popo, in neighboring Togo); Anagg (the Ewe word for
Nigerian Yorubas); Asanti and Afdnti, also called Komanti (from the name of
the central Gold Coast kingdom, the southern Gold Coast confederacy, and
the Dutch fort at Koromantin);’ Pimbu (from Mpumbu, the Kongo word for
Malebo Pool, on the Congo River, and used in colonial accounts to refer to a
largeregionintheinterior of the Kongo); and many more, flickering like stars
light-years distant in the firmament of Saramaka collective memories.’
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With the help of a New World mnemonic, Tooy’s African geography can
get still more detailed. Along the Oyapock River, halfa day’s paddle upstream
from the first rapids, lies Dadiafé, which we have often discussed together.
It’s apropos of that mystical place, so central to Dinguldli-Obia and its mes-
senger, Akoomi, that he tells me one day, almost dreamily:

Dadiafé—that name comes from Africa. It’s a creek just upstream from
Dahtimbe. Right below it is an island, with a dwarf silkcotton tree in the mid-
dle. When a branch falls off that silkcotton tree, a child is born or a person
dies. That’s where they shot the guns! The island’s full name is Bom-sékele-
meedji-kdnka-somani-dadiafé. Or rather, that’s what that silkcotton tree says
to you. It warns you, “You must not come too close to me, or else!” That’s what
Bom-sékele-meedji means. It’s also rendered as Kdnka-somani-dadiafé. This place
is in Africa. It’s Dadiafé Island. The creek is also called Dad{afé. The ship that
left from there carrying the slaves was called Sanfémaindi (some people say
Sanfémaingi).” It left from the place called Dadiafé.

And then Tooy tells a story that a couple of the younger men in his entou-
rage, sitting around after a meal of rice and pig meat, contest vigorously—
how could slaves have carried anything at all, they ask? Tooy insists on his
version.

The men boarded the ships with their magic pouches. The whitefolks couldn’t
see them. Every great man had his pouch on his side. Each carried his biydn-
gos [magical ingredients]. Gweytinga’s Toné-god—he brought the biydngo for
it. He and his wife. Gweytnga didn’t leave his wife behind when he went to
the “play” [the féte the slavers threw to trick the Africans onto the ships]! He
brought her along! Béti-Kaddsu. They came together. On the one ship. They’d
already had kids together in Africa. Wii must have come on the same ship with
his sister and her husband.

This is vintage Tooy, laying the groundwork of who he is: the child of en-
slaved Africans from Dahomey and Loango, two great men (Wii and Gwe-
yunga) who arrived with their magical powers in their pouches, and the
woman (Béti-Kaddsu) who was sister to one, wife of the other.



NEW WORLD BEGINNINGS

* 1712 *

“They landed during a war,” says Tooy—which, for reasons too complex to
outline here, tells me that his ancestors landed in 1712, when French admiral
Jacques Cassard assaulted the Dutch colony of Suriname with eight men-of-
war and thirty smaller ships.’ Eighty-five years earlier, another Saramaka
captain descended from these people gave a similar version of the story to
a Dutch official:

We were brought to the colony during a war. A man named Cardoso had pur-
chased the whole shipload of Africans. Afraid that we would fall into enemy
hands, since the colony was under attack by large ships, he sent us into hiding
in the forest near Puupangi to await their departure.” Among us was a man
named Wii, who had been a chief in Africa. In the forest he had contact with
runaway slaves who told him about the terrible things that awaited him on the
plantations. Wii spoke with his sister Beti, and they both decided to run off
with any others who wished to join them.

This account also explains the second part of Béti’s name, Kadésu—from
their Sephardic Jewish slave master—which Tooy uses anachronistically for
her even in Africa. Today, Tooy’s natal village of Bundjitapd is the seat of the
Kaddsu branch of the Langu clan.

Tooy’s version follows Gweytinga, the newly landed rain priest (who had
the Toné-god), and his wife, Béti-Kaddsu, during their first year in Suri-
name, when they were kept on an island near the mouth of the great river
and then moved to the nearby site of a large plantation owned by the Com-
mercial Society of Suriname. The signal event is the birth of Antamd, Tooy’s
favorite First-Time ancestor, who during the second half of the eighteenth
century was a larger-than-life political and religious leader, heir to his father
Gweytinga’s rain-making powers and his uncle Wii’s ébias.

It was at Zezéku that Gweytnga got Béti-Kaddsu pregnant, but it was at Sadf-
ugodn [Societeits Kostgrond] at Nyuféto [Fort Nieuw-Amsterdam)] that she
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gave birth to Antamd. (When you're at Nyuf6to and look toward the sea, there’s
a kind of island—that’s Zezéku. That’s where they were in slavery at first, all
together. When they moved them from there, it was to Nyuféto.)

Characteristically, the geography is remembered with precision. As are
other events that occurred during the months (or might it have been a year
or two?) that Tooy’s ancestors lived and worked at “Slave-grounds,” the Soci-
eteit plantation near the future Fort Nieuw-Amsterdam (built 1734-47).

There was a shortage of women there, so the men went to find wives at the
Indian village across the river at Blauwgrond. They went to Chief Pama and
his wife Ma Libo. Kwadjani and the others asked the ingis for women. Then
Ma Libo laughed [a high-pitched stereotypic Indian laugh)] in their faces, say-
ing, Adiimakiiku dn sa kd ku kangwéla! [Tooy explains that in esoteric language,
Kangwéla means “black person,” Diimakiiku means “Indian”—“Indian women
are not for black people.”] The men said, “Is that so?” And then they added
[speaking an esoteric language of their own)|: Fu kéke muléle kdti kwanzambf, u
sayéi fudmba! [“That may be so, momma, but by the time the stars have shown
and the sun comes up once more, we’ll see if what you say is true!”—muléle is
an esoteric word for “stars,” kwanzambi for “Venus.”]* And they left. Later they
came back and caught as many Indian women as they could—the rest had fled
into the forest.

“And that’s why,” concludes Tooy, “among Saramakas today you'll hardly
find any clans that don’t have Indian ‘mothers.” And it’s how my ancestors
incurred the wrath of the Indians.”

It was not long before Wii led his fellows in their escape and decades-long
trek southward through the forest, with various encampments and villages
and battles still remembered today.’



THE PINK HOUSE

* 05081986/06071997 *

For most of the last thirty years, until their recent separation, Kalusé and
his wife Juliana lived in a bright-pink concrete house he’d built in one of
the rougher neighborhoods of Cayenne, just a street away from a sprawl-
ing slum in which recent Haitian immigrants put together shacks from
corrugated metal and cardboard in an area that turns into an inland
lake of mud and muck during the rains. Shielded from the dirt road by a
makeshift barrier of rusting corrugated metal, the house was set up in
bourgeois Creole style and impeccably maintained by Juliana—*“Yayunn”
to most everyone. A large cage on the front porch was home to a spider
monkey Kalusé caught in the rain forest. The yard out back served as a kind
of community center for migrant Saramakas, who would come for divina-
tion sessions, political debate, or just to hang out, listening to music cas-
settes from home. The formal sitting room overflowed with heavy wooden
furniture covered with embroidered doilies, displaying carefully chosen
bottles of liquor, a massive TV, pin-up calendars, and an impressive num-
ber of gilded trophies won by the soccer teams Kalusé captained. Bustling
with activity and children of all ages, there was always something going
on—women’s and children’s activities during the day, men’s affairs in the
afternoon and evening, once work let out. Kalusé’s strong physique, quick
mind, and ten-year residence-work papers made him a popular construc-
tion worker with both Creole and metropolitan bosses, and he was of-
ten asked to bring along a dozen other Saramakas without papers who
were grateful for day work at half the minimum wage. In the mid-1990s,
he was excited to be working on the construction of the enormous new
penitentiary going up just outside Cayenne. “It’s got two restaurants, a bas-
ketball court, and a swimming pool—just like a hotel in the movies,” he
told us.

Because of the ample space under the eaves, the house was a frequent
venue for Saramaka wakes, where men would come to pay their last respects
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to one of their fellow immigrants with dominos, folktales, and drink. Once,
at such an event, I discreetly asked about a man I'd never seen, sitting a few
places down on the long bench that ran along the outside wall—a man who’d
said nothing all evening. “He’s an ‘After-Seven,”” whispered the always po-
lite Kalusé. A moment’s thinking and I was with him. Saramakas count “six,
seven, eight”—sikisi, séibi, diti. Afti also means “Haiti.” Kalusé was telling me
the man was Haitian. (Using similar logic, other Saramakas call Haitians
“Four-plus-Fours.”)

Yayunn is jovial, occasionally hot-tempered and histrionic in domestic
conflict, alively manager of the household scene. By Saramaka standards of
female beauty, which call for ample amounts of flesh on the bones, she’s a
real prize. Like many other Creole women from the Oyapock region, Yayunn
is “half” Saramaka, via her father, who was a migrant canoeman. Like her
Creole mother, she and her sisters speak Saramaccan as easily as they do
Creole and French. On the other hand, many of Kalusé’s children with her
have only a passive understanding of Saramaccan. Once, we saw the house
decorated with pink satin window dressing over the doorways and bottles of
champagne tied with pink ribbons all about—a baby of one of their daugh-
ters had been baptized the previous Sunday. Other times, we share Kalusé’s
sadness and frustration—one of his younger brothers was shot dead in Cay-
enne by some Hmongs who mistook him for a man who had stolen from
them, and another whom we particularly liked died from AIDS, which like
crime is rampant in Guyane.

In recent years, Kalusé and Yayunn frequently fought. Most of their kids
were grown—one is a police inspector at the airport. In 1997, when we ar-
rived, Yayunn told us Kalusé had moved out. We found him several miles
away, living with a sister’s son next door to a house he was building for him-
self, his head heavily bandaged from the wound he’d received when Yayunn
hit him with a frying pan. He was out of work but getting unemployment
payments. The yard he was staying in had younger, newer migrants: a Sara-
maka woman playing a handheld video game, another sporting the tough,
current Paramaribo style—hair stiffly coiffed with red highlights, gold
teeth, pointy bra.

When we asked about changes in Saramaka—he’d visited Suriname
recently—he said that women were keeping up traditions more than men.
Monetization is rampant and destroying the social fabric. Men come back
from hunting saying they didn’t get anything and then sneak the game in
after nightfall, when no one will see, so they can sell it rather than share
with kinsmen. Paramaribo has discovered offshore oil and the city has un-
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dergone a cleanup campaign—people picking up litter, streets impeccably
clean. Dési Bouterse, the former military dictator, is running things from
behind the scenes with his drug money—what can you say? He’s the only
one who gets things done, claims Kalusé.



GWEYUNGA, THE
RAIN PRIEST

16901754

According to Melville and Frances Herskovits (our anthropological ances-
tors in Saramaka), who spent six months in West Africa in 1931,

In Dahomey there is a legend that when the first kings of the last royal family
conquered the plateau of Abomey, the priests of the river cult fomented rebel-
lions against the new rulers, and were all sold into slavery. Nothing of their
cult is said to be known today in Dahomey, and the old gods they worshiped
are left to trouble the Dahomeans. Today there are places in Dahomey where
no Dahomean dares to go. Sometimes, it is said, they hear drums beating from
the river bottom, and sacrifices are given to the rivers, although the proper
invocations to appease the gods are no longer known.

In the 1970s, elderly Saramakas told me elliptically and with reticence about
a spiritually dangerous incident that occurred inside Wet-Eye Creek during
the eighteenth-century wars against the whites.” The protagonist is Tooy’s
ancestor Gweytinga, the African-born runaway slave who was priest of the
river goddess known as Toné. In the story, as the colonial army tries to forge
the broad creek, Gweytinga, who had the power to “bring down the rains,”
sinks the whites in their tracks, and large numbers drown.’ Even earlier in
Saramaka history, another African-born runaway, Kwemayén—also re-
membered as a priest of Toné—sang to Gdnsa, the goddess of the Suriname
River, Gdnsa, mi ydnvald, mi ydnvald nawé, and then, in the words of the great
historian Tebini, “Kwémayon descended into the river. He slept right there,
underwater at the foot of the falls. The African!”*

My own acquaintance with Toné predates my hearing these historical
fragments. When we lived with Saramakas in the 1960s, our closest neigh-
bor was Naai, the nonagenarian sister of Gaamd Agbagd. Born with a caul,
Naai was herself a Toné child, a special being sent by the river goddess.’ Dur-
ing our stays in her village, Naai several times participated in rites for Toné
held in the village of Malobi, where many of the descendants of Gweytinga
live. She told us once how a man named Galimo, possessed by a water spirit,
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swam out to the middle of the river and went under until everyone panicked,
thinking him drowned, but how he then emerged ever so gently, not even
panting, and swam ashore, saying he’d seen Gdnsa and that she was getting
herself ready to come ashore. The multitude led by a priest of Toné then car-
ried Gdnsa ashore in a calabash amidst great celebration and placed herina
clay pot in the Toné shrine.

Tooy inherited his relationship to Toné from his forebear Gweytinga, and
conducts periodic rites for Gdnsa, Mother of Waters. When he sings to her,
he begins: Toné Gdnsa, so dé addni Sokoto—*“as it is in Sokoto,” a river that
flows into the Niger but also the name of a city in northern Nigeria, a town in
northern Céte d’Ivoire, and more especially a town in northern Ghana near
the border with Togo.

Once Tooy told me about a great famine whose memory is preserved in
Toné language. “People decided to present offerings on an altar at the top
of a great silkcotton tree. But the rule was that you had to carry your gourd
with manioc dumplings in one hand and climb the tree using only the other
hand and your feet.” No one was making it all the way up. But Chameleon
[called agama in Saramaccan] started up and said this prayer to Toné: kiite
kiite kaldkbo, kiite kiite kaldkbo, kalékwé domd yogd domd asidd hdld gwégede
agdma liba héngi-e. That’s the language of Toné! And he climbed right to the
top! Then he sang out [sings:] Boluwé, bolué-wé-wé-wé-wé-wé-wé, gadn mdsu
dendé, ségbenu ségbenu kaakbo kaakbo ini-we addnuwe boluwe, agdmasu dendé
béluwe-o, gdnsa-e, addni vése yéme.” Tooy explained that kiite kiite means “he’s
climbing”; kaldkbo, that he’s arrived. “The Old Ones used to teach me these
things. They knew I wouldn’t forget!”

Toné lore is so thoroughly integrated into Saramaka life that it even ap-
pears in the folktales told at wakes. Tooy taught me the drum rhythm that
Anasi, the spider man, uses in a tale to call Toné from the river and bring
her ashore to her shrine: the drum says, Banddmbald banddmba gdkili bdnda,
banddmba gdkili bdnda, don doniddn, biinuyén. Tooy assures me that he knows
this drum rhythm only from the folktale!®

The Herskovitses tell us that in Dahomey, the sons of Agbe, the God of the
Sea (himself the son of the Sky God), include Saho and Gbeyongo.® Saho
rules over the waves of the sea as they advance, and Gbeyongo has charge of
them as they recede. These gods are in the sea and in the sky, and when they
desire rain they must first send water from the sea into the sky. Dahomeans
say that it is Gbeyongo who causes boats to sink and people to drown."
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Saramaka Toné shrine. Inside the Toné shrine.

A continent away and separated by three centuries from his Dahomean
forebears, Tooy tells me one day that

there’s a place in the middle of the sea called Godolyi-limadu. That’s where
the sea gets pulled up into the sky and then pours back down. That’s what
makes the tides. When the water whooshes up, the tides recede, when it pours
down, the tides are full. Not a single airplane goes near that place! Not a single
ship! The saltwater Wéntis who live there call the place Godolyu-ltimadu or
Hwémado. When it pulls up the sea, almost the whole sea goes up! Brother,
if you’re ever on a ship at sea, don’t call that name! You’ll never return alive.
Different priests call it differently. One says “Tjololo Mdwa.” But as far as
Ma Yowentina is concerned, it’s the other words that you use for it: Godolyu-
limadu-hwémado.

Not only that. In Dahomey, the Toxosu—"“the abnormally born who become
spirits of the rivers and guard the approach to the kingdom of the dead”—
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are recognized as “kings of the water.”** “Dahomean practice, during the
native regime, was to give to the river all children who were born with hair
or teeth, or those who were hermaphroditic, or had other anomalous char-
acteristics, since the belief was that these were spirits who belonged to the
rivers.” And the term Toné, the Herskovitses suggest, is Dahomean.*

Neither Ndyukas nor other non-Saramaka Suriname Maroons, whose
ancestors in general escaped after those of the Saramakas, have significant
cults for Toné.* It would seem that some of those rebellious Dahomean
priests, sold into slavery in the late seventeenth century, found their way
to Saramaka but not to the other nascent Maroon peoples. And among
them was Tooy’s progenitor Gweytinga, who bore the name of the son of the
Dahomean God of the Sea.



ANTAMA AT WAR

* 01201753 *

Although in some storytelling contexts Tooy notes that Antamd was
Gweytinga’s son, much of the time Antamd stands alone as Tooy’s progenitor
supreme—often he refers to him in whispered conversation simply as “Fa-
ther.” In Saramaka historiography, Antamd first emerges—after his birth at
Slave-grounds, near the mouth of the Suriname River, a year or so after his
parents were landed there—as a precocious warrior. In the 1970s, the oldest
living Langu man named four of his clan’s war heroes and spoke Antamd’s
esoteric warrior name:

There was once a really big battle near Victoria. They completely finished off
the whites! Bdkisi, Antamd—his warrior name was Odinko Kankdnkdn!—and
Kadsiptimbu. Those were real men! Antamd and his younger brother Makambi.
Men’s men!"

For Tooy, one of the signal moments of the wars against the whites came
when Antamd lost his brother Makambi in battle, an event I can now date
to 1753.” In the wake of the breakup of the large village of Kumakd, which
the whites finally defeated in 1743, there were continuing battles in the area
around Victoria.’ Tooy’s graphic version centers on Antamd.

Antamd’s brother Makambi went off to fight at Victoria. He and Bdkisipdmbo
[another Langu leader], Kwakd, and Kwadjani [two leaders of the Nasi clan)].
They had made a camp at Gadn Paati. (It was near the railhead at Kabel. You
pass Makambi-kiiki landing, before you get to Wdtjibdsu, on the east side,
that’s where Makambi and Bdkisi and Kwaku lived. That’s where they left to
walk on the footpath to go fight at Victoria.) After they had fought for a time,
Kwakd and Bdkisi called Makambi and said, “Let’s go, we're tuckered out.”
Makambi said, “It’s not time to be tuckered out yet.” Three times they called
him to leave. Three times he said no. So, they left him there to continue fight-
ing. That’s when the Indian hidden up in a tree shot him with an arrow! So,
he took the arrow and yanked it out, but his guts poured out, too. He bent
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over and shoved his guts back in with his fingers. He left Victoria and went up
Company Creek and across to Makambi Creek and went up it until he got to
a stone called Tésu-gbéne-gbéne. When he got there, Kwaki and Bdkisi were
already resting at their camp at Gadn Paati. Makambi couldn’t go on, so he lay
down on the stone. He began snoring there. The others heard him and went all
the way to him. He died just as they arrived. They buried him there in a cave.
That place had been Nasi-clan territory, but it became Langu’s. And that’s why
it’s called Makambi Creek. Well, they sent a message to Antamd that Makambi
was dead, and you can imagine the sangasanga that he did!

Sangda—Antamd’s sangasanga—is a ritualized display of emotion involv-
ing rushing around almost madly. Today, it’s restricted to the final morning
of second funerals, when the ghost of the deceased is definitively chased
from the village in a wild melee led by youths. But as late as the first half of
the nineteenth century, it was still an explicit rite of commemoration, as
Johannes King, a literate Maroon, explained at the time:

“Sangaa,” means many people with guns, machetes, and spears in their hands
running all over the place exactly the way that the warriors used to fight
in Africa, and with many war cries. And the older men showed the youths
and young girls how they had fought with the whites and how the warriors
raided and destroyed whitefolks’ plantations, carrying off people to the forest.
While they were running around like this, they would shoot many, many
salutes, just like the government soldiers do in the city square. Then many
people would shout together: “Battle! Battle! The battle’s on!” And then they
would fire guns, play drums, and blow horns, just like warriors going off to
raid a plantation.”

Pero Rodrigues, a missionary in Angola in the sixteenth century, as well as
Father Lorenzo, a Capuchin in Central Africa in the eighteenth, described
armed war dances known as nsanga—*“to jump from one place to another
with a thousand twists and such agility that they can dodge arrows and
throwing spears aimed at them” . . . [and] “to make contortions to demon-
strate their force and their dexterity”—which “involved dancing out large-
scale encounters during ritual contexts such as Imbangala initiation cer-
emonies.. . . or prior to war.”*

In any case, Antamd was stricken by his brother’s death—to the degree
that his warrior buddies decided they had to act. As Tooy tells it,

They went all the way back to the plantation zone and liberated Djakdi, a
youngster, and they brought him straight to Antamd. He'd been a slave. Now,
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Antamd raised him in freedom. He never called him Djakdi. He always called
him “my brother.” So we’ve heard.

As he grew older, Djakdi, as we shall see, became a trusted member of
Antamd’s most inner circle.



THE SOLDIER’S TALE

* 10051939 *

Over the past several years, I've been able to piece together, from Saramakas
and from archives, a good bit about the Saramaka soldier, Kuset Albina, who
survived the war thanks to the magic paper Tooy gave Roland to protect his
lumberyard. For Saramakas trying to make a go of it today in often-hostile
French Guiana, his story—however fragmentary and undocumented—has
assumed mythic proportions, serving as concrete evidence of their people’s
collective contribution to France. It’s my hope that this expanded, docu-
mented version may further serve their cause—for Saramakas, knowledge
is power.

Aniké Awdgi, Saramaka Headcaptain now in his eighties, told me how,
as a teenager, he had been part of a group of men including Kuset who gath-
ered in the sacred Saramaka village of Ddome to be washed in the Great Obia
in preparation for going off to work as canoemen on the far-away Oyapock
River, bordering Brazil. He remembers that two women from French Guiana
(one Chinese, named Pundu, and one Creole, named Bemai, both pregnant),
who were visiting in Saramaka, came with their husbands and pounded the
rice for the ceremony—“right there under the big mango tree.” After the
ritual washing, the whole group paddled downstream toward French Gui-
ana and, when they arrived days later, heard the news that “the War of ’39”
had been declared. Stopping at the provincial town of Mana, where many
Saramaka migrants worked as canoemen for the gold miners upriver, several
men went straight to the gendarmerie and offered to volunteer; but only
Kuset, another Saramaka, and a Ndyuka who happened to be there were in
the end accepted as fit for service.' Kuset had his reasons for going to war—
Sensild, who spent his childhood and adolescence in Guyane, told me that
Kuset’s father, Aféifi (who had been prospecting for gold on the upper Kou-
rou River), was among the scores of Saramakas working in French Guiana
who'd been killed over the years by prisoners escaped from the bagne (penal
colony) and that, when offered the chance to “go kill whitemen,” Kuset said
he’d be happy to take his revenge.
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Tooy told me what happened next, which he says he heard directly from
Kuset, years after his return from the war. The three recruits were put on a
ship to take them from Mana to Cayenne to officially enlist. One, a Saramaka,
when he heard what service would really entail, became terrified, climbed
the mast, and dove off, killing himself instantly. The Ndyuka, who felt simi-
larly, somehow managed to dive overboard and escape into the forest. Only
Kuset arrived in Cayenne and enlisted, confident of his warrior prowess.

Precious documents in the French military archives at Pau, in the foot-
hills of the Pyrenees, which I managed to retrieve after years of frustration
and with the generous help of archivists both civilian and military,” pro-
vide the proof that Tooy and, particularly, his younger Saramaka friends
who know at first hand the importance of official “papers,” want so much to
have in hand. These papers attest that Kuset “enlisted as a volunteer from a
foreign country for the duration of the war on 5 October 1939 at Cayenne,”
that he joined the Twenty-third Regiment of the Colonial Infantry in Febru-
ary 1940, that he was sent to the front in May 1940, and that he was captured
by the Germans near Soissons, with the Sixth Company of the Twenty-third
Regiment of the Colonial Infantry, on June 8, 1940.°

Kuset lived through the very worst moments of the war. From May 10
to13, hisregiment made a heroic stand in the area of Stenay-Montmédy near
the Meuse (northeastern France): “Despite the violence of the bombardments
and the assaults that continued for days, despite the enemy’s superiority in
numbers and materiel, the 231 RCI managed to hold the position that it was
responsible for.”* Then, between May 16 and 19, they defended the last fort
on the Maginot Line at Villy-la-Ferté during the Battle of the Chiers, suffer-
ing very heavy bombardments and retreating only just before the remain-
ing 105 troops in the fort were killed to a man by the Germans. On May 13,
only kilometers to the north at Sedan, the German army, with its frightening
Panzer divisions, had crossed the Meuse, and Kuset’s regiment seems to have
retreated west from Villy, continuing to suffer heavy bombardments and to
engage in counterattacks into early June.® On June 5-7, the Germans finally
broke through the Somme-Aisne line, which Kuset and his comrades were
then defending. Shortly thereafter, an officer noted that “the 6™ company
[Kuset’s] is now commanded by S|Lt Lefenvre. Lieutenant Midan has just
been killed and Lieutenant Bounard, seriously wounded, has been taken
prisoner. One whole platoon has vanished.”® On June 8, near Soissons, Kuset
was captured with most of what remained of his company.’ (By June 10, the
French government had fled Paris, which fell four days later.)

By the time Kuset was captured, “soldiers who had experienced German
air attacks in early May” had, apparently, “become partially inured to them,
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at least to the shrieking of the Stukas,”® but that can hardly have been much
solace to Kuset and his inexperienced companions from the far reaches of
the French empire. Nevertheless, they fought valiantly.

No less remarkable was the tenacity with which the French army continued to
fight in the first two weeks of June, despite the terrible blows that it had suf-
fered in the previous three weeks. . .. The Germans themselves were impressed
by how hard the French fought on the Somme and Aisne. This battle was al-
most certainly lost in advance owing to the Germans’ quantitative superiority,
but the initial French resistance was so strong that [General] Weygand briefly
wondered whether the line might after all be held.’

The losses were monumental. “The French armies holding off the Germans
in May-June 1940 suffered 124,000 dead and 200,000 wounded in six weeks,
more than America did in Korea and Vietnam combined.”* So, too, for
the captured—indeed, “The number of French prisoners was very high—
something like 1.5 million” over the course of the battle for France."

Nazi policy singled out black troops, and Kuset’s story must be under-
stood in this context."” The SS sent orders that, on the battlefield, blacks
(who, mainly in the form of “tirailleurs sénégalais,” had haunted the Ger-
man imagination since WWI and the occupation that followed the Treaty
of Versailles) were to be summarily shot rather than captured so that there
would be no risk of contaminating the Master Race—and many were, in-
cluding in one murderous moment some six hundred men of the Forty-
Fourth Regiment of Colonial Infantry whose ammunition had given out.”
(According to these orders, a small number of blacks were to be captured
specifically for use in medical experiments, particularly to develop tropi-
cal medicine for the planned German colonial expansion in Africa.) Yet, de-
spite these orders, perhaps because of the fog of war, large numbers of the
black colonial troops used by the French as cannon fodder—estimates run
as high as 25,000—were captured and sent to prison camps inside Germany
in194o0. (Still other black troops captured that year, including Léopold Sédar
Senghor, were interned in camps in occupied French territory.) After some
months, however, Nazi policy shifted, decreeing that those held captive in
Germany be sent back to occupied France as a prophylactic measure for the
Fatherland—and by 1942, there were 44,000 black prisoners being held on
occupied French soil.**

From the time of their capture, those blacks headed for camps in Ger-
many received special treatment. One account, from an African captured
like Kuset with his colonial regiment in the Battle of the Somme in June
1940, is worth citing at length. Edouard Ouédraogo, who held the rank of
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adjudant (noncommissioned officer) in the Seventh Regiment of Tirailleurs
Sénégalais, remembered:

I shipped out from Port Bouet [Cte d’Ivoire] all set to show the Germans that
not only did I hate them as a Frenchman but that Mein Kampf, which I'd read in
Ouagadougou, had turned me forever against Germany, for whom I was and
would always be a monkey. So, I found myself at the front with the Germans
coming at me first with machine guns, then with bayonets, and then with dag-
gers. After a number of days of weariness and one of deadly combat, Captain
Thomas ordered us to surrender. . .. Wounded in the face and thigh, I came out
of the forest like the rest, surrounded by savages screaming their heads off. . ..
immediately recognized Hitler’s men, legs spread, machine guns poised, do-
ing the work they’d been taught from childhood: killing. The wounded were
dispatched on the spot with a solid kick for good measure, the healthy were
shot after first having their teeth knocked out with a gunstock. . .. My buddies
fell, rewarded for having surrendered with a bayonet through the body, for the
Germans aren’t satisfied simply to kill—they need something more horrible
to satiate themselves.

During all this, we were separated from the white Frenchmen. . . . Then a
few wounded Germans were hauled out and they pleaded for revenge, which
was quickly administered on several dozen prisoners who paid for their sur-
render with their lives. . .. We were shoved into trucks to be taken to Doullens.
There, in a room the size of the one I live in today, they squeezed in hundreds
of men. In the morning, all those who were small or weak and unable to resist
the surrounding pressure died by serving as mattresses for the others, whom
the S.S. dragged out in the morning, half-asphyxiated from the lack of air.

In this state of extreme weakness, we were forced to march at the speed
of the cyclists who accompanied us across the Somme, the Pas de Calais, the
North, Belgium, Holland, and toward Germany. We did sixty or seventy kilo-
meters a day at a trot, and those who fell behind were killed. Interpreters were
sent ahead to tell the people in the cities and villages we went through that it
was formally prohibited to give Blacks either food or water. We marched in
the following order: English, French, Arabs, and Blacks. Accompanying us on
our march, there were always pistol shots, machine-gun bursts, and cries that
sounded like mad dogs.

The Germans decided to go after tall Blacks . .. and I was pretty tall. So,
I had to march bent over for days and finally switched to a column of Su-
danese, where I had another surprise because the Germans had decided to
kill all men with scarifications, since they believed they must be cannibals.
Unfortunately, I had a large scar on my face and it made me curse the cus-
toms of my country. . . . The Boches truly have their own idea of fun and
games: when we got to a stopping place, they knew that the Blacks, who'd
been closely guarded during the day’s journey, were dying to get a drink, so
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they placed us near a fountain in order to encourage our desire to drink and
they left a machine-gun near by unattended, as if they were giving us some
time on our own. Pushed by our tremendous thirst and thinking the guards
inattentive, we made a rush for the fountain. The machine-gun opened fire,
the first arrivals were mowed down, the others ran back, and the bastards
fell over laughing at their little game. . ..

We arrived at the mouth of the Escaut in Holland, where barges awaited
us. . . . After four days on the water without any food, we were offloaded at
Wesel [Germany], where the Nazis were all waiting—men, women, and chil-
dren of all ages—to spit on us, yell at us, and make signs that we would soon
have our throats cut, in the meantime kicking us as we went by. . . . After two
days of travel in cattle cars holding as many men as could be squeezed in
shoulder to shoulder, with doors that were probably sealed with lead, we were
brought to Stalag VI-C, where we were photographed and washed.

That’s when I understood the German genius about “the master race”—
they thought that since we were black, it was because the French colonizer
hadn't sufficiently cared for our bodily hygiene. . . . We were beaten, stomped
on, rolled, and dragged around by the feet. Every day, people would flock from
the nearby villages to stare at us, like the animals in Mein Kampf, monkeys
in a cage. They photographed us, forced us to smile, to show our filed teeth,
and turn our faces so they could photograph our scars. They photographed
us going after our lice and they’d throw us a cigarette in order to film what
would happen. . . . At the hospital, Blacks were treated through a window and
no matter what you suffered from, youd be given the same pill through the
window. They forced us to work in the canal up to our knees in water without
boots. ... When we returned, tired and famished, they forced us to dance and
play the buffoon for them, so their films could be sure to be both hilarious and
have that human touch.”

For black prisoners, then, things seem to have been especially awful. (Not
that this wasn’t also true in practice in the French bagne of Guyane, not to
mention U.S. prisons.*) The Nazis are said to have enjoyed depriving them
of food and watching them slowly die of hunger. Or worse: in the same stalag
that was Kuset’s home for a year, a black American GI was pulled out of the
ranks one day on a whim and summarily shot in front of his comrades by a
member of the SS.”

Kuset told Tooy some of what it had been like for him on that faraway
battlefield. He and his commander, an “Englishman” (probably from the
West Indies, perhaps a St. Lucian or Dominican, since he seems to have spo-
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ken French Creole and is described as being “black”), were down in a trench,
hiding. All around them men were getting shot. Kuset told Tooy, “The war
came to us three times”—there must have been three waves of attacks. Each
time, all around him, he said, men were crying out for help, no one knew
what to do. There was gunfire everywhere, dead men falling right on top
of him. When he was hungry or thirsty, he’d take bread and water right off
the body of a man he’d seen alive the day before. They fought, he said, with
guns, with bayonets, and with daggers. Blood everywhere. There were two
times he was sure he was going to die. One was when they began using him
as messenger to carry papers behind the line. He did it three times but re-
fused the fourth, saying he wasn’t the only expendable body, so they sent an-
other man who never returned. The second time was after he’d surrendered.
He'd stood up in the trench to shoot, but the Englishman said, “Don't fire,
they’ll kill you,” and they both threw down their rifles and raised their arms
high in the air. The Germans took them off, beat them with rifle butts, and
tied them up. And then they marched them toward the train that would take
them to Germany.

At the railhead, they waited for several days as bombs dropping from
the dive-bombers burst all about. When the train finally arrived, the En-
glishman said, “From here on out, it’s every man for himself. You’ll have
to do whatever you must to survive.” The Englishman managed to board
the train. There were men everywhere pushing and shoving to get on. The
Englishman called out to Kuset that he should try to get aboard. He had to
climb on top of a whole lot of other men to make it. The place was packed
and he literally vaulted over a crowd to get on. And then, when the train
had gone a hundred meters or so, he looked back and saw the dive-bombers
swarming down and thena bomb bursting, killing every single man who'd
been left behind in the crowd.

Kuset continued his story, telling Tooy that the train took them all the
way to Germany. They were kept there a whole year in a prison camp, where
they were forced to wear an iron mutéte (some sort of iron cage) on their
backs, day and night.* They slept with it on. He and his English commander
bore these iron cages for a whole year. When you slept, the edges of the cage
cut deep into your skin. (When Kuset came back, he still had the scars—*“I
saw them,” said Tooy.) They also pulled out all his fingernails and broke
several fingers (as Saramaka Captain Antudni, an intimate of Kuset after
his return from the war, told me). The day they took off his iron cage, the
prison guard came to see him and said, “The only thing to do now is escape.
The next thing they’re going to do to you is cut off your balls, because they
don’t want other ‘nations’ to make babies here! I can’t open the prison door
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“The German Junkers JU-87 dive bomber, popularly known as the ‘Stuka.’ The pilots
would swoop down at 70 to 80 degrees from an altitude of 10,000 feet and pull out
of their dive at 3,000 feet or lower. The aircraft were fitted with sirens which emit-
ted a high-pitched shriek.”” This photo was taken from a following aircraft.

“l can only say what | saw, heard, lived and have kept in my memory. ... | saw
very well, about 800-1000 meters to my left, an artillery battery . . . which
never stopped firing at the diving Stukas which ceaselessly attacked it: | can
still see the little round clouds which its guns created in the sky around the
swirling planes which continuously dispersed and returned.” [Testimony of
Paul-André Lesort, whose detachment found itself manning one of the defen-
sive points in the hills above the Meuse. German air bombardment started at
around 10:00 a.m. on the morning of May 13, 1940]*

Another soldier, Gustave Folcher, with the Third North African Infantry Divi-
sion, part of the Second Army, was on the high ground above the Meuse,
slightly to the southeast of Sedan, when the aerial bombardment began that
day: “Plane after plane, flying at the speed of a meteor, poured down bombs
and bullets on us. It was terrifying to see those machines diving at us, spit-
ting out their bombs with a shrieking which, we assumed, was made by the
bombs as they fell. In any case the noise was terrible. . . . Each time the planes
came back we emptied our guns at these balls of fire which seemed to mock
our poor rifles.”?
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for you. But if you manage to get out of the building, you’ll be free. It will
have to be through the window.” They were on the fourth floor. (“That’s what
Kuset told me,” said Tooy.) After seven or eight in the morning, after the
guards made their daily rounds, they began preparing their bedsheets to
make them into parachutes. Once night fell, the Englishman said, “T'll go
first. When you look down, if I made it, then you follow. But If I don’t make
it, don’t come. Just stay and continue to take the punishment. Even without
your balls, at least youw'll be alive.” So, the boss went first, bedsheet attached
to his wrists and ankles, gliding all the way down. Then Kuset followed,
gliding right down. . . . They got rid of the sheets, hid them, and walked all
night, till dawn. Three days and three nights walking, without a bite of food,
drinking from mud puddles. Then they came to a rail line that went all the
way to ... what do you call that country . . . Canada? (Tooy’s memory seems
to be reaching its limits.. . . )

But Kuset’s sister’s son Sedudni, whom I met in 2004, picked up the story
for me here, telling how Kuset and his comrades hijacked the first train that
came along. “Kuset was the one who killed the engineer and drove the loco-
motive.” They traveled for three days and three nights before they got to the
seashore. They knew they had to get to England. Luckily, the commander
had a friend who worked on a ferry that could take them across, even though
they had no money. He said to the commander, “You're still alive?” and
they embraced. He told them, “Come back at three in the morning when
everyone is asleep and I'll get you on.” So they traveled on the ship for one
night and one day. And they arrived in the commander’s own country—
England.” They kept Kuset and his commander three months in the hospi-
tal there. Then they sent him back to France. He spent something like four
years there before they sent him back to Guyane. It was on a ship called the
Saint-Domingue. Tooy told me that Kuset’s commander had given him some
advice. He'd said, “If they offer you a medal, don’t accept it. But if they offer
you a paper, take it.” (To me: “That’s what you've found in the archives!”)
“As far as money goes,” concluded Tooy, “they never paid Kuset a penny, he
never got a single thing from France—and this was a man who took gunfire,
the real thing, guns with a 3-kilometer range, you couldn’t even see the men
who were shooting at you!”

From the documents in the archives, I can reconstruct only a skeletal ac-
count of Kuset’s trajectory once he fell into German hands, though it is suf-
ficiently evocative.*



“Wir sind die Moorsoldaten und ziehen mit dem Spaten ins Moor. . .”

(We are the peat bog soldiers, we’re marching with our spades to the bog . . .)

We walked many miles to Stalag IV-B near Muhlberg in deep snow. No food
or water for days. Most every one in my group was wounded and had trouble
keeping up with the main body of prisoners. By the time we made it to Sta-
lag IV-B we were in bad shape. Arrived at Stalag IV-B on January 10, 1945.
We were sick, cold, hungry and bad, bad cases of dysentery. It got worse
as time went by. We were in a very bad condition. Here | became Prisoner of
War # 316538.*

My most vivid memories of our barracks were of the nights. . . . There was just
room for all the exhausted men to lie down in the unheated building. We lay in
groups of three to preserve warmth. ... Very soon we learned to pull our tor-
tured feet close to us because some dysentery victim was always staggering
through the darkness toward the door trampling over frost-bitten and trench-
foot-afflicted feet. | believe | have known no pain greater than that suffered
for ten minutes following the mauling of one’s frozen feet by a stampeding,
dysenteried P.O.W. Older hands at the game would have known to nest down
as far from the door as possible. We actually had no choice, coming in as we
did at night to an already crowded barracks.

Very early in our stay we were processed through a shower and delousing
unit common to German prisons. There bare brick and stone structures had
a waiting room where we completely disrobed, leaving our boots stashed in
the room, but tying our garments allin one bundle to be sent through a steam
delouser. Two things were luxurious about the whole procedure. One was the
hot shower where we could observe our flattening bellies but still muscular
limbs, and let the warm streams of water splatter over our blue frost-bitten
feet. The other was picking up our bundles of steaming clothes after shiver-
ing stark naked for a half hour in the waiting room. It was fortunate that one
did not know until later how similar the procedure was to the gas chamber
executions of the Jews.

The first day or two in the open air of [Stalag] IV-B convinced me of the
drabness of the place. The sun seldom shone and the sky maintained a per-
petual Baltic grayness. .. . Every day a workman came into the camp to pump
liquid from a great open urinal near our barracks. It was hand-pumped into a
horse-drawn tank wagon. This we could see being spread as liquid fertilizer
in the fields beyond the fence. Thus, as the protein left our shrinking bodies
it was pumped onto German fields as nitrogen fertilizer. | was impressed with
the macabre quality of German efficiency in using their dwindling resources.

On the second or third day in IV-B a large number of us Americans were
marched to another portion of the camp to await more processing. . .. We
were photographed and numbered, much as a convict, and issued a P.O.W.
tag bearing the number. This we wore like a dog tag.’
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captured June 8, 1940, near Soissons, in the valley of the Marne, with the
Sixth company of the Twenty-third Regiment of Colonial Infantry

- listed as prisoner number 46,095 in Stalag IV-B, Miithlberg, Germany. (He

would have arrived at this gigantic camp, close to the Czech border, after
several days of rail travel packed into a cattle car. Built on 30 hectares to hold
10,000 prisoners, the stalag held over 25,000 when it was liberated in 1945—
hundreds of thousands of men had passed through it, and several thousands
are buried there. Prisoners were sent out in Kommandos to do various kinds
of hard labor: harvesting potatoes, digging ditches, and similar farmwork in
the bitter cold. The standard diet was one boiled potato per day. It appears
Kuset stayed about a year.)

- transferred to Stalag IV-D, Dortmund, Germany

- transferred to Fronstalag 232, Lugon (Vendée), occupied France (and prob-

ably to the new Fronstalag 232 in nearby Savenay, when the Lugon camp was
closed in August 1941)

- transferred February 1, 1942, to Fronstalag 133, Rennes (Ille-et-Vilaine),

occupied France

liberated from Fronstalag 133 on June 8, 1942 (after exactly two years of cap-
tivity) because of illness—another document contradicts this information,
saying instead that he was repatriated from Germany to France for health
reasons on May 6, 1942

his name appears on a list of wounded and ill soldiers at the Supplementary
Hospital of Decorative Arts of Limoges (Haute-Vienne) on July 24, 1942

- transferred October 26, 1942, to the Centre de Regroupement et Réadapta-

tion at Fréjus and then to the Centre de Transition des Troupes Indigénes No
4, in the Hers Rang Company, on October 30, 1942

- transferred to the Centre de Regroupement et Réadaptation, sous-groupe-

ment 15, on April 1,1943, then to sous-groupement 13 on August 1, 1944, and
finally to sous-groupement 14 on October 1, 1944.

onOctober 16,1944, the C. R. R. became the Centre de Transition des Troupes
Indigenes Coloniales no. 17

- promoted to the rank of private first class on January 12, 1944

- transferred to the camp of Souge on January 1, 1945

as former prisoner of war, debarked at Cayenne aboard the S| S| St. Domingue
on June 11, 1945, and immediately transferred to the Bataillon d’Infanterie
Coloniale de la Guyane.

- on February 3, 1946, demobilized and free to leave.

Tooy told me that after Kuset—whom Saramakas call simply Nydmisi
(“Yam”)—returned from the war, he lived for years in Saint-Laurent-
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du-Maroni. At nearby Mana in 2004, I met Kuset’s eldest son, Nokd, who
said he was one of seven children Kuset had fathered on French soil with his
mother, and that there were fourteen “outside children” there as well. After
the war, to the general disapproval of Saramakas, Kuset refused to return to
his home territory to be ritually purified. He adopted a Creole lifestyle, act-
ing “French” as much as Saramaka, speaking to his children only in Creole.
Sensilé told me he once accompanied Kuset on a visit to his friends the gen-
darmes of Mana, where Kuset impressed him by telling him that one of the
bottles on the table was “vin de Bordeaux” and the other “vin de Paris™—he
knew all that! Saramaka Captain Antonisi of Saint-Laurent told me how,
each year on Bastille Day, he would accompany Kuset to the local meeting
of Anciens Combattants.

Everyone who knew him said Kuset resisted speaking about the war. As
for most others who had lived through its horrors, it was simply too painful
for him to revisit the experience. What they learned from Kuset had been
extracted by cajoling and insistence. Had it been up to him, he’d have told
nothing of what had occurred.”

By 1974, when he finally did return to Saramaka quite ill, it was too late.
The gods whom he had called on in battle—particularly the great carry-
oracle of his natal village of Béndiwdta—had long since given up on him,
and they simply let him die. In fact, the day Kuset died, while being ritu-
ally washed by the Béndiwdta Mother, Sensilé happened to be present; and
he told me how Kuset had confided that once, on that faraway battlefield,
another soldier had told him he really liked the foxhole Kuset had just dug
and Kuset had given it to him, and how that night Kuset, in a foxhole some
distance away, had watched in horror as a bomb killed the man. The Béndi-
wdta goddess had saved him, he was sure. But he’d never returned to thank
her during all those years.

For Saramakas in French Guiana (which today means one-third of all
Saramakas), Kuset is a special kind of hero. Indeed, when Tooy told me at
Roland Legros’s lumberyard, the first night I met him and the first time
I'd ever heard of Kuset, that this man had fought in the war “for fifty-five
years” and returned unscathed thanks to the charm he wore next to his
heart—the charm that includes, as we have seen, venerable Christian
spells against spears and arrows and invocations for divine intervention
with sword and shield, many written by the pope, Saint Leo III, explic-
itly for Charlemagne, Emperor of the Occident, who used them in battle
in the ninth century—Tooy might have had in mind an image of his
warrior-hero that resembled, in its symbolism and power, another image
that depicts an event at Miihlberg, one that this sleepy town would much
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Titian, The Emperor Charles V at Miihlberg (1548). Oil on canvas, 332 x 279 cm. Museo del
Prado, Madrid.

rather be remembered for than the stalag: the signal victory of the Holy
Roman Emperor (who would have understood those spells better than
most of us today) over the Protestant princes led by John Frederick,
Elector of Saxony, a victory that took place almost exactly five hundred years
before Kuset, on that same faraway frozen spot of earth, triumphed over the
iron cage.

As Tooy and his friends never tire of saying, not a single Maroon from
another group—no Ndyuka, no Paramaka, and, especially, no Aluku (de-
spite their being French citizens by birth)—volunteered to fight for the
Mere Patrie in France’s darkest hour. Only a Saramaka, Kuset Albina. Today
in the Saramaka neighborhood of Sable Blanc, on the outskirts of Saint-
Laurent-du-Maroni, Captain Antonisi lives on the street officially named in
his memory.
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THUNDER AXES

* 00000000 *

On July 21, 1928, Melville and Frances Herskovits were visiting in the home
of James Lawton, American consul in the colony of Suriname, when their
host “brought out a finely-polished Indian axe-head which . . . Djukas. ..
had found in the ground and insisted was a bolt thrown from the sky by the
Gods.” Melville was excited to find “another Africanism.”’

Saramakas call them dondo-matjdu—-“thunder axes”—and say that they
crash to the ground during lightning storms. Such stones have special pow-
ers and are kept in Komanti-ébia houses. Tooy once drummed a song during
a Komantf session at his house that he later explained to me says, “If you
work with the tree Komanti calls ‘odii fankdiya,” youw’ll succeed,” adding that
this is the only tree in the forest that a thunder axe cannot fell.* Another
time he sang me the Komanti song in which that tree, whose bark is called
aluangéte in Komanti, boasts of the impenetrability of its skin: Zau tuti, zau
djefelébe. A kéti a koti a baanabd, a kdti a kdti a kilinga, a nuwan geke biiba, wdn
biiba miisu tan biiba.

Tooy told me,

Busiki [male Wéntis]—they’re the ones who have them. Thunder axes fall into

the sea, but how could you ever find them? You see them falling into the sea at

night [what we call shooting stars]. When a thunder axe falls, it calls out the

strong name of Busiki—Atjd-pétépété-fu-ddja. The ones that fall in rivers are

different, they call out Atjd-pétépété-fu-dmba.®

And then he tells me about a great stone in the middle of the sea. “It’s
called Sanktimadju. If you call that name—Atjd-pétépété-fu-ddja—and
you hear thunder before three hours have passed, you're as good as dead.
Three hours must pass before there’s thunder! That’s why you must be very
very careful with that name!” He also tells me about a stone—is it the same
one?—that’s under the sea and that’s called Nyen-u-nyen. “Every person in
the world has his name inscribed on that rock! When the Busiki mother and
Busiki father erase your name on that stone, youre dead!”
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On other occasions, Tooy tells me of other middle-of-the-sea phenom-
ena. “There’s a tree in the middle of the sea, sticking up—it’s called Djun-
tolébi. When one of its branches falls, a baby is born somewhere, a hunter
kills alarge animal, or someone dies.” Or again, “Busiki sings a song about a
great rock in the middle of the sea. When the sea comes crashing up against
it, trying to break it, the rock says, ‘I was here when you arrived. I'm go-
ing to be here long after.’ And the sea recedes in a spray of froth.” He sings,
Benko! Kaindjima kai kdntamba-o, kaindjima-e, mi dbia-e. “That stone’s name
is Kaindjima. This is Komanti language, Brother!”

Tooy tells me how dangerous it is to work with thunder axes. “If you pick
one up without knowing how, youre dead! That ‘iron’”—he sometimes calls
thunder axes “iron”—*“there aren’t twelve dbia bosses in the world who can
catch one as it flies by. [He imitates the terrifying noise it makes zipping
by.] But I know three who've done it! By the seaside! If you take one and wisi
someone [try to kill them supernaturally] with it, they’d better know exactly
what to do, or they’re dead. When you work with a thunder axe, you and it
become muti [friends]. If someone tries to use it against you, when it arrives
your dbia [your Komanti spirit] will ask it, ‘what do you think you're doing
here?’” In Georgetown, Guyana, on a visit once, Tooy met an old Amerin-
dian shaman who had his thunder axe on an altar next to a lighted candle.
He showed Tooy how when he looked into its polished black surface, he
could see the face of the person who was trying to kill him.

On the final day of our visit in early 2005, Tooy took Sally and me into his
Dunguldli house and, amidst the rituals of parting, showed us his own thun-
der axe, lying near Akoomf’s bloodstained post. He whispered that when it
flies by, it says that its name is Hdnkuma-nitji or Hinkuma-nitji hé bééte bééte
siimani. He reached down and passed it to us to cradle in our hands—heavy,
shiny, blue-black, and perfect as the day it fell from the sky.



MASTER OF THE HOUSE

* 06222000 *

Ma Yaai had been away at her house in Saint-Laurent-du-Maroni for a couple
of months, exercising her most effective form of protest against Tooy’s de-
voting too much attention to Céline. They talk often by phone, in part be-
cause heis so dependent on her Wénti-god. When Tooy hears that Sallyand I
are going to Saint-Laurent for a couple of days, he decides the time has come
and persuades Ma Yaai by phone to return with us to Cayenne.

Once we've finished our research in that border town, we drive over to
Yaai’s place, following Tooy’s verbal instructions. It’s in the strange Ma-
roon ghetto called La Charbonniére, where Swiss chalet and Eastern Ma-
roon architecture were melded together in a 1980s public-housing scheme.
She takes us upstairs to a small room she has set aside for her “master,”
the Wénti called Bdsi Yontini. She places his bottle, wrapped in black cloth
with a red sash, which had been on an altar, in a special soft valise that also
contains other accessories of the god. And then baskets, valises, rice sacks,
cassava sacks, okra sacks, machetes, and finally two children are squeezed
into the small car, with Yaai’s god valise on her ample lap. We set out for the
four-hour trip.

An hour out of Saint-Laurent, we see a young man selling a partially
butchered howler monkey by the roadside and offer to buy it as a gift. The
hunter turns out to be a nephew of Yaai’s, and he adds some bush-hog meat
for good measure. Before long, the car starts to wobble, as if a tire has a bub-
ble. So, we bump along slowly for a couple of hours until we reach the next
gas station, where were unable to figure out the problem. Yaai is convinced
that her Wénti is causing the bumping. It doesn’t stop until well after dark,
when we reach the outskirts of Cayenne. Now she’s sure it was the Wénti.

As soon as we've piled out and the goods are unloaded, Tooy, overflowing
with joy at having Yaai back and with gratitude to us for having brought
her, ushers her and the two of us into his Wénti chamber, where her god
and his join us almost immediately. We’ve never heard such sweet singing
as the two gods greet each other, with the several men who are outside in
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the waiting room joining in on the choruses. There’s talk about how the car
bumped around because Bdsi Yontini is so “heavy.” There’s joking about how
I “took” Tooy’s wife, playfully accusing me of being like Parrot, who, after
sleeping with someone else’s wife, boasted (in drum language), Suun fu akf,
suun fu andd. Suun fu aki, suun fu andd. Saanfo maini, suun fu andd. Tooy’s god
announces that this house doesn’t belong to him, it’s Bdsi Yontini’s. He’s the
master of the house!
Here are my notes made listening to the tape recording:*

RSN RS

Yaai’s god begins to sing, as Tooy’s joins in, Aladjimeedji-e, aladjimeéedji-o, téé
na Alosiigbe, a prayer to Ma Digbednsu to protect them after the voyage to a
new place [see p. 16 above; the last three words mean “as far as the sun”]. Lots
of gentle chuckling. . . . Tooy’s god explains to me that “the big man [Yaai’s
god] doesn’t travel without that bottle there,” as he places it in the center of
the Wénti altar. Tooy’s god sings out, Djiia na bolébi-o e i fankdiya, djiia téé a mi
tatd boldbi-e, djiia téé na bolobi-e. Tooy explains, “That’s what happened to the
woman [Yaai]. It's Komanti! When you leave your house and go somewhere,
nothing should block your path, so that you can get home safely again. Fa-
ther Bol6bi’s children [apparently jaguars] all went out, but they returned
“between his legs” safely—this is their prayer that all will go well.” And he
sings it again, before switching to another Komanti song: Djiia béte denai-o-o,
miam, djiia béte dendi, mi bdsi-o, béte dé a rinu kdmba-e [the last phrase means,
“wonderful things are in your room”]. He explains: “‘The wonderful things
you have, give me some!” But over there in Komanti country, they have guns
that really shoot you, machetes that really cut you, clubs that really knock you.
So you say [sings]: Djiia béte denai-o0-o, miam, djiia béte dendi, mi bdsi-o, béte dé
a tinu kdmba-e. Djiia béte denai-o-o, nd fu told nd fu takd nd fu ofald, siisi mdmba.
[spoken explanation:] ‘I'm praying for good, I'm not asking for a gun [Komanti
otold] or a club or a machete [Komanti ofald] or a spear [Komanti atakd] but
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for great pleasure [Komanti siisimdmba).”” Tooy’s god suddenly says, “Where’s
that Dangogd kid? [referring to Kalusé] He’s supposed to meet us here.” Yaai’s
god sings out, Mi mandd ddio, mi mandd ddio. Tatd Yembu . . . Gonkima-o. . . .
[“I send greetings, I send greetings to Tatd Yembudmba,” whom the god ad-
dresses with the Komanti word for “friend,” agonkima.] Her god sings an-
other: Tangi-o, davié, tangi dé a miindu-e. Tangi dé a mdmba-o. Tangi dé a mdmba
[“Thanks, blessings, thanks to the universe, thanks to the river”]. And then
another (with men in the other room chorusing softly): it seems to have some-
thing to do with “Dagowé, mi gddu” [“Dagowé”—the sacred snake—“my god”].
Tooy’s god sings, Sindimbo mdmbo-ye, ébia Sindibo-i, u dé a Sindydbo kéndeé kaa,
kamia mbéi waiya-waiya-waiya-o [“Sindimbo, dbia Sindibo, we've arrived at Sin-
dydbo’s village, the sea is rocking”]. Then Sindibo says his praise name, a long
string of “language.” . . . Tooy’s god starts another song as others chime in:
Wenii-ee . . . gddu-ee. Then another, Gwemidjé, Gwemidjé, Gwemidjé-lo, Aduné-o.
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Another, Mi muyéé-ee. Ugwéla-e. Mi ku inu-o, Gwéla-e [“My wife, Ugwéla, me
and you, Gwéla”]. Tooy’s god, speaking a bit slowly, slightly slurred, asks Tooy’s
nephew Frank, “Remember what I told you in the forest the other day?” Frank
says, “What did you tell us, Papa?” “I told you [singing], Wdnwan fu wdn, nanga
wdnwan fu djawélu, wdnwan fu wdn, nanga wénwan fu djawélu, wanwan fu wdn,
asdgdigdi fu kédome, wdnwan fu wdn, asdgdigdi fu kédome.” Well, there was a rea-
son I told you that. The thing you were going to do with those leaves. . . . So,
that’s been said now. Let’s have fun!” Tooy’s god makes his strange little laugh
(heh heh heh heh heh). He starts telling us about how we went all the way to
Saint-Laurent and brought Yaai back, but then her god interrupts, singing,
Gddu téi yobekee, gddu téi Gamu tjdi . . . “We're finished,” declares Tooy’s god. He
asks Yaai’s god, “Do you want to leave now?” Yaai yawns loudly and Yontini
leaves, as she throws down her head and shivers noticeably. Tooy’s god then
speaks to her god anyway, saying we are calling on him to help with some work
the next day at cock’s crow. We can’t do the work without him. We're going to
prepare a large washing/bath. Anyone who wants to can participate. Anyone
who doesn’t want to won't. But this is for the kid here [me], who came here
from another country, it’s to give him pleasure. [This is said to Yaai’s god as a
sort of prayer.] Then Tooy’s god sings a long song, which he says is to give me
thanks: Tangi mi yéi, manamutdmbo 6 o6 old [“I hear thanks, manamutdmbo”].
Interruption by a call on Tooy’s cell phone—a client wants an appointment,
and he speaks to her normally, in Creole. Then a new song from Tooy’s god, We-
mee-e, mi na Tésida, Tésida bigi ddmie. . . [“Wemee, 'm an anaconda god, water
gods are what I like”]. Tooy’s god seems delighted with himself, chuckling in
falsetto, talking in slurred, slow speech. But he reminds me once again before
he leaves us that it’s Bdsi Yontini who’s master of the house.

On July 6, 1929, Melville Herskovits noted in his field journal that he and
Frances had bought two “gods” at the downstream Saramaka village of
Disién. Of the first, he wrote, “Small—(wenti Nyamusu?) Wata Wentu]. ]
put Sweeti Sopi on it—women ask of it children.”* When I asked Tooy if he
could tell me anything about this Wénti, he immediately broke into song:
Mamd Nyamiitu, Tatd Nyumiitu, wdta séki, sémba-we . . . (“Mamd Nyamditu,
Tatd Nyumdutu, the water is rough, gods . . . ”). And he explained, “Mamd
Nyamuitu is the god of that place, a true Wénti from the tidal zone. It doesn’t
belong just to Disién but to all clans—it lives near Jews Savannah.”
Another time, Tooy told me how a strange man named Atjia-Gbéung
(whom we’ll meet later, in another context), was once paddling upstream
from the city. Near the mouth of Cassipora Creek at Jews Savannah, he was
cutting from east to west when the water in the rapids became very rough.
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Mamd Nyamuditu.

He placed a ball of kaolin into the rapids and sang out: Mamd Nyamiitu, Tatd
Nyumiitu, wdta séki somba-we. . . . The water calmed in an instant and he
passed through safely.

Shortly before her death in 1972, Frances Herskovits, Melville’s widow,
told me how the two of them had made a large collection of Saramaka ob-
jects for the Hamburgisches Museum fiir Volkerkunde in 1929. She related
that in the late 1940s they had received a letter from a curator reporting that
a good half of the collection had been burned in a wartime fire caused by
an Allied air raid. They hadn’t ever managed to get back there to see what
was left, and she urged me to visit. (It was the only time I met her.) When
Sally and I finally examined the collection in 1977,* we found, among the
eighty-six pieces that had survived (of the 193 originally in the collection),
the wooden image of this Wénti, Mamd Nyamiitu, who guards the rapids
near Jews Savannah. With her raffia skirt, bush-hog whiskers, and red and
black seeds for eyes, the 36-centimeter-high god image, stained with kaolin,
is still in a storage cabinet in Hamburg.
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Most of the Wéntis that Tooy spends his time thinking about—singing and
drumming for, doing rites for—are, like Bdsi Yontini or Mamd Nyamditu,
saltwater gods, whose home is the sea, though they can swim up rivers or
walk among the living when they choose. But there are other Wéntis who
live in fresh water and never venture beyond their riverine domain.

Tooy parses Wéntis as follows: saltwater ones are called Tésu-kpéke-
kpéke, freshwater ones are Tosu-kédje-kédje. When you give a freshwater
Wénti saltwater to drink, she’ll vomit. But when you give some to a saltwater
Weénti, she will tell stories! He goes further: saltwater Wéntis never work
with blood, only sweetwater ones do. Like Dtinguldli-Obia, saltwater Wéntis
don’t mix with death or dead people. And like Dinguldli, saltwater Wéntis
don’t drink rum. (In Paramaribo, he says, from Combé Creek downstream
is the realm of saltwater Wéntis. If you have a freshwater Wénti in your head,
you can’t cross the bridge at Combé Creek, or you’ll die—freshwater and
saltwater Wéntis don’t like one another.) He draws one final distinction: salt-
water Wéntis never possess a second person after the first has died. If a Wénti
possesses a second person, you know it’s a Wénti “mixed” with something
else, for example a god with a saltwater mother and a freshwater father. For
Tooy, true Wéntis are the ones from the sea.’

The Nasi clan makes claims to have been the first among Saramakas to have
discovered a freshwater Wénti, a certain “Mdsa Wénti,” a.k.a. Adonkubdnsu
—an event I can date to the final decades of the eighteenth century. At
Balibaktba Plantation on the Commewijne River, a woman named Piki Efd
served as a house slave. Whenever she came down to the wharf to wash
dishes, she would see something—she wasn’t sure what—underneath,
something like a large fish. Frightened, she eventually threw some cassava
juice (which contains hydrocyanic acid and is toxic) on it—the way people
today often throw gasoline on a sacred snake, to get it to leave without kill-
ing it—and it never came back.

Some time later, this woman was liberated from slavery by Kwadjani
and Kwaku Etja during a raid. But another Wénti witnessed their flight.
Now, in those days, at the mouth of Cassipora Creek near Jews Savan-
nah, all the Wéntis used to get together for an annual “play.” When they
were all gathered, the one who saw the abduction reported to the others,
and they decided to put a Wénti watchman at the mouth of Mawasi Creek
to punish the matrilineage of the woman who had poured poison on their
kinsman.
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Meanwhile, living with the Nasis who’d liberated her, Piki Efd bore a son,
Matési, a.k.a. Bdya, and two daughters, Tjikd and Odukempend. Once, Piki
Efd’s husband, who was from the Démbi clan, one of his kinsmen, and Bdya
were on their way downstream with a raft of logs when the Wénti watch-
man saw them and pulled Bdya off and underwater. The husband had a god
in his head who told them that Bdya wasn’t dead. So, they began playing
Wénti songs and drums. After twenty-one days, they saw the water “boil-
ing” like a rapids and Bdya reappeared, rising from the water on a golden
mat (some people say it was a golden stool), holding a rattle and a spear and
with a metal ring on his biceps. When they went and took Bdya into a canoe,
the mat (or stool) descended into the river. Later, a Wénti possessed Bdya—
it was Adonkubdnsu. After Bdya died, the other Wéntis sent that Wénti’s
chief officer, who was called Potii, to possess a man called Mandé. He would
dive underwater and, one by one, carry all the Wénti paraphernalia—the
spear, the rattle, and the biceps ring that belonged to Bdya—back to their
underwater village. (Perhaps one of these things—the rattle?—one man
told me, is still at the Nasi village of Kambalda.) All this happened in the
Kambalda matrilineage called Gadnbokié-bée. Forty or fifty years ago, when
they would play Wénti there with the agidd (snake-god drum), Chief Agbagé
used to come and Todjé, his Wénti, would dance.

In conversation, Tooy frequently alludes to connections between Papagddu
(boa constrictor gods) and saltwater Wéntis. Besides his ruminations about
how a special class of Papdgddu—those with the head of an agouti—give
Wéntis clothes to wear when they step out of the sea to walk on the earth,
just the way, he says, the police stamps your visa when you visit another
country, he often tells me these two kinds of gods are just friends. As a man
who frequently “domesticates” various types of gods, causing “wild spirits”
to become tame, to speak appropriately through their human medium, to
tell their name and their needs, Tooy is intimately familiar with the special
leaves used for each class of god. And he’s told me more than once that, de-
spite significant differences between these two types of gods (Wéntis don’t
getinvolved with death while Papdgddus do, for example), most Wénti leaves
work well with Papdgddus and most Papdgddu leaves work well with Wéntis.
Moreover, Thursday is the day sacred to Wéntis as it is to Papdgddus. “In the
end,” he says, “Papdgddus and Wéntis do many of the same things.”
Anthropologist Diane Vernon, who has spent years working with Ndyuka
Maroons and has written about their money magic, provides some helpful
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clues.® She argues that Ndyukas have two kinds of magic to help them get
rich. Oneis considered predatory and evil, involving supernatural creatures
(Bakuu) who are bought from whitefolks in order to trick people into giv-
ing you money. This kind of magic, she says, is associated with theft and
witchcraft. The other is the magic of Papagadu, which is local and consid-
ered benign, and helps Ndyuka men gently seduce money out of whitefolks.
This kind of magic is associated with honest labor, whether logging or wage
work. Vernon’s discussion of how Ndyukas mobilize Papagadus, their pos-
sessing boa-constrictor spirits, in the service of getting wealth, suggests to
me a functional similarity to Saramaka Wénti practices. Though Papagadus
and Wéntis, as Tooy insists, are different in significant ways (snakes vs. sea
gods, affinities with death vs. affinities with life), if properly approached
and handled, Papagadu spirits can do, for Ndyuka men, something close to
what Wéntis do for Saramakas, persuading whitefolks and others who hold
riches to open their hearts and purses and share some of the wealth around.

Weéntis remain a remarkable and unique Saramaka phenomenon—Iike
Dtinguldli-Obia and Mamd-Gddu, part of Kédji’s rich spiritual legacy, de-
veloped at a moment when Saramaka canoemen were for the first time
confronting in really intense form the exigencies of the global economy. In
recognizing their functional similarity to Ndyuka Papagadus, Tooy takes
nothing away from their specialness, their highly developed rites, songs,
and drums, and all that Wénti lore that he never tires of telling me about.
“Did you know,” he once asked me, “that a normal ship can’t go near Wénti
country, or it’'ll catch on fire from the heat? And if Wéntis take you on their
own ship, it gets so hot as you near their country that you turn to cinders?”
“Well, then, how have people visited there and returned to tell the tale?” I
ask. “If youre man enough, when you arrive, you become yourself again.
Flibdnti told me all about it. He goes to visit his wife [Yowentina, a Wénti]
almost every single day! Just remember not to eat cooked food when they
offer it. Stick with bananas or mangos.”

On the fourth day of Tooy’s visit to Martinique, the morning after Roland’s
bath in the sea, Sally and I showed him a wooden sculpture of the Brazilian
sea goddess Iemanjd, which we'd bought in Cachoeira (Bahia) a couple of
years earlier when we had Fulbrights to Brazil. Tooy looked at her lovingly,
saying, “What a great thing that would be to put in my ¢bia house!” And in
the following days he often asked me to say her name for him. He liked to
pronounce it as “Yemdnzda.”’
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Iemanjd in our house.

Two years later, when he was awaiting open-heart surgery in the hospital
in Martinique, he sang me a song he’d heard in a dream: Mamd, mi mamd
Yemdnzda | Mi ta haika i, y666 | Yéi mi mamd yaaa (“Mother, my mother Yemdn-
zda, 'm waiting for you, Do you hear, my mother?”). “I walked north in the
dream,” he explains, “and went down a big hill and then turned east on an
old path up a hill where I saw a very large jaguar, sound asleep.” Do you think
that’s a bad omen? he asks. No, it’s good! he laughs. And he sings the song
to Yemdnzda again.

In 2003, on our way home from another stay in Brazil, we stop in Cay-
enne and Tooy mentions he’s thinking about making an altar to Yemdnzda.
And then finally, on our first visit in 2005, we present Tooy with our statue
of the goddess for him to keep, and he sings us a new song to her: Ma Yemd-e,
Mamd Yemd, gadn tangi tangi mi ta bégi tinu fu di siiti 6di f i, Ma Yemdzdla, mi ta
méni i-o, mi mamd, Mamd Yemd, mi ta bégi i yéti fu di siti ddi f i yéi mamd-e, Ma
Yemd . .. zda! (“Mother Yemdnzda, I offer thanks for your sweet greetings,
I keep thinking of you, I continue asking you for those sweet greetings of
yours, Mother Yemdnzda”) He’s overjoyed but decides to keep the goddess
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in her wrapping until Yaai gets back from her stay in Saint-Laurent, so she
and her god can participate in placing her on the Wénti altar.

During one of the visits of Tooy’s god in 2005, he instructs me to make a
Wénti altar at our home in Martinique. “Here’s what to do to make sure you
have no problems, to make your life the way it ought to be. When you get
home, on the lowest terrace facing the sea, where you’d go if you were going
to get into a boat, find a short little table and place it there. Cover it with
whatever pretty cloth you wish. But be sure it’s a Thursday, the Wéntis’ day!
Then you and Madame [Sally] should sit down there, you and those people
will eat together. Go sit down and drink with them. Call on Ma Yemd to come
and join you! You and she should work together.” And then he adds, “But do
watch out on the west side there. There’s an Addtu [a toad-spirit Komanti]
who has designs on your wife. He’s not evil. Let him come to the altar, too.
Beer should never be lacking there for the Wéntis, sugarcane syrup for the
Earth Mother, a bit of honey for the Addtu. In the evenings go sit down there,
in the mornings go sit down there. Drink a little with them!”

On the last day of that visit, Tooy’s god, Dinuydngi, prays as he pours out
libations of beer in the Dinguldli shrine: “Ma Yowentina, take some, Ma Dig-
bednsu, take some, Ma Yemdnzda, take some. We're at the seaside! Let’s drink
together!” And when Iask afew minutes later who the gods are who actually
live in Tooy’s house, he says there are three women and six men—one of the
men stops him as he begins to say his name, but the women, he says, are Ma
Yowentina, Ma Digbednsu, and Ma Yemdnzda (now fully integrated into his
pantheon). Even if he can’t for the moment name the men, it’s clear that, in
addition to Diinguldli-Obia and Tatd Diinuydngi, Tooy’s main man remains
Bdsi Yontini, master of the house.



STORM CLOUDS

* 07082001 *

A week after his enstoolment, with the visitors gone and life returning to its
earlier pace, Captain Tooy ventures out in the evening with his machete and
an old rice sack to gather some medicinal leaves a mile or so along the canal.
From the brush, three men in ski masks jump him, and though he’s able to
getina chop or two himself, they cut him up badly with their machetes and
leave him bleeding on the ground.

Tooy’s had premonitions. The captain business was never his choice. He
knew it would foster jealousy and the sorcery that goes with it. He’s known
he’s been negligent for a long time (and it’s nagged at him) about following
up on messages from Paramaribo, where a brother’s divination repeatedly
finds that he needs to make a trip there to appease the avenging spirit called
Frenchwoman. He’s also had his differences with the Association of Young
Active Saramakas of Guyane, who'd like him—at least in certain contexts—
to act more “modern,” not to go off on tangents about First-Time stories or
rituallore every time they come to him with a matter concerning the French
bureaucracy. And there’s a festering problem with an Amerindian woman he
had a daughter with a decade before, who’s after him for child support and
is threatening legal action.

So, the assault didn’t come completely out of the blue. And the storm
clouds continue to gather.

We visit Tooy the next morning in the hospital—the first time he’s seen
a doctor in his life, he says with only slight exaggeration. He’s just out of
the operating room, where they’ve stitched up large swaths of his face and
shoulder. The assailants had just missed an eye when they slashed his cheek
and vital tendons when they cut deep into his shoulder; yet despite the X’s
they traced on his back, the surgeon tells us he should be fine in a couple of
weeks. Through his bandages, the ever-ebullient Tooy describes the assault
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and then teaches us a proverb in the esoteric language of Ludngu (also called
Ldngu): Lobangdya dyé a sabdnga déndu. Lobangdya, he says, means “tongue”;
sabdnga, “teeth”—tongue lives among teeth, tongue and teeth have fights,
teeth bite tongue, but in the end they have to live together, and so should
everyone else. (Irecall that in the 1970s, my friend Peléki used to tell me that
no one knows Ludngu like the people of Bundjitapi—Tooy’s home village.)

A large wooden house has burned down in the city, and Tooy and some
of the visitors to his bedside speculate about the conflagration’s origins, in-
voking an dbia called “firebomb.” Later, Tooy confides that people from Guy-
ana know this dbia. If you do one of them wrong, say, sleep with their wife,
they’ll throw it upon you. Its particularity is that they can specify exactly
what should burn—so, it might burn everything inside your house but not
touch the house itself, or it might turn the man in the bed to cinders but not
even touch the woman. He assures me that almost every man from George-
town knows its secret, and he asks me, “Since you travel a lot, if you ever go
there, be sure to get it for me.”

I consider the wonders of the Caribbean collective imagination. One of
the most powerful images of Guyana—etched in people’s memory through
media as diverse as the Mighty Sparrow’s calypso (“I en care if all a BG bun
down”) or Martin Carter’s poem (“Guyana—The Unfinished Tragedy”)—is
Black Friday (February 16, 1962), which witnessed “the terror, the exhilara-
tion, the intensity, and the extraordinary image of a wooden city on fire on
a day . .. that represented a leap across the threshold of racial conflagra-
tion from which the society has yet to recover after some four decades.”*
Refracted, transported, reinterpreted years later into the powerful idea
among Saramaka migrants in French Guiana that people from Georgetown
can throw their firebomb dbia at will.

It was around this time that I had to give Tooy the news that Roland was
pulling out of his status as client. Ever since I'd seen his face when he no-
ticed Tooy’s “fetish” in the airport, I'd had my suspicions. Whenever I saw
Roland, he’d assure me he would come up with the rest of the money. Indeed,
each time we went to Guyane (which we’d now done several times in con-
nection with a book, Les Marrons, we were researching), he’d give me 10,000
francs to transmit in cash, and by now he’d paid off half his debt. But things
weren't going well for him, and he’d lost confidence in the Saramaka cure.
Tooy seemed less worried about the money—he told me to ask Roland for
a final payment of 5,000 francs and to forget the rest—than about Roland’s
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lack of confidence. The idea that Saramakas weren't competent to solve a
problem such as Roland’s was a collective shame, but on the other hand, he
reasoned, Roland had never really seemed to understand what he and Kalusé
were trying to do for him.

The next year, Tooy caught his own version of a firebomb. The Amerindian
woman whom Tooy understood to be threatening him for child support was
in fact accusing him of having raped her a dozen years earlier and, with the
help of a gifted lawyer, got a $33,000 indemnity from the State for herself
and a seven-year prison sentence for him.

Inadvertently, she also saved his life. Upon Tooy’s entrance into Cayenne’s
super-modern penitentiary in February of 2002, the prison doctor discov-
ered, during the routine admission exam, that if Tooy didn’t have open-
heart surgery to replace his aortic valve, he’d be dead within months if not
weeks. In France, the State routinely pays all medical costs, and Tooy, es-
corted by two gendarmes, was soon on an Air France flight to the only place
in the French Caribbean that has adequate facilities for this major surgery—
Martinique. Though he remained under heavy guard, I was able to get the
Court’s permission to visit him for a half hour every single day.
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Happier times. We were squeezed around Tooy’s dining room table—Tooy,
his older brother Sensild, Sally, and me—the TV with its rabbit ears on the
cluttered sideboard soundlessly miming a French game show. On the oil-
cloth, Sally had laid out separate bowls of rice and stewed chicken and okra
sauce, with alarge plastic pitcher of water. Tooy heaped up his plate as usual,
announcing that, as a matter of principle, he never took seconds. He loaded
another plate for Sensilé, who had been blind for the past five years but had
once been among the strongest and most successful Saramaka canoemen
in French Guiana. It was my first meal with Sensild, who was making a rare
visit from Paramaribo—illegally, since he doesn’t have French papers. There
was no way he would miss his favorite brother’s enstoolment as captain of
the Saramakas of Cayenne.

As we began to eat, Tooy asked me (showing me off to his brother, as it
were) to tell them what I knew about “the sinking at Gadndan Falls,” a First-
Time story I'd often discussed with him—how the whites sent an emissary
during the eighteenth-century wars, how the Saramakas tricked him and
stole the goods sent as tokens of peace, and how they sent him and his com-
panions to their deaths as their canoe plunged over the great falls. I obliged,
enjoying the occasion, while we wolfed down our food—Saramaka men eat
rapidly, as if someone were about to take away their plate. At a certain point
in the story I mentioned Kwasimukdmba.

With a muffled roar, Sensild threw up his arms, jumping up from the
table, upsetting his plate of food, overturning the water pitcher, and stum-
bling cane-less through the open doorway. Tooy followed him quickly. I sat
stunned.

It would take me two years to learn why I'd caused Sensilé such distress.
The next morning, he greeted me as if nothing had happened, and we con-
tinued to enjoy each other’s company during his occasional visits to Cay-
enne. Tooy would tell me, when I pressed, only that Sensilé “couldn’t hear”
that name.
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Sensild.

I was proud of the knowledge I had about Kwasimukdmba, the double
agent whom Saramakas finally bested in the mid-eighteenth century.' For
historically minded men, he remains the prototypical symbol of betrayal and
his highly secret story a constant reminder of the necessity to be guarded in
all relations with outsiders. He stands as a dark warning star at the heart of
the Saramaka moral universe. I knew literally hundreds of details about his
complex life. But I was clueless as to his special meaning to Sensild.

*x k%

Cut to the high-security prison wing of the hospital in Martinique. Two years
have passed. Tooy’s open-heart surgery is scheduled for two days hence. The
gendarmes are rougher than usual when they pat me down for my half-hour
visit—the pen and folded-up sheet of paper in my pocket don’t sneak by
today, though the apple I bring as a gift is permitted. Keys turn and the steel
door clanks open. Tooy is sitting on his bed looking alone and frightened,
in an isolation cell thousands of miles from home, treated like the danger-
ous criminal he isn’t and about to undergo the dreaded knife. I take the only
chair and try some comforting small talk.

The day before, I'd snuck in a photo of an impressive all-white, stylish,
vintage yacht (named Talatha G) that had anchored in the cove below our
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house. Now; he tells me he’s dreamed a new song, thinking about that Wénti
ship and his own predicament. In deep voice, softly, he sings, Ma Digbednsu,
Heépiwi-o! | MaDigbednsu, Heépi wi-o! | U dé téé na alonugbe | Tjd u gé a niviélo.
He explains, “This is a Wénti song—we’re out here in the world, but we don’t
know where we are, we don’t know where we’ll land. In Wénti language,
Aldénugbe means ‘sun,’ niviélo means ‘sea.”” (Thus: “Mother Digbednsu, help
us! We've come as far as the sun, bring us back to the sea.”) He looks at the
photo, which he’s stored under his mattress, and says admiringly, “That ship
could really carry you right to the bottom of the sea, all the way to Wénti
country!”

Tooy clears his throat and announces he wants to offer me something,
though it’s something he can give me only in very small doses. “Gweytinga,”
he begins, “had a wife named Hwéte—one of Alabi’s wife’s people.” I could
tell Iwas about to receive a rare gift. “Something was coming out of the for-
estand stealing chickens, dogs, and, one time, even a child from Gweytnga’s
village. Who,” Tooy asks rhetorically, “was doing it?” He leans toward me
and whispers conspiratorially, “Kwasimukdmba!” And then he throws up
his hands to indicate that the dose is finished.

Now, I knew that Kwasimukdmba had posed as a new runaway when
he joined the Saramakas in 1754 and that he’d lived for some months with
their chief, Ayakd, before escaping back to the city to lead a massive colo-
nial army against them. What I'd never considered was who he’d first en-
countered when he showed up in Saramaka territory, who—in Saramaka
parlance—had “caught” him. Or that he might have had a history in Sara-
maka before he arrived at the chief’s village. This was what Tooy had now
started to reveal—a highly charged story that places Kwasimukdmba near
the center of his own history and plumb center in that of Sensild.

Over the course of many months, in dribs and drabs, during my hospital
visits and my prison visits and finally as a free man once again, Tooy very
slowly filled me in.

Kwasimukdmba, the wily faithful slave, enacted a daring plan to “escape”
from slavery, pose as a runaway, and spy on the Saramakas. From his forest
camp at the head of Wet Eye Creek, he would raid Gweytinga’s village in the
dead of night to steal a chicken, or it might be a dog or even a child, to sac-
rifice to his dbia.

Gweytinga decided to act—who could be ruining his village? He went
into the forest to set a trap. First, he built himself a shelter on a hillock
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and then, with his Toné pot, brought down the rains. Just before dawn,
Gweytnga heard the forest begin to tremble: Kwasimukdmba appeared at
his doorstep seeking shelter. Gweytinga just sat there, puffing away on his
Toné pipe, softly singing Toné songs. Kwasimukamba stood transfixed. And
then suddenly he collapsed with a thud. Gweytinga had “smoked” him—his
dbia had put him to sleep!

When Kwasimukdmba awoke, Gweytinga invited him back to his vil-
lage—but he had miscalculated Kwasimukdmba’s powers, for by the time
they arrived, Gweytinga’s strength was already ebbing. “Kwasimukdmba,”
Tooy concludes, “was simply riper than he was.” And Gweytinga was to pay
the consequences.

It began with sex. Gweytinga had two wives: Béti-Kaddsu, who'd come
with him from Africa and given birth to their son Antamd, and the much
younger Hwéte. By this time in his life, Gweytinga was, as Tooy puts it, hav-
ing trouble getting his cock to crow. (It’s not just that he was well into his
sixties—Kwasimukdmba had also been working him over with dbia, Tooy
explained.) So, whenever Gweytinga went to spend the night with one wife,
Kwasimukdmba would pay a visit to the other.

What happens next is recounted in rival versions, though both pin
full blame on Kwasimukdmba. Tooy is persuaded of the truth of his own
account, because he heard it right from the mouth of Sensild’s dbia (who,
as we shall soon see, has special reason to know)—Hwéte informs Kwa-
simukdmba that she is pregnant with his child, and he decides to make
an dbia to kill Gweyiinga before he finds out. He sends Gweytinga off
to set fish traps, empties out his Toné pipe, lines the bowl with iguana
skin (the strongest taboo of Toné), and loads the tobacco back in. When
Gweytnga returns and smokes his pipe, his belly roars, and it is only
hours before Death kills him. The other version, which I heard in the 1970s
from Metisén, a man brought up in Tooy’s natal village, depicts Hwéte as
Gweytnga’s new wife who begs Kwasimukdmba to make her a love potion
to bind her husband more strongly to her, but the jealous Kwasimukdmba,
instead, prepares a death potion, which she then innocently feeds her
husband. In Métisén’s words,

Hwéte peeled some very ripe plantains and cooked them until they were just
right. Then she mashed them with peanuts, and while she was mashing threw
the dbia in with them. Then she added palm oil. If you saw it, you just knew
it would be sweet! . . . As soon as Gweytinga had taken the first bite, his belly
roared huun! And it began to hurt him terribly. People made medicines and
performed rites till they were weary. All night long! And then, around five in
the morning, he breathed his last.”
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There’s no disagreement about what happened in the aftermath of the
great man’s death. Rumors were flying. Palavers were held. And when they
raised Gweytnga’s corpse in divination, it made it clear that his wife, Hwéte,
had killed him.

Hwéte knew nothing of the verdict and remained in mourning confine-
ment. Meanwhile, the villagers decided to build a coffin big enough for two,
Gweytnga on top, Hwéte on bottom. Tooy told me it took them two full days
to cut enough planks for that coffin.

Some people hoped that Antamd would avenge his father’s murder by
finishing off Hwéte. But Antamd never accepted the verdict—how could
Hwéte have done such a thing? (Tooy told me that according to his brother’s
god, Flibanti, who was an eyewitness to these events, Antamd used his pow-
ers of flight to go up and visit his mother’s brother Wii in Langu, to make
sure it was all right to bring the woman upriver. Wii told him to go ahead.)

Antamd snuck in at midnight to see her, told her what was going on, and
loaded her and his half-sister Afaata—Gweytinga’s daughter with Hwéte—
into his canoe for the upstream journey to his village far up the Gadnlio. By
the time Gweytinga’s village had discovered Hwéte’s absence and determined
that she hadn’t simply gone off into the forest to kill herself, it was too late.
There was nothing left to do but bury their dead leader.

Hwéte, heavy with Kwasimukdmba’s boy-child, and her daughter Afaata
arrived the next day in Antamd’s village—where Tooy today looks back on
them with affection as the founders of his matrilineage.®

Some months after these events, Kwasimukdmba stayed for a time in An-
tamd’s village, where the two became very close. The wars with the whites
were still raging, and Kwasimukdmba shared much of his ritual knowledge
with his new friend. And as Antamd prepared to go off to battle near the
coast, Kwasimukdmba taught him one of his trademark powers—the dbia
that permits men to fly.*

When there had been no word of Antamd for many weeks, his people
charged Kwasimukdmba with witchcraft. At which point he used his dbia
to summon Antamd, who alit in the center of the village in the form of a
vulture. As Tooy tells it, Kwasimukdmba addressed the bird, saying, “An-
tamd, I taught you to fly, but your people doubted me. So I'm taking the
flying ébia away from you and giving it to my son, Gisi” (the fruit of Hwéte’s
pregnancy). That’s when Kwasimukdmba himself flew off to the coast, soon
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to lead a great army against the Saramakas. “And it’s why,” says Tooy plain-
tively, “my people no longer have flying dbia.”

What, then, is the special connection with Tooy’s brother Sensil6? The
short answer is that the most powerful ritual possession of Antamd—
who became the greatest Saramaka dbia-man of the second half of the
eighteenth century—was the dbia called Flibdnti, which he learned from
Kwasimukdmba. Tooy tells me that during the epic battle with the army
brought by Kwasimukdmba, Antamd ritually “boiled” him and managed to
shoot him, after which Kwasimukdmba turned himself into an armadillo.
“If you ever tell this story to anyone, close the door first!” he says. “It’s very
secret! That’s why they call that place Armadillo Creek [Kdmbakiiki]. The
animal’s hole is still there.” And then he adds, “Sensild can’t go anywhere
near that place!”

Tooy tells me that, after Antamd’s death, his dbia passed to his sister
Afaata. And he can trace its further descent with precision, from one person
to another—until it finally possessed Sensild.

If Kwasimukdmba is a dangerous figure for all Saramakas, he is the
gravest of dangers for Sensilé. Kwasimukdmba betrayed and murdered An-
tamd’s father. Later he befriended and betrayed Antamd himself. But in the
end, with the help of his ritual powers, Antamd turned the tables on Kwa-
simukdmba, “boiling” and shooting the traitor.

The 6bia I have chatted with during Sensild’s visits to Cayenne, who once
assured me he was “here before Noah,” is then none other than Flibdnti,
Kwasimukdmba’s personal ¢bia, which he taught to Antamd. Eyewitness to
Kwasimukdmba’s exploits as well as the power behind his ultimate defeat,
this obia is intimately linked to the lives of both the great spy and his friend
and later nemesis Antamd.

Indeed, when Sensild, who had been a proud and powerful man, lost his
sight five years ago, it surprised no one that divination found it was Kwa-
simukdmba taking his revenge.

No wonder Sensild startled at the very sound of his name.
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We might locate Roland’s doubts and fears about Saramakas somewhere
within that murky realm of intercultural connection that Anna Lowenhaupt
Tsing has labeled friction—what transpires in “zones of awkward engage-
ment, where words mean something different across a divide even as peo-
ple agree to speak.” As she suggests, such zones are becoming increasingly
commonplace as the world globalizes.

Since the early 1960s, I had understood that much of the magic that af-
fected the everyday lives of Martiniquans had its roots in medieval Europe.
In the Caribbean, there had clearly been what Michael Taussig describes as a
“folding of the underworld of the conquering society into the culture of the
conquered . . . as a chamber of mirrors reflecting each stream’s perception
of the other.”? When I studied the lives of fishermen and the ritual special-
ists they patronized to assure that their catch would be larger than their
neighbor’s, time and again I stumbled on recipes from grimoires—and on
talk of the Devil. Fishermen instructed me, repeatedly, that when walking at
nightin the unelectrified village, if Ifelt a tingling and my hair stood on end,
it meant there was a béte infernale in the vicinity and that I must quickly pull
the pockets out of my pants, take off my shirt and put it back on inside out,
and open my pocketknife. On the trail that ran through the village—there
was no road yet—nighttime brought dangerously alluring sights (fiery au-
tomobiles streaking by, unimaginably beautiful women bathing in the sea,
gnarled old women nursing babies on a rock, strange children wandering
and crying out) as well as more obvious dangers. One man, known for his
courage, had seen the Devil more than once. In fact, when he went to wake
up his crewman not long before, a giant horse-with-three-legs—Lucifer
himself —fell out of the mango tree under which he was standing. And cof-
fins were often sighted at crossroads. When another man known for bravery
came upon one in the middle of the path, he opened his knife, sat down
on the box, and boldly asked, “Who’s inside?” “Heat, heat,” came the first
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answer. When he pressed, the woman’s voice asked him if she sounded like
thunder. No, he said. Like wind, then? No. Perhaps like running water?
When he said yes, the coffin dissolved into a rivulet slanting off to the sea.
No one who has close acquaintance with Antillean culture is surprised by
the prevalence of ritual, by the everyday preoccupation with protective ac-
tion against the forces unleashed by enemies. And the Devil, in all his forms,
is a constant potential menace.

Roland’s first assumption, once he’d seen Tooy in action (and caught
that glimpse of his “fetish”), was that he worked with the Devil—certainly
the farthest thing in the world from Tooy’s mind. Roland feared becoming
engagé—being forced to make a pact with the Devil. In the larger Creole
world, the rise of politicians and rich men is widely attributed to such
supernatural “engagements.” In Haiti, the instruments are baca and zonbi.
In other places, they take different names and shapes. But there’s always the
possibility of getting some sort of spirit to work for you in return for selling
your soul. Take Suriname and French Guiana, where store owners are said
to buy bakuilu, spirits in the form of tiny people who can fit in your pocket
and do your bidding in return for payments and other obeisance. They make
the money for you, you become their slave.’

Roland began to express his reluctance to me just days after Tooy and Kalusé
returned to Guyane from Martinique. At first he says it's money—he has
cash flow problems and can’t yet come up with what he owes to complete the
cure. One municipality owes him 400,000 francs for lumber and cement,
someone else has written a bad check for 370,000 francs. But soon he ad-
mits he simply isn’t sure that Saramaka ritual, no matter how effective in
principle, is going to be right for him. It’s like when the priests came: things
looked up for a few days but soon continued their downward spiral. He’s
pretty sure it’s the thing in the ground at the lumberyard. After all, he says,
Tooy confirmed this when he told him he hadn’t properly taken care of the
“esprit” who lives there. (Roland conflates Tooy’s concerns about the god-
who-has-the earth at the lumberyard with his own ideas about the evil spirit
of the human sacrifice.) Roland says he’s sliding down into a hole but doesn’t
sense he’s yet hit bottom, so how can he begin to climb up the other side?
He’s spending a lot of time praying—he knows people are using “voodoo”
against him—so he feels he has to do something, but what? I suggest that
maybe Tooy would be willing to work on credit, with payment only after
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things go well. Roland says not to worry, he’ll pay, he always assumes his
responsibilities. But he’s unsure that the Saramakas are compatible with his
needs.

Two weeks later, I stop by the lumberyard, having spoken by phone with
Tooy and Kalusé in the interim. (When I'd called Tooy, a girl answered in
French, but I could hear Tooy singing enthusiastically in the background.
When he got on the phone, I asked what he’d been singing: Komanti!) The
place is humming with activity, forklifts moving around piles of lumber and
pallets of cement sacks, secretaries carrying papers between rooms. Inside
his air-conditioned office, Roland asks me if, on my next trip to the USA, I
could obtain for him a few vials of a certain growth hormone that’s illegal
in France—something he wants to feed his cocks. (When I check the label
of an old bottle at his house the following week, I see it’s manufactured in a
small town in Texas.) He also tells me about a recurrent dream and draws a
sketch as he speaks. The familiar dream woman leads him into the cock pit,
where he comes upon the plate in the exact center of the circular arena. He is
able to lift it up and get it out of the way without a problem. Then she leads
him underneath the grandstand—there’s another plate right in the center
of the space. But this one is heavy! He’s unable to budge it, hard as he tries.
That is the problem, he says. Someone has to be able to take that and get it
completely out of his way, forever. He says he’s keeping after his debtors and
hopes that in ten days’ time he can make a definitive decision about going
to Cayenne.

A few days later, he seems optimistic and says to explore plane reserva-
tions for a couple of weeks hence. I call Tooy, who’s enthusiastic and will go
into the forest to begin getting together the necessary leaves the following
week. The next day, we meet Roland by chance. He’s come over to our side
of the island for a cousin’s funeral and, as is customary after the visit to the
cemetery, is having a few drinks with the men. A bit wobbly, he takes me
aside to say, straight out, that the real problem is that he’s afraid of becom-
ing engagé.

Back on the verandah, I reread the pages of Eugéne Revert’s classic La ma-
gie antillaise (1951) on engagement (a topic I've discussed often enough with
fishermen and neighbors since the 1960s). It’s described as any pact with the
Devil—whether Lucifer, Beelzebub, Astaroth, le Grand Ravocal, or Aglama-
ton—who agrees to do your bidding. The request is normally written on
parchment, signed in blood, and left for the Devil under a silkcotton tree
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at noon or in a stand of bamboo at Christmas midnight. Alternatively, the
parchment can be placed in a bottle, neck down, under the eaves of your
house. These contracts, says Revert, are very common in Martinique, and
the success of many “big men” is explained by them. The truest devotees set
a place at the table at each meal, with a plate of food and drink for the Devil.
In return, they get such things as the gift of night flight or the ability to
turn themselves into the animal of their choice and do their will. No wonder
Roland, who is a devout Catholic, is afraid!

Several days before our planned trip together to Guyane, Sally and I
visit Roland in his lumberyard. He professes confusion about what to do.
His first priority, he insists, is to honor his financial obligations, and to-
ward that end, whatever he decides, he will get together 20,000 francs
in the next few days to give Tooy. (“With these kinds of people, if you don’t
pay them, watch out, you never know,” he remarks.) Under his breath, he
says that he’s more than a little afraid of the Saramaka “voodoo” and of be-
coming engagé. I make my best ethnographic presentation about how it isn’t
a matter of “engagement”—but he seems unconvinced. He tells us that a
woman came to him and said she sensed there was an “esprit” in the lum-
beryard and offered to exorcize it gratis, but he hesitated to trust her. In the
end, he tells us he’ll be able to make a final decision about whether to con-
tinue the rituals in Guyane later, perhaps in two months. There’s something
inside him, he feels, some sort of “esprit” (“everyone has an esprit,” he says)
that is preventing the rituals—whether by Saramakas or Catholic priests—
from working. The “esprit” is also making him feel hesitant about doing the
thing. He’s genuinely ambivalent and scared and unsure what the right
thing is to do.

As the months roll by, I occasionally visit Roland’s lumberyard, in part
for such mundane matters as buying some boards to build a shelter for our
seventeen-year-old Nissan pickup. But he always takes me inside his private
space to report on his situation—for me, it feels like being the priest in-
side the confessional. He insists he’s telling me things he tells no one else.
He remains unsure whether Tooy’s rites are right for him, though he doesn’t
doubt his honesty or competence. “There’s awoman,” he says, “who appears
to my daughter sometimes when she’s in church. I sometimes see her in my
dreams, too.” This person advises against his going to Guyane. But might it
be, he asks, that the evil spirit of the lumberyard is actively trying to prevent
him from going to Guyane and thus to find a solution? Roland concludes
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he’s “on standby” (he uses the English words) with Tooy. Perhaps, he says,
he’ll time a visit to Guyane just after the new year.

He tells me a recent dream in which three snakes are crawling into
three holes at the base of his house in town. His dream woman came to him
and told him to sprinkle ammonia on them. When he awoke, he went down
to the place he’d seen in the dream, and there were no holes in the house
at all, but he sprinkled the place where they’d been in the dream in any
case. Then he went up to his terrace and rested for a moment, looking over
the balcony, when he saw three little piles of sand arranged in a perfect trian-
gle in the lawn he said he is trying, rather unsuccessfully, to grow. When he
went down to examine them, he saw they weren’t formed with normal beach
sand—there were little bits of shell in them, indicating cemetery sand. He
asks, rhetorically, whether people might be trying simply to frighten him—
or, he asks me, is this a sign that someone is seriously working against him?
He took an empty paint can and a trowel and scooped up the sand, capped
the can, and threw the whole out to sea, saying as he did so, “Get out of here,
you evil things!”

One day Roland drives me back from the lumberyard, after our truck’s
electrical system has died on the spot. On the road, he tells four stories that
mix magic and cockfighting. (“Combats de cogs” are one of the longer en-
tries in Genevieve Leti’s recent book, whose title translates as “The ABC of
Beliefs and Superstitions in the Magico-Religious Universe of the Antilles.”
Another book describes one of Roland’s specialities: personally marking on
each egg the degree of auspiciousness of the day it was laid.)*

A couple of years ago, Roland told me, he learned that his cockfighting
rival’s main dbia-man was a Rasta originally from St. Vincent who wears sev-
eral rings on each finger. When Roland discovered his identity, he went to
see him. At first, thinking he was a normal client, the man started laying out
his tarot cards, but Roland explained who he was—and the man began to
weep, saying he was just doing his job. Roland explained to him that all he
wanted was for him to undo the things that he’d already done against him.

His rival also frequented a coolie quimboiseur in the north, whom Ro-
land decided to visit. The man spoke to him in Tamil, took him into a little
“Hindu temple” he had next to his house, and admitted he worked for his
cockfighting rival.

Some years ago, Roland traveled to Guadeloupe to seek help, but he knew
no one. At the airport, he asked a taxi driver, who took him to a specialist.
The man was a coolie with silver teeth and slick hair. He called over a Chabine
woman, and they prayed together for a while. As he spoke, he tapped the
ground with a walking stick. He went into trance and told Roland he was
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traveling to Martinique. He arrived at Mt. Pélée and said it was very cold, ask-
ing Roland to guide him, since he didn’t know the country. So, Roland guided
him to the airport, then to his hometown near the southeastern mountain,
where the man said he saw the church, and Roland finally guided him up the
street to his house—the man recognized the beige walls and red corrugated-
metal roof. In the end, he gave Roland some simple instructions: have amass
said and sprinkle some holy water at the entrance to the cock pit.

In another town in the north, he regularly visits a man who was once a
powerful quimboiseur but now only “sees” things—he doesn’t really make
things happen, as he did before. He’s one of the people who’s been warning
Roland lately about going to Guyane to work with Saramakas.

The following year, Roland phones to tell me he is working long distance on
the lumberyard problem with an African priest. If Tooy still wants to “pray”
for him, that’s fine, but he no longer wants him to undertake any serious
work on his behalf —that would be too much of a “mixture,” he says.

When we next meet, Roland explains that Tooy was surely right about
one thing: he did have an “esprit” in the lumberyard, and it needed to be
talked to—which he’d never done before Tooy’s visit. The problem, Roland
says, is that people who've tried to help, from Tooy to Haitians to Africans,
have always (he believes) wanted to replace the “esprit” with something else,
and he is afraid of that. He wants a more “natural” solution, simply chasing
away the “esprit.” So, he’s been praying a lot, especially using the books of
Abbé Julio (which are common French grimoire booklets). He is consider-
ing bringing over a Greek Orthodox priest from Burkina Faso who regularly
prays for the children of his brother and his African wife. He also says he’s
thinking, vaguely, of Mexicans, because he’s heard they’re “powerful”—or of
this Cuban religion, what’s it called? Santourita or something?

Later, Roland confides that a priest in France has also been helping him
long distance. The burning issue is whether, as he’s always thought, the “es-
prit” in the cane field should be chased or whether, as he understood Tooy
to be telling him, it should be placated and prayed to. (He misunderstood
Tooy, who was talking about the god who lived there, not an “esprit” that
had been killed there.) Now, the long-distance French priest and a former
quimboiseur who has become an Evangelical minister (and given up all his
quimbois things) agree that what needs to happen is that the “esprit,” which
met its untimely end in the cane field, be “properly” buried. I asked if he
meant a Catholic burial. He answered, “Whatever.” “But where,” he asked
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plaintively and rhetorically, “am I ever going to find a priest in Martinique
who would be willing to perform such a burial?”

From Roland’s perspective, little has changed in the four years since Tooy
and Kalusé arrived to cure his lumberyard. Once again, his hens haven’t been
laying to his satisfaction and his cocks have continued tolose; and whenIgo
in to pay the bill I owe for some sacks of cement, he looks discouraged and
gray. “Things have never been worse,” he confides. “These days, the stacks
of treated pine I order from France end up in Morocco.”
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When Tooy really gets going with the singing and storytelling, there’s no-
thing he likes better than to recount the exploits of his earliest remembered
ancestor, Wii, and how he was the one who “brought the Peace”—brought
lasting freedom—to Saramaka. (I remember how Tooy kept us awake with
a lengthy version beginning around midnight, only hours before his early-
morning departure from Martinique the time he came to cure Roland’s lum-
beryard.) Lingu-clan pride is wrapped up in this story as in no other.
Tooy begins with Wii’s song of victory, in Ludngu language:

Sdngono mi tdala!

Mapdna nénge tjd lowe ké! [Mapdna people brought escape!]

Sdngono mi tdala!

Bavili Ludngo tjd l6we-e [Bavili Ludngo people brought freedom/peace]

Sdngono mi tdala, vié, tjdtjd, hanhanhanhan. [This last “word” is made by push-
ing on the Adam’s apple with two outstretched fingers.]'

And then he tells how the Saramaka chief, Ayakd of the Matjdu clan, had just
finished his afternoon bath in the river and rehung his ¢bia hammer, with
its tie around his neck, on his back. “That dbia is no good!” Tooy remarks
parenthetically—“He’s the one who’s wearing it and, if anyone happens to
see it, he, and not the person who saw it, is the one who dies!”

Well, there was old man Wii, visiting in his wife’s village. (He was married to
Ayakd’s daughter, Ydya-Ddunde.) In the late afternoon, he went into the reeds
to bathe and, by accident, happened upon his father-in-law, who had just fin-
ished his bath. He saw the hammer! Ayaké didn’t notice him, and Wii quietly
withdrew. Wii stayed for three days in his wife’s village. Then Ayaké had a
collapse. Wii went back to his village. The Matjdus did divination, and it said
that Wii had thrown witchcraft at him. Ayakd, very feeble, called his son Dab{
to him. “When I die,” he said, “put a musket ball in my mouth, take it out,
and then shoot Wii with it. If he really caused my death, he’ll die. Otherwise
he won’t be hurt.”
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When Ayakd died, Dabi took the musket ball, did what he was bid, and hid
it away. Wii came to the funeral with his sister’s child Tjdmbaludngu, a young
girl. Dabi went and told Ydya-Ddunde that he was going to kill her husband,
but if Ydya warned Wii, he would kill her instead. Ydya was in tears, for her
father and for her husband. During that evening’s “play,” Ydya knew that Wi
would dance over and sing, asking her for water. (In those days, if you were
visiting a village and someone offered you a calabash with warm water in it,
you knew you were going to be killed, you'd better escape if you could.) So,
Wii asked for water. (In those days, it wasn’t in a calabash like we use today, it
was in a totowitu calabash! There’s a tree in the forest called zéntete. Monkeys
knock the fruit on a branch to split it open—that’s the totowito. That’s what
they drank from back then.) So Ydya went and warmed up some water and
served it to her husband as a warning. (This is the way Ldngu people will tell
you the story.) Wii left the scene and went to the river to bathe, but the thing
that saved him that night was that he didn’t take off his ébia sack even once. (In
those days, you slept on wdndji bark, that was our mattress.) He went into the
open-sided shed—in those days they didn’t have houses with walls—unrolled
his bark mattress and called his sister’s child, and they both lay down there.
Ydya-Ddunde came and lay down with them there, too. Dabi wandered around
until he found them, but luckily, Wii hadn’t taken off his sack. Dab{ shot him
right in the chest, but Wii caught the bullet with the thumb of his right hand.
He jumped up and took his sister’s child and called to his friend Kofikio from
the forest’s edge and asked him to bring him a bunch of bananas. And they
took off ! They ate those bananas all the way to Ndyuka, where he met his
friend Tatd Agumasdka and found the Peace.”

When Wii left Saramaka, he walked up Doisanumaa and Avo Creeks until
he got to Djaai Creek, which flows into the Tapanahoni. He came upon a gar-
den, where he saw an old woman and three girls. “Don’t be scared,” he told
them. “I'm not a runaway slave!” He greeted the old woman, “Bakui bangéni.”
She replied, “Batjétje bangdni.” And then he said “Baydka bangéni.” (That’s the
way everyone talked in those days. It was their “bonjour.” Bangdni means “per-
son.”) She took him to theisland where his friend from slave days, Agumusdka,
lived. (In those days, Ndyukas lived on islands.) Big greetings between Wii and
Agumasdkal—“Bakui bangdni . . . Batjétje bangoni . . . Baydka bangdni.”*

“I heard this all from Sibén’s very mouth,” he adds, alluding to the great
avenging spirit of Béndiwdta, who had once been in Pobdsi’s head. Then he
continues his story:

Now;, the whites had tried to make peace with the Saramakas three times
already. The last time, Tatd Bdkisipdmbo shot them at Sisabo, on the Upper
River. The second canoe, which was just below Pétodan Rapids, heard the
shots and tried to get away downstream. But Tatd Bdkisi turned around and
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cut them off at Gadndan Rapids [about 30 km from Pétodan Rapids]. The
African guide at the head of the whitefolks’ canoe warned them, “That wasp’s
nest up in the kupawd tree there—it’s not a wasp’s nest, it’s a person!” So
the commander of the boat said, “Poti leti” (Straighten out the canoe). And
they crashed over the rapids. The African guide grew his wings and flew off
towards Africa, singing [Tooy sings], Dé€ nenidngo sondi u mi-o-o, kéngivé-o.
Un déé awd sondi u mi-o, kéngivéve. Ma un déé ni awd sondi u maliingu lodngo,
kéngive, un de heee, kéngivé-o. [Tooy says to me, “His wings have already
opened!” and continues singing:] Dé¢ awd sondi u mi-o, bikd maliingu mi mi
mi mii. Un déé ni aldndi gdnga u mi-e, bikd mi malingu dzila-e (This is an Aptku
song—there are other Apiiku songs about the sinking too!) All the white-
folks in the boat drowned and washed up at the place called Maata Sandu.
That was the last time whitefolks came to make peace before Wii went off to

Ndyuka."

Tooy then tells how Wii was returning from Ndyuka, carrying salt to prove
that Peace had come, when at the mouth of Lokoti Creek, where it meets the
Suriname River, he saw his friend Kofikido, on his way to a raid of white-
folks’ plantations. Tooy explains, “Kofikio and Wii had a special greeting.
One would say, Mi alidbosu, and the other would answer, Mi akwdbosu.”

Kofikiéo and Dabi and some other men had come down from the Pikilio
and were going on a raid when they met up with Wii coming back from
Ndyuka, right at the mouth of Lokoti Creek. Dabi was in front, Kofikifo
behind, and it was Kofikido whom Wii saw first. Wii called out, Mi alidbdsu. He
didn’t answer. Wi said, “What’s going on? There aren’t two people with whom
I call that name. I'm the one who’s calling you here!” Kofiki6o said, OK. And he
answered, Mi akwdbosu. He called Wii to him and Wii asked where they were
going. (Dabi was already way ahead.) He said, “Were on our way to the white-
folks’ plantations, to go fight and take things.” Wii said, “Don’t do it. Peace has
come. He showed him the salt, and he said something in Ludngu [which Tooy

”

doesn’t say]: it meant, “Turn back!” Dabi didn't see the others following him,
so he came back to see what was happening. He asked Kofikido, “Where’ve you
been?” Kofikido said, “My belly’s been giving me trouble [diarrhea]. That’s why
I'was hanging back.” Dabi said, “Really?” Then KofikiGo asked him, “Just imag-
ine that we were going along here and suddenly we met up with Saa Uwii [Wii].
What would we do with him?” Dabi said, “Brother, me and Saa Uwii don’t have
a problem anymore. I was just helping my father. Me and Saa Uwii have noth-
ing between us. I shot him because my father told me to, not because I wanted
to.” Kofikido said, “Well, I've seen him. And he says that Peace has come.” “Well
whereis he, man?” So they walked back to the mouth of Lokoti, right at the big
stone just inside the creek. The embrace they gave each other—it was as if
Jaguar had met with Jaguar! So, they all turned back upstream.
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Tooy sings out, just as had his ancestor Wii, once he and Dabi had embraced:
Mapdna nénge tjd lowe kd! Sdngono mi tdala! | Bavili Ludngo tjd léwe-e | Sdn-
gono mi téala, vié, tjdtjd, honhonhdonhon [this last made by tapping the Adam’s
apple with one’s fingers].

Whitefolks’ documents closely mirror Tooy’s account. They describe how
Wii was accused of witchcraft in Saramaka, sought refuge along with
his sister’s daughter in Ndyuka, and arrived just in time to witness the fi-
nal peace negotiations between whitefolks and that nation. Then, about a
year later, the whites received a message from Ndyuka—originating from
Wii—that the Saramakas also wanted peace. Toward this end, the Council
in Paramaribo decided to send Quakoe, a Ndyuka headman then serving as
official emissary to the whites, to Saramaka. With a solemn handshake, he
promised that he would undertake the mission, and he accepted in advance
a reward for this service. But instead of going to Saramaka, he simply re-
turned from the city to Ndyuka, making clear to his compatriots that he had
no intention of actually making the trip. The Ndyuka headmen claim to have
tried to force him to go, but to no avail; and they finally “summoned Wii,
who some years ago had fled from Saramaka . . . and they persuaded him
to go [instead of Quakoe], and they gave him four men [another document
says it was eighteen men] to accompany him. Wii accepted”® Wii’s expedi-
tion from Ndyuka to Saramaka left in late 1761 (after considerable discussion
among the Ndyukas about whether or not Wii was in fact a witch). Its suc-
cessful return to Ndyuka took place in February 1762. Some forty Saramakas,
including six headmen, accompanied Wii back to Ndyuka, all seeking peace
with the whites. (A postscript to one of the letters written from Ndyuka to
the governor to describe the expedition reported that on their way to Sara-
maka, Wii’s group had intercepted a group of Saramaka men on their way to
raid the governor’s own plantation, and that they were successful in convinc-
ing the would-be raiders to return to their villages.® This postscript, then,
points directly to the event described by Tooy: Wii’s journey from Ndyuka
down the Lokoti Creek, at the mouth of which he met a group of Saramakas
heading downriver on a raiding party, showed them evidence that peace had
come to Ndyuka, turned them back, and thereby set the final peace negotia-
tions in motion.) Indeed, according to the documents, Wii was among the
Saramakas who participated in the final oath-taking with the whitefolks on
September 19, 1762—the Saramakas insisted they drink each others’ blood
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from a calabash—and Wii made sure that his sister’s son Antamd was one
of those officially recognized as captain.

Taken as a whole, the whitefolks’ documents, like Tooy’s account, tell us
that Wii was a refugee from Saramaka harbored by the Ndyukas; that he
was involved in troublesome relationships with both Saramakas and Ndyu-
kas that included frequent accusations of witchcraft; that he successfully
communicated to the whites the Saramakas’ wishes for peace; that he led
a peacemaking expedition from Ndyuka to Saramaka (and that it met on
the way a party of raiders whom he turned back); and that, as a result of the
subsequent negotiations, peace finally came to Saramaka.” Born in Africa,
an early maroon leader of the Ldngu clan, a refugee among the Ndyukas for
alleged misdeeds in Saramaka, Wii in his own complicated way—as Tooy
insists—indeed “brought the Peace.” Sdngono mi toala!

“Wii,” Tooy once told me, “never died—they didn’t find him to bury.”*
Indeed, he became a “dangerous thing.” “There’s a savannah at the head of
Péto Creek,” he says. “If you go there on a Friday, you’ll die. I myself saw a
man who went hunting there on a Friday. After a while, the bush hogs came,
as many as seven, and they killed him!” At which point one of Tooy’s young
assistants, Asdntikdlu, chimes in that he was once in a single-engine mis-
sionary plane, momentarily lost over the upper Gadnlio. As they overflew
a vast savannah, he saw a giant animal, “something like a lion,” jumping
up and brandishing his claws in the direction of the plane. It was as big as
a house, jumping and jumping! With a wave of his arm, Tooy warns him to
stop talking and sings a calming song. He tells us quietly that that’s where
the old man lives.
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For Saramakas, every human is formed by three people: a father, a mother,
and a néséki—a spiritual genitor, or “namesake.” All three participate in the
physiological process of conception. When a baby has its first illness, spe-
cialists perform divination to discover its namesake, who usually turns out
to be a recently deceased relative, though it is sometimes a figure from the
more distant past or, in rare cases, even a dead hunting dog or forest spirit.
(When Kuset miraculously made it home from World War Il and had his first
child, the red birthmark that ringed her neck showed that one of her father’s
battlefield commanders, whose throat had been slashed by a German bayo-
net, was her namesake.) As the parents consult diviners for childhood ills,
they learn more about the namesake’s taboos and desires, and the child gets
used to invoking it when in need. Most people have a close relationship with
their namesake throughout their lives. Tooy’s identification with his—a
man named Pobdsi—knows few bounds.

Pobési was the father’s brother of Tooy’s father Méliki, whom he raised
from early childhood. From Méliki, Tooy heard countless stories about the
man he called his father. But Pobdsi is sufficiently famous—as an early
twentieth-century prophet and dbia-man and intermediary with the world
of whitefolks—so that, even without his father’s relationship to him, Tooy
would have heard a good deal about him.

Before I ever met Tooy, I'd run into Pobdsi on a number of occasions—in
stories Saramakas told me in the sixties, in a Dutch account of a 1908 geolog-
ical expedition, in a priest’s report about the Catholic Church’s first mission
to the Saramakas in the 1920s, and in Melville and Frances Herskovits’s Rebel
Destiny: Among the Bush Negroes of Dutch Guiana, published in 1934.

In the 1960s, my friend Asipéi, already well past middle age, liked to re-
gale me with stories about his “grandfather” Pobési, a larger-than-life figure
he’d known in his youth. Early in the reign of Gaamd Djankusé (who held the
officefrom1898t01932), hewould tell me, awhite manhad come to the chief’s
village, asking permission to explore the upper reaches of the Gadnlio. (For
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Saramakas then, as now, every creek, each large rock, even many large trees
had a specific meaning and history related to former villages, gardens, and
hunting camps that once dotted the area—but for colonial whitefolks, this
was virgin territory that had to be brought under rational control, part of
what Conrad’s Marlow famously called the “blank spaces” on the map.) The
chief warned him off: “There are things on the Upper River that haven't yet
made peace with me, Djankusd. So all the more so for you, white man!” But
the explorer persisted, and the chief was forced to yield. Djankusé chose Po-
bdsi, one of his most trusted associates, to guide the group upriver, making
suretheyavoided the sacred battlegroundswhere, a centuryand ahalfbefore,
Saramakas had, with the help of their dbias, defeated the colonial armies.’
Far upstream, Asipéi told me, abug flew into the white man’s mouth, he took
ill, and he was forced to return to the chief’s village, leaving his mission un-
finished. “I told you so,” said Djankusd. “Now, get yourself back to the city!”

Years later the white man came back, saying he wanted to find a route
from the Gadnlio to the Corantijne River and put that on the whitefolks’ map
as well. Again, Djankusd selected Pobdsi as guide. Far upriver, as they trav-
eled west, the white man fell sick and died. Under the forest canopy, Pobosi
and his sisters’ sons gave him a decent burial, Asipéi told me—but then
they made off with all the expedition’s goods. When the gaamd heard that
the white man was dead, he dispatched a canoe to bring the news to the
city. And the city sent police to investigate. Pobdsi led them upstream to the
place where he’d buried the Dutchman, and the city men dug up the corpse,
placing it in a wooden coffin and then placing that one in a coffin made of
steel—a fact that singularly impressed the Saramakas—and transporting it
all the way to Paramaribo, where the autopsy cleared Pobési of foul play. In
anutshell, that is what Asipéi told me about the expedition designed to put
Saramaka territory on the map.

Along report, published in the Journal of the Royal Dutch Geological Society
in 1910, presents the whitefolks’ version and preserves a precious photo of
Pobési in his prime.?

The expedition report also attests to Pobdsi’s early interest in the trap-
pings of Christianity, though the explorers seem to have taken it simply at
face value. On November 2, 1908, when after some heavy going through the
forest the group was at last ready for the relatively easy return voyage down-
stream, the daily entry records the following:

Toward sunset, the workers came together and under the leadership of Bosk
[Pobési] held a prayer-meeting. The psalms rang out louder than usual. They
praised the Lord, who had supported them on the long journey through the
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“Eilerts de Haan and Dr. Tresling with their Guides.” Pobési is at the right.

forest and their safe return. . . . The rest of the evening was marked by high
spirits, and till midnight psalms and more worldly songs followed in quick
succession.’

Asipéi had told me that, sometime before that expedition, Pobdsi had
founded an idiosyncratic “church.” Though nonliterate, he would “read”
prayers from his open palms and lead his band of followers—mainly wives
and children—in singing “psalms.” Later, after the death of Eilerts de Haan,
Pobdsi was possessed by a god who said he was Mdsa Heépima (“Master
Helper”), a common Saramaka name for Jesus, but most Saramakas opined
that the possessing spirit was, rather, Eilerts de Haan, taking vengeance for
Pob6si’s having made off with his goods. Asipéi also told me—and this was
Pobdsi’s main fame for him—that he was the greatest ¢bia-man of his day, the
master of gods of land and sea, an unrivaled diviner, and Gaamd Djankusd’s
favored ritual advisor. In matters spiritual, this man of many gods was sim-
ply the most powerful Saramaka of the early twentieth century.

Which is where Tooy, who models himself closely on his namesake,

comes in.
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“Pobdsi,” Tooy often says in admiration, “had six wives and six dogs [for
hunting]. ... And thirteen ‘things’ in his head.”

Those “things,” as Tooy has described them to me, include, among other
gods and dbias, a Witawend called Ménde, the giant anaconda who owns
the river beginning at “Stone House”—a rock formation that he himself is
said to have made, not far downstream from Eilert de Haan’s grave, where
great flat stones block the Gadnlio for 50 meters and the water whooshes
underground—all the way downstream to the fort in faraway Paramaribo.
Ménde is among the oldest of avenging spirits in the Lingu clan, having been
inadvertentlykilled during one of the primal acts of Lingu history, when their
ancestor Kadsipimbu “purified” the river, making it possible for Saramakas
to settle along it.* Once, Tooy told me a deeper, Langu-clan version of the in-
cident: when water lilies (tokddgbagba) choked the river, making it unusable,
it was actually Kadsi’s brother Addnibésu who did the work, using his basket
called apatabiii with magical fish drugs inside. He said some words which
no one knows anymore, and he sang a song. And then “the fish were drunk
in the swamps, the fish were drunk in the river!” (Tooy adds that Saramakas
hid Addnibdésu’s name from whitefolks and rarely pronounce it still, which
is why people talk only of Kadsi—"“You have to dig deep before you hear that
name!”) “And this,” continues Tooy, “is the song that Ménde sang to tell his
children to come and snuggle under him that day, to warn them that danger
was on the way” [he sings]: Kwalo, nundeoné. K¢ kolondeoné, némo . . . “The
Ldngu clan,” adds Tooy, “are the masters of Wdtawenu gods, ever since they
troubled Ménde.” Ménde was the first of Pobdsi’s possession gods.

Another was an unusually strong Komanti called Sdka-Amdfu (a.k.a.
Ando), who, when he came into Pobdsi’s head, would boast that he was
“Kantidnkdma-u-Stduantji [‘giant tree’ from Stduantji],” adding that
“when tjembé-uwii [a fast-growing medicinal plant]| grows, I grow, too, and
when women have their menses, I have mine, too!” Sdka-Amdfu had quitea
pedigree. He had arrived in Saramaka, summoned by a wooden horn shortly
before the end of the wars with the whites, which he helped the Saramakas
win, and soon became one of Antamd’s favorite dbias.’ (Because he never ac-
tually went into battle, he is served with the red juice of the annatto plant
rather than with blood.) When Ma Kiinza, Antamd’s daughter, had her first
menses, Antamd ritually prepared her so she would never menstruate again
(Komantis still call her Woman-Like-a-Man), and he gave her Tatd Wif’s war
dbia, which is still in Tooy’s natal village today. But he also made sure she
would be possessed by various of his ébias, including Sdka-Amadfu. After her
death, Ma Kiinza became the namesake of Agwadd, a blind Toné child who
was eventually possessed by Kiinza’s Toné-god as well as by Sdka-Amdfu. It’s
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no wonder that when Agwadd died, Sdka-Amdfu possessed his son, Pobési,
whose namesake was none other than Ma Kiinza herself.

Tooy likes to tell me, with scant exaggeration, that every person really
has two namesakes—his own namesake and his namesake’s namesake. (And
I've heard him pray at the ancestor shrine, addressing “my namesake Pob6si,
my namesake Kiinza.”) In his own case, this reasoning strongly reinforces
his blood relations to Antamd: Tooy’s namesake, Pobdsi, had in his head
Antamd’s Komanti, Sdka-Amadfu, passed down via Antamd’s daughter, Ki-
inza, who was Pobdsi’s own namesake. Tooy’s relationship to Pob6si’s gods
could hardly be more intimate. “It’s only thanks to Ofilibani [a.k.a. Flibdnti,
Sensild’s ¢bia] that I can have women at all,” Tooy tells me one day. “He freed
me from that part of Sdka-Amdfu that ‘can’t see women.” If not for him, I'd
have to be a bachelor!”

Sdka-Amadfu, Tooy says, didn’t call out “Hoéi, héi, héi” like other Kom-
antis. Instead, he went “mumumumumu” (moving his lips up and down).
Once, in Béndékdnde, they wanted to test that he was for real, so they took
a chicken’s egg and colored one end black with soot and the other red with
annatto—it was white, black, and red. Then they gave him a small bottle of
rum and said three prayers to the Great God. He flung the egg through the
open doorway and it burned down the house it hit, the shrine to the great
avenging spirit of the village! He said, “Who’s playing with me here? What
child thinks he can test me? Where is that kid? Get outta here!” He strode
around, in and out of the ancestor shrine, breaking things all over the vil-
lage. He caused thousands of guilders of damage!

Komanti gods come in several varieties: Sdka-Amdfu was a Busiki, the
kind that travels by sea. This ¢bia was so powerful, says Tooy, that menstrual
pollution posed no hazards to him—a woman having her period could come
and sit down on his lap! Not that he liked women—he didn’t even like to
see them—and his strongest taboo was seeing a woman’s teeth (seeing her
laugh). Sdka-Amdfu worked with, among other ébias, one called Sokoti-
obia, which is grilled rather than prepared in a pot. Also known as “Dédé
bdsu fiitu” (the Bottom of Death’s foot), it functions much like Dinguldli-
Obia—a person you've killed can’t come back to get you. Pobdsi was past
master.

Pobdsi was also the very first person on the river to get a Wénti-god—a
sea god—in his head. As we have seen, sea gods were not discovered until
the end of the nineteenth century, by Saramaka men working on the coast.
But soon after their first appearance there, Pobdsi got one of his own, the
first to possess someone upriver—a Wénti known as Tatd Yembudmba or
Bdsi Sikeneyi or simply The Big Man of Oldni, after the great underwater
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city in which he lived. Once, Tooy told me, Yembudmba took Sensil’s dbia
Flibdnti for a visit to this magical place, and later Flibdnti told him about
it—how, for example, if you don’t know the password they won't even let
you step ashore! (Tooy confided that to enter the realm, what you need to say
is [nasalized] “Sendo, sendd” plus the name of the Wénti-god you're coming to
see.) Flibdnti also told Tooy about a special pool they have down there called
“kibdmba-wdta” (whitefolks’ water). If you’re a man of sixty and they throw
you in, you emerge a youth of seventeen. Another time in Cayenne, Flibdnti
himself told me, almost dreamily, that “Tatd Yembudmba is the whitest of
white. He walks on the earth till he’s finished and then he travels undersea.”
His brothers and sisters in Oléni include Todjé, the tutelary spirit of the
late Gaamd Agbagd, and three beautiful sea-god sisters with musical names:
Yowentina, Korantina, and Amentina. Tooy’s relations with sea gods are
multiplex: Yowentina is married to Flibdnti, the god in Sensild’s head, and
Tooy’s Ndyuka wife, Ma Yaai, is the master of a particularly powerful Wénti
named Bdsi Yontini, who is their son.

Pobdsi later got a sweet-water Wénti, an anaconda god named Sobéna,
who was one of Yembudmba’s wives. Yembudmba brought her to Pobdsi.
“Could she dance and sing!” exclaims Tooy. The way they found out she was
a sweet-water Wénti was by giving her some seawater to drink. When she
vomited, they knew she wasn’t from Yembudmba’s country.

Once, Tooy told me, there was a big underwater “play” where many ana-
conda gods gathered. Sobéna saw one she fancied, Kituwdtaménu, and in-
troduced him to Yembudmba, who in turn brought him to Pobési and put
him in his head. Long after Pobdsi’s death, Tooy tells me, they continued to
play for that god; in fact he himself has played the agidd (the large snake-
god drum) for him. But if Yembudmba arrives at the “play,” Kituwdtaménu
(also called BaakadmiGto or Tjakitjaibénu)immediately leaves and the dance
ends. He’s uncomfortable even seeing Yembudmba—understandably, since
he slept with the latter’s wife. (In similar fashion, Yembudmba didn’t like to
share the stage with Sdka-Amdfu. If Sdka-Amdfu came into Pobési’s head
when Yembudmba was present, he’d summarily throw him out.)

By dint of his father having been a blind Toné child (and having Ma
Kiinza’s Toné in his head), and also via his namesake Ma Kiinza (the daughter
of Antamd) herself, Pob6si was intimately familiar with the rites and leaves
and songs for these river gods, originally the domain of Antamd’s father,
Gweytnga of Dahomey. Pobdsi is said to have had a Toné god in his head,
butIdon’t know its name.

Another of Pobdsi’s gods was the bird god Alémitjé (sometimes Alem-
ité), known for his playfulness, who took the form of a macaw. No one ever
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figured out exactly what kind of god he was, but he brought Pobdsi another
god who he said was his own son named Zaind. Both these gods “could
speak to the forest and the water.” Alémitjé was a real man, Tooy told me.
Once Pobosi went to the lower river for a big “play.” Now, there’s a very pow-
erful god in Makambikiiki whom Aptikus call Bedékimana (because he had
powers as strong as the old man in Aptku country who has that name) and
Komantis call Osdaboni. He was in the head of a man named Dani. Alémitjé
was going to meet with this god at the “play”—but it rained a whole day and
awhole night, so they decided to postpone it. Good thing, too, says Tooy, or
the whole world would have shaken—those gods!

Pobdsi had another mysterious god called Atadba. An Addtu—a toad
spirit who accompanies strong Komantis and serves as a kind of bodyguard
or watchman—it was so nasty that people tried several times to ritually
separate it from Pobosi. The final attempt ended with their deciding to sim-
ply leave the god be, after it came into Pobdsi’s head and sang out: Néne néne
néne néne néne kélewa-e. Kélewa-e. Néne néne néne néne kélewa-e. Akélewa-e-o.
Akélewa-o. Sdbi dé a Ndna-e-o. No one ever figured out exactly what it was—a
Komanti, an Apuku, or what, but from its speech and movements, it seemed
most likely to be a particularly rough Addtu.

Pobdsi also served as the medium for the great avenging spirit of his fa-
ther’s matrilineage, a ghost-spirit called Sibén, who is the reason the great
village of Béndiwdta has become so depopulated. Tooy told me that, when
he was alive, Sibén’s sister had accused him of witchcraft. They summoned
him to the council house of Béndiwdta, where the whole village awaited.
They offered him a stool and told the sister to speak her accusations. They
asked his response, and he said he knew nothing about it. The sister had pre-
pared a piece of firewood, a rice-pounding pestle, and an axe and secreted
them by the side of the council house. When he arose, she knocked him with
the piece of wood, then with the pestle, and finally split his spine with the
axe—right in front of everyone. He tried to run but collapsed in the brush
by the village, where they left him till the following morning. He became a
really strong avenging spirit! Whenever he came into Poboési’s head, they’d
pay him three striped cloths, three white cloths, and 3 liters of rum. Tooy
has seen Sibén in the head of Pobdsi’s successor. One day, after telling me the
drum name of Padnza, the founding mother of his father’s clan—“you play
Avo Kéteke imisi a gdngdn, mist gangdn hampé,” Tooy said—he asked me, “Do
you know who taught me that? It was Sibén!”

Pobosi also had the god he called variously Mdsa Heépima, or Mdsa Libi-
man, or Jesus, or Jesus-Maria, who many of his contemporaries thought was
the spirit of the white man he had led to his death on the Upper River. As
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Pobdsi grew older, this god exerted ever-greater weight on his life, persuad-
ing him to renounce much of his traditional beliefs and practices shortly
before his death in 1931.° Tooy told me that when they raised Pobdsi’s corpse
in divination, it revealed that what had killed him was Mdsa Heépima.

By 1920, Pobdsi was master of numerous gods and spirits, including Mdsa
Heépima, and had a flourishing dbia practice. But he still sought to add a
more official Christian arrow to his bulging spiritual quiver.

In 1921, he showed up in the downriver Saramaka village of Ganzee,
which belonged to the Moravian Church. An excited German missionary
recounted that

Pobosie was a famed magician among the Saramakas. He described how in
the wake of a dream, he had lost trust in his gods, taken his followers to an
abandoned village, built a wooden house, set up a table and benches, and gath-
ered his people to pray to the true God. But he knew he was feeling his way
in the dark. So he went to Paramaribo and visited various churches. The Ro-
man Catholics’ service impressed him the most, and he decided to call his god
Jesus-Maria. He told all this to the missionaries in Ganzee and asked them to
visit his village and instruct him.”

And the nextyear they did. After three days of hard canoeing upstream from
the gaamd’s village, Moravian M. Schelts arrived in Bakrakondre (also called
Lantiwéi), Pobosi’s domain far up the Gadnlio. Pobdsi told Schelts he’d been
praying to this new God “for the past four years” and had made several over-
tures to whitefolks in the city, but that given their apparent lack of interest,
he’d concluded that they didn’t really want him to pray to their God—the
missionary wrote that “this last statement felt like a sword plunged into my
heart.” Pobési also confided that his people were leaning more toward the
Catholics, because they’d been told that Moravians had days on which they
wouldn’t be able to eat meat. The missionary was quick to assure him that,
quite to the contrary, it was the Catholics who maintained meatless days.
“If that is true,” Pobdsi is said to have told him, “we’ll gladly follow the
Moravians.” The missionary wrote that the village had eight adult men and
numerous children. Some men, he noted, had more than two wives. “And
Pobosi has five.” He concluded, “The Lord has left the door wide open for
our mission-work,” but problems remain: “We shouldn’t assume that they
have told us about all their Heathen things and there will surely be other
ones to extirpate.” Moreover, “While we must thank the Lord for Pobosi,
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the man has had to swallow a very hard stone—when he was a Heathen, he
was feared and respected, but now he is scorned and ridiculed.”® Or so the
missionary imagined.

Meanwhile, Pobési continued his role as guru to a growing band of fol-
lowers, a man of many gods (and many wives), following Jesus-Maria on
some days, and his Komantis and anaconda gods on others. He remained
a staunch advisor of Gaamd Djankusd, for whom he divined on numerous
occasions during the period. But he was still seeking stronger whitefolks’
support for his homegrown church and felt he wasn’t getting it from the
Moravians.

One fine Paramaribo morning in March 1925, Father Franciscus Morssink,
celebrating his twentieth year as a Catholic priest in Suriname, came upon
“a very strange-looking troop of Bush Negroes” milling about near the
door to the cathedral—seven men and three youths who made up a delega-
tion sent “by Papa Boboshi to the whitefolks of the Catholic Church” and
handed him a letter written by a confrere upriver.” The group was shunted
from one Church office to another, and Morssink crossed them several
times in the course of the day as they wandered the city “like ships without
a rudder,” until finally, with the bishop’s permission, he took them under
his wing. “Each day,” he wrote, “they come mornings and afternoons to
learn the catechism. But for men who've never once in their lives sat on a
school bench, itis a quite a chore.” By the time the delegation set off upriver,
Morssink had developed a plan for a new mission field on the Gadnlio, ten
days upstream from the railhead at Kabel, where he would fulfill Pobosi’s
dream: a church and school for his followers. Within months, the bishop-
ric had dispatched a local schoolteacher-catechist, Marius Spanning, to
Lantiwéi.

Two years later, Morssink made the upriver voyage from the railhead at
Kabel for his first visit to Pobdsi’s village, where he found most of the sev-
enty inhabitants gathered with the catechist to greet him by the shore. In
front of Pob6si’s house, he saw the “nineteen-foot-tall idolatry-pole”—the
shrine where he made offerings to his gods and ancestors. Atits summit was
“aplatform, a sort of table, decked out with bottles, bowls filled with kaolin,
boxes filled with coins, etc. etc.” As well as an aged bottle of beer that some-
one clambered up to retrieve to serve him with his midday meal.

Morssink hatched a scheme. After the weekly Sunday “procession”
through the village, led by drummers and dancing people, with children
dancing round Pobdsi’s pole, Morssink threw them candies, after which
they all dove into the river to refresh. “I explained to them,” Morssink wrote,
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Pobosi’s “idolatry-pole” and house, before Father Morssink’s transformation, 1926. To enter
the house, one had to pass between two Komanti(?) figures, a feature I have never heard of
except in this case. Two jaguar skins—also associated with Komanti—are attached to the
house front. Used by permission of Moravian Archives, Herrnhut, Germany (LBS 05302).

“that I would transform their ‘idolatry-pole,” which had up till then served
the devil, into an object that would serve our Lord.” And he asked them to
bring him a sturdy ten-foot-long beam by the next morning. Although “the
pole had dried out over its twenty-year life and the people had no ladder,”
the intrepid missionary shimmied up and with the help of some young men
fixed in place “a gigantic and beautiful cross whose broad arms stretched
out over the still-heathen Bush Negro village.”

During the next few days, the villagers agreed to Morssink’s plan to de-
stroy most of their remaining six god houses, though they refused to throw
their contents in the river as he commanded—fearing pollution of down-
stream villages—and instead threw them into the bush. Including, it would
seem, a “realistic, 12-foot-long full-masted ship, that was placed there to
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await the coming of a particular ‘kromantjing’ god, who years before had in-
formed them that he would appear to them some day—whether he would
arrive by air or water they couldn’t say but they’d prepared the ship for his
coming.” This ship, in fact devoted to Pobdsi’s Wénti-god, Tatd Yembudmba,
was hauled out by many hands, along with the god’s “cbia rattles, pieces of
kaolin, iron armrings and other filth, to begin its long process of decom-
position in the forest.”* Morssink compensated the villagers by placing a
statue of the Sacred Heart, which he had brought from the city, above the
door of the little school-church. And he reported that women seemed eager
to take holy water from the font whenever they passed.

Tooy tells me that he himself once rode that ship. “There was no one left
in the village by then, but the ruins of the houses were still there. I was old
enough to go hunting by myself. I passed through the village and saw alarge
rotten trunk, which I stood on. I took four shots at a deer, but each time the
gun misfired. I ran after the animal and looked back. It was Yembudmba’s
ship I'd been standing on! Pobdsi’s son Légoféu used to tell me that when
they’d ‘wash dbia’ there, the great snake—Ménde—would slither in and curl
up to sleep right there in the leaf water.” Tooy also tells me that the name of
Yembudmba’s ship was Diti—when it was at sea it stretched to more than
100 meters long, but when it was in the river it shrank to only a couple of
meters.

At MorssinK’s insistence, the villagers did put two things into the river.
Tooy told me that they took the pot and the necklace of Yembudmba and
placed them at the water’s edge. On each of the next three days, those things
went downstream and then returned right back to the landing place—after
that, they never saw them again. “Tatd Yembudmba’s pot! Its name was
Yankindpu. If anyone else tried to lift it, he’d just fall over—only Pobési
could do it. And his dbia necklace called Antiafon. When you took it and
tied it on, the dog that had the nerve to run up to you and bark would fall
right over on the ground dead! Yembudmba, he was the Big Man from Oléni,
a true saltwater person!”

A year later, Morssink visited Pobdsi once again. Indeed, this time the
train he took from Paramaribo to the railhead also carried anthropologist
Melville Herskovits, who noted that his bush guide spent the whole trip in
“along and hot argument with [Morssink] about the iniquity of the Mora-
vians and their missions.”"* During this 1928 visit, Morssink conducted
forty-six Catholic baptisms, twenty-four first communions, and four mar-
riages—the first ever on the Upper River."

Tooy wasn’t surprised when I told him that the first man married by
Morssink—how could it be otherwise?—was his namesake, “the patriarch
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“Thomas Poboshi and Juliana Miki, my first married couple.” Pobési is at right.

Poboshi,” who, Morssink writes, insisted, with considerable mystery, on
donning one white sock and one black one for the wedding picture. (Tooy
really got a kick out of that one!) Albeit under pressure, Pobdsi had agreed
to choose one of his five wives to marry, though he assured Morssink he
would continue to look after the others.* Tooy’s eyes teared up when I told
him about Father Morssink’s second marriage and gave him the photo—his
father Méliki, his half-brother Otto, and his father’s wife, captured on film
several years before his own birth. When dealing with whitefolks, Tooy uses
as his given name “Alexander.”

Between 1928 and 1930, Morssink supervised the construction of a new
village downstream from Ldntiwéi, Ligélio, named after Saint Alfonso de
Ligorio, founder of the Redemptorist order. Pob6si moved his people there
shortly before his death. Half Christian and half heathen, the village dis-
solved some years later, as most of the children educated in the school
moved to Paramaribo.
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“The second married couple of the Lingu-clan: Pobosi’s son Alexander Merki, his wife

Cecilia Atjamau, and their child.”

History in Saramaka (as everywhere) is actively under construction. Events
in the Saramaka world may not be revealed for generations. Just as bursts
from exploding stars arrive in the nighttime sky light-years after the actual
event, news of everyday events in Saramaka often arrive only after several
generations have passed. Pobosi’s mother, Awdyo, was the vehicle for one
such revelation, regarding a domestic tragedy that had occurred some sev-
enty-five years earlier. When she became possessed by a water god that lived
at Kaakapusa Rapids in the Pikilio, it told how her mother’s mother had a
husband who spent his time working near the coast, and how that woman’s
sister had a husband who was a great hunter. Their matrilineage preferred
the hunter, and the other man was jealous. One day, the god revealed, the
jealous one invited his brother-in-law to go set fish traps. On the way, the
hunter said he’d forgotten his tobacco and asked to borrow the other manss.
As he bent over to snort it, his brother-in-law knocked him over the head
with a club and killed him. Then he tied him up, attached some stones, and
sank the body at Kaakaptsa Rapids. On hearing the god’s account, one old
man rejected it publicly; but the god sang to him persuasively, and eventu-
ally it was accepted by all. The rest was already known to the family: the
woman with the surviving man bore three stillbirths with him. Eventually
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she bore another child, Ménimdu, who was the mother of Pobdsi’s mother,
who had the god who told the story in her head. After Pob6si’s mother died,
the god possessed one of his sisters.

During 1929, Pobdsi spent a good deal of time with his friend Gaamd
Djankusé and seems to have been present during the Herskovitses’ brief
visit. Melville’s diary anxiously recounts, “After dinner we had another short
krutu—two men and a woman, certainly workers of magic—from Luango,
were presented, and probably tried stunts afterwards.” He and Frances ex-
pand the account in Rebel Destiny:

The older man had several broad stripes of white clay from wrist to shoulder
of his right arm, and from knee to pelvis on the inner left thigh. Slung from
one shoulder and reaching across to the opposite thigh was a white obia made
of native fiber, and on his neck were several others. To these obias were added
iron bands on his arms, while below his right knee and at the ankle of his right
foot were other obias made of fiber and twisted black thread. . . . Late that
afternoon the obia man who had appeared at the first council meeting with
wide stripes of clay came again, and his wife accompanied him. They were the
best diviners on the river."*

Forty years later, I caught a glimpse of Baala, Pobdsi’s sister’s son, who in-
herited most of his dbias and lived as a hermit near the abandoned village of
Ligdlio. My field notes record that he was “hung all over with ébias, smeared
with broad bands of kaolin, the most ritually prepared man I've ever seen.”
Tooy tells me that when he reached the age of manhood, it was Baala who
bestowed on him his ceremonial loincloth in the family’s ancestor shrine.
And notlong afterward, it was Baala who taught him how to use the esoteric
paiyd-paiyd-cbia fan—the two-sided, hinged divination affair that he had
shown me in Martinique—for hunting.

Tooy once described to me the death of Pobési. His son Légoféu and sis-
ter’s son Baala were by his hammock in the evening. They called on his gods
three times. The first summons brought Alemité, who said, “Man, what do
you want of me?” but they said it wasn’t him they needed. He said, “Man,
don’t fool with me like that!” and left. They called again, and Yembudmba
came. Yembudmba asked him, “Man, what do you want of me?” They said,
it wasn’t him they needed. He said, “Man, don’t fool with me like that!” and
left. They called a third time, and Sdka-Amdfu came. He said, “Man, what
do you want of me?” They said, it wasn’t him they needed. They needed
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someone else. He said, “Man, don’t fool with me like that!” and left. So they
called once again, and “The Mother herself came”—the Béndiwdta Mamad.
She came into his head with great violence. She told him, “You're as good
as dead already,” and started to divide up his possessions until by morning
he was stone dead. “That man,” concluded Tooy, “was really something! He
knew forest leaves better than anyone in the world, and then he left them
behind to found a church!”

Another time, Tooy told me that when they went to bury Pobdsi, he kept
knocking on the coffin. Yembudmba tried to take him off to Wénti land, but
the Béndiwdta Mother stopped him. Sdka-Amadfu tried to take him off to the
forest to become a jaguar, but the Béndiwdta Mother stopped him. Alémit;jé
tried to take him off to become a world-traveler, flying wherever he wished,
but the Béndiwdta Mother stopped him. She said, “Let him go to the land of
the dead like the other ones.”

The day before his open-heart surgery in Martinique, Tooy offered me a
fragment about the aftermath of Pob6si’s death. His god, Sdka-Amadfu, flew
off, intending to get to Africa, but first touching down at Sotigbo on the
upper Gadnlio, then at Nand (near Gadn Kiiki), then at Gadn Paati (near the
Kabel railhead), and finally at the great savannah near Moiwana on the coast.
There, in the midst of a raging rainstorm, he saw a Ndyuka named Wensi
whom he decided to kill, but the gods-who-had-the-place persuaded him
to possess Wensi instead. Tooy once saw Sdka-Amdfu in the head of Wensi’s
Ndyuka successor, going into the polluted menstrual hut and carrying out
bloody rags, which he’d throw on the fire when he wanted to stop other Ko-
mantis from dancing—as when he was with Pob6si, Sdka-Amadfu, who was
once in the head of Antamd’s daughter, remained immune to women’s pol-
lution. The Saramaka god had crossed over to the Ndyukas and, for some
years, created quite a stir among that nation.*

Tooy’s namesake lived life to the hilt. A “many-wife-man” with “thir-
teen” gods in his head, a famed hunter and dbia-man who lived surrounded
by admirers and clients whom he often led into uncharted waters, Pobdsi
was forever fascinated by whitefolks’ powers, from reading to surveying in-
struments to Christian prayer. Like Saramaka culture more broadly, Pobdsi
strongly embraced additivity, constantly integrating novelties into his ever-
expanding spiritual repertoire. Morssink, perhaps for reasons of his own,
didn’t mention it, but the “idolatry-pole” in front of Pobdsi’s house, which
the priest so proudly transformed into a cross, was already topped by a tiny
cross, set into an object that looks very much like the chandeliers in Para-
maribo churches. Check out the 1926 photo. Pob6si never missed a beat.
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One of Tooy’s younger friends, Ben, who'd recently traveled to Paramaribo,
brought Tooy a stern message from his relatives. Divination keeps telling
them that the Frenchwoman spirit is behind all his troubles—his getting
cut up by the masked assailants, his going to jail. It’s imperative that he get
himself over to Paranam (Alcoa’s company town, not far from Paramaribo),
where the avenging spirit is in the head of one of his granddaughters, and
make things right again—or else.

When a Saramaka commits a crime against a person, it’s usual for the
victim, after death, to haunt the perpetrator’s matrilineage forever in the
form of a kiinu, an avenging spirit. Every Saramaka is subject to a number of
such spirits from the past, and divination in the case of illness or misfortune
often instructs a person to enter into contact with one of them and make
offerings to soothe its anger. It has been some time now that Tooy’s matri-
lineage has been “finding” that Frenchwoman is at the root of his problems
and that he is being more than negligent in ignoring her.

Frenchwoman has been troubling Tooy’s people for only a few decades.
But her story weaves backward and forward through the last two centuries
of Saramaka history.

Let’s begin smack in the middle, with a man called Sansimé, an ancestor
of Tooy’s who was quite a character. In 1968, my friend Asipéi described see-
ing him decades before in Mana, possessed by Maviingu, the quintessential
Saramaka forest spirit. Sansimé, Asipéi told me, had feet that were curled
under and pointed backward. One time, a great dbia-man, Ddomi of Kapa-
siké, came upon him walking on all fours, as he habitually did in his youth,
and ordered him to stand up. Sansimé did—and he never walked on all fours
again. Asipéi saw Maviingu speak through him many times at Mana. He'd
say, “Everyone should go hunting on such and such a day next to the river
at such and such a place,” and five men would, and they’d kill a tapir imme-
diately. Whitefolks gave Sansimé gifts whenever he passed—whole crates
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of Marseille soap! “He was a great singer and he finished off those Ndyuka
women,” Asipéi continued. “They couldn’t get enough of him!” Once, the
Ndyuka men who lived at Mana decided to beat him up for having slept with
their wives, but he stood up and sang a song—"“Sansimé’s back doesn’t mind
being beaten . . . "—that was so sweet they let him go. When Sansimé died,
Asipéi said, they buried only his clothes—his body had already gone back
to the land of forest spirits.

Frenchwoman is closely linked to Sansimé—indeed, she died in his
village—ultimately because of his charms. But before we go there, let’s
learn more about Maviingu, since it provides the key link between Tooy,
Sansimé, and Frenchwoman herself.

Any Saramaka can tell you that Maviingu is the gadn-dbia of the Démbi
clan, and that its special gift is to be able to locate people who've lost their
way in the forest, as well as to cleanse the forest when a death has sullied it
(whether from a hunting or agricultural accident or a murder or suicide).
One of its distinctive features is the use of a sakiisu, a bellows that serves to
disperse the medicinal smoke it uses in its cleansing ceremonies. Another
is that it plants a tiny silkcotton tree at the spot where the dbia ceremony
has been performed—Saramaka territory is dotted with the distinctive trees
that were planted during a Maviingu ceremony at some time in the past,
each commemorating a particular unfortunate event. All this Ilearned early
in our stay with Saramakas in the 1960s—it was public knowledge.

In 1975, the great historian Tebini told me, “Maltindu made Maviingu”—
aformulaIheard several times after that as well. A woman named Efaddmba
of the Paptitu clan, he explained, had been lost in the forest but emerged
days later with a pot on her head containing Malindu. The Démbis were
called in to help domesticate the forest spirit who had possessed Efaddmba.
That spirit told them much about the place in the forest she came from and
made a second pot for them—this was Maviingu. The Paptitus kept Maltindu
and the Démbis went off with Maviingu, after agreeing to pay the Paptitus
a large sum for it: a demijohn of rum, a homemade cotton hammock, and
“something else.” (Asis standard whenever an important 6bia is bought, the
payment was only partly transferred at the time of sale. In this case, there
remains the cotton hammock and “the other thing”—whose identity is
either secret or forgotten—still to pay.) Maviingu, Tebini insisted, is not
as strong as Malindu, but nobody knows Maliindu anymore. Its shrine in
the Papiitu village of Gédo lies in ruins—the old men who were its priests
didn’t pass on their knowledge. Meanwhile, the Démbis claim that they are
the ones who really found Mavingu—but if that were true, asks Tebini, why
do they still have those debts to pay off to the Paptitus?
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Around the time I was speaking with Tebini about such matters,
Otjutju (who became gaamd of all Saramakas in 2005) told me, similarly,
that Malindu was the very first Aptiku to possess a member of the Paptitu
clan and that the Démbis came and got Maviingu from this Paptitu spirit.
Efaddmba, he said, had been lost in the forest; when she emerged, Malindu
possessed her and told them of her stay in the village of the forest spirits. It
was Malindu, he said, who made Mavingu for the Démbis—and they still
haven't finished paying.

Tooy’s rather different version—more nuanced, more detailed, and in-
volving his own Langu kinsmen, including Sansimé—was told to me in
fragments on different occasions. It’s really two related events, he says. The
first involves a girl named Ydisa from the Langu-clan village of Kayana, who
wore the adolescent apron of an early teenager. She and two sisters went
off to the forest to drug a creek for fish. The Apiiku named Musdnse saw
her, took a liking, and threw her over his shoulders and carried her deep
into the forest. Her kinsmen had long since “smoked” the forest and given
up hope of ever finding her when, one day, Musdnse accompanied her, nine
months’ pregnant, as far as the edge of her village. He told her not to let any-
one wash her in even a single leaf—he’d already prepared her to give birth,
not wanting this to happen in the forest. Ten days later, she bore Atjua-
Gbéung, whose feet were curled under and pointed backward and who had
but three fingers on each hand and foot. The boy was good at everything,
except where his feet were concerned. He slept on the great stone in the river
just below the village of Kayana; he didn’t sleep onshore. Tooy says that one
of his Bundjitapd kinswomen took him as her husband, but soon found out
that he already had another wife—an anaconda. But she stayed with him,
though they never had children. And then one day, Atjia-Gbéung went
around saying his goodbyes to the whole village—people thought he was
going to his wife’s village for a visit—and he simply vanished. They never
found him to bury. Well, he was Mavingu! The whole thing all rolled into
one! The embodiment of Maviingu! And he’s the one who “made” Sansimé—
Atjia-Gbéung is Sansimé’s namesake! So, that’s how Maviingu came into my
matrilineage, says Tooy.

The second part of the story again involves Ma Yaisa. When she was older,
she took a husband at Papiitu, and they lived in a garden camp way up the
Gadnlio. They were on the way down to Paptitu one day—there’s a creek
mouth called Finu-sdndu, just above the village. She went there to get some
water, and that was the second time she got carried away. Maviingu took her
off into the forest, but this time she was a middle-aged woman. Her people
smoked the forest and did all sorts of rituals, but to no avail. And then, long
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afterward, some girls near the riverbank saw her emerging with one clay
pot on her head and another under her arm. One was Mavtingu, the other
Malindu. They told an old man who was weaving a basket nearby, but he
said, “Get out of here with that crazy talk.” They went and told others, who
found her, tied her up (because she was violent, in the early stages of posses-
sion), and brought her to the council house.

The Maviingu pot stayed at Papitu—until the Démbis came and bought
it. (They still haven’t finished paying, Tooy tells me—they owe a machete, a
hammock sheet, and a bottle of black gunpowder. Once that’s paid, he says,
the Papttus will pass along a share to Lingu, where the woman came from.)
There’s a tiny island in the river just below the confluence of the Gadnlio and
Pikilio. That’s where the Paptitus stored the pots while they investigated the
case. Today, no one ever goes ashore there.

But the Maltindu pot came back to Kayana. Neither of the gods had fully
possessed Yaisa at Paptitu, so it was decided to bring her back to her village.
As they were going up through Gadndan Falls, she began to menstruate.
They put the Malindu pot on a river stone, surrounded her with sangadfu
fronds, and brought her home. Kayana got the pot and the god. That’s how
Malindu came to Langu. That’s what my oldfolks told me, says Tooy.”

The Nasi clan tells yet a different story about the origins of Maviingu.’
They describe how when the two Nasi warrior-hero brothers, Kwaki Etja
and Kwadjani, each captured an Amerindian woman in the forest—we can
date this event to 1759'—one of the women was carrying Mavingu-ébia,
while the other carried another important ébia of the Nasis, Ania-6bia, in
a pot on her head. Not long after, according to these Nasi versions, the clan
agreed to sell Maviingu to the Démbi clan, which was having problems with
the fertility of its women and risking extinction. And as is customary, only
part of the payment, which consisted of “a demijohn of rum and a cotton
hammock and something else,” was transferred; the cotton hammock and
the other thing (whose exact identity no one seems to know anymore) s still
outstanding. And, according to these Nasf historians, it was only some time
after the sale of the dbia that a Démbi named Agba Nangba constructed the
first sakisu bellows for dispersing the smoke—that is, this was a late addi-
tion, not part of the original dbia.

Asahistoriographical aside—one with considerable theoretical import—it
isworth underlining that whether it was Ldngus, Nasis, Démbis, or Paptitus
who first found the Maviingu-ébia pot carried out of the forest by a woman,
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all Saramaka stories of the origin of this important ¢bia place it in the in-
terior of Suriname.® (Because of collateral information about where the
various clans were living at the time, I can confidently date the event itself
to the final years of the eighteenth century, several decades after the Peace
treaty.) This does not mean that the ideas or the specific rites relating to Ma-
vingu were not brought from Africa. Indeed, Papitus were a late-coming
clan who arrived shortly before the Peace, and some of the participants in
the finding of Maltindu and the making of Maviingu may well have been
African born. However, I would suggest that Saramakas’ insistence that
these dbias are of local, not African, origin is part of a broader and signifi-
cant discourse shared by Saramakas. Their ancestors chose to systematically
downplay African identities and origins in favor of New World ones as part
of their nation-building project.

Discourse grows out of social circumstances, social relations, and insti-
tutions. If, for example, Brazilian Candomblé stresses fidelity to “African”
ways, it is in part to create an “alternative space of blackness” in which
subjugated people can cultivate a sense of individual and collective iden-
tity, what Rachel E. Harding calls “a refuge in thunder.”° But for early Sara-
makas, it was collective identities as members of rival groups that were in
question, as bands of slaves from various plantations escaped and formed
the kernels of new social groupings, which would become, through time,
matrilineal clans. Saramaka discourse, then as now, stressed group solidar-
ity, and that meant the downplaying or soft-pedaling of diverse African ori-
gins in favor of those things that the members of each particular group had
in common—collective property, practices, and knowledge. So, the “dis-
covery” of an dbia in the forest by the members of a clan (Ldngu, Papitu,
Démbi, or Nasi) served to bind it together and distinguish it from other
clans. The discourse of Saramakas regarding, on the one hand, African and,
on the other, New World identities—in the form of origins, magical powers,
and much else, then as much as now—was part and parcel of a rapid process
of creolization, of the formation and maintenance of an ordered social life
and a meaningful identity in the here and now. End of sermon, back to how
“the Frenchwoman” became an avenging spirit.

Tooy told me that while the talented but handicapped Sansimé (who was
Tooy’s mother’s mother’s brother), the very incarnation of Mavingu, was
living in the French Guiana town of Mana in the 1920s, a man from Ddngogé
approached him, seeking help for his Creole wife, who was being troubled
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by a forest spirit. (The woman’s name was Equinet, but Saramakas called her
Akdkibuka.) Some time after Maviingu, via Sansimé, succeeded in domesti-
cating this spirit, the husband returned to Suriname.’ Years passed and the
woman, pining for her husband, finally bought a large canoe. Along with a
group of homebound Saramaka men, she journeyed to Suriname. On their
way upriver, the group stopped at Kadju, Sansimé’s village. They greeted
each other and talked about old times. Then the woman asked Sansimé
to “wash” the god he’d domesticated in her, and one thing led to another.
Soon she was living with him and had forgotten about her husband way
upstream in Ddngogd. After Sansimé’s death at a ripe old age, she remar-
ried in his village and remained there until she, too, finally died. At which
point there was a problem: although she spoke excellent Saramaccan, lived
justlike a Saramaka, and—according to some people I've spoken with—had
even cut decorative scarifications, she was still a “Frenchwoman” who had
been baptized in the Roman Catholic Church. How could she be buried in a
Saramaka cemetery? (This is a perennial problem for Saramakas. Captain
Kala of Ddngogd often asked rhetorically, as he prayed at the ancestor shrine
for Sally’s and my continued health in the 1960s, “If they died, how would I
know how to bury them?”) So, on the urging of a couple of elders, Abegdo
and Buitatd, they wrapped her body and laid it to rest in the riverbank, to be
carried away by the waters. Which is why she became an avenging spirit for
Sansimé’s (and Tooy’s) matrilineage. After all, sighs Tooy, when Saramakas
die in French Guiana, they get buried like everyone else in the municipal
cemetery.

In Tooy’s house in Cayenne, inside his Diinguldli chamber hangs a carry-
oracle (sddi-gddu) called Luégan or Luégan Ndjwézan, an anaconda god
discovered on the Approuague River shortly before Tooy’s birth. It was this
god that Tooy raised and questioned before his court appearance, to decide
whether he should flee to Suriname or stay and stand trial. He cherishes its
opinions. The man who discovered it was Sansimé.

Given these connections, if Tooy had asked my opinion back in 2001,
when the storm clouds were gathering, I'd certainly have suggested that
he get himself over to Paranam, where Frenchwoman speaks through her
medium, and do whatever he must to settle his scores with her and get on
with his life. But Tooy’s never been one to pay much attention to what other
people think he should do.
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From the perspective of the Saramaka village of Ddngogd where we lived in
the 1960s, Tampdki seemed a mythical place. One of the wives of our friend
Headcaptain Faansisonu was named Tampdki. We knew that Wénti gods
and Dﬁnguléli—ébia, as well as Mamd-Gddu, a carry-oracle we often con-
sulted, and palipu palms with the fruits we’d grown to love, had all been
brought back to Ddngogé a half century earlier from that far-away village
on the French Guiana-Brazil border. And older men we knew waxed lyrical
about the beauties of Tampdki women—they would tell how young women
would compete to be the companions of any Saramaka man with gold in his
pockets. A number of men from Ddngogé had in fact gone off to Tampdki
decades before and never returned.’

It wasn’t till shortly after New Year’s 2001 that we were able to visit, taking
the biweekly Air Guyane flight from Cayenne to Saint-Georges-de-'Oyapock,
since the road under construction still wasn’t passable. The region had long
been a backwater—it was only in 1968 that Saint-Georges, the only town,
got its first car (a Jeep for the gendarmerie). Now we found a number of
paved streets; hundreds of houses; scores of cars; a few stores that stocked
guns, outdoor equipment, groceries and clothes; a couple of small hotels;
a church; and the other trappings of a remote French commune. And an
active landing place where motorized canoes came and went to the Brazil-
ian town of Oiapoque (in Creole, Matinik [“Martinique”]) across the broad
river.

We soon recognized an old man as being Saramaka (by the way he walked
and other intangibles), and he led us to Léon, a pillar of Saint-Georges, who
greeted us in Saramaccan. Léon’s father, to whom he’d been close, was a
Saramaka from Tampdki, his mother the daughter of St. Lucian immigrants
(gold miners)—they’d met when his father was called in to use a special
Saramaka dbia to save the life of his mother who'd been bitten by a venom-
ous snake. Léon himself had never been to school but had learned to read,
write, and do sums working as a boy in a local Chinese store and had taught
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Mamd-Gddu, Ddngogé, 1968.

himself electricity by correspondence course (with an outfit all the way in
France). He now directs the local branch of Electricité de France, running
the computer-driven hydroelectric generating station a few kilometers up-
stream from town and owning a sizeable house, with his Creole wife Julie
and various children, as well as numerous other properties around town. We
were their guests for our stay, and Léon took us around to talk with the only
three Saramakas who still live in the place.

We first visited Anatdl, in his late seventies, who hadn’t returned to
Saramaka since he arrived in Saint-Georges as a teenager. He lives in an old
wooden house from which he sells homemade Popsicles—he told us he has
eleven children in the region. Next, to the substantial home of Roger Joly,
who came as teenager in 1951 and has never returned. He too has eleven kids
here and quite a reputation as a curer, not only among Saramakas but among
Creoles, Amerindians, Brazilians, and other residents as well. (Tooy has told
me he has three gods in his head: a Wénti named Zdiwa, a Komanti, and an
Addtu.) His Creole wife gets along in Saramaccan, switching easily with visi-
tors between French, Creole, and her husband’s tongue. And finally, there’s
Sité, the old man we’d first seen, who is Léon’s father’s brother. He has been
in Guyane since 1939, with one brief trip back in the 1960s, when he claims
that he saw us in Ddngogd while visiting for an ¢bia. He had raised Léon after
his brother died, and now Léon has set aside a room in his house for him.
Sité proudly showed us a photo album of women—his “wives,” he boasts—
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Amerindians, East Indians, Chinese, Alukus, Creoles, but not a single Sara-
maka. (There was, however, a comely, married Frenchwoman.) With French
papers, Sité receives an old-age pension worth some $700 a month. And he
pays to have his clothes ironed—even his underwear.

Léon, in his late fifties, lives life to the full. Besides running the region’s
power station, he hunts, cooks, and maintains a large garden outside of
town, which he pays young Brazilians to keep weeded. Two years earlier,
when he and Julie (who is an assistant in the local preschool) officially mar-
ried, they celebrated by taking a Carnival Cruise Line honeymoon through
the Caribbean—they proudly showed us the snapshots. But this is Saint-
Georges: Léon, who loves to tool around in his shiny SUV, doesn’t have a
driver’s license—nor would anyone think to ask him for one.

It was at the cusp of the twentieth century that Saint-Georges became a
magnet for Saramaka canoemen. The boom began when the Carsewene
gold fields, where thousands of men had been prospecting, were officially
declared Brazilian, and many of these adventurers returned to explore the
Oyapock basin from the town of Saint-Georges. Saramakas, who had already
monopolized transport on most of the rivers of the colony, quickly made
that river their own as well.

Saramaka canoemen in Guyane, early twentieth century.
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The Franco-Brazilian “contested region,” today part of the Brazilian state
of Amapd, had long been an ambiguous borderland, filled with marginal
peoples and rocambolesque events. In 1841, Brazil and France had signed
an agreement to allow settlement of the area between the Araguari and the
Oyapock, with neither nation having jurisdiction. In 1884, in a moment of
revolutionary farce, a young lycée teacher from Cayenne (Henri Coudreau),
a Paris-based novelist (Jules Gros), and the colonial authorities in Cayenne
proclaimed “The Republic of Cunani,” with a territory that stretched from
the Araguari to the Oyapock, and its capital in Cunani, a town that “had
at the time 600 residents—basically, escaped slaves, criminals, and desert-

»2

ers.”” And in 1895, an expedition from Cayenne invaded Amapd, with a
number of soldiers killed, causing international tensions that led to the final
adjudication by the Swiss government, appointed to resolve the dispute, in
Brazil’s favor in 1900.°

The 1890s gold rush in Carsewene had involved an unusually large num-
ber of miners. One author claims that twenty thousand men streamed into
the region in the wake of the discovery of gold in 1894." The next year, a Bra-

zilian expedition to the Carsewene reported:

The Creoles of Cayenne, Martinique, and Guadeloupe number in the thou-
sands; all commerce is in their hands and only gold and silver are accepted—
never Brazilian money. Besides these French, there are English, Americans,
Chinese, and Suriname Dutch, and each nation lives apart. Commerce is on
a grand scale with everything arriving from Cayenne on the steamships that
dock once or twice a month, bringing new adventurers from various nations
in astounding numbers. . . . Everyone agrees that insecurity is endemic. In the
mining district, it’s a rare night that doesn’t see two, three, or four murders
among the miners, particularly by the Creoles of Cayenne, Martinique, and
Guadeloupe, who then escape downriver. . . . All gold goes to Cayenne.’

But the great majority of this rough crowd left precipitously in 1900, when
the area was declared Brazilian, moving into the Oyapock and Approuague
basins in French territory, where there was plenty of gold to dream about. In
a stultifying chronological list of the major events in the history of French
Guiana—for instance, “1897, 14 July: Inauguration on the Place Victor Hugo
of a Monument raised to the memory of Victor Schoelcher”—we come to
“1901, April: Léon, known as ‘the baker,” renowned throughout Cayenne for
his petits patés, with a companion, discovers gold on the Inini Creek [on the
Approuague]. Three months later, they return to Cayenne, each possessing
42 kilos of gold.” ¢
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“Ladies of the Placers.”

In the wake of this reflux from the Carsewene, Saramakas built their village
of Tampdki, a few kilometers downstream from Saint-Georges. Of all the
towns in Guyane, it was Saint-Georges that developed a reputation as the
place where women were most available to Saramakas as wives, and soon
Tampdki was a thriving settlement of three hundred (some sources say four
hundred) residents: Saramaka men, their Creole wives, and their children.

By 1910, Tampdki was said to have the largest ancestor shrine of any Sara-
maka village in the world. One document attests that between 1901 and 1934,
470 children were born there to Saramaka fathers and registered at the mai-
rie of Saint-Georges.” And a Saramaka resident told me that when he first ar-
rived in 1939, there were still a good three hundred people living in Tampdki,
and a rosewood mill was working around the clock. (During the 1920s and
1930s—until the trees were depleted and the industry moved to the Brazil-
ian Amazon—French Guiana was the world’s largest producer of rosewood
oil, the essential ingredient of Chanel No. 5.)
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Headcaptain Aniké Awdgi, now in his eighties, who lived in Tampdki
from age nine until well into his thirties, told me the early history of the
place, forever associated in Saramaka consciousness with the deeds of
Kadji, its first captain, the medium of the Wénti Wananzdi and other power-
ful spirits, and the discoverer of Diinguldli-Obia.’ But, Aniké told me, it was
aman named Tudlo, who had been working in Mana, who was the real Sara-
maka pioneer on the Oyapock—and also the very first man to take a Creole
wife. Arriving in Cayenne from Mana at the end of the nineteenth century,
Tudlo found a number of Saramakas already working around the capital. His
wife Marguérite suggested they move on to the Oyapock, where the couple
formed a river transport team, Tudlo poling the craft at the prow, Marguérite
steering at the rear, bringing goods up as far as Camopi and from there to
the placers of Bienvenue. (“I myself helped Marguérite grate cassava,” Aniké
reminisced—her husband was long since dead.) Soon, Tudlo returned to
Cayenne and told others about the opportunities on the Oyapock, and he
was followed there by Abeliti, Kodjébii, and Kédji (the famous curer who
hadjust arrived from Haarlem, on the Saramacca River in Suriname), as well
as a group of men from Ddngogd: Gasitdn, Kositdn, Agbagd, Wénwekakd,
Gidé, and Kédjo.?

Aniké told me how a “French officer” in Saint-Georges who was about to
be sent to Cayenne to have his leg amputated was instead cured by Kodjé-
bii’s 6bia (“they had him run around Saint-Georges three times to show off
the cure!”), at which point the French authorities encouraged Saramakas
to settle the area. They’d offered Kodjébii the first captain’s position on the
Oyapock, buthedeclined in favor of his elder, the already-respected Kédji. Ac-
cording to documents in the archives, K4dji served for two decades until his
death in 1923. Then his son—today remembered as Kémanddn Kédji—who
died in 1972, took the position and in 1942 was named by the French colonial
government the first commandant of all the Saramakas in French Guiana.

Kadji appears to us as one of those larger-than-life figures, a man of outsize
appetites and accomplishments, rather like Tooy’s namesake Pobdsi. Born
about 1850 in the Lingu region of Saramaka, he was by the 1880s part of
the sizeable workforce engaged in logging around Haarlem on the lower
Saramacca River, where Saramakas mingled with Ndyukas and Matawais.
There was tremendous religious effervescence under way in the region, as
a Matawai prophet’s version of Christianity was doing fierce battle with lo-
cal river spirits, and as the new Ndyuka god, Gadn Tatd (or Gadn Gddu), was
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gaining followers by the hundreds, urging people to destroy and abandon
their other gods and establishing a hierarchical, nonegalitarian system
which identified “witches” and, upon their deaths, appropriated their be-
longings and distributed them to a small coterie of priests.” Kdji, already
famed as a healer, was actively working with two different carry-oracles: a
branch of the Béndiwdta sddi-gddu (for which his father was head priest in
Ldngu) and a new sddi-gddu, Mamd-Gddu, which “came to him” when he was
on the lower Saramacca. (It is said that when he wanted to call on it, he also
used the Ndyuka oracle Gadn Tatd.) A man of many gods, adding new ones
throughout his life, while in Haarlem Kédji was possessed by a powerful
Komantf{ called Amdfu, which he integrated into his curing practice. And
he found the most spectacular of all his gods, the Wénti Wdnanzdi, while
there, near the mouth of the Coppename, where Tooy’s brother Sensild told
me he’d once happened upon an edenic Wénti realm, with pools filled with
fish, rapids with beautiful flat white stones, and magical pineapples.

It is hard for me not to imagine that whatever else they may represent
on the plane of the Saramaka imaginaire, Kédji’s Wénti, the first sea god ever
to possess a Saramaka, and Mamd-Gddu, the sddi-gddu he discovered, are in
some sense one energetic Saramaka’s reaction against the local dominance,
on the one hand, of Matawai Christianity and, on the other, the coming of
the all-powerful Ndyuka Gadn Tatd. After all, Wéntis and Mamd-Gddu (who
works with them)—in contrast to Gadn Taté—are above all egalitarian and
beneficent. Wéntis’ collective genius is to provide good things to anyone
who asks: money, whitefolks’ goods, and children. And no one ever dies in
Wénti land.

Kédji’s reputation had preceded his 1901 arrival in Tampdki, and after
quickly being named the river’s first Saramaka captain, he entered into a pe-
riod of remarkable spiritual discovery as the village’s population exploded.™
Kddji’s Wénti Wdnanzdi would return from the deep with remarkable tales
of the undersea realm, and he brought back other Wéntis, who quickly pos-
sessed other newcomers to Tampdki. It was these gods who taught residents
about Gaamd Lajan and Mamd Dimanche, about the various Wénti towns
under the sea and in the floodplain of the Oyapock, and all the rest. And it
wasn't long before the Néngekdnde-Nénge called Akoomi possessed Kddji
and began to teach him the secrets of Diinguldli-Obia, which he himself
had learned from his father-in-law in the land of the dead. Tooy tells me
that whenever Akoomi appeared in K6dji’s head, he would recite his praise
name, “Mi da Hédi, Mi ‘Hédi sumani kasdngelé.’ Mi ‘bdnya fuitu tetéi’” (“I'm
the head. I'm ‘Hédi sumani kasdngelé.’ I'm what’s worn around the leg”).
And whenever Kédji got dressed up to go somewhere, he’d tie on Akoomf’s
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magical protection above his calf (some say around his ankle). As Tampdki
grew and prospered, Kédji remained its guiding light.*

Muchelsewas going oninand around Tampdki, as Saramaka menamassed
gold in the river transport trade and built Creole families with the belles of
Saint-Georges. Escapees from penal colonies—both French and Brazilian—
caused frequent problems. Some Saramakas served the French as bounty
hunters. In one celebrated case, a Saramaka named Voisin—probably the
man brought up by Kédji who inherited many of his powers—successfully
brought in a recidivist escapee in 1939." And Saramakas—some thirty, ac-
cording to old men today—often lost their lives in this activity, as did inno-
cent Saramakas who were attacked by escaped prisoners in the forest. Escap-
ees were often starving, and Saramakas preserve numerous stories of their
attempts, sometimes successful, to ambush, rob, or kill Saramakas who
happened to cross their path. Something of the excitement of this period
was expressed to us when we lived in Suriname, where old Saramaka men
used to tell us about their tremendous fear of escapees from the bagne (penal
colony). Well into the 1970s, Saramaka mothers still frightened their chil-
dren by repeating the adage “Little children cooked up with dasheen, that’s
the escaped convict’s favorite dish!”** Books on the bagne recount how four
particularly fierce North Africans, who had been sowing mayhem through-
out the colony in the several months since their escape in early 1934, fell
upon a Saramaka garden camp near Tampdki and killed a woman. But before
they could cross the border to Brazil, they were captured by Saramakas and,
in return for a reward, turned over to the authorities on the other side of
the colony in Saint-Laurent-du-Maroni. Another account suggests that the
Saramakas lynched them with machetes and clubs. Saramakas still say that
aldbi poité (Arab prisoners from the French North African colonies) were
“the worst of the lot.”**

Saramakas also had to deal with escapees from the Brazilian penal colony
of Clevelindia do Norte, just across the Oyapock, where large numbers of
rebels and anarchists from the 1924 revolution in the south of Brazil as well
as others from a revolt in Amazonas had been sent.* Elderly Saramakas still
remember bloody encounters with these escapees during the late 1920s.
Tooy described to me how his father and three others (including Pobdsi’s son
Légoféu) were attacked on the Brazilian bank by men who captured them,
tied their hands, put them up against a tree, placed long guns to their bel-
lies, and threatened their private parts with a razor before the Saramakas
succeeded in escaping back to Tampdki. Légoféu, who was particularly
“ripe,” saved them."’
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With the opening of the Guiana Space Center at Kourou in the 1960s,
work opportunities shifted and the Saramaka population of Tampdki never
recovered. When we visited in 2001, there were only seven elderly men who
remained (plus the three in Saint-Georges), including Saramaka Captain
Laldni, who is the successor to Commandant Kddji. The village is increas-
ingly populated by Amerindians from Brazil, though a very recent develop-
ment plan has begun to attract young Saramakas from elsewhere in Guyane.
Yet, by any measure, the Saramaka imprint on the region of Saint-Georges
remains major. A significant portion of the Creole population has at least
one Saramaka grandparent or great-grandparent. For example, Georges
Elforth, the mayor of Saint-Georges, is proud of his Saramaka grandfather
who taught him to “snort tobacco” in the Saramaka fashion, ™ and a number
of Creole women with Saramaka fathers still speak Saramaccan. Today, the
Oyapock remains the spiritual center of Saramakas in French Guiana. The
river is speckled with sacred sites where the deeds of Saramaka pioneers in
the region, and their gods, are periodically commemorated.

In 2001, we spent a few days in Tampdki with the Saramakas elders who call
it home and also with Léon and other children of Saramaka men who main-
tain houses there and were visiting from Saint-Georges for the weekend.
January is the moment for Wénti commemorations, and we had the chance
to participate, on successive days, in the annual rites at Gaamd Lajan (“The
Mother of All Money”) and Mamd Dimanche (“Mother Sunday”).

When we arrived at the landing place, where a tattered French flag waves
next to a shrine for the Béndiwdta Mamd built by Kédji (whose father was the
priest of this all-powerful god in Lingu), we were immediately taken ashore
to the Wénti house in the center of the village, marked by a flagpole with a
long white pennant. Soon, six elderly men joined us on the built-in benches
along each side of the house for introductions and prayers. Then to the an-
cestor shrine. And finally to the wooden house that had been prepared for us
to sleep in. The village was decked out for the coming ceremonies, with fresh
palm fronds hung across doorways. There seemed to be some fifty wooden
houses topped by corrugated metal, most with indoor plumbing (or at least
anindoor hole-in-the-ground). Random calendars from Chinese stores, pin-
ups, and old electoral posters adorned the walls. The village is dotted with
fruit trees—soursop, mango, breadnut, cashew, orange, lime, coconut, and
palipti palm. Out behind the settled area in a forest glen, I soon learned, was



142 * TAMPAKI

Wénti house, Tampdki, 1982.

the mother shrine of Dlinguléli—ébia, where the dbia is buried in several de-
pressionsin the earth. At various moments during the next few days, the old
men repaired to that glen to consult Mamd-Gddu, the carry-oracle that, asin
Kadji’s day, shares that space with Dinguldli and directs the village’s com-
ings and goings. Outsiders, including me, were not invited. I decided not to
try to persuade the old men that, despite the way I looked, I'd already had
serious relations with these powers elsewhere in the Saramaka world.

Saturday morning early, the flotilla of seven motorized canoes set out for
Gaamd Lajan, the lead boat bearing a white flag embroidered with red ini-
tials: G.M.L. Several kilometers downstream, we pulled in on the left bank—
a steep rock incline topped by an open-sided palm-roofed shed built over a
natural stone basin. Giant mango trees all around. A blank white pennant
is raised. Two of the old men separate several varieties of leaves that had
been brought in a basket and then mash them, place them in a porcelain
vessel, and add kaolin and water. The shed is purified by tossing some of
this solution all around. Meanwhile, some of the Amerindians help out by
clearing the high grass with machetes. Both Saramaccan and Creole is being
spoken all around. There are more than one hundred people: some fifteen
Saramakas, seventy of their Creole descendants, and fifteen or so Amerindi-
ans who now live in the downstream end of Tampdki.

Prayers are said and songs are sung as libations are poured by Léon and a
young Saramaka visitor—some two hundred bottles of beer, sparkling wine,
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and cane syrup. Half of each bottle is deliberately poured out for the gods
and the rest set aside for drinking afterward. The Wéntis are asked to bring
wealth, health, and children. There are special songs for the Wénti women
who guard the gold amongst the river rocks down below us, as well as songs
for Kédji’s other gods, including Akoomi, who taught him Diinguldli-Obia.
But the singing is halfhearted, as the old men are really frail and not many
people know the words.

Once the tide has gone out and the river fallen sufficiently to expose the
rocks that mark the sacred spot, everyone wades out to chest level and is
washed, women and children first, as the water is beaten with leafy branches
by three or four younger men amidst much shouting.

As we board the canoes to return, a young man gives each person a rib-
bon of palm fiber to hold, which is then given back to him as we arrive in
Tampdki. At the landing place, the whole group is lined up to follow a trail
being made by one of the old priests with beer and kaolin to the Wénti house,
where everyone files in and out. Then there is ritual washing, as much as you
like, from a large clay pot set up in front of the Wénti house. Each person
carries a bucket of water from the river and adds it to the pot before washing
himself in the Wénti leaves.

The next morning, Sunday, the flotilla sets out for Mamd Dimanche, this
time carrying a white flag decorated with eyelet and embroidered with her
full name. There are only half as many people as the day before, but Emilie
and Suzette, middle-aged daughters of Saramaka fathers, entertain us with
stories of growing up in Tampdki—how the Wénti called Asantéa brought
two children to Suzette’s grandfather, who had never been able to father chil-
dren in Saramaka; how she possessed a Creole woman named Antudni; how
Kédji’s Wénti, Wédnanzdi, had stopped World War I just in time so that Sara-
makas would not be forced to go fight; how Kédji’s son Yembd once visited
from Saramaka and expressed skepticism about all this Wénti lore, but was
whisked away one morning by some messengers who looked like whitemen
and took him to Wdnazdi’s underwater village and brought him back in the
afternoon, when he emerged from the river carrying cashew fruits and em-
broidered cloths, all perfectly dry, and he said he’d been served drinks but
no food and had had a marvelous time; and how as children they used to
gather by the riverbank at night and watch the Wénti ships ablaze with
lights dock across the river at Tésudsu. This time, the rites take place on a
tiny island in the middle of the border river—the shrine that was once there
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has been removed by “the Brazilians.” (A Brazilian air force base, on the site
of the former Brazilian penal colony of Clevelandia, is just downstream.)
The scene is spectacular—a beautiful falls under high trees. Just before the
flotilla heads downstream, Léon and a few of the old men go off by canoe to
pray at the base of the falls to the Wénti mother herself.

On the way downriver, we pass the mouth of Tésudsu Creek, where Wén-
tis have a large underwater village. One of the old men discreetly deep-sixes
an unopened liter bottle of beer from the front of the canoe—no words are
spoken. This is the place where people in Tampdki used to see great Wénti
ships docking at night. And where a hand normally reaches up to take the of-
fering of beer. Kédji—Emilie and Suzette tell us—always said, “Never forget
that place.”

Everyone agrees that the Tampdki that we saw in 2001, and returned to sev-
eral times in subsequent years, is but a shell of the great village that Kédji
had settled a century before and which remained, for the next six decades,
the center of Saramaka life in Guyane. By the 1970s, Suzette told us, the last
real priest of Dtinguldli had died and some men from the village of Héikiun

Tampdki 2005.
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had come and taken the 6bid’s pot back to Saramaka.** Tooy told me how he’d
gone for a visit a few years ago and confirmed, to his great disappointment,
that “Dunguldli is no longer at the Oyapock.”

I'd bought 12 lengths of striped cloth, 12 meters of white cloth, 3 cartons of
beer, and 12 bottles of rum. They raised Mamd-Gddu for me, they raised Gadn
Tatd [another carry-oracle]. [ went to the Wénti house on a Friday morning and
unfurled 6 meters of white cloth at Kédji’s shrine—it touched the ground!I
made an offering of six striped cloths and bdi madjomina with 5 meters of white
cloth, 12 bottles of beer and five bottles of rum. In the Wénti house, I made an
offering of six bottles of cane syrup, 3 meters of calico cloth, one white cloth,
and 1liter of rum. They played drums morning till night, for those powers be-
longing to Akoomi—they played Komanti, they played Wénti. But they didn’t
play Duinguldli. There’s no one left who can play the Diinguldli rhythms! I slept
there for seven nights before I came back. Now, there’s one man there who still
knows some Diinguldli-Obia songs, but his throat isn’t in good enough shape
for him to sing them anymore. They haven’t lost absolutely everything—they
can still “smoke” things—but that’s about it.
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* 1604/1837/1841[1863[2001 *

The forest hides its traces and guards its secrets. Our earliest description of
Mamd Dimanche dates from the short-lived English settlement of 1604-06:
“The Riuer of Wayapoco is a very faire Riuer, and nauigable, which entreth
the maine more then fortie miles. And at the end thereof there is a very great
fall of water which commeth ouer great hils and mountaines.”" In 1863, Fré-
déric Bouyer, captain of a French frigate, visited Mamd Dimanche and left a
romantic description and engraving:*

The falls are curious and worth the visit, fully compensating the three hours
of canoeing it takes from Saint-Georges. At their base is a small island, partly
submerged, where under the shade of some mango trees one gets front row
seats to a marvelous spectacle.

Although the falls don’t match the grandiose proportions of Niagara’s—
only thirty feet high and subdivided into three—the tumultuous waves which
boil across a mile of weed-covered rocks, the green islands, the giant trees
that push out of the torrent, the disorder of Nature, the power of the currents
which overflow and mix twigs, trunks, leaves, and branches—all this leaves
the heart filled with a strange and respectful admiration for the Organizer of
these marvels.

It fell to me to contemplate this spectacle at a time when it took on an espe-
cially moving character, the height of the rainy season. The engorged waters
overflowed and angrily ran riot amongst the rocks. Rains fell without respite.
Thunder roared. The great voice from the Heavens mixed with the sound of
the falls. Through the mist appeared the phantasmagoric silhouettes of trees
and the silver-fringed foam crashed against our feet. The elements seemed to
have run wild, as in the days of the Flood, as in Chaos.

And then he adds a note about an incident that occurred there twenty-five
years earlier.

Just below the falls lies the tiny island of Cafésoca, only a few centimeters
above waterlevel, with just enough space to build a tower and a house. This
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tower is a singular fortification, created in order to stop the invasions of the
Bush Negroes of the Maroni who, having descended the Oyapock, attacked
some Indians who then asked for our help, and our warrior spirit seized the
occasion to play at being soldiers. . ..

A somber drama once took place on this little spot of earth, but I choose
not to speak of it. We did not play a pretty role. Indeed, it is sad to have to
admit that when it comes to the relations between civilized Christians and
savages, honor is not always on our side.

The “it” Captain Bouyer chooses not to speak of is the 1837 summary execu-
tion by firing squad, ordered by a colonial governor panic-stricken by the
prospect of an impending Aluku Maroon “invasion,” of four Alukus who
had come to ask permission for their people to settle the area. (After an
official investigation, the governor was relieved of his post.) And “it” also
includes the aftermath of 1841, when the Alukus once again attempted to
persuade the French of their peaceful intentions and sent a new delegation
to the Oyapock. Alerted to this new “menace,” French troops based in the
tower at Fort Cafésoca set out upstream and took the Alukus by surprise. In
the ensuing melee, all but one of the Aluku delegation died, including their
Paramount Chief Gongo.*

Mamd Dimanche, then, is at once a Wénti site commemorated each year by
Saramakas and the site of two separate massacres of Alukus in the nine-
teenth century—without, as far as I know, the two being connected by Sara-
makas (or anyone else?). The forest guards its secrets.

Bouyer concludes his description by noting that “these days, the tower is
inhabited by twenty-odd convicts who work in the surrounding forest,”
and that

the island, the tower, the house, the twenty prisoners, and the guard were all
recently attacked by two frightening alligators, though the law of force held
sway in the end. One of the monsters perished on the spot and is today the cen-
terpiece of the Museum of Grenoble. The companion of this colossal saurian
disappeared into the depths, staining the waters with its blood, depriving the
naturalists of their spoils.



Engraving by Riou, after a sketch by Frédéric Bouyer, of the site known to Saramakas as
Mamd Dimanche.

Engraving by Riou, after a watercolor by Frédéric Bouyer, of the Island of Cafésoca.
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Fifteen years later, the French explorer Jules Crevaux set out to explore the
Oyapock, with his Aluku Maroon guide whom he always referred to as “le
fidele Apatou.”

At 8 AM we passed by thelittle island of Cafésoca on which stands an old tower
that would have collapsed long ago were it not held up by trees and vines that
completely mask its stones. This fort used to serve as an outpost inhabited
by soldiers charged with defending the lower Oyapock against the Aluku Ma-
roons, whose reputation as warriors, which they’d acquired in their wars with
Suriname, caused considerable fear. It was here that a French officer directed a
massacre of unarmed men and women of the Aluku tribe who had approached
with peaceful intentions. I console the faithful Apatou, who showed his feel-
ings of rage as soon as he saw the tower, by telling him that the officer who
commanded the post had been officially disgraced.



ANTAMA THE OBIA-MAN

* 1771[1800 *

For Tooy, it’s Antamd’s “fierceness” almost as much as his dbias that he’s
most proud of. Though I know from documents written by whitefolks who
were present that Antamd attended the signing of the peace treaty in 1762,
Tooy denies any such possibility, holding on to Antamd’s image as a warrior
“who never ate salt and never shook a white man’s hand.”* Tooy’s right, of
course—at least in spirit. Eight years after the Peace, when the German mis-
sionaries finally managed to baptize their first Saramaka (Alabi/Johannes
Arrabini), it was Antamd who stormed down from Ldngu to protest.

Soon after the service, Captain Antamd, accompanied by another negro, ar-
rived in great anger, holding a musket in one hand and a saber in the other.
The captain, with great passion, asked us if we did not know to whom this
land belonged and what we thought we were doing with Arrabini—or was it
our intention to kill him? He feared that the gods would kill Arrabini. They
had different gods from the whites, and each must remain true to his own.
We allowed him to speak his mind, but when he had finished we related to
him the Truth.’

The missionary’s wife added that Antamd’s musket was “fully loaded” and
that he had “brandished his drawn sword over my husband’s head.”* During
the following months, it was Antamd who continued to lead the anti-white
resistance.

On the 10th of March [1771], we were truly inconvenienced by the frightening
shouting which the local people made in the midst of their heathen service to
their idols. The Devil is surely very busy trying to make Captain Antamd his
special servant and a leader among his people.*

Antamd, already one of the most powerful of all Saramaka ¢bia-men, was
busy building a new shrine for his ¢bia. “He pretends that he is revering the
Great God there and that the whole village must be absolutely silent. Nor
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may anyone enter it with a tobacco pipe, axe, or musket.
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In writing about this missionary report in the 1980s,° I assumed that An-
tamd’s new shrine—which had tremendous impact during the next several
decades—was for Toné, theriver god that his father, Gweytinga, had brought
from Africa. I believed it was Antamd’s second Toné shrine, since I had clear
descriptions of another one he had already built. But Tooy has convinced
me otherwise. The taboos and the other descriptions I read him from the
missionaries’ journals are, he says, those belonging to Flibdnti—the ¢bia
Kwasimukdmba had taught Antamd some fifteen years earlier and which,
two and a half centuries later, is in the head of Tooy’s brother Sensilé.”

While Tooy was in the prison wing of the hospital in Martinique await-
ing heart surgery, he slept with a book under his mattress. I had managed
to persuade the frighteningly tough gendarmes who guarded him that this
book—Pierre Fatumbi Verger’s Orixds, with photos of Yoruba gods in Africa
and the New World, which I'd given him as a present—was the equivalent of
the Bible for him and therefore permitted in his cell by French law. During
our daily half-hour visits, we often turned the pages together, and he’d ask
me to read the captions. Some pictures of Ogoun in possession in Nigeria
inspired him to reveal that Antamd’s dbia Flibdnti, too, likes to eat dog—as
well as jaguar! He also relishes an animal I'd never heard of called zandu,
which has but one eye. “It’s as tall as aroom,” Tooy tells me, “and it lives on a
mountain that has six peaks which you can see from Montagne Tortue on the
Approuague. It picks people up in its claws and devours them! There’s a cave
where it keeps the bones.” He adds, “No man’s ever gone hunting in that place
and returned alive!” When Ilater consult a map, I see, uneasily, that it’s quite
near where the new road between Regina and Saint-Georges is being built.*

In any case, during the final three decades of his long life, it’s clear that
Antamd was the most important dbia-man in Saramaka, as well as the de-
facto gaamd for the Upper River region. And that neither the German mis-
sionaries nor the Dutch administrators in late eighteenth-century Saramaka
knew quite how to handle him.

As Wii’s sister’s son—the official successor of the man who “brought
the Peace” to Saramaka—Antamd considered himself entitled to more than
the usual captain’s prerogatives. Only five days after Gaamd Abini’s death in
1767, he boldly asked the colonial administrator to appoint him in the dead
chief’s place. Two years later, he sent a delegation to Paramaribo to request
on his behalf “four muskets, four jugs of gunpowder, five jugs of rum,
one crate of candles, a short sword, and a hat with a silver or gold [medal-
lion?],” and he explicitly told them to say that these were in gratitude for the
services performed by his uncle, “Wiel.” His posture toward the whites was
consistently confrontational; the administrator noted that he “comes to no
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political meetings [with the whites]; says he has nothing to do there; says
that when whites distribute gifts he’s grateful; he is [by character] impa-
tient.” And a message from Antamd to the administrator, “ordering him to
come see himin his village,” provoked the white official to reply, “You chiefs
are always summoning me. Do you think I am a slave or a dog with nothing
better to do than run through the forest at your bidding?”?

During the final decade of his life, Captain Antamd was still trying for-
mally to wrest the gaamdship from Alabi. The missionaries wrote:

Grang Adama [= Great Antamd, his sobriquet throughout the late eighteenth
century] is a captain but like all other captains is subordinate to Johannes
[Alabi], to whom the Government gave this distinction as well as extraordi-
nary presents because of his fidelity and truly great services to the country.
Grang Adama now believes that he should be Chief-over-All and, because he
was denied this or that thing which he had requested from the Government,
the other captains have succeeded in convincing him that Johannes—whom
the others consider their enemy—is responsible. In earlier days [at the time
of Alabi’s baptism], Grang Adama was so agitated that he actually wanted to
shoot Johannes."’

For a while, it looked as if Antamd might get his way. The missionaries re-
ported in 1792 that “on the second of February, Johannes left for Paramaribo
with the purpose of giving up his position as first captain [gaamd], to whom
all the other captains in the land are subordinate. It has been a very difficult
period for him lately.”"* But Antamd, for complex reasons, lost this official
battle, and Alabi maintained his tenuous hold on the office. The documents
make it clear, however, that as far as most Saramakas during the late eigh-
teenth century were concerned, it was Antamd, with his ¢bias and political
clout, who really made the decisions on behalf of all Saramakas except those
gathered around Alabi and the Christian missionaries.

Tooy has told me a number of fragments about Antamd’s activities after the
Peace—almost always after I'd first heard some detail he’d alluded to in a
prayer or a song and then pressed him for an explanation. Antamd, whom
Tooy normally refers to simply as “Father,” is enough of a First-Time icon
that one can talk about him only with circumspection, and rarely.
Djakdi—the boy stolen from slavery, whom Antamd had accepted as re-
placement for his brother Makambi, who'd been slain in battle, and whom
Antamd had raised until he was nearly a man—provides one focus. I had
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asked on several occasions whatever had become of him, without much re-
sponse. But I persisted. One day Tooy fixed me with a stare and said, “That
boy fucked Antamd’s wife!”

Bdkisipdmbo [another Langu hero] went straight to Antamd. He knew that if
Antamd heard, he'd kill Djakdi in an instant. He called him over using a name
that only he knew. He said, “Man, that kid fucked your wife!” Then he laughed
and continued, “Go grab him and kill him right here in front of me and then
we’ll be done with it. He fucked your wife. Kill him right here, now!” Antamd
looked at him. “Man, so that’s what you have to tell me? All right, I've heard.”
Antamd called a great council meeting. When everyone was gathered, he said,
“Bring me my little sister and my little brother.” He sat Afaata down on his left
knee. (His little sister, he and she had the same father!) He sat Djakdi down
on his right knee. (He had raised them both.) He stuck the point of his sword
right up against Djakdi’s chest and said, “Man, since you became big enough
and I didn’t go find a woman for you, you went after my own wife. I'm not
going to kill you. You're going to take your ‘sister’ here. Fuck her as much as
you like. But if you ever go anywhere near my wife again, with this very sword
'l kill you.” Then Djakdi lived with Afaata. She was his first wife, he her first
husband. And the first child they had was Gadien.

Listening over time to Tooy’s prayers to his ancestors and participating
with him in other rituals, I had begun to piece together a partial picture of
this Gadien, to whom I knew Tooy felt close. Here’s a transcription of Tooy,
in the middle of a long libation to various ancestors, addressing Gadien and
giving characteristic simultaneous commentary on the side:

Father Gadien, we give you rum. (Gadien would say he was Opéte nydn opéte,
he was Akdtokot djaini biia. Kdu tjdnkontima béye, a béte djdni ko a béliwa. Gadien
would say all that. The man called Gadien, he was a short little fellow!—that’s
what we’ve heard. Whenever he walked around, it was always with his sword
hanging from his waist!) Father, we give you rum. Father we call on you. (He
called Tatd Antamd “mother’s brother”—Antamd’s sister bore him.) Father
Malumbdi [another name for Gadien], we give you rum! We pour rum on the
ground for you, our elders. (They say that when you said your praise name,
youd say, Opéte nydn opéte, opéte nydn opéte. And they’d answer that they’d
heard you. You'd say again, Opéte nydn opéte, opéte nydn opéte. And then you’d
say you were akotdkoi djaini biia. You'd say Kdu djankotiba [tjdnkontima?] béye, a
bete djaki kd abéliwa. In other words, “The death that killed the jumping animal
[toad] worr't find it to kill again!”"* Gadien! He called Gisi “mother’s brother.”
Gadien! He called Bdsi Antamd “mother’s brother!”)

When I pressed Tooy on his fondness for Gadien, he filled me in on some
of thereasons. “When Antamd was old,” he told me, “he worked closely with
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Gadien, and when he died he left him everything he had.” Another time, he
told me, “The apinti [drum] thythmsI play here all belong to Gadien—he got
them from Antamd.” And in another context I got some spontaneous con-
firmation, as Gadien’s drum became the authority for a tale Tooy’s ancestors
have told at least since the eighteenth century. Tooy was in a teaching mood
that day, talking to several younger kinsmen as well as me:

The Great God once sent down his messengers to announce that young people
must kill their mothers and their fathers so that the youngsters could run the
world. The message [in drum language] is odii kwataki bi de a bimba tdla. (This
was the Great God’s way of testing them.) So, the youngsters all did it and then
they burned the bodies. Except for one kid, who snuck out and dug a deep
hole in the forest, built a house in it, and set up his mother and father there,
where he brought them food every day. (That’s what the drum is saying.) Then
the Great God sent his messenger again and told them that they should braid
arope out of sand for him. So they went to the river and gathered sand, but
they didn’t have any idea of how to braid it into a rope. The one kid snuck out
to his parents and asked them how to do it. He told them, “I didn’t save your
lives for nothing, now it’s payback time! Here’s my problem . ..” The husband
told the wife to tell him. She said, “No way, he’s yours, too. I didn’t cheat on
you to make him, he’s really yours! You tell him what to do.” So finally he said,
“When the messenger comes again, tell him to braid you one meter’s length of
the rope at exactly the thickness he wants yours to be, and say that youw’ll add
on to it and make it as long as he wants.” So, the kid said OK. The messenger
came and reported back to the Great God. The Great God said, “This kid didn’t
kill his parents!” He sent back the messenger. The kid arrived at his parents’ in
tears. He told them he’d hidden them so that they could live, but now this was
going to be their last day alive. The father said to the mother, “Don’t cry. The
Great God exists.” The Great God himself came down and asked his messenger
to call the kid. Then he asked him to bring his parents. He did it. Then the
Great God said, “You and your parents come and stand over here, on the east
side. All those who killed their parents, go over there, to the west.” He waved
his arm and those people disappeared. But the place where the kid and his par-
ents were standing, that’s right where we are today, it’s our village. That’s what
the apinti drum says! It says, odii kwataki bi de a bimba tdla. Ndyukas play it as
obimba de a bimba tdla. In either case, it means, “Young ones must live amongst

older ones. Older ones must live amongst younger ones.” "’

And then he adds,
An old man once told me that when you drum asii mund fulii ben konii fulii,

that means, “Young ones must live amongst older ones. Older ones must live
amongst younger ones.” But as far as 'm concerned, asii mund fulii ben konii
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fulii doesn’t mean that at all! In fact, it means, “Your old folks really used to
know things, but now only youngsters are left, and they have it all mixed up.”
It’s a completely different drum proverb. If you want to say, “Young ones must
live amongst older ones. Older ones must live amongst younger ones,” you
play odii kwataki bi de a bimba tdla. That’s precisely what Father Gadien’s drum
used to say! That’s what I'll take any day!

Several of Gadien’s contemporaries also play active roles in Tooy’s con-
sciousness: Afaata and Djakdi, as we've seen, but also Kwasimukdmba’s son
Gisf and others, including a sister of Gadien who is remembered mainly for
having risen from the dead (and who is in Tooy’s direct matriline).

Ma Aldmba, who arose from the dead. Afaata’s daughter. She’d been dead a
whole week. She had a daughter named Miamaa and a son called Peedjekii.
They’d held the all-night “play” just before burial. (In those days, it was Adunké
and Ludngu—they didn’t have Papd yet.) At four in the morning, they saw her
move. They stopped the “play.” Only her two children stayed with her. They be-
gantounwrap thebody. Shewaslying there onabananaleaf. (That’stheway they
buried people in those days, without coffins.) Her first words were “Miamaal”
Three times. The daughter finally said, “Mother?” She asked Miamaa to come
and put her hand on her belly. She pulled out three seeds of the gourd that we
call “aliimba-gourd” to go plant. (It hadn’t been in Saramaka before that.) She
called Peedjeki and told him exactly what leaves to go gather in the forest to
come wash her with. They did it and took the cloths she’d been wrapped in and
the sticks and planks that had supported the corpse and threw them into the
graveinthe cemetery and covered it over. Then they swept her three times with
the broom dbia she’d taught him to make. Flibdnti still has the dbia that they
used to cleanse Ma Alimba when they took her off the bananaleaves—it’s kept
over the door to his house. Ma Aliimba lived another five years!

Gisi (sometimes Djisf) was Afaata’s half brother. Hwéte was their mother,
but Kwasimukdmba was Gis{’s father and Gweytinga Afaata’s. So, Gadien
called Gisi “mother’s brother.” When Gadien got big enough, he asked Gis{
to teach him the dbia that his father Kwasimukdmba had left him. But Gisi
didn’t want to work with it. He said, “Let’s just work with the ones we already
have.” Gisi was a strange man, says Tooy. As he grew up, he never carried a
gun and he never had a wife, nor did he work with money. When he went to
the city, he’d go into any store he liked and just take the goods and put them
in his canoe. The whitefolks would shoot at him, try to hit him with clubs
or cut him with machetes. But nothing could hurt him. His ¢bia was at the
front of his canoe. When he died, they held a three-week-long celebration
in Paramaribo, they were so glad to be rid of him! Today, Komantis call Gisi
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Bdsi Alid, Apukus call him Kwédngu. A piece of his war dbia, Kokobéngu, re-
mains in a special shrine behind Tooy’s natal village of Bundjitapd.

Djakdi, Afaata’s husband and Gadien’s father, eventually left Ldngu to take
awife in the Paptitu clan, where after his death he became a major avenging
spirit. (Whenever I've asked, Tooy has denied knowing how this happened,
but I suspect he feels it’s simply too dangerous to speak of.)

Tooy did tell me about the death of Afaata, the woman who—as arefugee
from downriver where her mother had been falsely accused of murdering
her father—effectively founded his matrilineage in Lingu.

When it came time for Afaata to die, they really played those Ludngu drums
for her! But when they raised her corpse in divination, she said she wasn’t
ready to be buried. Gadien said, “No way. Let’s bury her.” A great rain fell.
[Tooy lists the various rocks and sandbanks and other geographical markers
they passed on the way to the cemetery.] There’s a stone called Afaata-peekd
[Afaata stuck here], because the canoe sank on the way. Gadien rescued the
apinti and played it, all wet, on [he says the name of a boulder]. Finally they
were able to bury her.

Antamd, however large he loomed on the eighteenth-century Saramaka
stage, probably spent much of his time the way Tooy does, engaged in rou-
tine acts of curing. The German missionaries and Dutch administrators
make various allusions to such rites, though their understandings are fuzzy
at best—here are two that may serve for all the rest.

[27 March 1771] In the village of Kwama, a woman had a miscarriage and Cap-
tain Antamd came to her to say that a god must be summoned or else she
would have nothing but repeated miscarriages. But if she paid him he could
“make” [domesticate] this god. The poor heathen, knowing no better, let him
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talk on, and the god was “made.

[3 March 1774). I have heard that toward the end of last year . . . in a certain
village there had been a miscarriage. But afterwards, the woman still seemed
pregnant, so her family called on Captain Antamd, who was the biggest god-
maker, to ask him to “make” the gods so the woman would not bring another
still-birth into the world. Antamd said “Yes, I shall do it,” but first sought pay-
ment. Such lads say that if they are not well paid, the gods will not work. The
fee for such godwork or dbia is 40 lengths of cloth. He took his payment and
began his work. Then he said to the person who had hired him, “You needn’t
be afraid any more. The girl will no longer have miscarriages nor bring into
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the world unnatural fruit.” Some time later, the woman’s time arrived. She
was duly delivered of a child which was half human and half monkey or ape.
Then was the good Antamd, along with his god, in some difficulty. They sum-
moned him immediately and asked him what kind of a child this was. He was
more than a little embarrassed by all this, and afraid that he would lose his
good name and the earnings he got from them. He called his gods together
and begged them to make him [the child] normal, but his pleas were in vain.
Antamd told the people that the time had not yet come for the god’s powers to
transform him into a natural human posture. “I have never seen such a thing.
The gods cannot help with it.” I was not told what they did with that child but
Iwill try to find out more."

Before the aged Antamd died, which we can date to about 1800, since the
missionaries last mention him in 1798, he divided his many dbias, includ-
ing those he’'d learned from his mother’s brother Wii. His sister Afaata got
Flibdnti, which he’d learned from Kwasimukdmba. (Tooy tells me that a
woman named Logoso-6bo, who was married to Afaata’s mother’s brother
Aségogd, warned her strongly at the time: “Flibdnti is too powerful, you
shouldn’t take it on!” But she took it.) Antamd gave the Toné dbia he'd got-
ten from his father, Gweytinga, to his daughter, Ma Kiinza, along with his
powerful Komanti, Sdka-Amdfu. These eventually found their way to Tooy’s
namesake, Pobdsi, since, as we've seen, Kiinza was the namesake for both
Agwadd, Pobosi’s father, and Pobdsi himself. Antamd gave the rest of his
varied dbias to his sister’s son Gadien. As a matrilineal descendant of An-
tama,**
Pobosi, Tooy claims intimate knowledge of all of these powers. He often
tells me how grateful he is that his brother Sensilé was the one possessed
by Flibdnti—*“if it hadn’t been him, it would have been me!” So that’s one

Afaata, and Gadien, and the spiritual successor of his namesake

burden he doesn’t have to bear.



Skeleton genealogy showing a few of the people Tooy likes to talk about (for simplicity, I
have not put in names that are not mentioned in this book)."”

Where Tooy gets his knowledge/powers.
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* 1933[1970 *

On various occasions, sometimes in reply to my questions, Tooy has put
aspects of his life in some semblance of chronological order. “I barely re-
member my mother,” he once told me wistfully, “and I hardly remember my
father, either. You could say that mango and orange trees raised me there
in Bundjitapd. I had two older sisters, but neither really took me on. I hung
around with anyone and everyone. And once I got old enough, all I cared
about was playing drums and showing off to the girls—drumming and
women.” Which means that, besides the many dalliances he likes to boast
about, Tooy spent a lot of his early years with ritual specialists. The drums
(and songs) he mastered would serve him for the rest of his life.

His first trip outside Saramaka territory was with a mother’s brother in
the early 1940s, building the American air base that later became Suriname’s
international airport. (During World War II, the United States constructed
a string of airfields all along the eastern coast of South America as potential
stepping-stones to Africa and Europe.) Pay was good and the work tolerable.
By the time he was fifteen, Tooy boasts, he could handle a lumber raft with
logs he’d cut all the way from Bundjitapd—the most upstream village on
the Gadnlio—down through the rapids to Berg-en-Dal, in the coastal flood-
plain. Once he brought his ill sister all the way down to the hospital there,
after which she recovered and had several children. (One of her children,
Frank, now helps Tooy in his curing practice in Cayenne.)

By the 1950s, Tooy was spending an increasing amount of time around
Haarlem, on the Saramacca River, where there were logging opportuni-
ties as well as a cooking-oil factory that offered cash for bundles of wild
palm nuts. “The first time it was with my cousin Konydki. We stayed seven
months. After that, I was always on my own.” It was on that first trip that he
became involved with the legacy of Kédji, the man who'd preceded him in
Haarlem by some sixty years and had left from there to live out his extraordi-
nary life on the Oyapock. Tooy had a cousin, Awénke, at Haarlem—eachisa



Tooy singing and drumming Aptiku, 2003.
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(classificatory) sister’s daughter’s daughter’s son of Kédji. But Kédji was also
Awénke’s namesake, and while Tooy was living at Haarlem, Awénke made
the journey to Tampdki to bring back some of Kodji’s powers that had re-
mained on the Oyapock. It was in the aftermath of this trip that Tooy be-
came involved for the first time with Kédji’s spiritual legacy, particularly
Ditinguldli-Obia and Wénti-gods.

In 1958, Tooy crossed over for the first time to Guyane, taking the baux-
ite ship from Paranam to Moengo, continuing by truck to Albina and then
across the Marowijne by canoe, to stay with a mother’s brother, Jozef Babid,
in Saint-Laurent-du-Maroni. His late arrival in Guyane at the age of twenty-
five contrasts with that of his brother Sensild, who’s told me that Babid
brought him over to Mana when he was only five years old—which would
place it in the late 1920s—and that he stayed for fourteen years without re-
turning to Saramaka. More remarkably, Sensild says he lived during that
period at a placer called La Patience, far up the Mana River, with a group
of Creole-speaking gold miners originally from the island of Dominica.
“I hardly knew how to speak my own language anymore when I finally
returned to Saramaka,” he says.

Saint-Laurent, where Tooy settled down, was until the 1940s the head-
quarters of the infamous bagne (penal colony)—the place has never had a
good press. Guyane’s most famous writer, Léon-Gontran Damas, said sim-
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ply, “Saint-Laurent is a veritable Sodom,”* and an American journalist years

later concurred:

Saint-Laurent is not much of a place. It never was to begin with. Four or five
rat-infested streets of decaying wooden houses in the old colonial style—
some occupied, some deserted. You can see it all in ten minutes. The whole
place reeks of decay. Old Creole women peer out through the windows of their
crumbling structures at any stranger who walks the streets. The open sewers
are clogged with filth and drowned rats. Stray dogs paw hungrily at the rodent
carcasses. The stench is sickening.

With his uncle, Tooy got a job in public works—road construction on the
infamous Route of Death between Saint-Laurent and Cayenne, which gen-
erations of convicts had never been able to finish. In 1923, journalist Albert
Londres wrote, pen dripping with sarcasm,

What a magnificent road! It’s supposed to cross all three Guianas. Nobody’s
been counting the corpses. They’ve been working on it for more than fifty
years. And it’s twenty-four kilometers long!

Onall sides, the marshes; everywhere, the wavy-grass savannahs. We arrive
at kilometer 24. It’s the end of the world.
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And for the first time, I see the bagne! There are a hundred men there, all
with sickness in their gut. Some are standing, some lying down, some moan-
ing like dogs.

The bush lies in front of them like a wall. But it’s not they who will break
down that wall; it’s the wall that will be getting them. . ..

But the real question is whether the intent is to build a road or to kill con-
victs. If it’s to kill convicts, don’t change a thing! It’s all going smoothly! But if
it'stobuildaroad...?

And another journalist wrote more dryly,

The investigator can see emaciated men breaking rocks and digging ditches,
naked in stagnant mud contagious with death, naked in the glaring sun. It’s a
maintenance detail. Once in a while a pickaxe uncovers a tibia or a humerus.
The edges of the colonial road are a cemetery.*

By the time Tooy got to it, the final stretch of road—the 68 kilometers sepa-
rating Saint-Laurent and the Mana crossing at Saut Sabbat Rapids—was all
that remained to finish properly of the 260-kilometer total. “It was a dirt
road back then and when a vehicle arrived at the Mana, Saramakas would
hitch two canoes together to carry it across.” As for the work,

They’d bring us out in a truck and leave us by the river for two weeks. We'd
bring a supply of rice, and in those days there was game everywhere—bush
hog, howler monkey, tapir! We were paid by the day, from 7:00 a.m. to
2:00 p.m., but we could do pickup work after that. We’d cut kupi [hardwood]
trees and saw them into planks—usually 5 meters long, 30 centimeters wide,
2inches thick. What a job to get those planks into place! For bridges over some
of those creeks, we cut planks that were a good 15 meters long! I stayed a year
and five months before I was let go.

Tooy also learned a good bit about the region from the old-timers he
worked with—the Mana, a long river cut by scores of rapids, had been the
very first settlement site of Saramakas in Guyane, in the mid-nineteenth
century.’ Tooy heard tales of the pioneer Saramakas who “opened up” French
Guiana for their fellows—about, for example, Asimadjé from the village of
Ddngogd, who left Saramaka in haste in the wake of the scandal caused by
his having slept with a mother’s brother’s wife.

He walked east for days through the forest until he arrived at the Ndyuka
villages on the Tapanahoni and was welcomed by his Ndyuka friend Hansi-
bai. He and his friend each made a canoe and, accompanied by the sons and
sisters’ sons of Hansibai, paddled down the Maroni to its mouth and entered
the Mana. In the town of Mana, Asimadjé learned to speak Creole and saw
how Creoles from French Guiana, along with a handful of Ndyuka and Aluku
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Maroons, controlled the river transport trade. He saw that Creole canoes were
far smaller than Saramaka ones, holding only six barrels (compared to Sara-
maka ones that held up to forty-five), and that the Creoles maneuvered exclu-
sively with paddles, rather than with the poles Saramakas used at the prow of
their canoes to get through the rapids. The Creoles were dying in the water
and the goods weren’t getting to their destination . . . and neither the Alukus
nor Ndyukas were up to the task. Hansibai and Asimadjd succeeded in the
transport trade, working the lower river for some time. And when Asimadjo6
made his triumphal return to Saramaka, bringing back a case of fancy French
soap and a magnificent French sword, large numbers of men were ready to
follow in his footsteps.°

Older Saramakas still like to describe the rigors of the transport trade.” They
tell about Akoni, another pioneer in Mana and the first to try to bring a load
all the way up to the mines at St. Léon, on the Upper River. Unable to get
through the rapids at Saut Continent, he and his crew built a platform in
the forest, stocked the merchandise there, and went downstream to seek
help. His father-in-law, who lived in Mana, went upriver, found the load,
and was able to bring it up some distance further, but when he got to the
rapids called Saut Par Hasard he, too, was stymied, so he and his crew built
aplatform for the goods and went back downstream. Tatd Agdduhdnsu, who
was at the place called Délices with his sisters’ sons Asantiftitu and Akaaso
and with Tatd Kogd, said they’d do it. And they did. They found the goods
and, using their poling technique, brought them way upstream. At the
mouth of St. Léon Creek, a tremendous posontii tree had fallen and blocked
their entry. They cut at it with their axes for a whole week but couldn’t get
through, so they unloaded the canoes, made a camp, and called their gods
for consultation. Tatd Kogd had a god called Ma Kambd, and Agdduhdnsu
had an Aptiku called Misii (short for Mi si léngi—“1 see far”). The gods said,
“If you give up and go back now, yow’ll die. Cut the tree.” They worked at it
for three more days and called the gods again. This time the gods said they
would work with them the following day. As the men were cutting at the
tree, they saw two ducks and shot them. (It was the gods who'd brought the
ducks.) The Creole gold miners upriver at St. Léon heard the gunshots and
figured the Saramakas didn’t know where to find them and were signaling
with their guns. So they answered with their own guns and went down to
meet them—a moment of joy still recalled with emotion. As Saramakas say,
“Honors for opening up the upper Mana go to Tatd Agdduhdnsu and Tatd
Kogd, and those for the lower Mana go to Asimadjd, but not to him alone, for
it was his Ndyuka friend Hansibai who first told him there was a river over
there with work to be had.”
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Tooy heard all this and more during his days and nights by the Mana.
He heard about the marvelous Wéntis that inhabit the mouth of that river,
including Teefén (“Telephone”), which Tatd Agdduhdnsu himself had in his
head.® And how there were so many Saramakas working the river that the
French government decided to create the first Saramaka captain’s position at
Mana, offering it to Agdduhdnsu, who deferred in favor of Samuel.’

Saut Sabbat Rapids, where Tooy spent much of his time bridge building,
had a bloody past as the first stopping-off place for escapees heading east
from the bagne. He heard, for example, about a Saramaka called Suwi (or
Lepetjd) who was going up through the rapids when the escapees shot the
man at the head of his canoe. There were thirty-five whitemen, Tooy says.
Suwi stormed ashore and killed five with his machete and managed to tie
up the other thirty with vines and bring them in to the authorities at Mana.
Tooy also heard about Tatd Maayani, who met up with a group of escapees
just below Saut Tamanoa Rapids, upstream from Saut Sabbat, where he had
his camp. The six of them were trying to steal his canoe and his gun. But
his Komanti warned him! They were headed for Brazil, so he told them he’d
show them the way. Just above Kakioko Creek, when they got out of the ca-
noe, Old Man Maayani killed them all, cut off their heads, and threw their
bodies into the forest! He took the heads and his gun, got back in his canoe,
and came home. And he put those skulls in his 6bia house!

After leaving his public-works job, Tooy spent a year in eastern Suriname,
working in a timber camp near the Ndyuka village of Moiwana, then do-
ing day jobs around Moengo, and finally going back to Saint-Laurent—but
there were no salaried jobs, just sawing logs and day work. And then Alcoa
began to build the great dam at Afobaka, and from 1960 to 1962 he was right
in the thick of it. The end came suddenly, when a steel beam dropped 7 me-
ters and he was unconscious from Saturday till Tuesday. So many men were
dying in accidents—“people drowning, machinery killing them, every sort
of death you can imagine!” He decided just to quit, and went to live in the
nearby Saramaka village of Balén.

During this time, Gaamd Agbagé came down from the Pikilio and lived in
Balén for several months. There were repeated council meetings about dam-
ming the river, one including the gaamds of all the other Maroon peoples.
They concluded that it wasn’t Agbagd’s fault, he couldn’t be held responsible.
And the day they poured libations for Gaamd Agbagd, to ask the ancestors
to exonerate him, it was Tooy who played the apinti—the drum of Gadien!
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Every morning, it was Tooy who woke up the gaamd with the appropriate
drum rhythms, playing his drum name Nand-u-Kélempé Kilintinboto-fu-
Ldmbote. He had been hesitant to do it, but Flibanti, who was there with Sen-
sil6, urged him to play Gadien’s drum. He’d wept and then decided to do it.
He described how Tatd Dooté of Ddngogd (our old friend from the 1960s)
sat down on his left, the gaamd on his right. They brought out the gaamd’s
drum. “Is the Béndékonde kid ready?” the gaamd asked, playfully referring
to Tooy by the name of his father’s village. “Yes, 'm ready.” “Well, here’s the
drum...” Later, said Tooy, the gaamd asked Basid Bétokodsu to summon him
to hisresidence. Captain Kala was there, Headcaptain Faansisénu was there,
and the latter poured the rum onto Tooy’s hands before it reached the earth.
The gaamd asked him if he wanted to become a captain. He said no. Then he
asked if he wanted to be a basid (assistant headman). No. So they made an
older brother of his captain of Bundjitapd. That was Tooy’s first brush with
a captaincy.

While in Balén, he lived with a woman from Ndyuka, a distant relative of
his father’s. “She was quite a case!l—always ‘testing’ me, trying to find my
weak spot.”

When I was out working, she’d eat my food, take my clothes, drink from my
rum bottle. I was as good as dead! Then a guy started telling his wife that he
knew that I had sent my wife as go-between to ask her to sleep with me. I held
this thing in my heart for one whole year without doing anything about it.
And then one Saturday night, I slept in two different houses, with two dif-
ferent women—neither my wife. Before I went out, I'd told my little brother
where I'd be so if he heard a commotion in such-and-such a place, he could
come running. I left the first woman whose house I visited around midnight.
Then I went on to the second. I was quite a guy—but guess what? The very
next day, that woman’s husband died! Baad! When I'd arrived in the middle
of the night, I'd knocked on the door and she opened it, and just then a giant
bat flew out and nearly knocked me over. I should have known to go home,
Brother! But I went right on in and stayed till half-past five, just before dawn.
As I arrived back in Balén, I came upon a niece of mine who told me that
the woman’s husband had returned home from work during the night (the eve-
ning shift at the dam let out at midnight) and had carefully opened the door
and had seen me with his wife! After I left, I learned, he came back and really
beat his wife—all because of me. The next night, his people showed up to beat
my little brother and were just getting started when I showed up and stopped
them. I went into my house to change out of my work clothes and the fifteen
men blocked me in my house. They accused me of this and that. They kept
saying I should come on out of the house. I denied the whole thing. Back and
forth. Lots of threats. Finally, I jumped out and said, whoever wants to hit me,
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let him try. And I walked right past them and into my father’s ancestor shrine.
I called the strong name of the ancestor shrine. I called the strong name of the
jug used to pour libations. I called the strong name of the palm-leaf fringe
around the shrine. I called the strong name of the Earth Mother. I told my fa-
ther I needed his help. And Itold them all sorts of things about their matrilin-
eage [including allusions to various cases of sexual misconduct that brought
avenging spirits]. And the men just took off ! Though I don’t dare go back to
that village, they never beat me. I bested them with my knowledge!*°

Tooy would have been nearly thirty when he took up curing on a steady ba-
sis, near Balén. “I began curing people, but not for sickness. It was to make
gods, domesticate them, settle them in people’s heads—Aptku [forest spir-
its], Papdgddu [boa-constrictor gods], Komanti [warrior|/curing gods]. The
main thing I did was make Komantis—and play Papd and apinti.” He also
used to work with his paiyd-paiyd-dbia fan, also called womi sdku—the dbia
fan he'd used at our house in Martinique, which his father’s brother, Baala,
Pob0osi’s sister’s son, had taught him to use for hunting, soon after he’d be-
stowed his first loincloth on him in the family’s ancestor shrine.

It was there that a group of Ndyukas brought him Yaai, who later became
his wife, to “make” her mysterious god—seven Ndyuka priests had already
tried without success. “I'd never seen her before. But I built a little house in
the forest by a creek where I could take care of this work. It wasn’t a shrine
for a god, it was a shrine for the god-who-has-the earth”—in other words,
the kind of god Tooy had prayed to in vain at Roland’s lumberyard.

One day I was with this woman in a consultation—I was reading tarot cards
and a “jumping animal” walked right up to the house. She saw it and cried out,
“You have a visitor! You have a visitor!” One of its legs was cut off ! The animal
came and sat down right in front of the woman. I went and sat down behind
her. That woman was carrying a pregnancy she’d had for two years without
being able to give birth! When the animal sat down and fixed her with a stare,
some water and sprayed her belly several times with my mouth. The animal
took off down the trail and disappeared into the forest toward the west. You
know who that woman was? It was Yaai—that’s how I met her.

He cured her the next day.

I prepared a clay pot. (My apologies to Dinguldli!) That pot—three times it
refused to boil. How could this be, I said. I went off and broke some leaves
off trees. Don’t ask me what they were, because I still don’t know! We mashed
them up and finally the pot boiled. I went and washed my hands. (I still don’t
know what weeds those were.) I took the pot off the fire, cooled it, and gave
her some to drink, three times, and she kept crying out that her belly was kill-
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ing her. I had her drink yet again. That’s when the “father” [the god] arrived.
She gave birth to seven snakes. I washed her with leaves. I kept giving her to
drink from that pot. Eventually, her people sent a message for me to bring
her home. I couldn’t, so they came back to get her. By that time, the end of
the month, her belly was absolutely flat. We consulted divination. It said that
there was a god whom her people had troubled, and that was what had been in
her belly. They’d had seven specialists try to “make” it, but none could. Three
days later, I went to see the garden I'd made with my older brother, where we'd
planted more than one thousand orange trees, to say goodbye. And then Ileft
and never went back.

Tooy moved back to Saint-Laurent, where Yaai joined him from Ndyuka,
and this time he settled in, building a large house—“9 meters by 10 with two
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stories, right near the municipal water tank.”"" He took a night job to earn
money, serving as watchman at the sawmill, and set himself up for both
Saramaka-style and Creole-style curing during the day. The god who'd begun
coming into his head with increasing regularity, Tatd Dinuydngi, taught
him how to “see things” in a mirror as well as how to better manipulate
his tarot cards. (“You have to have a strong stomach to do divination with
cards,” he remarks to me.)** And he built his first Dinguldli-Obia shrine,
with help from a close friend, Sedudni, whose father had been the priest of a
branch on the Suriname River. (During Tooy’s time in Haarlem, he’d learned
much about the 6bia from his cousin Awénke, Kdji’s “namesake” and priest
of the dbia there.) A few years later, he traveled to the Oyapock to make of-
ferings at the mother shrine. “I made my offering to Akoomi, raised a flag
in his honor. I said I wanted to work with his dbia, and I gave him 3 liters of
rum and three cloths. There’s nothing about that ¢bia I don’t know! But no
one can say that I'stoleit.”

During this time, Tooy worked diligently to settle Yaai’s god in her head.
He went to her village in Ndyuka, far up the Tapanahoni, and spent six full
months presiding over the final rituals that removed the god from the forest
to her village. “Thirty-one people went to the spot to help bring it out—all
of them came out of the forest weeping, but no one could figure out why.”
Eventually, he was able to determine that Yaai’s kinsmen had cut a garden
in the domain of this god’s father without asking proper permission. But
what he found out next, as the god began to speak through Yaai, was the real
shocker: the god’s father was none other than Flibdnti, the African-ghost-
spirit in the head of Tooy’s brother Sensilé—the dbia that Kwasimukdmba
had given to Antamad. It was Flibdnti who had brought Yaai’s god out of the
sea, where it had lived with its mother Yowentina, Flibdnti’s wife in Wénti
land, and it was Flibdnti who set up a garden for this son of his near a creek
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in Ndyuka. Tooy brought Yaai back to Saint-Laurent, where they set up a
shrine for her god, who had told them his name was Bdsi Yontini—a genu-
ine Wénti from Gadnlolo, under the sea, though he has an African-ghost-
spirit for a father and a Papdgddu (snake spirit) named Asindia for a wife.”
From that moment on, Yaai’s Wénti became a centerpiece of Tooy’s life.

During his time in Saint-Laurent, Tooy was shot in the foot in a hunt-
ing accident. “I walked 7 kilometers with that shot-up foot. I felt nothing,
and it stayed swollen for months. Finally, Yaai’s god came and told me what
to do. I sacrificed two fowls to Diinguldli. But the foot has never healed
completely.”

All this time, the brother of Tooy’s mother, Jozef Babid, lived nearby and
they spent a great deal of time together. Babid was quite a guy. Called by
everyone Losion (perfume), he had been in Guyane for decades. Tooy loves
to tell how “ripe” he was, even though he had no gods in his head. Once, for
example, some of his enemies decided to get together and kill him by sor-
cery. In the savannah, near the customs house, they made an dbia, digging
a hole and putting in various leaves and a new unwashed length of cloth.
Then they ritually shot him, buried him there, and sang Papd, just the way
they bury a real person, and then covered up the hole. But a friend—a Cre-
ole—who was on the balcony of his two-storey house saw this and, very
upset, went to tell Babid. Babid comforted the friend and said, “That’s all
those people did? Not to worry. We'll eat them for breakfast!” (Saramakas
say, “We'll drink their coffee!”) Then Babid asked his friend to show him the
exact spot. The man took him near and pointed to where it was—he was too
scared to get closer. Babid went and emptied the hole, pulled himself right
out! Seven days passed, and the man who'd directed the 6bia was struck with
a tremendous fever. His wife, who was Babid’s niece, had also washed in the
dbia, and Babid told her, “Go back to Saramaka, or youw'll never recover,” and
he offered her 40,000 (ancien) francs for expenses. But instead, she took her
husband up the Marowijne to the village of Apatou. Two days later, he was
dead. Five weeks later, she died, too. That day, she’d prepared some kwaka
(grilled cassava flour), she’d swept the house, and she put a little kwaka in
water. The first mouthful she took, Hwoii! (dead). Later, another girl who'd
washed in the dbia came to beg him to protect her, but he said, “Get outta
here! You knew full well what you were doing!”

Another time, Babid was bringing a canoe filled with railroad ties made
of I6kisi hardwood across the broad river to Albina, on the Dutch side. In
those days, they sold for 50 cents (a half guilder) each. He had twenty of
them. Babid took a sack of okra and put it in his canoe with his gun and hunt-
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ing sack. During the crossing, the canoe overturned, and he found himself
swimming with his okra sack, his gun, and his hunting sack. Three times
as he was about to go under for good, he called out to the Béndiwdta Mamd,
who each time lifted him up. (He had an ébia in the okra sack.) You can stand
on her back for a whole hour—as long as you don’t move at all. The god
brought him right to shore.

Babid got some of his dbias from an unusual source—three strange Af-
ricans who lived with him for years in Mana. Tooy now works with a few of
their dbias, which his uncle passed on to him. I'd first heard of these charac-
ters in the 1960s, when Asipéi, who'd spent the 1920s in Mana, reminisced
about how one of these men had an dbia-necklace he used in divination and
offered to make one for him. It told you instantly when your wife was so
much as flirting with another man. Asipéi told him thanks anyway. He was
afraid of it; there are some things it’s better not to know. Tooy described
the Africans—all of whom lived in Mana before his time—more fully. Their
names were Sébede, Kodjdko, and Ahdntodji. Sébede brought up Babid, took
care of him like his own son. The three of them had an débia post in a shrine.
If you came near there with another 6bia, you were a dead man!

Each of those Africans had a matchbox, and once a year they’d take out a
match and use it for the whole year. When Ahdntodji’s was almost empty—
there were only two or three matchsticks left—he said he couldn’t stay till
the box was empty; it was time to go home. The next morning they went to
look for him, and he was gone—he’d flown back to Africa! But Kodjd and
Sébede stayed on. Kodjd died first, and when Sébede died, people said he
was a witch and wouldn’t help bury him. Babid lifted his coffin on his back
and carried it all the way to the cemetery! Sébede, says Tooy, had an ébia-
in-a-calabash. Every week he’d light a candle in front of it. Those men had
a matchbox where one match would strike for an entire year! They taught
Babid some African “language,” according to Tooy’s god Dinuydngi, who
one day tells me a “dangerous” phrase that they said was from the Anagé
people: Selebébo selefdla, anatd djobidjébi, bétele djébidjdbi, abeyé beydwa.
Dunuydngi explains, “If you buy a hoe blade, and set it on a wooden handle,
you can't be the first to cut the earth with it—if you do, you’ll die! Give it
to someone else to cut the earth with first. That’s what these words say. ‘If
you're looking to kill me, you’ll kill yourself!” Tatd Sébede and Kodjd and
Ahdntodji, they brought that talk to us. Saramakas hadn’t heard it before.”
There was only one thing, Babid told Tooy, that the three Africans promised
to give him that they didn’t—the identity of the leaves they used to drink in
a calabash, that’s what they didn’t give him.
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Iask Tooy if he’s ever heard of other Africans whom Saramakas knew—on
the Oyapock, in Paramaribo, or elsewhere. (I certainly haven't.) He says only
those three. And for him, their legacy—what they taught Saramakas—is
pretty small change. So any local openings I might have hoped for toward
Randy Matory’s master narrative—which seems to work for Candomblé
and, to a lesser extent, for Santeria—that New World Afro-American reli-
gions bask in an ongoing, centuries-long interchange with African mother-
lands, may be laid to rest in this case, at least as far as 'm concerned.™

“I didn’t mean to leave Saint-Laurent for Cayenne,” Tooy told me. (He'd been
living there some five years by this time.)

The big man of Cayenne called L. had been in two accidents; he was dying.
Sedudni, who knew us both, came to me for advice. I “cut cards” six times to
see what needed to be done. On a Good Friday, they brought me to Cayenne
(I don’t know what year). I was supposed to meet him just across the creek
from here. I boiled a pot of leaves for him, three weeks’ worth, and told him
he couldn’t eat food cooked by women or go anywhere near women during
those three weeks. He asked me how much he owed. I said I didn’t know—he
could pay me 300,000 [ancien] francs. He said, “I want to live! Three hundred
thousand francs couldn’t even buy my coffin!” In fact, he paid me 1,900,000
francs. I didn’t ask for it—it’s what his heart told him to give. And L. is still
alive today!

Once I was in Cayenne I began to spend time with my older brother Payei,
whom I'd never met before. We'd each take our wife to his forest camp in
Roura, a fine place next to the river but far from the road, where we worked
in his garden and sold kwdka [roasted cassava granules] at the landing place.
Yaai was very sick there. I brought her down to the hospital in town, where she
stayed for two months—she was almost dead.

A man named Docile St. Clair had taken care of my brother when he was
young—he’d had him baptized. He had bought that piece of forest, and he and
my brother worked gold there for fourteen years. When he died, he left Payei
450 hectares in his will. That’s where I worked until the police stopped me just
afewyearsago. It turns out that the man hadn’t made the papers correctly, and
after my brother’s death, they said I had a different name from him, so how
could I be his brother? But the police knew that land was my brother’s, and in
the end, they gave me title to 5 hectares there. The rest is vacant land. You can
only get there by canoe.
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Given the rest of the chronology, Tooy’s move to Cayenne must have come
around 1970." That’s when he would have set himself up with Yaai in the
house at the edge of the city, with an altar for Bdsi Yontini and a chamber
for Dinguldli, next to the swamp that was later drained to make space for
his current home. And it’s when he began working in the capital as a full-
time curer.



MY FIRST-TIME MUSEUM

* 1690[2007 *

I try to envision what a musée imaginaire of Saramakas’ history-with-white-
folks might look like, a museum of words and images rather than objects.
(By this point in the book, the reader should be able to fill in this skeletal
planwith additional appropriate words and images.) It might begin with the
Saramaka adage “First-Time isn’t dead yet,” and would certainly be domi-
nated by continuities of whitefolks’ oppression and by vast imbalances of
power. But it would include, just as surely, ever-changing creative responses
from Saramakas refusing to accept the whitefolks’ definition of the situa-
tion and successfully building separate worlds quite their own—perhaps
this whole book might be read as a testament to that.
The rooms could be arranged chronologically.

EARLY EIGHTEENTH CENTURY. We begin with the iconic image of
whitefolks’ control over Africans’ bodies—Joosie hanging from his gib-
bet—bespeaking everything from capture and enslavement in Africa,
through all the horrors of Suriname slavery, to the recapture of Saramakas
inbattle followed by their torture and death. Joosie was one of twelve mem-
bers of Kadsipimbu’s “Langu” community who were captured by massive
military expeditions in 1730. Before the end of the year, eleven of them are
“brought to justice...inthe hope that it would provide an Example and de-
terrent to their associates, and reduce the propensity of slaves to escape.”
Their sentence, administered by the Court of Policy and Criminal Justice
in Paramaribo, reads as follows:

The Negro Joosie shall be hanged from the gibbet by an Iron Hook through
his ribs, until dead; his head shall then be severed and displayed on a stake by
the riverbank, remaining to be picked over by birds of prey. As for the Negroes
Wierrie and Manbote, they shall be bound to a stake and roasted alive over a
slow fire, while being tortured with glowing Tongs. The Negro girls, Lucretia,
Ambira, Aga, Gomba, Marie and Victoria will be tied to a Cross, to be broken
alive, and then their heads severed, to be exposed by the riverbank on stakes.
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“A Negro hung alive by the Ribs to a Gallows.” Engraving by William Blake after a drawing
by John Gabriel Stedman, based on an eyewitness account from 1773.

The Negro girls Diana and Christina shall be beheaded with an axe, and their
heads exposed on poles by the riverbank.”

But even while Joosie twists in the wind, his brothers and sisters are carry-
ing on with their remarkable project of nation-building. So, this first virtual
room is dominated by the whites’ attempts to exercise violence as a means of
control and by the resulting war between unequals, during which Saramaka
men, women, and children quietly create a whole new culture and society—
language, political and economic systems, rituals and beliefs, and all the
rest—based firmly on their collective African knowledge and experience,
with much smaller contributions from their limited contact with European
and Amerindian peoples.

MID-EIGHTEENTH CENTURY. The process of formal peacemaking de-
serves a room of its own—the whites’ continuous perfidy, the Saramakas’
ultimate triumph, thanks to their dbias and their skills in guerrilla war-
fare. We would see the whitefolks sending in their spies, including Kwa-
simukdmba, to learn Saramaka secrets, but Saramaka dbias helping the reb-
els to triumph in the end. And once the Peace was tentatively set, whitefolks,
thinking the Saramakas childlike, trying to trick them with baubles (Ensign
Dorig at the tribute distribution: “I had arranged all the shares in such an
attractive way that they would think that there was three times as much as
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there actually was”), but the Saramakas hanging tough and insisting on “s3
kegs of gunpowder, 13 muskets, some light guns,” and other such instead.’
For Saramakas, nound now becomes the watchword—it’s time for ruse and
avoidance.*

LATE EIGHTEENTH CENTURY. Colonial postholders and Moravian
missionaries dwell in Saramaka villages, trying to win, on the one hand,
recently escaped slaves whom they canreturn to servitude, and on the other,
Saramaka souls for Christ. Saramakas resist magnificently, playing a shell
game with the many new “runaways” they are harboring, and under the
charismatic leadership of Tooy’s ancestor Antamd, refuse Christian conver-
sion almost to a man (and woman).

MID-NINETEENTH CENTURY. Slave emancipation on the coast and the
gold rush in French Guiana bring wage-labor opportunities and increased
contacts with whitefolks for Saramaka men. Keeping First-Time ideology
alive becomes the watchword. The folktale about King Nothing-Can-Hurt
Him speaks to the order of the day: so long as you never accept the white-
man’s definition of the situation, you’ll triumph in the end.’

EARLY TWENTIETH CENTURY. Whitefolks step up the pressure, trying
to bring Saramaka lands under rational control (for purposes of granting
mining concessions as well as for more abstract, empire-building reasons)
through surveying and mapping. Saramakas, including Tooy’s namesake
Pobési, pick and choose from the offerings of whitefolks but largely resist,
mainly through ruse. Saramaka men become increasingly dependent on mi-
grant labor as canoemen in French Guiana, where their newly discovered
Weéntis help them succeed.

MID-TWENTIETH CENTURY. The colonial state and Alcoa get tough
and unilaterally appropriate one-half of Saramaka territory for a hydroelec-
tric dam and lake. There is no international outcry (from anthropologists
or anyone else}—only a feel-good project to save the displaced animals. Be-
yond the affected area of the lake, Saramaka life goes on much as before. (We
begin our anthropological fieldwork on the Pikilio.)

LATE TWENTIETH CENTURY. The postindependence Republic of Suri-
name wages war against Maroons. The killings of Saramakas at Atjéni might
be the emblematic centerpiece here.® After a protracted trial, the Inter-
American Court for Human Rights forces the Republic of Suriname to accept
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responsibility and pay the relatives of the murdered Saramakas nearly half
amillion U.S. dollars. Other exhibits in this room could include eyewitness
accounts of what happened in the Ndyuka village of Moiwana on November
29, 1986: “The soldiers rounded up another group of seven people: six chil-
dren and one woman. They lined them up in the middle of the village. They
begged for their lives, but the soldiers shot them all to death. . . . Before the
soldiersleft, they burned down the whole village”” Or more general accounts
of the period: “In June 1986 [Suriname Head of State] Bouterse . . . unleashed
his military—including field artillery, aerial bombardment, and tanks—on
the defenseless village of Mongo Tapu. . . . In the following months simi-
lar violent actions were taken against other Maroon villages. In December
1986 the New York Times reported that 244 Maroons had been killed. . . . The
immediate challenge concerns the fate of the more than 14,000 [Maroon]
refugees. At least 10,000 of them . . . have fled across the Maroni River into
French Guiana.”’ In June 2005, in a sweeping ruling, the Inter-American
Court for Human Rights found Suriname guilty of having violated the hu-
man rights of 130 named members of the village of Moiwana (including
killing at least 39 people, mainly women and children, and wounding many
more; covering up the crime and failing to investigate it; and effectively ex-
iling the whole community from its traditional lands). The court ordered
Suriname to pay a total of nearly three million U.S. dollars to the surviving
members of the community, to grant them collective title to their lands, to
bring the perpetrators to justice, to erect a memorial, and to make a public
apology. As this book goes to press, Suriname has already paid survivors
their money, erected a memorial, and made a public apology, though the
collective land grant and prosecution of the perpetrators remain unfinished
business.

TWENTY-FIRST CENTURY. In Suriname, there are yet more blatant at-
tempts to abrogate unilaterally the eighteenth-century Maroon treaties.
The government in Paramaribo cuts up the bulk of Saramaka territory into
parcels and leases them to Chinese, Indonesian, Canadian, American, and
other multinational logging and mining companies. Logging roads are cut
through First-Time village sites; game, birds, and fish disappear; vast ex-
panses of red mud and white sand replace tropical forest; thousands of tons
of cyanide- and mercury-laced gold-mining slag bury watercourses. The As-
sociation of Saramaka Authorities (the traditional captains and the gaamd)
bring suit before the Inter-American Court for Human Rights, seeking col-
lective title to the lands on which Saramakas have lived, farmed, and hunted
since the eighteenth century and, potentially, establishing far-reaching
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legal precedent for indigenous and Maroon peoples throughout the Ameri-
cas. The outcome is pending at the time this book goes to press.’

Meanwhile, in French Guiana, where one-third of Saramakas now live,
most without French papers, the government in Cayenne has turned a blind
eye to massive ecological depredations caused by multinational and local
gold mining in Aluku territory. And Saramaka captain Tooy is sentenced to
seven years in prison for a crime he did not commit.

First-Time isn’t dead yet.
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If February 20, 2002, ranks up there with the worst day of my own life, imag-
ine what it must have been like for Tooy.

This is not a pretty story, and it has no heroes. Even writing about it runs
multiple risks, real and imagined, including the loss of previously sympa-
thetic readers. But for all that, it’s probably worth trying to get down the
events as best I understand them. For it is part of Tooy’s story, as well as part
of my own.!

Of the seven deadly sins, there’s little doubt that the favored choice of
most Saramaka men has always been lust. Since earliest recorded history,
having what they call “long eyes” about women, married or not, has landed
them in trouble. Around midnight, the Suriname River is dotted with the
lanterns of men in canoes making their way upstream or down, often stop-
ping at a landing place to exchange a canoe for another that happens to be
there and continuing to the target village in this borrowed craft, which
will be returned before dawn, the owner none the wiser—stealth and cau-
tion are part of the local mating game. Adultery is by far the most com-
mon “crime” in Saramaka jurisprudence. Normally, the adulterous man (if
caught) pays the husband’s lineage a fine or suffers a severe beating or both.
Most men have had to pay fines or have received beatings numerous times in
their lives—and that’s only for the times they’ve been caught. The introduc-
tion of Casio digital watches was a major breakthrough in the 1960s, as men
visiting married women for a night had previously assured their predawn
exit with large wind-up alarm clocks that risked alerting neighbors to the
affair.

Adultery may lead to more serious sanctions for the man: in certain cases,
his matrilineage suffers eternal vengeance from the spirit of the woman’s
deceased husband. Indeed, one of the two major lineages of Tooy’s Lingu
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clan has its origin in just such a domestic event, which must have happened
nearly three hundred years ago. As Tooy summarizes it,

Tatd Kadsi [the earliest of the great First-Time Ldngu leaders], his brother-in-
law Piydi, and Tatd Amisu went off through the forest to bring back Oliko,
because Piydi wanted her as a wife. (Kadsi had two wives, Amimba and an ingi
[Indian] woman named Tali—Piydi was her brother.) Ma Oliko, she was an ingi.
(Her name isreally “sweet,” and they say she was quite alooker!) These men—
night was their day. They’d walk through the forest at night! They waited for
her near the creek at the ingi village, where she would come down to wash;
then they would take her away. They hid there. Then two young girls arrived.
Kadsi took Oliko with his dbia. She was carrying a gourd to get water—still a
little kid. They brought her back to their village to raise. After a while, Piydi
told Kadsi she was big enough to be given to him in marriage. Kadsi said no,
she wasn't big enough yet. (That’s what brought the avenging spirit!) One day
they saw that Oliko was pregnant. Well, who do you think had knocked her up?
Of course it was Kadsi! Piydi didn't say much and didn’t ask for reparations. He
simply took his sister and the better part of Kadsi’s dbias and walked off into
the forest, never to be seen again. (The children of Kadsi and Oliko are the Piki
Kaapdtu subclan of Langu. Piydi became the great avenging spirit for the Gadn
Kaapdtu subclan, the children of Kadsi and Amimba.)

Saramaka men like their women young. I once overheard a man say, “The
two greatest gifts of God to man are all-night ‘plays’ [the large celebrations
that culminate funerals] and young adolescent girls.” And, indeed, thirteen-
or fourteen-year-old girls have always been the most actively sought part-
ners. Girls marry young—fourteen would be about the norm. And sex is
considered an untrammeled joy by men and women and is unaccompa-
nied by anxiety, except as regards jealousy, which is a strong Saramaka
passion.?

In February 2002, we had arrived in Guyane for a month of research aimed at
finishing a general book about Maroons in Guyane.’ When we visited Tooy
on the day of our arrival, he told us, “Theyre talking about putting me in jail
because of that ingi girl”—shades of Tatd Kadsil—and he showed us a fistful
of papers he'd recently received. As we read through these documents—a
series of legal forms, a psychiatrist’s report, various depositions—it dawned
on us that Tooy was being summoned to appear the following week before
the Criminal Court of Cayenne to defend himself on a charge of rape.
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When we ask, Tooy says the Indian woman left him around 1988, after
they’d lived together several years, and that she surprised him three years
later by showing up with a little girl, asking him for money. He was angry
she hadn’t told him about the child earlier, but he gave her some cash. He
continued to give her money over the years, once, he says, even buying a bi-
cycle for the child. And then in 1998 she showed up again, this time with her
mother, demanding the equivalent of thirteen thousand dollars and threat-
ening thatif he didn’t pay she’d take him to court. Since then, he’s been sum-
moned repeatedly to the police station and the courthouse, questioned, and
then released. He says he is getting tired of this harassment.

It's Tuesday, February 12, and—according to the documents Tooy’s
showed us, which of course he can’t read—the trial is set for Wednesday the
twentieth. We ask Tooy if he has a lawyer. He searches through his papers
and finds a slip with a handwritten name—the court-appointed lawyer is
one Antoine Auguste, Esquire. Tooy says he’s never met him. We hurry back
to our hotel and find the name in the phonebook. We call, explain ourselves,
and are given an appointment first thing in the morning. We're one week
from the trial date.

On the way to the lawyer’s, we stop by Tooy’s to say good morning. He
takes us out behind his house, breaks off some gwdyamdka leaves, and tells
us to masticate them and hold as big a wad as we can in the back of our
mouths while we speak to the lawyer. It guarantees, he explains, that our
words will have their intended purpose—it’s a specialty of the Kaapdtu
(Béndiwdta) people, who learned it from Amerindians (that is, from Kadsi’s
brother-in-law Piydi).

Downtown in Cayenne, we find Mr. Auguste in his tiny office cluttered
with stacks of folders. We do our best to speak above the radio behind his
desk blaring carnival music—it seems not to occur to him to lower the vol-
ume. We introduce ourselves as anthropologists who have long worked with
Saramakas and give him two of our books in French, in the hope that they
will help him better contextualize the life of his client before the court, es-
pecially as concerns matters of sex and family.

Mr. Auguste’s face breaks into a broad smile: “It’s God himself who
brought you to this modest office. I know I'm going to lose this case, but
now that you are here, we have a fighting chance to get a lighter sentence.”
He tells us that the maximum sentence for rape is twenty years, and that’s
exactly what he’d been expecting the jury to hand down. We spend the next
half hour giving him a minicourse in Saramaka culture, explaining that
girlsbegin sexatavery early age, that husbands are often far older than their
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wives, and that most men have several wives. As he lingers over the photos
of bare-breasted Saramaka girls in our books, he leers at the idea of having
more than one wife, particularly young wives, saying what a shame it was
that he hadn’t been born into that society. When we inquire, he suggests that
it would be best if he and Tooy did not meet until the day of the trial: “It’s
better not to try to ‘program’ those people—it just confuses them, and they
end up contradicting themselves when they take the stand.” We explain that
Saramakas consider Tooy a leader of his people, a scholar, and a priest, and
try to show him the four-page newspaper spread about Tooy’s enstoolment
as captain. Auguste doesn’t seem very interested but thanks us for the infor-
mation. As we leave, the radio is still blaring carnival songs.

Back at Tooy’s, the young apprentices tell us that an old client of his,
the honorary consul of Peru in Cayenne, has hired a second lawyer named
Richard Lamartine. Meanwhile, Tooy has found some additional papers
delivered by court courier and asks us to read them for him. We telephone
Lamartine and make an appointment. Tooy says when we ask that he’s never
met him either.

We are becoming increasingly concerned about the seriousness of Tooy’s
situation. Alone in our hotel room, we try to analyze the options, wondering
whether Tooy shouldn’t consider escaping to Suriname, which has no extra-
dition treaty with French Guiana and is just a quick canoe ride over the open
border from Saint-Laurent, four hours away. Even if the chances of being
convicted and ending up in prison were only 50-50, wouldn’t we be tempted
simply to go home to Suriname, if we were in his place?

Later that evening, roughly sixty members of the Saramaka community,
many of them relatives of Tooy’s, meet to discuss the case and ask us to ex-
plain the stakes. (All these people are immigrants, many of them without
papers, and few of them can either speak French or read and write.) Auguste
has told us that he has the right to call five character witnesses, but that we
have only until the next morning to submit their names to the court. So to-
gether we agree on a list: the two of us, a journalist friend who had written
an article about Tooy when he became captain, Ben Amiemba (president of
the Association of Young Active Saramakas of Guyane), and our old friend
Kalusé, who is Tooy’s assistant captain.

The next day we meet the second lawyer, whose office is a considerable
step up from Auguste’s. He shows us his copy of the French edition of First-
Time, which he’d bought a couple of years before to try to learn something
about the Saramakas he was seeing with increasing frequency around Cay-
enne. Like Auguste, he feels that our presence provides a ray of hope where
there had been none before. But he cautions us that the presiding judge is a
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militant feminist who has told him privately that she’s had it up to here with
the recent plague of rapes in Cayenne and thinks the only solution is to get
all the bastards firmly behind bars.*

Though Tooy clearly didn’t enjoy speaking about it, we told him it was im-
portant that he tell us everything he knew about the events leading to his
current dilemma. His version (corroborated to us independently by his
wives and various other Saramakas) is a tangled web.

Some twenty years ago, he said, when he was living in a two-room shack
at the edge of the mangrove, not far from his present house, he took in a
family of ingi from Maripasoula, far up the river that borders Suriname. The
mother, he further specified, was pure Indian, while her husband was a Cre-
ole from Guadeloupe, and there were three young-teenage daughters—An-
nette, Cathérine, and Brigitte—as well as a still younger son, Jean. Cathérine
had been having serious health problems—headaches, earaches, and oc-
casional convulsions—and her mother had taken her to a Saramaka curer
in Maripasoula, Thomas Ngwete. Divination told Ngwete that Cathérine’s
problems stemmed from an Aptiku forest spirit who lived in a boulder that
had been singed when Cathérine’s father had cut a garden near its abode.
Ngwete worked to cure Cathérine over several months without success. In
the end, he suggested they travel to Cayenne to consult Tooy, who had stron-
ger powers.

On Ngwete’s advice, the whole family took the biweekly plane to Cayenne
and squeezed into Tooy’s tiny house, where they stayed for several months
as he commenced his curing rituals for Cathérine. Ma Yaai, Tooy’s wife, was
at her home in Saint-Laurent during the period, and he visited her occa-
sionally on weekends. At the outset, Tooy requested 2,000 francs ($325) from
Cathérine’s father for the cure—he never asked for additional money from
them. Tooy recalls that Cathérine’s father and mother were having conjugal
difficulties at the time. He thinks it may have had to do with the father’s
strong adhesion to the Evangelical Church, in which he tried to enroll his
daughters as well.

Before long, Tooy says, he began sleeping with Cathérine’s younger sister
Annette, who—though only thirteen—was already sexually experienced.
The parents made no objection, and the couple stayed together for the next
five years. After the first months with the whole ingi family at Tooy’s, the
parents went back to Maripasoula, leaving the three daughters and the son
in his care. Before long, he says, he began sleeping with Annette’s sisters,
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Cathérine and Brigitte, who would climb up to his sleeping loft while An-
nette was having her period and therefore sleeping downstairs, separately.
(These two girls, he says, were also experienced with men by the time he
first slept with them.) The girls played a game of competing for his favors.
Whenever Annette was sleeping on the bench downstairs, Brigitte would
scamper up the stairs to be the first in bed with him. He was having great
fun with the three girls, going everywhere with them, making a large gar-
den at his brother’s place at Roura, where the four of them worked together
and stayed during school vacations. He also took them on vacation trips to
Saint-Laurent, where they all stayed with Ma Yaai. And he once took them
on amemorable trip to Suriname, where they visited his relatives, did some
curing for Cathérine, and enjoyed the change. Back in Cayenne, Tooy tried,
several times, to fix up Cathérine and Brigitte with young men he knew,
thinking that it would be good for them to have more permanent relation-
ships. Several young Saramakas took advantage of this opportunity, though
none of the relationships lasted long.

Tooy told us that after a couple of years of this, Cathérine and Brigitte
moved out, lodging at the home of a state-appointed “guardian” while they
finished school in Cayenne. Tooy continued to see them frequently, since
they lived nearby and often visited their sister Annette. Then, after five years
of living together, Tooy and Annette decided to part ways, and she returned
to Maripasoula. Before she left, Brigitte visited in the house for a few days.

For the next three years, Tooy didn’t see or hear from any of the sisters.
Then, out of the blue, Brigitte and her mother showed up with a three-year-
old girl, telling him the child was his. Tooy was shocked—when a Saramaka
woman becomes pregnant, it is considered crucial for the health of the child
that the father have frequent intercourse with the mother. But he offered to
recognize his daughter. Brigitte said that that was not why they were there,
they just wanted him to know about her. He gave them some money to buy
her things. After that, Brigitte visited periodically, asking for money for the
child, which he gave, and occasionally having sex with him. At one point,
he bought the child a bicycle as a present. When we asked, he said her name
was Agnes.

For a few years, he says, Brigitte stopped coming. And then, suddenly, she
showed up with her mother and said that if he didn’t pay her 80,000 francs,
she would bring a lawsuit against him. Over a period of several months, she
came back three times—and phoned several times as well —each time threa-
tening a lawsuit if he didn’t pay the 80,000 francs. The final time, he tells
us, she had already filed her complaint with the law but said she would
withdraw it if she were paid. Each time, he said he didn’t have the money.
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Tooy felt terribly abused by this situation—here he was, having taken in
the whole family for several years, always treated them well, been kind to
the extent that Brigitte allowed with their child, and now she was threaten-
ing him for money. He performed rituals as best he could to ward off this
unprovoked attack, but worried that mysterious French laws were somehow
closing in on him.

Tooy began to receive summonses from the police and the courts and
went, he says, “seven times” (which in Saramaccan means simply “many”)
to the police or to the courthouse and once even to the hospital, each time
answering their questions as best he could. In the most recent of these en-
counters at the courthouse, he was warned that he was currently in the sta-
tus of “liberté conditionelle” (something like being out on bail—without
having to pay bail).

On the Saturday before the trial, we pick up Tooy on our way to the meeting
we have arranged with his two lawyers and the others who will serve as wit-
nesses, so the lawyers can explain to all of us what we should expect to hap-
pen in court. Outside his house, Tooy prepares us each ritually and, again,
gives us the wad of gwdyamdka for our mouths—he places a large plug in
his own cheek.

The days before the trial are filled with rituals of many kinds. Oracle
bundles are interrogated three times, and each time give the same answer:
Tooy will be found innocent at the trial and should not flee to Suriname. A
Saramaka priest of the Béndiwdta Mamd who lives in Saint-Laurent is con-
sulted by telephone and prepares an ¢bia in the form of a large calabash filled
with ritual ingredients and tied with a cloth, which we go to pick up—it’s
an eight-hour drive round-trip—and bring back to Tooy for him to use as a
ritual bath. Tooy directs a young client, who is also a friend (and who has a
Haitian father and a mother from Guyana), in making an 6bia for winning
the trial—he explains to us that you can’t make an dbia for yourself. They
use the king, queen, and jack face cards from a normal deck, some fingernail
shavings Tooy makes with a penknife, an insole from one of his old shoes,
and a photocopied page from a grimoire containing spells about trials. They
carefully measure thirteen paces in front of the back door to Tooy’s house
and dig a hole in the middle of the dirt road with a pickaxe. In the hole, Tooy
directs his acolyte to place the photocopy, the insole, and the nail clippings,
then the queen (Tooy says, “That’s Brigitte”) facedown, the jack facedown
(Tooy says, “That’s Brigitte’s lawyer”), and then the king faceup (Tooy says,
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“That’s me!”). Next, he prays, saying his “soul” should leave the hole, but
hers and her lawyer’s should stay right there; and at the trial, their mouths
should be stopped up and he should go free. Tooy bends down and uses his
bare hands and feet to push the loose earth back into the hole until it is com-
pletely covered, as if nothing had happened there. That same afternoon,
he goes into the forest to do a much larger “throwing-away” ceremony. He
takes with him five scraps of paper bearing the name of Brigitte’s lawyer or
Brigitte herself, which he had Sally write out.

Much of our own time is spent trying to make sense of the sheaves of docu-
ments Tooy has given us. We realize they’re missing crucial elements—Bri-
gitte’s deposition as well as his own—on which the court will rely for its
decision. We also realize that the whole investigative stage of the trial, which
took depositions from various members of Brigitte’s family, never once in-
terviewed a relative of Tooy’s in order to corroborate his version of the facts.
But we still have a lot to work with. Annette’s deposition is there, as well as
the psychiatric reports on both Brigitte and Tooy.

Annette’s sworn deposition, given before a gendarme in Maripasoula, de-
scribes how in August 0f 1983, she and her family took up lodgings in Tooy’s
two-room shack while Cathérine was being cured:

Annette: “Pretty soon I started having sex with Mr. Tooy, but I want to make clear
that these were consensual relations. I was never forced. I was never threat-
ened. Mr. Tooy was 48 years old, I was 13 years old. I was no longer a virgin,
I'd already slept with other men. Tooy and I had relations on the sly, so my
parents and sisters wouldn’t know. This continued throughout the month of
August. . .. I swear that I was never forced to have relations with Mr. Tooy nor
forced to stay with him. I should make clear that at the beginning I'was in love
with thisman...”

—And then she stopped to ask the gendarme:

“Iam stopping my deposition here to ask you if this will be read in court.”

The gendarme: “Yes, of course, by the judges. That’s why you're giving the infor-
mation.”

Annette: “Then I'd like to change my story.”

—The gendarme notes that Annette began to weep and then wiped away her tears
before continuing.

“The first night, my mother and sisters were asleep in one room and I was alone
in an alcove in the second. . . . During the night, I felt Mr. Tooy slipping into
my bed. He mounted me and we had sex. . . . I didn’t scream because I was
embarrassed and didn’t want to wake up my mother or sisters. I was only thir-
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teen. It’s true that I'd already had other boys, but by choice. . . . The next night
he asked me to come to his bedroom and I accepted. . . . I was surprised to
find that my sister Cathérine was there too. Mr. Tooy had sex with us both.
I'd say it was consensual in that I didn’t object. He didn’t take me by surprise
or by force. . .. We had sex just once that night. Then he did it with my sister
Cathérine. . .. After that, it was every night, Mr. Tooy, my sister, and me. Just
as I've described it to you. I can’t say how many times but, believe me, it was
many. . .. In April 1989, I learned that my sister Brigitte was pregnant by my
companion, Mr. Tooy. I was surprised, because I had figured it was her boy-
friend who'd gotten her pregnant. But Cathérine told me it was Mr. Tooy who
had doneit.”

The French psychologist’s report on Brigitte, which described her as “a
28-year-old young woman of mixed parentage,” was based on scientific tests
and clinical interviews. It tells the story of a rape committed on a sexually
inexperienced sixteen-year-old schoolgirl who did not understand later that
she was pregnant. It relates how the young woman, despite her trauma, per-
severed in her studies and then volunteered for military service in the metro-
pole, leaving her young daughter Agnes with her parents in Maripasoula. It
continues: Brigitte returned to Cayenne and found employment in a restau-
rant, where she met a Frenchman nine years older than she. After two years
together, she became pregnant and they married. And then some two years
ago, speaking on the phone to Agnés (who was still in Maripasoula), Bri-
gitte learned that a curer there, a friend of her parents, had sexually abused
the girl repeatedly. Brigitte decided to bring her daughter to Cayenne and to
bring suit against the aggressor.® The psychologist tells how she was asked
by the court at that time to undertake the psychological evaluation of Agnes
and that, in the process, she learned that Marie, Brigitte’s youngest sister,
had also been sexually abused by this same man. Later, yet another sister,
Silviane (then seventeen), confided to Brigitte that her husband had engaged
in “lascivious touching” of her during Brigitte’s pregnancy, while he was
supposedly coaching her for some math exams. Silviane decided to bring
a lawsuit against him, eventually leading Brigitte to file for divorce. The re-
port mentions that more recently “Brigitte (and, according to her, two of her
sisters) were also sexually abused by a brother-in-law who pretended to be
a curer, in conditions very similar to the rape of one of her younger sisters
and Agnes.” And the psychologist concludes that, on the basis of her scien-
tific tests (Rorschach, Szondi, and Raven IQ_[the psychologist’s divinatory
instruments)), Brigitte will never escape this extraordinarily vicious cycle
of abusive sexuality until she exorcizes the original traumatism (her rape by
Tooy). This process, the report states, must involve his punishment.
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Sally and I try to make sense of the document. It makes it clear that dur-
ing the past couple of years, there have already been at least three lawsuits
for sexual abuse brought by members of Brigitte’s family—her daughter
and two of her sisters—all with verdicts favorable to the plaintiffs, and
apparently with financial damages paid to them by the State. We can't tell
from the report whether there have been additional lawsuits regarding the
abusive brother-in-law, though the psychologist says all three sisters were
his victims.

We move on to the psychiatrist’s report on Tooy himself. Written by a
monolingual French psychiatrist at the hospital, it began by noting that he
had sent away the three relatives accompanying Tooy to the interview in
order to have only Tooy and the official interpreter present. (The interpreter
did not speak Tooy’s language but rather what the court calls “Taki-Taki”—
more propetly called Sranan-tongo, the Creole language of coastal Suri-
name—and Tooy was obliged to communicate as best he could in that lan-
guage, which he speaks poorly, so the interpreter could try to put his words
into French.) The official report states, “The only language spoken by Tooy
Alexander is TAKI-TAKL” It goes on to declare that Tooy cannot give either
the names, ages, or sexes of the children being raised in his house by his
wife, that he says all of his brothers and sisters are dead except for him, that
he doesn’t know how many are male and how many female, that he doesn’t
know their names, and that there was “a generalized madness (insanity) in
his family.” It concludes that Tooy suffers from “confusion, vagueness, and
contradiction in his memories and declarations,” and that he experiences
“difficulty in situating events in time and space, as every human being must
do.” The psychiatrist also concludes that, “despite his advanced age, declin-
ing sexuality, and heart disease, Tooy continues to present a danger were he
placed in contact with underage girls in a social environment that ignores
the laws and prohibitions of our society,” and that if incarcerated he would
at least have a “moderate” potential for rehabilitation—although “his un-
derstandings of sexual relations are based on cultural, social, and traditional
rules which are not compatible with those of French society.”

Trial day, we're up at dawn and dress as respectably as we can. Nervous and
fearful, we drive to Tooy’s. He takes us into the Dinguldli chamber where we
greet the Father and are given some liquid to drink and rub on our hands.
Then we squeeze into the other chamber, where Yaai’s Wénti holds sway.
Tooy prays and sings as we drink some liquid from the god’s clay vessel in
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a tiny calabash. We reassure Tooy (and Yaai, who's fussing with his clothes)
that it’s all right for him to put on his multicolored cape, the one he wore
for his enstoolment as captain of the Saramakas of Cayenne, on top of his
Western suit.

Soon after 8:00 a.m., the jury has been selected (all Creoles except pos-
sibly one Frenchman, as far as we can tell) and the court declared in session.
A great deal of time is then spent by the bailiff passing out, explaining, and
then collecting forms to compensate the witnesses and jurors financially
for their loss of time, their mileage, and their air tickets. The cavernous
courtroom consists of the raised dais where the Présidente is flanked by two
other judges in formal robes, the jury box on the right, the public prosecu-
tor (also in black robes) in a box on theleft, a witness bar in the center facing
the judges, and a series of pewlike benches filling the rest of the hall. Tooy
is alone (later joined by the translator) up front, with his lawyers (in their
robes) sitting behind him. We and Tooy’s other supporters sit in the rows be-
hind them. These include Saramaka friends and relatives, a certain number
of Creole clients and friends, and a few Haitians and Brazilians. Across the
aisle to our left, Brigitte’s camp is similarly arranged. Her lawyer is a young,
attractive, articulate Guyanaise, also in robes.

The first argument made by Tooy’s lawyers, at our behest, is to ask the
court that Tooy be permitted to speak in his own language rather than in
“Taki-Taki,” explaining that this language is about as distant from Saramac-
can as Spanish is from French. (They don’t explain that making him speak
“Taki-Taki” also means that his words must pass through an interpreter
who comes from a culture, that of urban Suriname, that absolutely disdains
Maroons.) The three judges retire to consider this request and return a few
minutes later to pronounce a refusal without recourse, saying that Tooy
has never asked for this before in all the preliminary proceedings, that they
wouldn’t in any case know where to find such an interpreter, and that the
trial must go on. “We are in France,” says the Présidente, “not in Saramaka
country.”*

Tooy is called to the bar for purposes of identification. The first thing
he’s asked, via the interpreter, is his name and his age. After saying his of-
ficial French name, he says he doesn’t know his age (bringing a broad smile
of condescension to the Présidente’s face). As he begins fumbling with his
money pouch under his dress shirt to find his residence card, which has his
official birthdate, the Présidente interrupts to say, “I already have a copy of
that before me here.” “You don’t even know your age?” she mutters, shaking
her head, and tells him to go and sit down on his bench. Tooy looks defeated,
alone, and lost.”
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Then, as witnesses, we are ushered out of the hearing room until our time
to testify, so we miss the first hour or so of the trial, during which the psy-
chiatric expert gives his professional assessment of Tooy and his capability,
despite his “mental confusion,” to take responsibility for his acts and stand
trial.’ I am the first of the witnesses to be recalled to stand before the court.

At the lawyers’ suggestion, I've prepared a twenty-minute presenta-
tion covering my own bona fides and then offering nutshell summaries of
Saramaka culture and society, the history of Saramakas in Guyane, Tooy’s
central importance as person and symbol to the Saramaka community in
Cayenne—his role as “man of knowledge,” “historian,” and religious leader;
his political and judicial role as traditional captain—and the claim that the
language he is being forced to use in court is not his own. The court treats
me with considerable respect, the public prosecutor making a point of hav-
ing read my books with great interest, until the moment when I begin citing
errors and misunderstandings in the psychiatrist’s report on Tooy: the fact
that Tooy has forty-three children whose names and residences he doesn’t
know, that two of his siblings drowned, that there was frequent mental ill-
ness in his family. The Présidente interrupts, asking, “Where in the world
did you gain access to Tooy’s dossier? You have no right to see those papers!
You are here solely as a character witness!” I reply that since Tooy cannot
read or understand French, he had no idea what was in the pile of papers
that had been sent to him by the criminal justice system, and he had asked
me to read them and translate them for him. The Présidente repeats that I
have no right to see or cite these materials, asIam there solely as a character
witness. (After my testimony, Tooy’s lawyers lean over to me, also somewhat
disturbed that I referred to materials in the dossier.) I clash with the Prési-
dente again when she asks me, “Can you tell the court why in the world a
beautiful young girl like Brigitte would be attracted to an old man like that?”
pointing her pursed lips in the direction of Tooy. In retrospect, I realize I
should have answered that she ought to pose that question not to me but
to Annette, who was thirteen when she fell in love with Tooy—but I wasn’t
sufficiently quick witted.

Sally is the second character witness. She presents herself as a scholar
who is there to try to introduce the court to a world in which sexuality is
viewed very differently from the way it is in France. She begins by showing
the three pictures on the dedication page of her Co-Wives and Calabashes,
winner of a national women’s studies prize, which she intends as testimony
to her feminist sympathies: a girl named Moina first at age six, then at ten,
and finally at fourteen, holding her first baby, the point being the normalcy
of sexual precocity among Saramakas (and, she adds, on the basis of the
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anthropological literature she’s read, Amerindians). She speaks of Saramaka
polygyny—the fact that most men have several wives. And she speaks of
how, when a man’s wife has her period, he normally sleeps with another.
By the time she gets toward the middle of her prepared lesson, which is all
about the need for respecting cultural difference, she has been interrupted
so many times by the Présidente that she finally gives up. The Présidente and
public prosecutor say that those cultural arguments are all well and good,
but this trial is not taking place in Saramaka country but in France.’

The other two witnesses we have arranged for Tooy—Ben Amiemba, an
articulate young Saramaka who speaks French, and a Senegalese journal-
ist who had covered Tooy’s enstoolment the previous year—testify briefly
about Tooy’s character.* (Later, Ben points out to us that Tooy’s witnesses all
being foreigners certainly didn't help his case.)

Brigitte’s character witnesses address the court next. There’s a gendarme
in a spanking white uniform who was flown back from the metropole for the
trial (he was the one who had taken Brigitte’s deposition), the policeman
from Maripasoula who took down the deposition from Annette, and An-
nette herself. The policeman, who has clearly been prepped by Brigitte’s law-
yer, gives a detailed account of the part of Annette’s deposition that followed
her asking whether it would be read in court, that is, the version she wanted
the court to hear. While the gendarme, relatively taciturn, is at the bar, the
Présidente takes the opportunity to read long passages from Brigitte’s depo-
sition, particularly the parts detailing the “pénétration”—how Tooy alleg-
edly slipped his index finger inside her underpants—and further prurient
details. When Annette is called to the bar, well dressed, sure of herself, she
recounts that Tooy raped her when she was but thirteen, after which she
stayed with him for years out of fear. She speaks softly and weeps repeatedly
during her fifteen-minute testimony. Then Brigitte, chic and confident, tells
her story, also weeping profusely as she speaks. Several women of the jury
take out their own handkerchiefs to wipe away tears. As Brigitte finishes, the
Présidente tells the court she would like “to personally congratulate the vic-
tim,” who came from such humble circumstances, for having—despite the
difficulties she’s encountered—completed her military service and received
her M.A. in modern languages. And finally the psychologist testifies, read-
ing passage after passage from her report about Brigitte. At one point, one
of the judges, a woman, asks whether Brigitte’s testimony about what hap-
pened thirteen years ago could be the result of reconstructed memory. The
psychologist thanks her for the excellent question and says that the tests she
has conducted absolutely preclude that possibility. All the scientific indica-
tors show that Brigitte experienced an original sexual trauma that returns
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each time she sees Agneés, and that her wound will never heal without the
incarceration of the rapist. Nor will Agnés’s wound from having been born
of a rape and raised without a father—having a father, she says, is every
human being’s right. Furthermore, there is absolutely no indication that
Brigitte is “mythomaniac” or “hallucinatory,” and therefore she could not
be lying or imagining the event post facto, even though more than a decade
has passed.

By 8:00 p.m., the trial has been proceeding for twelve hours, with a one-hour
recess at noon. Tooy is finally called to the bar to tell his version of the facts.
His lawyers had told him simply to tell the truth. He begins by describing
how Cathérine’s parents brought her to him to cure, and how he took the
whole family under his roof. The interpreter translates as best she can. The
Présidente interrupts him every few sentences, and his voice gets smaller
and smaller. When he describes how Brigitte would sneak up the stairs to
his bed when Annette was having her period and sleeping downstairs, the
Présidente cuts in to ask, “Are you trying to tell us that SHE was the one who
raped YOU?!” The interpreter whispers something to him and he hesitates,
then nods in confusion. The Présidente and others in the court erupt in loud
guffaws. Tooy seems lost, not knowing what straws to grasp, not under-
standing the subtleties (not to mention the substance) of what is being said.
He looks—he has been made to look—pitiful, ridiculous . . . and above all
guilty. His testimony lasts only a few minutes."

Then come the lawyers’ summations. Brigitte’s lawyer is limpid and di-
rect: an innocent young virgin was penetrated by force by a dirty old man.
The victim, born in modest circumstances, has since persevered in her stud-
ies, struggling though everything was stacked against her, to better herself.
Atanage when she was still a minor, her virginity was cruelly snatched away
and her life turned into a daily torment that has still not ended and will never
end until the perpetrator is locked up behind bars.

Then it is the turn of Tooy’s lawyers. Auguste argues, without much con-
viction, that Brigitte made up the rape story in order to extract money from
Tooy. Lafontaine claims rather more grandly that what we have here is a
“clash of cultures,” that both Brigitte and Tooy see themselves as telling the
truth, and that the court should therefore be lenient with Tooy.

Finally, the public prosecutor addresses the court to say that, in his long
career, he has never been so personally touched by the testimony of a rape
victim. He is going to request a sentence of “only” eight to ten years, say-
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ing that in asking for this light sentence, he has taken into consideration
everything that the two distinguished anthropologists have said on behalf
of Tooy.

As the jury and the magistrates file out to begin their deliberations, six
heavily armed gendarmes take up position at the back of the hall, ready to
haul away their prisoner once the verdict is announced. I've rarely felt such
fear and alarm, seeing these burly white giants clanking their handcuffs and
chains. After an hour of deliberation, the jury emerges and pronounces Tooy
guilty as charged, with a sentence of seven years behind bars."” Brigitte’s law-
yer then rises to ask the court for damages for her clients’ pain and suffering.
She requests 35,000 euros (nearly $50,000) for Brigitte and her child. The
jury again retires, coming back at midnight to accede to the reduced sum
of 25,000 euros: 15,000 for Brigitte and 10,000 for Agnes. Since Tooy has no
financial resources, the French State will pay them directly from its special
victim’s fund.

The gendarmes swarm up to take Tooy, cuffs and chains in hand. We in-
tervene, emotionally, pleading with them not to humiliate our friend further
and assuring them he’ll go peacefully. Amidst the yelling and screaming and
weeping of some of Tooy’s supporters (Saramakas, Creoles, Brazilians, Hai-
tians), they hold off on the manacles and let him walk stiffly down the broad
stairway to the waiting paddy wagon.
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The days following the trial have, at this remove, become something of a
blur, a flurry of all-day/all-night worry and activity. Before the verdict was an-
nounced, Tooy’slawyers told us they would have ten days tofileanappeal and
would await our instructions before proceeding. An appeal would mean a
new trial that could, depending on the jury, free Tooy, render the same verdict
as before, or hand down an even heavier sentence. Tooy’s family and friends
agreed on one thing—Tooy would never survive seven years in the pen.

We knew we needed professional advice, and so spent the first day writ-
ing a thirty-page fax to a friend, Raphaél Constant, Martinique’s leading
human-rights lawyer, who turned out to be in Tanzania participating in the
Rwanda genocide trials. His return fax said that never in his career had he
gone near a rape case, but if we were sure of Tooy’s innocence, he would help
us think about it from a human-rights perspective—an immigrant Sara-
maka leader caught in the maw of the French justice system. Over the com-
ing days, we had several multipage transatlantic exchanges, we supplying
copies of documents and our commentary, he generously sending us opin-
ions and a barrage of further questions. Our own common sense, unfettered
by legal knowledge, was often at odds with what Raphaél told us.*

In retrospect, we were enormously naive. But at the time, we felt convinced
that if we could just find enough witnesses to confirm Tooy’s story, he’d have
a fighting chance in a new trial. So, like tropical Columbos, we snooped
around Cayenne trying to build a case.

Within two or three days, with the help of Tooy’s wives and relatives,
we managed to locate witnesses who could corroborate the key elements
of Tooy’s story: the ménage a quatre that he lived for several years with the
sisters, the fact that Brigitte was far from having been a virgin at the time of
Agnes’s conception, and that Brigitte had approached him with the demand
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for 80,000 francs or else. But we also ran into problems. The three men who
assured us they’d slept with Brigitte when she was thirteen or fourteen, well
before the alleged rape, were unwilling to testify in court—none had French
papers, and all feared imprisonment should they proclaim before the court
that they had, in effect, committed statutory rape by sleeping with a woman
under the age of fifteen. Tooy’s wife Céline gave us a tape recording of Bri-
gitte’s state-appointed guardian, who was a friend of Céline’s, telling her
what a wild teenager Brigitte had been before her pregnancy, but we were far
from sure it would be admissible in court. Céline and another Creole friend
of Tooy’s were ready to testify that they had been present when Brigitte came
to extract her blackmail, but given their personal interests, would they be
believed by a jury?

Meanwhile, in his faxed messages, Raphaél reminded us that proving
that Brigitte was not a virgin, however much it might weaken her “charac-
ter” before a jury, hardly proved that Tooy hadn’t raped her on the occasion
in question. And even if it turned out that we could prove by DNA evidence
that Agnés wasn’t Tooy’s child, he said, that still wouldn’t prove he hadn’t
raped her. We wondered whether Brigitte’s having waited to file her com-
plaint until one month before the ten-year statute of limitations kicked in
might not weigh against her. And how about all those other recent rape
trials in her immediate family, each time netting considerable damages?
Couldn’t a skilled lawyer persuade a jury that, through her education, Bri-
gitte had learned to apply a French conceptual grid to what were common
Saramaka (and ingi) sexual relationships, which at once criminalized them
and allowed her enormous personal profit? Raphaél patiently explained that
it is widely accepted among psychologists that the shame of rape can make
victims wait years before being able to face the event. Moreover, other cases
of rape in the family and their judicial consequences would not be admis-
sible as evidence in this one. What if, we asked, we were able to prove beyond
adoubt the veracity of Tooy’s story about having lived with both Brigitte and
Annette for years, beginning when each was around thirteen? That, Raphaél
assured us, would hardly add to his stature in the eyes of a jury, even if the
statute of limitations for statutory rape had long since expired. The bottom
line, he suggested, was that any jury in Cayenne would fit this case into a
familiar story line—an elderly guérisseur (a curer, which is how everyone
on the jury would see Tooy) had been given responsibility for these girls
by their parents and had abused his power. In the Creole world of Overseas
France, it was all too familiar.
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In the modernizing society of Guyane (which is trying so hard to replace its
image as a penal colony with that of gleaming Ariane rockets), to consult
a curer has become at least to some extent “shameful.” The media—and
ultimately, the State—has played a major supporting role in this transfor-
mation of consciousness. My collection of clippings that chronicle this at-
titude come from Martinique, where we live. But these four examples from
the newspaper France-Antilles could as easily be from France-Guyane (owned
by the same French company), and they give the flavor of these everyday as-
saults onlocal practice. (Local television “specials” also periodically present
such perspectives, a combination of sensationalist fascination and down-
ward-gazing ridicule.)

A “VOYANT” TAKES ADVANTAGE OF HIS CLIENTS

Yvon Varasse, nicknamed Django, plied his trade near the church of Sainte-
Thérese in Fort-de-France. Until the day the gendarmes discovered that
Varesse had swindled a family from the south of Martinique, receiving a con-
siderable sum of cash plus seven gold Napoleons against the promise of better
fishing results. Not satisfied with having cheated these people, the so-called
“voyant” also took advantage—twice—of the youngest daughter of the fam-
ily, age sixteen.

The “gadé zaffé” had threatened the adolescent that he would put “spirits”
upon her if she spoke to her parents about these goings-on. According to the
victim, she was told that the sexual relations forced on her by the voyant were
necessary for the success of his “work.”

This new affair demonstrates once again—as if it were still necessary—
how very numerous are the charlatans who do not hesitate to extract the maxi-
mum profit from the credulity of people who are already in dire straits. The
victims, who believe they are going to better their situation, end up, as always,
with nothing but disappointment.

ABUSE OF POWER: SETTING HIMSELF UP AS VOYANT,

OLIVE IVRISSE TOOK ADVANTAGE OF HIS CLIENTS

It is one of the most lucrative professions. And of a disarming simplicity, as
long as you are a fast talker with a fertile imagination, and you're graced with
the gifts of a conman and enjoy taking advantage of people, without worry-
ing about where the necessary means come from or where it all might lead. In
order not to hurt anyone’s feelings, let’s just say we're writing about men and
women who, one day, decide to put their very ordinary gifts at the disposition
of the public, in order to “fix up” their problems of all sorts—emotional, phys-
ical, or moral. It takes no diploma to get yourself set up as quimboiseur, sorcier,
or gaded’zaffe. Any place will do, aslong as you’re ready to take advantage of the
misery, distress, credulity, and naiveté of ordinary men and women.
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Women—there’s the achilles heel of these pseudo-sorcerers. By nature
rogues, they cannot resist the temptations of the flesh. By simple means of
medicinal interventions, which destroy reflexes and create a sense of lethargy
in the victim, they go on to take full advantage of her body.

It was after reading in this newspaper, twice within the space of several
weeks, about sexual abuses committed by two pseudo-sorcerers, that a young
woman presented herself to the detective bureau of the Fort-de-France police.
A man claiming to be a quimboiseur had taken advantage of her when she went
to consult him. Following up this complaint, the gendarmes arrested Olive
Ivrisse, who had set himself up as gaded’zaffé in Fort-de-France. The details of
the rape, which occurred in 1988, included the administration of some sort of
noxious vapors which rendered her helpless and allowed him to have his way
withher....Ivrisse. .. was arraigned on charges of illegal practice of medicine
and indecent assault and imprisoned in Fort-de-France.

THE QUIMBOISEUR TOOK ADVANTAGE OF

HIS FEMALE CLIENTS

He was leading the good life, this quimboiseur. Thanks to his little office, which
was rarely empty, the money flowed in and the ‘voyant-guérisseur’ had accu-
mulated a nest egg of nearly one million francs. And even better, this quim-
boiseur practiced therapeutic methods that were just a bit unusual when his
clients were female.

If, to take an example, the woman was young and good-looking, he would
frighten her by saying she was possessed by a dorliss [incubus]. And to exor-
cizeit, he would suggest a method both radical and efficacious—sexual inter-
course! With him, of course, and for the measly sum of 1700 francs. . .. This
is how Sylvie R was forced to submit three times to the assaults of the quim-
boiseur.

But in the case of Madame G., a woman of 65 who sold candies for a living,
the treatment was different. He contented himself with offering her a miracu-
lous lotion for 25,000 francs. . . .

The criminal court sentenced him to five years. . ..

THE PERVERTED HEALER

The police have just put an end to the practice of a 59-year-old man who prof-
ited from his “consultations” to take advantage of his young victims. Three
girls aged ten and fourteen have confirmed that they were abused by this man.
Their parents had brought them to this “guérisseur” believing they had been
bewitched, and having full confidence in F. Unhappily, once the girls were
alone with him, he allowed himself all sorts of liberties. . . . Following up on
the complaint of one of the parents, the police were able to arrest the man and
charge him with corrupting a minor.



196 * GROUNDS FOR APPEAL?

It is worth underlining the uncomfortable ambiguities of such media re-
ports, which write so disdainfully of “pseudo-sorcerers” and “so-called
voyants,” but suggest by the same token the existence of genuine sorciers,
voyants, and quimboiseurs. It is worth noting also that on the same page of
the newspaper as, for example, “Abuse of Power,” there are no less than five

» <«

grand voyant,

» <«

large, boxed ads, two with pictures, for a “voyant, grand

» «

médium africain,” “méthode égyptienne,” and “parapsychologue.” Local
curers like Tooy, in contrast, hardly need to advertise in the papers, drawing

their clientele by word of mouth from every layer of society.

And then there was the question of ethnicity—a Creole jury judging a Sara-
maka man. French Guiana is run by Creoles under the tutelage of Paris—a
neocolony if ever there was one. Not officially a nation, it is a distant append-
age of France in which the small Creole elite holds nearly all local reins of
power, and in which even the awesome force of the French State (including a
sizeable Foreign Legion presence) appears increasingly impotent against the
massive incoming tide of illegal immigrants (largely Haitians, Brazilians,
Surinamers, Guyanese, and now even Peruvians). During the past twenty
years, as the wave of illegal immigrants has swelled, the Creoles have be-
come increasingly apprehensive. The latest census shows far more people
who were born outside Guyane than in Guyane (and it’s surely missing yet
greater numbers of illegals). Nearly all the immigrants are poor, barely liter-
ate, and non-French-speaking—the antithesis of everything Creoles ideal-
ize. There is a strong sense, both in Cayenne and the outlying communes, of
aloss of control. As early as 1990, Michel Rocard, the French prime minister,
tried hard during a visit “to calm the fears of the population, and especially
of thelocal [Creole] politicians,” boasting that “with 2400 people escorted to
the borders in 1988, Guyane was the leading département of France in this re-
gard.” In that same speech, however, he had to admit that actual “clandestine
immigration is probably ten times this figure.” “Although Guyaneisvast and
underpopulated,” Rocard went on, “it should not be made any more respon-
sible than the rest of France for welcoming the flotsam and jetsam of its poor
neighbors.”? And he promised help. In 1992, the French military command
in Guyane was strengthened, according to official explanations, not only to
better protect the European Space Center but in particular to fortify the bor-
ders with Brazil and Suriname. Additional Foreign Legion and regular army
troops were flown into what was already a heavily militarized environment.
For the past twenty years, the crime pages of the local newspaper highlight
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in each edition the activities of new immigrants—from drugs and prostitu-
tion to armed robbery, murder, and rape. And in 2006, an elected official
from Guyane expressed his anxieties at a meeting in Paris: “There are strong
feelings of xenophobia in Guyane and they are getting worse. Until now, the
people of Guyane have respected the laws of the Republic. But the day is com-
ing when they will be tempted to take justice into their own hands. It is time
to reestablish the authority of the State in these territories!”*

Maroons are near the bottom of the Creole’s hierarchy. “I was standing
in a shop in Saint-Laurent, looking at magazines,” writes anthropologist
Ken Bilby, “when a Creole woman walked in; seeing a group of Ndjuka [Ma-
roon| women in one corner of the store, she said out loud, ‘Bosch, c’est la
derniére nation!” [Maroons, they're the lowest nation!]; she then did a rapid
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about-face, and walked out.”* For the Creole elite, there remains a central
unresolved tension between a wish to honor, and identify with, the heroic
Maroon warriors of the foundational Guyanais past (whom they’ve read
about in books or heard about in the media), and a deep disdain for their
downtrodden, imperfectly modernizing descendants. Sociologist Marie-
JoséJolivet, who has written at length about Creole life and culture, suggests
that those Creoles who have any positive attitudes at all toward Maroons
are either rural people or those who have lived a long time in the interior:
“In the city [Cayenne], the disdain of Creoles for Maroons loses all ambigu-
ity.
point: the Creole population of Guyane has nothing but disdain for the tribal

»s

Jean Hurault also accentuated the negative: “Permit me to insist on this

populations, about which it nevertheless knows almost nothing. . . . The
Creoles are divided about how to handle them: whether to destroy them by
assimilation or to exploit them economically, especially through tourism.”*
Bilby tells us that lower- and middle-class Creoles from Saint-Laurent call all
Maroons—whether Alukus, Paramakas, Ndyukas, or Saramakas—Bosch,
while their counterparts in Cayenne call them all Saramaka. In either case,

«c

what is implied is “‘uncivilized’ inferiors, people not yet ‘évolué.””” And he
gives extended examples of popular Creole “ethnic jokes” about Maroons,
all of which attribute to them childlike simplicity and an inability to deal
with the modern world.® In their everyday encounters with Maroons, many
Creoles display open prejudice, and the epithet macaque (monkey) is not in-
frequently used in anger—just as bourgeois Creoles complain that white
Frenchmen in Guyane sometimes call them “macaques.” In twenty-first-
century Guyane, Saramaka has become the epithet of choice with which to
insult Maroons. For this reason, Saramaka schoolchildren sometimes hide
their specific origin (associated with backwardness and considered shame-
ful) and, when asked, simply say they are Maroons.”’
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Saramakas fight back, at least symbolically, from time to time. When
Kalusé ran a Saramaka cultural association from his pink house in the early
nineties, he helped organize a several-day visit by the mayors of Cayenne,
Saint-Laurent, and Kourou to the Saramaka heartland in central Suriname,
in order to show them, he said, that “Saramakas are neither Alukus nor
Ndyukas but have a separate culture of their own,” and that “Maroon youths
are not necessarily delinquents.” And more recently, as a delegate to a meet-
ing in French Guiana’s second-largest and most modern town, Kourou, he
responded to the government announcement that Saramakas would have to
pay rent for the public housing being built to replace the shantytown “Vil-
lage Saramaka” at Kourou:

If we're to start paying rent, it must be applied toward the house’s purchase.
In 1962, when I came to Kourou, I myself shot howler monkeys out of the tree
that was standing right where they’ve made the big BNP [Banque Nationale de
Paris]! It was Saramakas who built this whole town—the bridges, the roads,
the houses. Whatever plans the State makes for us now, that contribution
must be recognized."

But the Creoles (and the French) continue to hold the cards. Saramakas can
express pride publicly—and sometimes even have their heroic past paid lip
service to by Creole politicians—but they remain, for the most part, immi-
grants who are best served when they stay below the official radar.

Raphaél, wearing his political activist’s hat, faxed us that Tooy’s only chance,
were he to be granted a new trial, would lie in the mounting of a massive
media campaign, with the unwavering support of the Saramaka immigrant
community, to underline the difficulty of his receiving a fair trial. The wit-
nesses we had found would have to agree to testify. There would need to be
marches and petitions. Only then might the State blink.

But when we met with them each day, neither the Saramaka community
nor Tooy’s Creole supporters spoke with a single voice. And there was con-
siderable anxiety that Tooy’s sentence might be increased on appeal. Women
asked whether, once people had seen how much money a woman could make
by getting a jury to believe that she’d been raped, other women mightn’t step
forward to make similar accusations. After all, it was widely rumored that
Tooy sometimes allowed professional consultations, especially with Creole
women, to be paid for by sex. And some of these women would surely be
willing to come forward and claim they’d been raped if there were 25,000
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euros waiting at the other end. All they’d have to do would be to contact
Brigitte’s lawyer. Tooy might get 100 years, they speculated.

We felt powerless. In the end, along with Tooy’s Saramaka friends and
family, we made the decision not to file for appeal but to seek other ways
of freeing our captain. Saramakas began a slew of rituals, since they were
convinced that Tooy’s incarceration stemmed ultimately from the French-
woman spirit whom he’d been neglecting and other complex machinations
in the invisible world, as well as his unfortunate propensity—unlike tradi-
tional Saramaka dbia-men—to mix sex and curing (2 la Créole), which pow-
ers like Dinguldli-Obia certainly did not appreciate. Seconded by Tooy’s
trial lawyers, Raphaél had pretty much convinced us that the outcome of
a new trial would probably not be different, no matter the evidence or wit-
nesses. At the end of the day, all the jury would see would be an old Saramaka
curer who couldn’t speak French (the perfect savage) accused of rape by an
accomplished young woman (the perfect fruit of the civilizing mission).

With Raphaél’s counsel, we began to plan a campaign to obtain Tooy’s
release on medical grounds, based on alaw that was being actively discussed
at the time in the press (and which was finally enacted by the French parlia-
ment in March 2002), designed to free the notorious Maurice Papon from
a prison in France before he died of illness." We'd meanwhile found out
that Tooy was the oldest prisoner in the whole penitentiary and that he was
gravely ill (though asymptomatic) with degenerative heart disease. While
Tooy was in Martinique for his open-heart surgery, we were able to arrange
a bedside visit by Raphaél, who spoke with him in Creole, and agreed to
become his lawyer. By September 2002, when Maurice Papon was released
in France, Raphaél was filing papers in Cayenne, reasoning that if a highly
placed violator of human rights could be freed on medical grounds, perhaps
a poor immigrant could, too. At the same time, we were lucky enough to
become friends—at her invitation, because she’d read some of our books—
with the Procureur de la République, the Paris-appointed head of the justice
system in Guyane. Over dinner and some excellent wine at her home, we told
her Tooy’s story in detail. A year later, she would take part in the final hear-
ing that set him free.
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For many people in France, Cayenne still means “prison.”* Everything that
Americans conjure up when they hear Devil’s Island (from the Dreyfus Affair
to Steve McQueen playing Papillon)—in short, the world’s most infamous
penal colony—is signaled in French by that single word, Cayenne.” Lafcadio
Hearn, in his literary way, captured the flavor a hundred years ago:

It is the morning of the third day since we left Barbadoes, and for the first
time since entering tropic waters all things seem changed. The atmosphere is
heavy with strange mists; and the light of an orange-colored sun, immensely
magnified by vapors, illuminates a greenish-yellow sea,—foul and opaque, as
if stagnant. . ..

A fellow-traveler tells me, as we lean over the rail, that this same viscous,
glaucous sea washes the great penal colony of Cayenne—which he visited.
When a convict dies there, the corpse, sewn up in a sack, is borne to the water,
and a great bell tolled. Then the still surface is suddenly broken by fins in-
numerable,—black fins of sharks rushing to the hideous funeral: they know
the Bell

For the one hundred years that it functioned, the bagne of French Guiana
may well have been the worst prison on earth. By the twentieth century, it
had become a veritable machine to use and break men, and had taken on
a life quite its own. Only one in four convicts survived for twenty years,
earning the place its best-known nickname, “the dry guillotine.” Doc-
tor Louis Rousseau, who ended his term as chief prison doctor in 1932,
concluded that

the bagne is a charnel house, a mass grave, running from syphilis to tubercu-
losis, with all the tropical parasites one can imagine (carrying malaria, an-
kylosis, amoebic dysentery, leprosy, etc.), all destined to work hand in hand
with an administration whose task it is to diminish the number of prisoners
consigned to its care. The fiercest proponents of “elimination” can rest satis-
fied. In Guyane, prisoners survive on the average five years—no more.”



THE PRISON * 201

Prisoners were subjected to a highly rationalized system of dehumani-
zation.

In the bagne, everything was dictated by texts, with a staggering meticulous-
ness. Every aspect of the daily life of transportés and relégués was precisely de-
scribed and programmed. . . . As one tries to comprehend the accumulated
mass of texts, rules, and decrees, one enters an almost surrealistic universe in
which everything is prescribed and foreseen. The manual for guards. . . speci-
fies “the knife commonly called ‘pocket-knife’ is permitted for prisoners as
long as the blade is folding, ending in a right angle without convexity or a
point, and is sharpened on one side only.” . . . And the rules for punishment go
on for pages: giving bread to a man in punishment = 30 days prison; giving
tobacco to a man in punishment = 60 days in prison; complaining about the
quantity or quality of food = 30-60 days in prison; wearing a non prison-is-
sue hat = 15 days in prison; talking back to a guard = 8-30 days in prison; not
completing the daily work quota = complete privation of food.’

Arrival in the penal colony was marked by well-practiced rites designed to
strip off whatever traces of civilian identity still lingered for each prisoner.
Every inmate received a number, recording his order in the list of prisoners
logged in since the bagne began. From the registration office, where verbal
formalities were completed, he was taken next door to the Anthropometry
Bureau, “avast room. .. with desks for different specialists, a height gauge,
ascale, a camera mounted on a tripod, and a table with ink pads for finger-
printing.” As one author described the generic scene,

The dreadful day when he had stood stripped in the office where the authori-
ties registered finger prints and made inventories of men’s bodies, recording
every distinguishing mark, every wart or mole, every birth blotch and every
tattooed design, making measurements, and adding these things to ones name
and age and birthplace, and to the individual crime histories and sentences
sent over by the French courts—all indexed and cross-indexed to facilitate
emergency reference.’

Also photographed, both full face and profile. Everything written down or
pasted into a little book.

There’s little need to go into further detail: a voluminous literature bears
witness.” But it’s worth remembering that it is this legacy, the heavy burden
of Green Hell, that every development project in modern Guyane, from the
Space Center to what was said to be the largest high school in all of France, is
designed to erase.® Guyane waited fifty years after the closing of the bagne to
build a new prison. And when it finally did, there was certainly the hope that
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it might forever wipe out the memory of Cayenne’s stain on History. One
brochure proclaimed, “The emblem of the bagne, a man in prison stripes
with manacled feet—that’s what we want to make our visitors forget.”*

It would be hard to conjure up a more modern prison than the Centre
Pénitentiare de la Guyane, built just outside Cayenne a few years ago with
manual labor provided by, among others, Kalusé and his undocumented
Saramaka construction buddies—a tropical adaptation of the cookie-
cutter French model that was being built at the same time in Martinique,
Guadeloupe, and other parts of France. On a flat plain carved out from the
jungle, surrounded by the latest type of razor wire, the main buildings, of-
fice blocks, and parking lots are tidy, sterile, and rationalized, baking in the
sun. (Imagine the opposite of, say, a Mexican prison as Americans know it
from newspapers, films, and books, where inmates and corruption rule.)
Our world being what it is, however, this modern penitentiary was quickly
overwhelmed by the rising tide of crime and incarceration. By 2002, when
Tooy made his entrance, it held nearly seven hundred inmates, 50% more
than its official capacity. By 2005, the government was planning a second
prison in Saint-Laurent-de-Maroni, next to the Suriname border, designed
especially for Maroon inmates.

The presence of one young man helped make Tooy’s time inside more toler-
able. Since 1999, Moesoela “Ben” Amiemba, an ambitious, bright Saramaka,
had been working in the prison as “cultural mediator,” the link between
the several hundred Maroon inmates—many of whom spoke no French or
Creole—and the guards, doctors, and wardens. Ben is very much self-fash-
ioned. Born in the Nasi-clan village of Kambalda in 1970, he was given to
his much older brother Mandé to raise and taken to Paramaribo when four
years old. His schooling consisted of a three-year stretch back home when
he went to elementary school, and then, when he was in his early twenties in
Paramaribo, a vocational school for another three years. In 1994, he moved to
French Guiana, joining Mandd’s highly successful woodcarving atelier and
learning French by taking courses at a Catholic relief agency. His prison em-
ployment came thanks to a French scheme to add people to the employment
rolls—he was hired on a special contract called “emplois jeunes,” where the
State hired young people.*

Ben is a motivated learner. Since we first met in 2000, I've given him cop-
ies of all our books, and he’s done his best to read them, studying those on
Saramaka history with great intensity. While I'm sitting shooting the breeze
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RP and Ben, 2005.

with Tooy, he often shows up with a copy of Alabi’s World or Les premiers temps
and asks me to translate particular passages into Saramaccan, so he’s sure
he understands the details. His interest, like most Saramakas, is largely in
the history of his own clan, so he rarely asks me a question about one of my
books that doesn’t concern his own specific ancestors. Ben has also mobi-
lized a schoolteacher friend who happens to be the spouse of the director of
the archives to make copies for him of large numbers of documents, mainly
from the early twentieth century, about Saramakas in Guyane; and Ben has
shared these with me. When Sally and I were writing Les Marrons, a book that
covers both history and present-day concerns of Maroons in Guyane, we'd
often ask Ben for his thoughts on a particular issue. He has asked my help
with writing a history of the Nasi people.

Ben is the president and founder of The Association of Young Active
Saramakas of Guyane (AJASG), the organization that was instrumental in
getting Tooy his captaincy."" Much of its efforts over the years have gone
to helping several hundred Saramaka immigrants get French papers. Ben
learned the procedures, made friends with the appropriate civil servants,
and was able almost single-handedly to get these people through the com-
plex bureaucratic process. (For all that, he receives significant abuse and
jealousy—from the many people whom he has, for one technical reason or
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another, been unable to push through the system.) At the same time, the as-
sociation has other projects: a “féte Saramaka” that it holds each November
in the central square of Cayenne to promote Saramaka culture (Saramaka
dance groups, Saramaka cuisine); a “Village Saramaka” housing scheme
that it hopes to build in the rural commune of Roura to permit Saramakas
dispersed around Cayenne to own decent housing in a community; and
a “Maison de Culture Saramaka,” a building in town that could serve as a
meeting place, cultural center, and museum. All of these projects involve
close collaboration with various state agencies, all are eminently political.
And Ben has involved Sally and me in all: to give speeches at the féte on the
Saramaka contributions to Guyane, to write supportive letters to mayors,
the presidents of the Conseil Général and Conseil Régional, the prefect, and
others, lauding the Village Saramaka and House of Culture schemes—even
to write the historical introduction to a DVD of one of the fétes that the as-
sociation is marketing. So, he keeps us busy for a few days on these projects
during each of our visits.

During Tooy’s incarceration, Ben managed to see him every couple of
days and could report to us and his relatives on his spirits and his needs.
More important, he could carry messages to Tooy about our efforts to get
him released. I have no doubt that Tooy’s knowing that Ben was in the build-
ing most days if he needed him made doing time a little bit less awful.

Doing hard time, like fighting in battle, isn’t something most people, in-
cluding Tooy, like to talk about in retrospect. Better to forget the nighttime
wildness of youngsters high on crack or dope. Better to forget the knife
fights and screaming. Even the few ironic pleasures—meeting a Haitian
(in for eleven years), a Brazilian (in for eight years), and even a metropoli-
tan Frenchman, all of whom had been put behind bars by Brigitte’s family
for rape. Everyone counting the hours and days and weeks and months and
years. All better put far in the past.

Three days after the trial, I got the court’s permission for my first visit.
Sitting on a bench in the waiting room, I was amazed that among the fifty
or so visitors waiting for the hour to strike, there was not a word of French
being spoken—only Brazilian, the Creole of Georgetown, Haitian Creole,
Sranan-tongo, and a bit of local Guyanese Creole. I later learned that some
80% of all those incarcerated are foreigners who cannot speak French (many;,
unwitting testimony to a justice system in disarray). Only three visitors are
permitted on each week’s visiting day, so Sally had reluctantly ceded her
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place in favor of Ma Yaai and Céline. When we finally got through the metal
detectors, the pat-downs, and the sliding steel grills, a door opened and Tooy
walked in, looking gray but stoic. Each woman embraced him, then it was
my turn. We had thirty minutes for the three of us. Tooy told Yaai to make
sure that the Wénti pots in the shrine had water in them. (He’s especially
concerned about the pot belonging to Yowentina.) Yaai, characteristically,
spent her few minutes complaining to Tooy about money and the childrens’
disobedience and the broken washing machine and how in the world was
she ever to make it without him. Céline, equally characteristically, focused
on sweet talk and cheering him up. I told him what we were trying to do
with the lawyers to get him out. On the way home, shaken by seeing our
captain behind all those clanging metal doors, Yaai commented (in Ndyuka,
of course) that being in prison is just like being in the hospital. (Who needs
Foucault or Goffman to understand what total institutions look like from
the inside?)
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There are no useless leaves/plants—only uninformed people.

TOOY to Sally, in the wetlands at Kaw

It had been a year since Tooy phoned us, laughing and crying at the same
time, to say he’d just been released from prison—we’ve been able to get
down to Cayenne twice to celebrate with him. The first time, he played his
apinti (talking drum) for us, kotoko i kotoko tjim tjim mam téne biia, explain-
ing that you play this to give Sky and Earth thanks: you parted and thought
youd never see one another again, and then suddenly you do.

A man once set a fish trap just below the deep called Sotigbo [far up the Gadn-
lio, way past the southernmost Saramaka village]. He saw a large leaf fall into
the water and studied its markings [Tooy said “its writing”] very carefully, un-
til it was carried under his canoe by the current and sank. He stayed up there
twelve days, twelve weeks, twelve months, and twelve years, and then he went
all the way down to the mouth of Cassipora Creek [in whitefolks’ territory]. He
was stirring up some weeds at the edge of the water, and what did he see but
that very same leaf! It’s like the way they caught me and put me in prison—
I didn’t think we’d ever meet again! So when we meet, you have to be amazed.
So you play: kotoko i kotoko tjim tjim mam téne biia. So many years have passed
and you never thought you'd see him again and then it happens, so this is what
you play to give thanks.

Now, on our way back to Martinique from a human rights conference in
Brazil, we make a stop in Cayenne.

I give Tooy an Amerindian pipe we’d bought him in S3o Paulo, with a
spiky-rough bowl clearly made from forest wood. He leans over and says,
“Aldka, that’s the name of Kadsi’s pipe. Aldka.” And he sings, Gwetingéé,
gwéung. Aldka bdii gwetingéé, gwéung. . . . “People don’t say the name of that
pipe anymore,” he confides. “It’s too heavy for the mouth. So they call it
Aladi instead. They still smoke it at Béndiwdta [where Kadsi’s descendants
live]. Ask me how that pipe got its name,” he says. L ask.

Father-in-law Kadsi left his wife Amimba near Bookopondo on the island
called Logotabiki and went up to Tuido at the head of the Saramacca River.
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An Indian came to her—just stood and watched her, he didn’t touch her. She
called to father-in-law Kadsi [with magic]: Mukiila mukiila. Mukiila mukiila.
Mukiila mukiila. Kadsi heard and said Apuilu du mddji. Five minutes later, and
he’d already flown in. “Woman, why’d you call me?” She said, “There he is,”
pointing at the Indian. Kadsi asked, “Where’s my pipe, where’s Aldka?” She
gave it to him. He took his flint, lit the pipe, and starting blowing out smoke.
[Tooy sings again| Gwetingéé, gwéung. Aldka bdii gweiingéé, gwéung. . . . The In-
dian took off and is still running as far as we know! Gwéungbit, gwéunglala, he
lit the pipe! Gwéungbit, the smoke came out!

Most of the esoteric knowledge that Tooy has shared with me comes just
like this, in the course of our interaction, when something happens to spark
the exchange. The next day, when we spot a paca (alarge edible rodent) in the
wetlands, he asks if we know its esoteric name (we don’t)—gwenenzii—or
that it has an ¢bia called bumbatjd. When I look surprised, he asks whether,
when hunting, I haven’t seen that animal sitting up and knocking its front
paws together (I have) in a motion very much like Saramakas doing the two-
handed divination called mdfiakdta—when pacas do it, he says, it’s called
bumbatjd!

When we arrive at Tooy’s early the next morning, he’s already holding a con-
sultation. A gleaming BMW is parked outside. He invites us into his consult-
ing room, where a stylishly dressed Creole woman of around thirty sits coyly
as two young assistants follow his orders to twist and squeeze the juice from
certain branches, find a hen’s egg, chop up vines, and rip up leaves. Tooy
works with his well-worn calabash of biydngo (ritual spices or power objects),
slicing off bits of mica and rock crystals, fish scales, vulture claws, giant ant-
eater claws, and other esoteric products into a plastic bucket the woman has
brought. Everything has a prescribed order. Tooy tells them what to place
where and what on top of what and how to place the egg, explaining to them
that an egg has a head and a foot, and you can’t just put it in any which way.
At a certain point, Tooy asks them to find a piece of paper that he’d placed in
the Wénti chamber during a previous consultation. They rummage around
in the tiny room until they find it—I can see two names written on it. Tooy
passes the slip of paper to the woman, asking her to place it in the center of
the bucket. I realize this is a love dbia, to bind the woman and her partner
together. Finally, Tooy sprinkles keéti—kaolin, white clay—over the whole
top, as in most dbias." Tooy tells her that she must add water and use this
bath for the first time in the morning—today would be fine. But she says
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A client has parked his Mercedes behind Tooy’s house.

she’s on her way to the office and can’t till tomorrow. He says, OK, tomorrow
then. But after that, every morning, noon, and night. She goes out and puts
the bucket in the trunk of the BMW.

We hear shouts and run outside to have a look. Some relatives of Tooy’s
have remade his wash house across the road with new planks and are living
there, parents plus seven or ten children and adolescents. The kids have seen
an anaconda slithering up out of the slimy canal. The teenagers threaten it
with a pole and try to push it back in. Tooy comes out and draws a line in
the mud, commanding the beast not to cross. But the snake keeps coming.
It’s a young one, about 12 feet long and as thick as a man’s thigh. We go back
indoors with Tooy, leaving the kids to deal with the snake as we make plans
for aleaf-collecting expedition to the wetlands of Kaw, a couple of hours by
car to the east. A Creole friend of Tooy’s, driving a new Toyota pickup, shows
up. By the time we go outside again, he’s got the snake onboard, alive but
bleeding and weak—he’s knocked it over the head with the pole. He tried to
shock Tooy by joking with him that he’ll make a colombo (curry stew) with it.
And he tells us, when we ask a few minutes later what he’s really going to do
with it, that he’ll drain off the oil to use medicinally, sell the skin, and eat the
meat en brochette. Tooy tells us he’s resigned himself to the fact that Creoles
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do that stuff —for him (and other Saramakas), anacondas are Wdtawenu
gods, and harming one brings eternal vengeance.

Two of Tooy’s “grandsons” visit—they’ve just come over from Paramar-
ibo to see their mothers, who live nearby. One sports a white, furry, oversized
pimp cap, a gold necklace, red shades, baggy jeans, and Nikes; the other
has Rasta-inspired tresses and dark shades. Tooy gives them an affection-
ate dressing-down about how they’re stashed, telling them he knows this
country and they don’t. Unless they change their looks, he says, the police
will pick them up for sure, thinking they’re from Georgetown. They do have
that cultivated hard, urban Kingston bad-boy look. But they’re sweet kids.
They smile and say, “Yes, opa” (“grandpa” in Dutch). Two teenage girls from
the house across the street join us. Tooy goes on about how if the boys are
standing on the street with the two girls (who are dressed in the proper style
for Saramaka girls in Cayenne), the police will only be interested in them,
not the girls—especially since they don’t have papers of any kind. Then he
takes out after the girls, scolding them for not walking across the road and
asking Ma Yaai how she’d slept and telling her, “We’re here, what jobs do
you have for us this morning? Clothes to wash? Dishes to wash?” They pro-
test that though they don’t go and ask her each morning, they always do the
dishes when they see them in the sink. One of the girls tries on her cousin’s
red shades and looks quite stylish. It’s sad to think that Tooy is right, that
these guys are more than likely to end up in jail. Tooy tells them things are
tough in Cayenne, that there’sno work, that there’s no pity for kids like them.
Undoubtedly he’s thinking about Lowell, who was his assistant when we vis-
ited a couple of years earlier—a sweet, very bright kid who got caught by
undercover agents selling seven kilos of cocaine on the Place des Palmistes
with his younger brother. Lowell got away, but his brother is in jail—not yet
sentenced but when heis, it will be for many years. Lowell has apparently es-
caped, via Suriname, to Holland. But what can he look forward to there? This
in-between, semischooled “cool” generation seems headed for big trouble.

Around ten in the morning, Tooy, his assistant-for-the-day Asdntikdlu, and
Sally and I pile into our rental car for the trip to Kaw. We stop at the last Chi-
nese store before we hit the forest to buy bird-shot shells for the 12-gauge
shotgun Asdntikdlu has brought along, but all we can find are shells filled
with buckshot—in any case, we never see the toucans they’d assumed would
be feasting on pina palm fruits at this season.
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When we finally arrive at the edge of the vast wetlands (small islands of
reeds amidst an expanse of labyrinthine water passages), Tooy points out
the old cemetery for those who died in the swamp. At the cemetery path,
he gathers some yodka fési (ghost’s face, a weed also called nénge dti [Creole’s
heart]), telling it out loud as he takes it: “The evil must stay here, it mustn’t

1

come with us!” Tooy whispers to Asdntikdlu that when he gathers that plant,
he must say this, too. Then we gather pindd-pindd (which he tells me Cre-
oles call pistache sauvage) and another called té¢ gddu déde mi déde (when god
dies, I die; Creole adje kopo); he shows us a plant called pipa pdu (pipe stem),
which he doesn’t gather but tells us is good for toothache when taken with
salt; and a broad-leafed bush called atdsi koyd (Atosi’s pubic apron), which,
he whispers to us, is what Adam and Eve used to cover their shame in the
Garden of Eden.

Backin the car, Tooy scans the underbrush for what he needs, and we stop
several times. Lots of sangadfu, including some roots of that all-important
Saramaka ritual plant—we spot it from afar by its red flower. He shows me a
vine used to stop menstruation that has lasted too long—the woman drinks
it and puts it on the back of her wrist. Also a couple of others he doesn’t
take: bodko kodsu (Creole tet neg) and ti bom (Creole barbe chat). Later we stop
for small branches from a giant of a tree called gadn pdu (big tree), but also

Tooy and RP at Kaw.
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known as kwdtakdma (spider monkey’s bed) and by forest spirits as gwindd
and in Komanti language as kdntiankdma or kwakwddabankdma. Tooy re-
minds me that it’s the name of this tree that Pobosi’s Komanti Sdka-Amdfu
took as his own when he’d boast that he was Kantidnkdma-u-Stduantji, the
largest tree in the forest. We stop again for a runner vine called dodngoma.
Once home, Tooy has his assistants carefully separate and range the materi-
als along the walls of his consulting room.

Tooy decides to give thanks to his ancestors and pours a libation of rum.
Somewhere toward the middle of the ten-minute prayer, he says:

Gaamd Akodsu, Gaamd Djankusd, Grandfather Akonomoi, take rum! My
grandfather Oké-fu-andidsi, please take some rum. May the days be bright
and the nights, too, on the side of Good! Bush Hog says Kiingd ta gunddmba.
A bungu yd, i miisu tjdngini kd. Tjdngini kd, tjdngini kd, tjdngini kd. All prayer is
asking for pardon.

The several people present—Asdntikdlu, Ma Yaai, the two girls from across
the road, and Sally and I—say “Great thanks,” rhythmically clapping our
hands, as Tooy turns to me and says, “Béndiwdta [a Ldngu village on the
Gadnlio] has those words. Take that doorway over there, you're getting ready
to go through it. But there’s a round log poised to drop from up above. . .
various things are looking to kill you. You need to get through—before the
kiingd drops on you. Kiingd ta gunddmba. A bungu yd, i miisu tjdngini kd. ‘You
up above, let me pass, that’s where I must pass! That’s what it says. In Pimbu
language! ‘Despite the danger—despite the kiingd poised to drop—I must
get through, please let me pass through.” That’s what this prayer asks for.”*

In the evening, there’s a formal council meeting in which some relatives
gather to thank Sally and me for having helped get Tooy out of jail. The rhet-
oric is the same as on the several other occasions during the past year that
thanks have been formally proffered.

The thing they did is so big that we can never thank them. We have nothing
appropriate to thank them with. If we had money, we could thank them with
that. But we don’t have money. All we could do is go out and rob a bank. But
then we’d end up in prison again. If only we had “thanks,” they would see it.
But we don’t have “thanks.” If the canoe full of “thanks” had arrived here, we'd
have long since unloaded it and given everything in it to them. But “thanks”
is like the wind, you never get to see it. The wind shakes the trees, waya waya
waya and you search for the wind until you don’t know where to look any-
more—you never get to see it. “Thanks” is just the same. We can’t find it and
give it to them so they can really see it. Our mouths can give them thanks—
that’s what we're trying to do here—but the thanks itself can never be given.
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So, we give them thanks with everything we have, along with the gods and
the dbias. The Great God himself must pray for them. They must live for
350 years—without injury, without getting weak, without getting sick!

But it doesn’t stop with thanks for what we’ve done. There’s something else
they want of us. Although Tooy was enstooled as captain in 2001, the French
Guiana government still hasn’t given him an official uniform, nor has it
started to pay him his captain’s salary.

Saramakas would say that we tied a bone around their necks. What’s the bone?
[the speaker prompts and others ask, “What’s the bone?”] With all the work
they’ve done for us, are we in a position to ask them to do something else for
us now? [laughter] Saramakas say that if a man goes hunting on a certain day
in a certain stretch of forest from morning till night and sees no game, and
then does the same thing the next day, and the same a third day, do you think
he’ll ever go back there again? But if he goes hunting and sees a howler mon-
key, boom! And a little later sees an agouti, boom! And a little later a deer,
boom, boom!—don’t you think he’ll go back the next day and the next and the
next? That’s the way it is with these people. They helped us with the one thing
[prison], now we’re coming back to them with another.

The old man here [Tooy], he’s like a bull without horns. [someone else:
“How is he like a bull without horns?”] Well, when you see a bull, it always
has a pair of horns stretching up from its head. If it’s called a bull, it’s always
got horns. If you call an animal a bull but it doesn’t have horns, it’s not a bull.
Well, the old man here, Saramakas call him captain. But if you see him, you'd
think he was a beggar. Let’s say you're standing on the street and he comes
along—if it was written right in the middle of his forehead you could say,
“Oh, here comes the captain!” But it’s not written on his forehead. He’s still a
bull without horns. Other people have tried to help—we won’t mention their
names, because were not here to criticize anyone. But we're here to implore
these people to help us get the man officially recognized by the government.
When you see a policeman on the street, you know him by his uniform. That’s
what the old man needs. We beg these people to help us get it for him. A bull
can’t remain without horns.

As happens often enough among Saramakas (not to mention academics),
two close friends are no longer on speaking terms. Since some months be-
fore we arrived in Guyane, Ben has split with Tooy. In such situations, it’s
not easy to tease out the causes. Tooy’s wife Céline, whom Ben has never
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been civil to, tells us that during a several-week period after Ben totaled his
car, he stayed at Tooy’s, recovering and being “cured.” There were words
about the large phone bill Ben chalked up, and his refusal to pay, and when
he walked out he never returned. Neither wants to talk with us about it, but
Ben is adamant he won’t see Tooy. Sally and I, who spend a good deal of time
with Ben on his projects and ours, work toward a reconciliation and, on our
penultimate day in Guyane that trip, finally get Ben to sit down with Tooy
and talk it out. They seem to be back together once more, ready to discuss
common projects—getting Tooy recognized as captain by the government,
working on the Saramaka féte and the Village Saramaka (the latter two Ben’s
projects rather than Tooy’s).

Late in the evening, after everyone else has left, we are ready to say farewells
until our next trip. Tooy presents Sally and me with a lovely embroidered
Brazilian hammock and ushers us into the Diinguldli shrine, where he sits
us down next to him. He prays, “My master Dunguldli, ébia that parts the
paths! Awii, awii kdndikdndi! The path to the land of the dead must stay dark,
the path to the land of living must stay light! The 6bia must eat meat! ... We
ask forlonglife. We ask for two hundred years, three hundred years, without
illness. . . .” He asks me to pray, then Sally. I notice that there’s fresh blood
from a sacrifice on the stone in front of the altar. He reaches over to a clay
pot and removes a biceps ring, which he presents to me, saying its taboos
include never wearing it to a funeral and, when I go to a wake where there’s
food set out, turning my back to the table and sitting down and standing up
three times before facing the table. Then he passes a calabash of Dunguldli
liquid to us, telling us to hold it palm down with our left hand, touch it to the
earth three times, and take three swallows. He gives me a generous handful
of “Dunguldli tobacco” (made, he explains, from the dried leaves of a First-
Time variety of banana tree’), saying I should buy a pipe and smoke it as
often as I want—that pipe is called Andnagda, he says, and he sings the song
that’s sung as men pass the pipe from hand to hand during ceremonies: Pipa,
pipa-e, pipa lontu, pipa-ya Andnagod. Akoomi has this talk! With that pipe he
would kill people who came to harm him! Tooy turns on a tape recording of
the big Duinguldli ceremony they did while we were in Brazil—later he’ll give
me the tape so I can listen to it as I smoke my pipe and relax back home.

Tooy explains that if you work with Dinguldli, Death can't kill you—
except in one circumstance.
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This dbia, if you work with it properly, Death can’t touch you. Sickness can kill
you. But not Death. When you work with Pdsipaati [a nickname for Dinguldli],
a person might walk up to you and shoot you, boom, or someone comes up
to you and cuts you with a machete, djudjudju, or hits you with a stick—but
you’ll always live. Let’s say you're traveling by canoe and you sink, but though
you go to the bottom of the river, you’ll find a way to get back to shore. Din-
guldli people never drown! But if you “miss” Dunguldli, if you offend him,
Dunguldli himself will kill you.

The ritual performed while we were in Brazil was designed to renew the
shrine after Tooy, having offended the dbia by mixing sex with his curing
practices, had served his time and was finally free. It had been a warning
from Dunguldli. Now, Tooy was determined to make things right again.

As the tape continues playing, he explains to us one of the songs as he
sings along with it.

Once, Bdsi Akoomi [the spirit who taught Dinguldli to Kédji at the beginning
of the twentieth century] went off to the land where there are only women. He
and eight other men. The women fought them with sticks until they’d killed
every one—except Akoomi. Then they went after him with machetes, but his
dbia called Tif6u saved him. (That’s what this song is about. I've washed in that
dbia, but it’s not good to make—it makes too many demands on you.) Finally,
the chief of those women, Ma Akekdna [once he called her Ma Apeefiinda],
showed up and said, “What’s going on here, how come one’s still alive? Who
is he?” They said, “He’s called Afeemadnsu” [the name of Akoomf’s tutelary
spirit]. She said, “Let him be! I know his mother, Ma Ini. His father is Gwdnku-
sonisa. Take him into your house, wash him, give him food, and cure him.”
Akoomi stayed there three years before he was himself again.

When Akoomt finally returned to his village, his wife had taken another
man! He knocked on the door. She didn’t answer (because she wasn't alone).
Then she called out to him, “I don’t know you anymore. Get outta here!” He
said, “Don’t talk to me like that. Here I am. If you don’t open the door for me,
I'll open it myself!” Well, the husband she’d taken, he was ready to finish off
Akoomi. (She had taught him much of Diinguldli-Obia!) He was hiding be-
hind the door with his sharpened machete. Akoomi opened the door. The
man cut him heavily. But the dbia called Kadabayi saved him. He shouted,
“Duinguldli-e!”—lightning flashed on his biceps—at which the machete
jumped up and cut the man into three pieces!

The tape recorder plays a very sad song that Tooy joins in on: Aing!, Aing!,
Afng!, Kwaing! Ma Ini ké a fin komani-e-o. Aing!, Kwaing! . . . This is Akoomf’s
lament when he came home and found his wife with the other man. “You
know what the woman did to him?” Tooy asks me. “She told him to hold out
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his hands, and she put burning coals in them! That’s when he jumped out,
cut off her head, cut off the man’s head, and cut off the heads of his nine
children! (Don't tell this story often—it’s very dangerous.)” I ask if this hap-
pened in the land of the living. No, says Tooy, in the land of the dead, adding
that this is the sort of thing Komanti ¢bias like to shoot the breeze about.

Thinking about Komantis, Tooy decides to offer me a special nugget
and sings, Agddo, agddo séki-e, djdmkamisa agddo [repeat]. “This is how Kwa-
simukdmba asked his brother Alda for the drinking glass. Agddo means
‘small calabash,” djamkamisa sugarcane drink. The day had come for them to
drink together, and this is what he said.” And then he confirms something
he’d only hinted at once earlier: “When Kwasimukdmba came to Saramaka,
he didn’t come alone. There were three brothers who walked together. The
oldest was Alua, the middle one Néngeé Kwast [slave Kwasi], and the young-
est Kwasimukdmba.* Gweytinga only ‘caught’ Kwasimukdmba—the oth-
ers went to other villages. After they went back to the coast, only Alda and
Kwasimukdmba came upriver again with the whitefolks. It’s all in Komanti
songs. In fact, when these three men died, they didn’t become ghosts/an-
cestors [misikonde] at all. They turned into Komantis! At Kimbakiiki on the
Gadnlio, one turned into a thorn tree (djénjénkumdka) and the other a termite
hill—both are still there, each topped with a metal soldier’s helmet from the
days of war.”

As we are ready to leave, Tooy takes my hands and says, Nyam-nyam ku-
vdnde, nyam-nyam vdla, which means, in Pimbu, “A long trip causes okra to
dry on the branch.”

Let’s say you plant okra in your garden here and leave for Martinique—your
okra will dry on the branch, because you're so far away. You and I have known
each other quite a while by now. Even when you're far away, you mustn’t forget
me. Things happen here that aren’t good—they make me captain and then
everyone in Guyane is jealous and says I must die. We’ve got to find a solution.
As you've told me, I've already paid with my prison time. Now I lay my head
in your hands. You know Saramaka laws, you know whitefolks’ laws. Tell me
what I should do. I leave myself in your hands. When you go, don’t forget me.
Nyam-nyam kuvdnde.



TEMBAI'S VILLAGE

* 1981/05282005 *

We first visited the Saramaka village of La Fléche, two-thirds of the way
from Cayenne to Saint-Laurent and a couple of kilometers off the highway
on a rutted track, in 2001, and have been back a half-dozen times. The wel-
come has always been warm, and by now we’re privileged guests. Saramakas
call the place Tembdi-konde (Tembdi’s Village) after its founder and leader,
Captain Miséi Tembdi Maydko, a Saramaka now in his midfifties, who set-
tled the spot some twenty-five years ago. Perhaps twenty adults and twenty
or thirty children now live there, including Miséi’s four wives, and the kids
go to school by bus in Mana, an hour away. The village is a healing center
for Saramakas and others and is known for the annual féte, in May, of its
tutelary Wénti, Djéunsu-Etéunsu.

Miséi, like Tooy, is an extrovert who seems to enjoy life to the fullest.
But unlike Tooy, he’s very much the public manager and rather flamboy-
ant booster of the two gods for which he serves as medium. Largely unin-
terested in what we might call the theology of Wéntis or Wdtawentis—in
marked contrast to Tooy—he focuses on their theatrical aspects. And again
unlike Tooy, who has told us that the gods in his house—from Duingulili-
Obia to the “hand” of the dbia that Kwasimukdmba’s son Gisi left his matri-
lineage to all the Wéntis and others who live with him—could never be pho-
tographed for fear that they would refuse to work with him anymore, Miséi
positively encourages photography of his gods and their shrines. Whenever
we come, he asks us to shoot photos, and he proudly shows us his album of
those taken by gendarmes and other visitors. (His Wénti outfit, which he
wears when possessed, looks Brazilian influenced [Ilemanjd-like]—I've never
seen another possessed Wénti in this sort of fancy getup.) Miséi’s shrines are
more colorful and public than Tooy’s—they almost seem set up for display.
His curing business includes a kind of showmanship that’s entirely absent
from Tooy’s, which relies rather on a combination of his powerful personal-
ity and his unmatched knowledge of ritual.
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Some twenty years ago, Miséi told us, a god repeatedly tried to pos-
sess him, so they brought him to his natal village of Gédo in Suriname,
where a man from the village of Palubdsu was able to “lift the taboo” that
was keeping the god from successfully coming. It turned out that Miséi’s
“namesake”—his father’s father, who had committed suicide with a gun on
the Approuague during the early twentieth century—had had a powerful
anaconda god in his head. While they were bringing Miséi from Palubdsu,
where the ceremony to lift the taboo had been held, to Gédo, Miséi dove into
the water and disappeared. Everyone thought he’d drowned, but they later
found him lying on the shore at Gédo. The god said its name was Lonzhé, the
same Widtawen that had possessed his “namesake.”

Within a year, Lonzhé brought Miséi another god, the Wénti Djéunsu-
Etéunsu, who had never been heard of before. Miséi told us that when Lon-
zhé had been in his namesake’s head, he’d brought him an Addtu or Abattitu
god—a rough sort of Komanti-like bodyguard or watchman in the form
of a toad. And now, instead, Lonzhé had brought Miséi a tutelary Wénti,
Djéunsu-Etéunsu. When Miséi dies, he assures us, and Lonzhé possesses
someone else, he’ll bring yet another helper god to that person.

The dbia canoe for Miséi’s anaconda god.
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Two views of the shrine to Anoenzai Boeski.

Miséi’s house, alarge wooden structure in coastal style, stands at the cen-
ter of the village, and there are a couple dozen Saramaka-style houses spread
around the white sands of the place. Miséi reserves several for the use of
patients, who often spend days or weeks while they are being treated for one
or another ailment. (We’ve seen Guadeloupeans as well as Saramakas conva-
lescing in the village after a cure.) There’s a sizeable council house, where
Miséi takes visitors and serves them cold beer or soft drinks with the help of
the gasoline-generator-powered electrical system that covers the whole vil-
lage. Miséi, like many of the younger residents, has a cell phone and speaks
to friends and relations all over Guyane—and Suriname—with ease. There
are gardens tended by the women out along paths leading from the village.
Once when we arrived, men had just shot and butchered seven bush hogs
and were dividing some of the meat among relatives and carting the rest in
wheelbarrows to sell by the highway.

In the central space between Miséi’s house and his gods” houses stands
an outdoor shrine, covered with thatch, featuring a colorfully painted ship
to which large seashells are affixed (reminiscent to us of certain Ghanaian
or Haitian shrines for the sea gods.) The meter-and-a-half-long ship, with
conchs at either end and carrying an image of its owner, says it’s dedicated
to “Anoenzai Boeski”—reminding us of Kédji’s Busiki, Wananzdi. But Miséi
says that Djéunsu had once possessed him and directed the building of this
shrine, including the spelling out of the name of the master of the ship, and
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Lonzhé’s post and necklace (the letters and ~ Lonzhé’s pot on its clay hearthstones. There’s an unfinished
lightbulb are not part of the display). necklace nearby.

Lonzhé’s altar with its kongoobus, canoe, and two blond dolls.

that he wasn’t sure that this was related to Kédji’s god at all, despite his being
amatrilineal descendant of that great man.

Miséi has built two large houses for his gods. The one behind Lonzhé’s
dbia canoe is divided in two—the front half is Lonzhé’s, the rear belongs to
Djéunsu-Etéunsu. As befits the shrine of a Wdtawend avenging spirit, the
front room holds twisted vines and branches, some with embedded cowries,
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old machete blades, and lots of sacred white clay. The god’s “post” holds the
necklace he wears when he possesses Miséi—braided red cloth decorated
with cowries. On the earth nearby is the iron pot used to “boil” (ritually
prepare) biceps rings. The god’s altar holds his kongoobusi (crooked scep-
ter), a canoe loaded with goods, and offerings left by visitors, including two
blond dolls.

The back half of the house, Djéunsu’s domain, has an anteroom/corridor
which serves as a space for visitors’ gifts—on a large table covered with col-
orful cloth there are several bouquets of plastic and cloth flowers in vases,
bottles of champagne, Perrier, Schweppes, and beer, and a life-sized cloth
parrot balancing on a perch; a large cardboard cutout of a London Beef-

eater, originally made for display in a bar featuring the gin of that name,
dominates one wall. Once again, the tie-in between Wéntis and a plethora of
whitefolks’ merchandise.

Inside Djéunsu’s shrine. Each bowl contains an egg. Djéunsu’s altar and throne.
Djéunsu’s red, white, and blue “belt” is decorated

with cowries. Note also Djéunsu’s beribboned divi-

nation basket, the C.R.S. (police) medallion, and

the tall post topped by an dbia bottle with an eagle

feather attached.
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The dbia’s post and pot. Close-up of the dbia’s post, topped by eagle, macaw,
and vulture feathers.

In the back room is Djéunsu’s Wénti palace. The ceiling is hidden by
swaths of blue-and-white fabric. The floor is tiled in white and light blue.
Christmas decorations hang from strings, and there are quantities of em-
broidered white cloths, cans of room deodorizer, many bottles of cologne
and perfume. Terrycloth towels and tapestries with Christian imagery are
all bright and clean. There are several Christian paintings and chromolitho-
graphs. There are sculptures of wooden animals, ceramic swans, plastic
flowers, bottles of sugarcane syrup, champagne, and beer, a 3-foot-tall artifi-
cial Christmas tree with decorations, a Santa Claus figurine, candles, a large
pendulum clock, several blond dolls still in their boxes (remember Wéntis
and babies), a carved wooden armadillo, the medallion of an elite French
national police unit, and much else. Miséi explained that most of these are
gifts from visitors—though he himself had placed the sixth-grade diploma
of one of his sons on the wall. Next to the altar, which is laden with other
gifts, is Djéunsu’s throne, where the god sits when he possesses Miséi. In
contrast to Lonzhé’s room, everything here is clean and bright.’

A large wooden house next door, which was built under Djéunsu’s direc-
tion, is divided into a spacious front public room where ritual washings,
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Miséi Tembdi possessed by Djéunsu-Etéunsu, Miséi possessed by Lonzhé, carrying his kongoobust.
wearing Wénti clothes.

divination, and other curing rites take place, and a small back room where
the dbia—Lonzhé—holds sway and keeps his pot, his post, and his stool
(throne). Anoenzai, the captain of the Wénti ship outside, also serves as
a carry-oracle, and it’s in this front room that they divine with him when
people seek help with their problems.
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Miséi’s son Régis wearing Lonzhé’s complex “belt” and posing on the dbia throne, con-
structed with bull’s horns, eagle feathers, vulture feathers, macaw feathers, and the bris-
tles of the giant anteater.

On one of our visits in 2005—whenever we come, we bring offerings of
beer, sugarcane syrup, and sparkling wine to place on Djéunsu’s altar—Mi-
séi let us borrow three photos from his album, which we scanned in Cay-
enne, showing himself in the guises of Djéunsu and of Lonzhé and his son
Régis posing on Lonzhé’s dbia throne, which he will some day inherit.

* Kk %

In May 2005, we were finally able to attend Djéunsu’s annual féte. Four years
earlier when we’d visited, Miséi had presented us each with commemora-
tive tee shirts from the Djéunsu celebration that year. They read (in a white
field surrounded by blue stars): Vive / ‘Djeunsu Eteunsu’ / Le 25 Mai 2001/ 1967-
2001/ (34 ans) PK. 169 [this is the kilometer marking on the road that serves
as street address] / 97350 Iracoubo [postal code and name of municipality]
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|/ Djeunsu Eteunsu; a pair of crossed machetes—I assume a Brazilian influ-
ence—are underneath. We imagined some sort of elaborate Wénti féte and
made it our business to be in Guyane at the right moment of the year for the
2005 version.”

When I asked Miséi what the “1967” and “34 years” on the tee shirts rep-
resented, he said that Djéunsu had announced, when he possessed him
not long before, that he was born in 1967, making him thirty-four years
old. When I asked Miséi and some of his relatives whether Djéunsu had de-
scribed his sisters and brothers or even where he came from, they said he
hadn’t. He is by nature taciturn, which is also the case for Lonzhé, they said,
adding that Lonzhé never told about his family even when he was in the head
of Miséi’s namesake.

The féte, which began at 10:00 p.m., attracted scores of young Saramakas
from Saint-Laurent and the settlements in the area, as well as a dozen or so
Creoles who were friends of Miséi’s and ten or twelve local Amerindians from
Iracoubo. Miséi was a gracious host, setting up tables and chairs on the sand
for his Creole and Amerindian guests and offering bottles of whisky, cognac,
and beer. A makeshift store sold drinks to others. In the council house, a
Saramaka band played kawina (the calypso of Suriname) as young couples
danced tightly in the dark. Female dress ranged from traditional Saramaka
wrap skirts to very short skirts and high heels. Most men were dressed to
disco. Around 2:00 a.m., a space was cleared outside, and a dozen or so
late-teenagers, Miséi’s sons and close relatives, filed out of Lonzhé’s shrine
dressed in loincloths, their legs whitened with kaolin. To the accompani-
ment of Aptiku drums, they danced first upon fire and then upon broken
glass before washing themselves thoroughly with ébia solutions from an oil
drum heating on a fire in front of the shrine. After this half-hour interlude,
the pop music struck up again, and it was time for lovers to meet. We retired
to the Saramaka-style house and hammock that Miséi kindly provided. So
much for Wéntis.

When I've discussed Miséi’s gods with Tooy, he’s been faintly dismissive,
explaining that these are just Miséi’s father’s things from Gédo. Djéunsu
has nothing to do with Adjéunsu, who for Tooy is the master of the seas,
the headman of the saltwater Wéntis, a real gaamd! Djéunsu, says Tooy, is
a sweetwater Wénti related to the famous Wénti called Tuli, who was active
in the early twentieth century and whose master also lived in the village of
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Gddo. Both those gods, says Tooy, are mere kédje-tomé (sweetwater Wéntis),
not tdsu-kpéke-kpéke (Wéntis from the sea).

Once I asked Miséi what he thought of Tooy. “That man truly knows
things! The inside of his head is all filled up. And he doesn’t forget things.
For the seven landing places of the Langu clan, there’s no one who knows
things like him! He knew the Old Ones. His problem is that he won't tell
what he knows, he doesn’t like to share his knowledge. But he sure does
know things!”



FLEEING TRUMPS STANDING

* 04182005/05302005 *

Several times during our first visit of 2005, Tooy tells me why he’s come to
the conclusion that fleeing may be wiser than standing your ground. “We
once could have confidence in our dbias,” he'd say. “But nowadays, who
knows how much of their powers are left? Let’s say someone comes running
at you with an axe and you have to choose whether to see if your dbias are
still worth something or to make your escape. Which makes more sense? I'd
say, Run for it!” And he giggles. This tone of sardonic pessimism, the sense
of aworld on the wane, colors many of our discussions during those weeks,
when great, dark sheets of rain are falling on Cayenne.

“Let’s say,” Tooy tells two sister’s sons who are visiting, “that in the days
when Saa Wii used his ¢bia, there were twelve biyongos. Well, now maybe
seven are left. We still have the dbia, but half its biydngos are gone! I might
promise you that I'll teach you a biydngo before I die, but what if you're not
there when I'm dying? So we lose that knowledge. That’s why, as I said, flee-
ing has its benefits.” Or again, he remarks one day,

People don'’t really believe anymore. The Old Ones didn't eat onions or gar-
lic. Ashes was their Maggi [bouillon cubes]—it’s called adin. You'd cut some
sticks, burn them, and whenever you cooked okra or meat you'd take a spoon-
ful of ashes and mix it into the pot. I saw my own mother do this! Nor did the
Old Ones eat salt. They burned the sapatitree—that was runaway people’s salt.
Do you think any of those great men would have eaten garlic? But look at us
now. We used to know about medicinal plants. We used to know leaves that
would bend a machete when struck, leaves that could break a stone! The great
men used to eat biydngos and, just before they died, they’d vomit them up. It’s
all gone now. None of us are willing to keep the taboos. Who’s willing to go even
one week without touching a woman? Saramakas aren’t Saramakas anymore!

“We remain just like Kofimakdmakd’s dog,” an apocryphal animal which
Tooy explains was named Ogiten—“Hard Times.” “The world,” he continues,
“is going from bad to worse. Sometimes I look into my divination mirror
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and can’t even report the things that I see. I just haven’t got the stomach
for it.” Tooy remarks that Nélia, his sister’s daughter in Cayenne—a bright,
attractive forty-year-old whom, he has told me before, he cured of AIDS
some years ago—is now on crack cocaine." The girlfriend of one of her sons
(Tooy’s sweet “grandson” with the red shades), a Frenchwoman who works
at the hospital, got her started a few months ago. Tooy says he doesn’t think
she’s started hooking to get the cash, but figures that’ll come soon enough.
And Nélia’s brother Francis, whom Tooy and Yaai had raised till adulthood
and who'd been one of his assistants during our early visits to Cayenne, is
now in jail awaiting trial on charges of raping a Creole woman—a police-
man Tooy knows has told him that he’ll be sentenced to seventeen years be-
hind bars. Tooy also reports that a Saramaka man in Cayenne recently shot
his Creole landlord and his own wife, after he’d found them in bed together,
before killing himself. Ben, who’s now sitting with us, adds that Cayenne is
rife with “love dramas,” and that once Saramakas get involved in local life,
they tend to get sucked in. Tooy, laughing, admits to having come within a
hairbreadth of shooting a man whom he’d caught sleeping with his ingi wife
Annette, some twenty years ago. His passion almost got the better of him, in
very un-Saramaka fashion.
Learning, he says, is going out of style.

The gods used to love to teach me things. There was one in Bundjitapd [Tooy’s
natal village] called Kwebani-Muttaldla, a Witawent mixed with Aptiku [one
parent of each], but it was Aptiku we would play for him. Once, Iplayed for him
for twelve days straight—I was pissing blood by the end. He called God Nand
Mpingu, Zdmina Mpungu. My father’s brother had a runaway slave called Sépi
in his head. He taught me lots of Old Time words, African language—Paldka,
he said, meant “God” and étéla, “I'm going.” He'd say paldka leméla—“Go with
God.” He told me that hii meant “woman,” wdizaanga “open-sided house”
[Saramaccan gangdsa], oniabd “river,” oniabd baasuma aki “lower river,” and
oniabo libama aki “upper river.”

Tooy imitates the way Sépi used to talk. “Iloved to play the drums for them!”
he reminisces. “Today,” he goes on, “kids come and ask me things, but only
when they need some particular knowledge. It’s never for the sake of learn-
ing, so they’ll never really amount to anything. My greatest regret is that
I have no one to shoot the breeze with, no one to pass things on to. Young
people today just don’t have the patience. When I was younger, when you
went to a ‘play,’ if the priest there knew the songs better than you did, it was
areal embarrassment. Nowadays, these things don’t matter. When I go, I'll
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take it all with me. My own sister’s children don’t even bother to come and
sit with me. You're the only one who seems to care.”

Aside from these touches of pessimism, by 2005 Tooy seems pretty much
back to his old self. His curing business is active, his concerns about get-
ting his captaincy fully recognized by the French authorities continue,
and his enthusiasms for gods, women, drumming/songs, and history are
as strong as ever. And a problem that had long been weighing on him has
finally been resolved: the Frenchwoman avenging spirit has been pacified.
(Bdsi Ofilibani [Flibanti], Sensilé’s dbia back in Suriname, had gone to see
Frenchwoman on his behalf, when she possessed her medium in Paranam,
and they had worked out a ritual payment which Tooy has now completed.)
Tooy’s teaching me things has become in part a substitute for his not being
able to teach others as much as he’d like, no matter how different it is. A
number of times during our visit, Iwonder how many bitter or foul liquids I
will have to drink—Tooy plies me with drinks and ¢bias, seeking to be gen-
erous, throughout the stay.

Many of the dbias he offers me, like those he makes for other men inreturn
for money, are for sex. As he gives me a golf-ball-sized hard ball of hashed
and mashed leaves, telling me it’s asilapdu kdndu (okra-stem charm)}—okras
stand up very straight on the stem—he says, “Keep this under your bed,
drink a bit with rum. If you drink it three times in a day, you’ll be able to
have three women that day.” Others are to keep me and Sally healthy. He
prepares a basin filled with sweet-smelling leaves, telling me to take it home
and pour in one bottle of beer before adding the water—this bath puts us in
relations with Wéntis, Aptikus, and the Earth Mother. The top is sprinkled
with kaolin and when I bring it back to our apartment, it’s so pretty that Sally
takes a picture.

As for drinks, Tooy’s preference during this visit seem to be bitters of one
sort or another—bitters so bitter that it is often hard to get down even a few
drops. “It’s good for worms,” he says, as he forces some upon me. (The bark
of the white asiimdipa tree is for small worms, that of the red variety for large
ones, he explains. My remonstrations that I don’t have worms only evoke
from him that neither does he, but that it is good to keep the stomach clean
in any case.) Fortunately, many of his clients have been leaving six-packs of
Heineken or Guinness or bottles of sweet Brazilian brandy on the floor of the
consulting room, and while drinking at all hours of the day isn’t my normal
preference, it does help chase the aftertaste of those omnipresent bitters.
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Tooy also periodically drinks from a small bottle, and then offers me some,
of what he says is “okra-stem charm” (the ball-shaped dbia he’d prepared
for me earlier). He explains that if a man has made an dbia so that if you
sleep with his wife you can’t get it up (which is quite common, he assures me
when I ask), this 6bia we're drinking ensures that the husband’s dbia won’t
work and that you’ll do just fine with the lady.

And one day, after a political meeting in his house with Saramaka captain
Adaisso of Kourou and his assistant, Tooy gives each of them—and me—
as a parting gift an ébia to swallow and a bunch more of it to take home,
wrapped in brown paper torn from a bag. He doesn’t need to specify to these
knowledgeable men what it’s for—it looks like some sort of rough charcoal
mixed with ashes, and it goes down the throat only with difficulty.

There are now three dozen large plastic buckets—red, green, blue,
yellow—stacked near the door of the waiting room. When I ask, Tooy ex-
plains that they’re from clients who paid for part of a cure, then left a bucket
for him to fill with dbia ingredients for a “bath,” but never returned to pick it
up and pay the balance. “Clients deceive me because they know I won’t harm
them. Dinguldli doesn’t like [human] blood! So, I'm helpless against them,
and they know it.” He giggles and shrugs.

On a daily basis, Haitians now seem to be Tooy’s most frequent clients,
though he continues to see Creoles, Brazilians, Saramakas, metropolitan
French, and others. Often, even while Haitians are present, he expresses
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annoyance to me (in Saramaccan, which they can’t understand) at what he
sees as their habits. Referring to them out loud as “Hai-ddgu” [“Hai-dogs,”
a pun on “Hai-chien”—French for “dog”], he tells me that if you do curing
for Haitian women, you’d better watch your ass. “They offer you their tit-
ties and when you take them, they’ve got you. Those women may be good-
looking, but once you look closely at their habits, you wouldn’t want one
for a wife here. They’ll leave their husband in Haiti, come to Guyane and
take another man, and get all that man’s money and send it back to their
husband in Haiti. Other ‘nations’ don’t live like that! Once they take a
new husband, that’s the one they think about. But not Haitians. Another
thing, when a Haitian’s husband dies, she’ll have some other man work-
ing away on top of her belly while he’s still in the icebox at the morgue!”
I watch Tooy do a series of tarot-card divinations and make a bucket of
leaves for a group of six Haitians—four men and two women—who even-
tually pay him 20 euros. A second group of three asks how much their
bucket costs, and he says ten. They scrape up the money, coin by 50-cent
coin, the men scrounging in all their pockets and the woman searching in-
side her bra. Tooy looks disgusted that they can’t more easily come up with
the paltry sum.

Tooy receives clients who have varied concerns. One Creole man arrives
in his blue work jumpsuit to ask for help with his wife, who has taken to
chatting with her boyfriends on the phone right in front of him and their
children. (Tooy just shakes his head and tells the man to come back another
time.) Two young Brazilian women arrive on a motor scooter and ask him
if he speaks Creole. They consult briefly and say they’ll return with money
the next day. A fifty-year-old Creole shows up with his twenty-five-year-old
wife, seeking sexual assistance (and saying he can pay up to 1,000 euros for a
true cure). After he leaves, Tooy tells me and his assistants that the man will
have to pay at least 4,000 for what he needs. Two years ago, he abandoned
his wife of many years for this young woman and hasn’t been able to get it
up since. Clearly, says Tooy, the (ex-)wife is responsible, and curing the man
is going to be heavy work! A couple of young women come in together, onea
white Guadeloupean, the other a Guyanaise, both with man problems. Tooy
“cuts [tarot] cards” for each and makes an dbia-in-a-bucket for each, speci-
fying that one must wash in hers three times a day for five days, the other
for six days. He charges each 35 euros for the card work and 30 for the dbia,
which he tells me is a real bargain. The women express concern about how
to wash in their dbias at midday without messing up their hair, since they
must return to their offices. And one of them is concerned that her man
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will suspect that she’s seeking magical help when he sees her bathing in the
evening. Tooy says that’s their problem.

When Tooy’s telephone slips off its shelf into a basin of water and is ru-
ined, I drive him to Cayenne’s new megasupermarket, several kilometers
distant, to buy him a new one. As we walk in from the parking lot, the greet-
ings begin: “Bonjour, M. Alexandre,” people say with pleasure as he gives
out handshakes or kisses on the cheek, like a celebrity or local politician.
From the security guards and the store hostesses to the employees loading
shelves and the salesgirl who sells us the phone, everyone seems to know
him. All are former or present clients. All seem delighted to see him.

While Sally and Yaai are cooking the midday meal together, I join Tooy
as he prepares an dbia for a Saramaka visitor in the presence of an assistant
and an older friend. My notes read:

There are two yellow rain slickers laid out on the ground, one holding four
piles of chopped barks (I'd guess about a kilo of each) and the other, four piles
of different barks, four of chopped vines, seven different kinds of forest leaves
(still on their stems), and separately, five kinds of “kitchen garden” leaves. It
must have taken a couple of hard days of work in the forest to put all this to-
gether. Tooy asks his assistant and the older man to “lift the god,” and they
bring out Luégan, a smallish carry-oracle draped with a red print cloth who
had been in the Diinguldli chamber. The god directs Tooy in the making of the
dbia from start to finish, being asked which ingredients to add first, whether
to add certain other things, how to handle the eggs, etc. Order of things go-
ing into the large plastic basin, which the client was first asked to mark in a
large X with keéti and then place a large beer bottle in the center, was: biydngos
of two kinds, one a ball of keéti-like stuff (keéti with other things mixed into
the ball), and then bits from Tooy’s biyéngo-apaki: vulture’s claw, mica, quartz
crystals, etc, shaved off with a pocket knife under the direction of the carry-
oracle. Then, forest barks, which were in pairs of “western”[“eastern” [side of
the tree], with each pair going into the basin in that order; then forest vines,
then forest leaves, then kitchen-garden leaves. Within each category, the god
instructed which piles toload in first. At the god’s instructions, the client then
poured in three liter bottles of beer, as we all sipped more beer from a single
calabash we passed around. At the end, a small (Heineken) beer bottle and an
egg were placed in the basin for each person. A lot of attention was paid to the
direction of the beer bottles, the positioning of the eggs, the identification
of each person’s egg, etc. Bottles and eggs were put to the east so the washing
could be done from the west side. (Each was marked with keéti so people could
find their own.) Sally—who'd joined us from the kitchen—and I included.
Then, after we all ate together, we washed, with Tooy presiding. Each person
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washed first with his personal egg (used like a bar of soap) and then full-scale
washing with the beer mixture scooped out of the basin with a calabash. Then
drinking the same mixture and fuld pfdd [spraying from the mouth, to right
and left] from the calabash. As the washing continued, Tooy and Yaai and the
others broke into song, some Komant{ and some Wénti. We left at 3:30.

On another day when I arrive, Tooy’s wearing his shiny blue knockoff
Everlast boxer’s shorts, a Brasil tee shirt, and a grungy New York Yankees cap.
Three women arrive in succession, and he gives each about twenty minutes
of his time. First is Marie-Jo, an amply proportioned woman born in Gua-
deloupe, with whom he has an off-color joking relationship—she’s all over
his body, touching and groping and teasing him, and he gives as much as he
gets. He takes six very large gingerroots that she’s brought, crushes them
in alarge mortar, cuts up three large limes, takes three grains of néngekénde
pepper, unwraps three rectangles of laundry bluing (this, he tells me, is the
dbia’s “biydngo”), and puts it all into a plastic bucket, adding a whole bottle
of white vinegar on top. He tells Marie-Jo to lift her skirt (which she does
fully and ostentatiously) and sit on the bucket, which is “boiling” pretty
fiercely since he poured in the vinegar. Once it quiets down, she’s to take
it home and wash in it three times a day for three days. She pulls two 20-
euro notes from somewhere inside her bosom and places them on the floor
for him.

A Haitian woman comes for a tarot session, after which Tooy makes an
obia in a bucket she’s brought—he tells me this recipe belongs to the Awand
clan—and he adds one egg, some kaolin, and water from the hose and tells
her to take it into the bathroom, disrobe, and wait for him in the shower
area. The third woman brings a new bucket for him to fill with medicine
leaves, plus a six-pack of Heineken and a six-pack of eggs. Tooy goes into
the tarot-Wénti room with her. Except for the raucous joking with Marie-Jo,
the sessions are whispered, and I sit waiting more or less patiently out in the
leaf room. Meanwhile, there’s a Haitian woman in the waiting room who,
Tooy tells me, has been spitting blood for weeks. Another woman arrives, a
good-looking thirty-year-old. He tells her he’ll bathe her at precisely eleven
o’clock, which is forty-five minutes away. 'm reminded of an American
dentist with three or four chairs—Tooy now has one woman in the shower,
another in the “wash house,” one in a bedroom waiting to be examined, and
the one who spits blood in the waiting room. Every few minutes, the tele-
phone rings and he speaks to a client in Saramaccan or Creole as he goes
back and forth from one room to another, joking with the women as he adds
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Tooy and a client.

sprigs to one bucket, an egg to another. He sits down near me, takes an egg,
and carefully marks it with India ink from a bottle, standing it up and mak-
ing a horizontal almond shape with a line down the middle and two little
plus signs under that. He heads off toward the shower with it. A Haitian
man comes in, and once Tooy returns, he is told to come back Friday with 25
euros for the consultation—the man is trying to decide whether he should
make a return trip to Haiti. Once the man leaves, Tooy asks the sick woman
in the waiting room if she happens to know him. She says no—why? Tooy
says since he’s Haitian . . .

A couple of days later when I'm visiting with Tooy, he keeps falling asleep
on his stool. Ben shows up, takes me outside where he’s washing his sec-
ondhand Peugeot with a hose from Tooy’s house, and tells me that the day
before, when Sally and I were busy in Kourou, he had spent the day hanging
out at Tooy’s, and that Tooy had made it with five different women, mainly
young and pretty—including a Haitian who, Tooy boasted to Ben, told him
that the young men she sleeps with can’t hold a candle to him. Ben seems
at once bemused, impressed, and morally disapproving—he doesn’t seem
to know what to make of it, except that Tooy is amazing and Ben wishes
he could have such powers. I regard Ben’s report as hearsay from an inter-
ested party—Ben has been competitive with me about historical knowledge
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lately and might simply be trying to knock down Tooy in my estimation. But
who knows?

*x k%

Several times during the visit, Tooy spontaneously talked about his convic-
tion and time in prison. “In Suriname,” he mused, “once fifteen days have
passed, a woman can’t accuse a man of rape. In Guyane, it’s fifteen years!”
(It’s actually ten, though nearly fifteen years had passed by the time he was
brought to trial.) He says he can’t deny having slept with the fifteen-year-
old; after all, he had a child with her. (He talks as if his conviction was for
sleeping with an underage girl. The idea of rape isn’t salient for him.) He did
live with her for five years and never denied it. But he never expected all this
trouble. “Is she the only girl in the world with titties?” he laughs. Why would
all those men be after her and only her? She’s jailed a white man, a Haitian,
a Brazilian, and a Saramaka, all for sex—the whiteman, Tooy says, was ac-
cused of raping her child. “Are they the only family with breasts? I've been
in Guyane since 1958 and never had a problem with the law and never had a
problem with a woman,” he says.

Injail, the Brazilian told him that when he got out, he’d kill those women.
The Haitian, who boasted of supernatural powers, said so, too. And not
long ago, when the girl’s father returned to Maripasoula from Cayenne, he
sat down in a chair and keeled over dead! The mother is now bedridden in
Cayenne and needs to be spoon-fed. Tooy says he’s not involved in any of
this—but that family will get what it deserves. “Meanwhile,” he confides
to Sally and me, “Brigitte’s lawyer has had to stop practicing. She put away
four men in a single year for sex with Brigitte or her family! The government
decided it wasn’t possible!”

A few days later, during a friendly visit with Tooy’s lawyer, Lamartine,
Sally asks him about this, but he says that Brigitte’s lawyer is simply on ma-
ternity leave. However, he adds that, thinking back on the case and the oth-
ers she’s been involved in, it now seems pretty clear to him that Brigitte was
running a con, that she’d figured out a way to get easy money from the State,
and that Tooy was simply in the wrong place at the wrong time, the perfect
fall guy for her accusation. And he says that women in Cayenne, who talk
among themselves, are now well aware of the potential benefits of bringing
men they’ve had relations with to court for rape. When Sally asks if men
are ever acquitted of charges of rape in Cayenne, he says he can think of
only a single case (which the State immediately appealed and which is still
pending). In today’s atmosphere of fear and political correctness, Lamartine
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pointed out, any accusation of rape is tantamount to a multiyear conviction
for the accused and a healthy payment to the plaintiff.

We reflect how, in the guise of Brigitte, Tooy almost met his nemesis.
Imagine Tooy as a kind of Greek hero—a charismatic man who is flawed in
distinctively human ways and hence doomed to mortal tragedy. Roaming
across cultural boundaries, mixing traditional Saramaka knowledge with
the tools of Creole curing, he had developed a set of practices that brought
him a modest income, frequent sexual opportunities, and a measure of
personal power. Meanwhile, Brigitte and her family had crossed their own
cultural boundaries and succeeded in mobilizing a different but no less
effective set of tools in the service of their own, largely financial, ends. In
the ensuing confrontation, Brigitte and her allies successfully manipulated
ideas about gender, sex, money, ethnicity, and modernity to bring Tooy to
his knees and get their payoff. In this French arena, Tooy’s traditional spiri-
tual powers were trumped by a modern arsenal of secular arms. He was
not far off the mark when he sometimes thought of what Brigitte and her
family did as a curse, for the effect was the same. Tooy’s ultimate triumph—
really a sort of Pyrrhic victory—depended on a different State apparatus
outflanking Brigitte’s troops. In the end, a human-rights discourse based on
prisoners’ rights (a seriously ill prisoner shall not be held . . .) was used to
override a human-rights discourse based on women’s rights (about rape and
domestic violence . . .).* We hardly felt proud of the means used to spring
Tooy from captivity, but fighting the State with its own weapons had be-
come our only option, once he had been ensnared by its totalizing logic and
power. He was free; Brigitte and her daughter kept the money. For Tooy, who
most of the time remains philosophical about the whole affair, the denoue-
ment is now well under way, as one after another of Brigitte’s family suffers
illness or death. His pleasure each time another shoe drops is subdued but
palpable. He trusts that the gods, dbias, and ancestors will set everything
right in the end.

Tooy tells me about several recurrent dreams he had in jail, all of which
had him falling into a deep pit and not being able to climb out. But he also
describes, for the first time, some of the daily realities of doing time in Cay-
enne. Whenever he visited the prison doctor, the man would ask if he didn’t
want some condoms. “What are you talking about?!” he’d object. “There’s
plenty of AIDS in here,” the doctor would reply. Tooy told him to get outta
there with that talk. He tells us that inside, he’d actually seen men fight-
ing each other with knives over other men! And how in the showers, he
saw something really ugly—Dbiiguru (from “boogaloo”?). Men would cut up
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dominos, file them down, make cuts in the skin of their penis with a razor,
and insert the domino pieces. “It’s a makumé [queer] thing!” he exclaimed.
“But women like it too. Hot women like Marie-Jo. She tells me she really loves
men with biiguru.” He adds, “Men have died of it in jail—they get infected.
Georgetown guys are the bosses of that thing—they all have it. I saw one guy
from Cayenne who must have been in his fifties, but he had these big biiguru.
I asked why in the world he’'d done it. ‘It’s the fashion,” he told me.” Tooy
shakes his head, laughing. “I'll stick with the little thing God gave me.”



POLITICS

* 04182005/05302005 *

From the beginning of that visit in 2005, Tooy’s status as a bull without
horns had been on the minds of Ben, Tooy’s close relatives, and Tooy himself.
Ben, as usual when we arrived in Cayenne, gave me photocopies of several
more letters sent by the Association of Young Active Saramakas of Guyane,
which he heads, to the president of the Conseil Général, the political body
that officially recognizes Amerindian and Maroon captains, pays their sala-
ries, and furnishes their uniforms. The problems with Tooy’s official recog-
nition have only grown more complicated since our last visit eight months
earlier. And among other personal losses it’s caused is Kalusé’s defection to
Tooy’s rival—Kalusé now says he won't set foot in Tooy’s house “as long as
he lives.” And Kalusé will no longer talk to Ben—his spot as vice president
of the association has now been taken by another man.

From our perspective, the situation seems clear. Tooy was selected and
installed as Saramaka captain of Cayenne in 2001, according to traditions
dating to the nineteenth century. And then in 2003, as part of the complex
politics of French Guyana, some members of the Conseil Général who be-
longed to an independentist party brought a Saramaka (naturalized as
French, a trade union leader, and a member of their political party) to the
Aluku gaamd, who declared him captain of the Saramakas of Cayenne, a sta-
tus which the Conseil Général quickly approved, leaving Tooy—who was
never mentioned—out in the cold, a bull without horns. For Saramakas (and
ourselves) the issue was by what rights Alukus could designate a captain
for the Saramakas (and after the Saramakas had already enstooled one!).
From the perspective of the Alukus, who are French by birth, who have a seat
on the Conseil Général as well as the Conseil Régional, and who would like
to speak for all Maroons on French soil, it’s purely a question of realpolitik.
They have the power, to hell with tradition, they can do what they like. Sara-
makas are in a weak position to object.

Tooy spoke of it with me almost daily, veering between anger and resig-
nation and often asking me to decide whether the issue should be pursued.
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On the one hand, he’d been designated captain by all the traditional Sara-
maka means and not only exercised the office but took all the jealousy and
witchcraft that went with it—witness his getting cut up by the masked
men, going to prison, and so forth. On the other hand, he didn’t really need
it. As he told me several times, “Why do I want this extra headache? I have
my house here, I have the other one in Cité Césaire [where Nélia and other
relatives live], I have my house in Saint-Laurent [where Ma Yaai is currently
staying], I have my beat-up car, I have five hectares of forest in Roura [left
by his deceased brother]. Why do I need to be captain?” Tooy’s conclusion
during the visit was that, having come this far, I should help Ben pursue the
issue until an outcome was clear one way or the other, and then we should
drop it without regrets.

Tooy also told me that his rival is married to the Aluku gaamd’s sister’s
daughter, creating a strong bond. And, perhaps even more important, that
the gaamd once arranged for Tooy and Sensild to take an airplane to his vil-
lage to make an dbia for him. (The gaamd, it turns out, has a Saramaka father,
who was the brother of Tooy’s own father.) While Tooy was making the dbia,
the gaamd begged him to set up a shrine for Dinguldli in his village, to share
Diinguldli-Obia with the Alukus. Tooy said he’d need the formal approval of
both the Béndiwdta Mamd in Saramaka and the Aluku sédi-gddu, Tatd Odun.
The gaamd was unhappy with this response and never pursued the matter.

Sally and I eventually had a meeting with the president of the Conseil
Régional, who has known and respected Tooy for years because of having
once served as intermediary for a colleague’s cure. Several weeks earlier, he
had attended the launching of our latest book* at the Musée des Cultures
Guyanaises, and he knows and admires our work. He grasped the situation
quickly and offered to do his best to get Tooy recognized, as we suggested,
as a second captain of Cayenne, given that there were now more than four
thousand Saramakas living in and around the capital. However, it was the
Conseil Général, not his Conseil Régional, that made these decisions, and
they were far more concerned with the political stakes (Alukus are citizens
who have the vote, Saramakas are immigrants who do not) than with cul-
tural “traditions.” The Aluku gaamd and the Conseil Général work together
on a plethora of issues involving serious sums of money and heavy political
power. In that arena, Saramakas do not exist (no matter how dependent both
Alukus and, say, the president of the Conseil Général may be, at one time
or another, on Saramaka ritual knowledge—these domains are kept quite
separate). It was hard for us to feel any optimism about Tooy’s chances.
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During that same visit, the choice of a new Saramaka gaamd was by far the
most frequent and lively subject of conversation. Saramaka Gaamd Songo
Abdikéni—widely considered a weak leader, who had been partially inca-
pacitated by a stroke—had died in November 2003. His tumultuous funeral,
which dragged on until his burial more than three monthslater, was marked
by the coffin’s persistent refusal to name a successor and the gaamds in the
cemetery refusing, until the final moment, to “accept” Songo for burial as
one of their own. Without awaiting the “second funeral” some months later,
after which the successor is normally named, the interim gaamd—who
cannot himself be a candidate for the permanent position—quickly went
to Paramaribo and announced that his own brother, Otjutju (a.k.a. Belfon
Abéikdni), had been chosen as the next gaamd, and his picture was duly pub-
lished in the major Suriname newspaper, De Ware Tijd. (Since the eighteenth
century, tradition has it that once the Saramakas select and enstool the new
gaamd, he travels to the city, where he is officially installed and given a uni-
form by the colonial/national government.)

Whenwe’d arrived in Cayenne on April 18, Otjutju’s formal enstoolment as
gaamd six days earlier was, for Saramakas, the talk of the town. Ben returned
from a weekend in Paramaribo with photos of the new chief, legs whitened
with kaolin according to tradition, head tied in a kerchief, sitting in the an-
cestor shrine of Asindéépo (the Saramaka capital), and holding the gaamd’s
staff of office. But only two days later, in the village of Ddngogé, another
man—Ozéni—was enstooled in the ancestor shrine of that village. Sara-
makas suddenly had two rival gaamds, and no one knew quite what to make
of it. Disputes and rivalries for political office have always been part of the
Saramaka political scene. But in the past, it’s always been rival clans vying
for the office. Here, two men who were closely related Matjdu-clan members
of the Ddngogd community had somehow split it right down the middle.

Ojutju had never hidden his political ambitions. When I knew him in the
1960s and ’70s, he was a close confidant of the wise and respected Gaamd
Agbagd Abdikéni and, apparently, his preferred successor.” He had long
collaborated with outsiders on various projects—he was the first Saramaka
to run an airstrip in the interior and one of the few to have a small store.
In First-Time, I described him as “very much caught between the worlds of
the coast and Saramaka” and noted that “he gave me some of my most im-
portant leads about First-Time, though his information sometimes turned
out upon examination to be spurious”™—by which I meant “politically moti-
vated.” T knew Ozéni only by reputation, as a man from Ddngogd, the village
inwhich we lived, who had chosen to live and work in Paranam, Alcoa’s com-
pany town on the coast. Allegedly a mild man, Ozéni—I suspected—gained
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Otjitju’s enstoolment, April 12, 2005, Asindéépo.

his support for the office of gaamd less for anything he represented than for
not being Otjtitju. Many Saramakas, and particularly many from Ddngogd,
didn’t really trust Otjitju, whom they saw as too much of a manipulator.
Genealogically, both fit the bill.

The talk among Tooy and his friends was, however, of an entirely dif-
ferent nature. Yes, they all agreed that Otjiitju was the consummate politi-
cal animal, and that this made him well suited to the office. But more to the
point, Otjuitju was not to be messed with. First off, he’s what is known as
“master of the great avenging spirit”—he has in his head one of the most
powerful avenging spirits of his lineage. Second, his namesake is B4, the
mother of Gaamd Agbagd, and her own namesake was Lukéinsi, the daugh-
ter of Adjdgbo and Padnza and the medium of the First-Time forest spirit
Wdmba, giving him a supernatural lineage of great power.’ Once Otjitju had
been ritually enstooled in the ancestor shrine of Asindé6po, who could dare
to try and take the office away from him and survive?

Ben plays us a cassette with the audio of Otjtitju’s installation. Tooy lis-
tens intently to the apinti and comments on exactly what it’s saying: “Fiindi
ofon, fundi ofdn, fiindi ofon, aldkatdka fiindi ofon—the Suriname River is with-
out a headman. The ship has no steersman. The ship turns sideways and
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drifts dangerously.” And then later it plays, “Séi kiinya, séi kiinya, séi kiinya,
aldbatdta séi kiinya—The river has found a headman. The ship has found a
steersman.” Then, we listen as women sing lively sekéti songs composed for
the occasion, celebrating the enstoolment of Gaamd Otjitju. “This dispute
will have an outcome one way or the other,” laughs Tooy. “If a woman’s preg-
nant, if she doesn’t have a boy she’ll have a girl. Even if she doesn’t have a
boy or a girl, she’ll have some sort of child with teeth in its mouth. Let’s just
wait and see!”

The next day Ben arrives with what he says is the inside dope—and it
soon seems he’s on to something. The conflict isn’t about personalities
or traditional genealogy, it’s about the very modern forces of money, cor-
ruption, and “development.” Ben has heard credible rumors that a certain
“Pésé,” a Frenchman who runs Guyane’s largest gold mine, had made a deal
with Gaamd Songo shortly before his death to “develop” Saramaka, with
plans to build a five-star hotel across the river from Asinddépo, lengthen
the nearby airstrip at Djoemoe, build a road linking the Saramaka villages
with the outside world, and open up a massive gold mine inside the sacred
Paaba Creek. Songo’s death temporarily halted the project, though Pésé sent
massive amounts of goods to the funeral as a show of his respect. (I recall
having heard at the time of the funeral that a “Frenchman” had sent a plane
and a number of canoes carrying thousands of dollars’ worth of goods as
gifts, from bolts of cloth to cases of rum and soft drinks.) Now, according to
Ben’s rumors, Ozéni and his supporters plan to continue with Songo’s secret
plans, while Otjiitju wants nothing to do with Pésé.

Tooy surprises us by saying he knows Pésé. “That man’s been in Guyane
for years, living in Saint-Laurent. He once killed seven ingi headmen with
that 6bia of his—he keeps it in a sack he wears over his shoulder. It has an
asamakd [a dead man’s skull] in it. . . . He would go into the forest all by him-
self and ask his dbia if he should sleep in a certain spot that night, and if it
said no, he’d move on. He works with it all the time.” Tooy tells how Pésé
built himself a house in Saint-Laurent, but his wife left to go back to her
own country. He asked Tooy if he’d pour libations to bring her back. Tooy
did, and a week later she returned. Since then, Pésé has been a fan. But Tooy
warns us about the man. He was once up near St. Elie, where Pésé’s com-
pany mines gold, and learned that Pésé steals Saramaka children from the
coast to sacrifice to the devil who owns the gold in the bowels of the earth—
diamonds, too, he’s heard. Pésé has the children kidnapped and dropped
from his helicopters near the gold fields.

Ben mentions that the new Golden Star mine in Saramaka territory (now
owned by another multinational, Cambior)—built with the approval of the
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Paramaribo government but without consultation with or permission from
Saramakas—is already larger than Alcoa’s venerable bauxite mine at Para-
nam, and that many Saramakas now work there. They’re throwing the slag
into a sacred Saramaka lake, filling it up. And when they finish with one
of their giant machines, they simply bury it in the earth!* Ben also passes
around a clipping and photo, from a small Paramaribo daily, that shows
Ozéni’s enstoolment and reports on the controversy. As we pore over the
poor-quality photo, we try to figure out if Ozéni’s legs have been whitened
correctly. Otjitju had a better photographer!

One afternoon, Sally and I visit Kalusé. Though he’s broken off relations
with Tooy, he’s as warm with us as ever. Looking up, we see a huge Russian
cargo plane gliding down toward the airport® and talk about the new Rus-
sian presence in Kourou, where a Soyuz launch facility is being built at the
edge of the European Space Center, with Saramaka laborers handling the
bulk of the work. He tells us that the week before, both parties to the gaamd
dispute agreed to go to the Béndiwdta Mamd to see what she said: three cap-
tains from Ddngogd, three from Otjtitju’s side, all with their cassettes to re-
cord the verdict. The oracle tilted in favor of Ddngogé, saying that the first
person they meet when they returned to the landing place should be the
next gaamd—and it was Ozéni. Kalusé says he can’t see how Otjitju stands
a chance, since the only people present at his alleged enstoolment were his
brother (the interim gaamd), the apinti player, and a couple of friends.

A few days later, when we’re in Saint-Laurent for another launching of
our new book (this time at the town hall at the invitation of Léon Bertrand,
France’s Minister of Tourism who happens also to be mayor), we pay a visit
to Saramaka captain Antonisi, who we've been told is Pésé’s middleman with
Saramakas. An old friend, he tells us that the man’s name is really Alain Pi-
chet, that he owns the St. Elie gold mine, and that he employs dozens of
Saramakas. He indeed spent some 10,000 euros for Songo’s funeral, entrust-
ing Antonisi to buy and deliver 10 cases of Gandja (a fortified Spanish wine
much appreciated by Saramaka women), 10 cases of rum, 16 cases of beer,
25 kilos of kidney beans, 25 kilos of salted pigs’ tails, boxes and boxes of
shotgun cartridges, 3 cases of black gunpowder, and a fine shotgun to hang
in the house of mourning, which will later be hung by the new gaamd in his
audience chamber; and he gave Antonisi another 3,500 euros to buy what-
ever he thought should be added. Now, complains Antonisi, some people are
claiming behind his back that he took some of the money, and others that
Pichet is going to reward him with 50 kilos of gold! (I do notice that he’s got
a massive new flat-screen TV.) Antonisi adds that Otjuitju was improperly
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installed, because tradition has it that a gaamd must be enstooled in Ddn-
g0go, not in Asindéépo. So, Ozéni must be the real gaamd.

During the following days, rumors continue to fly. A supporter of Ozéni
assures us that no one came to Otjtitju’s enstoolment except his brother and
the apinti player—there were no captains or guests from elsewhere. It wasn't
at all like a gaamd’s installation, he says. (But the photos we’'d seen seem to
give the lie to that.) A Ddngogd supporter of Otjutju reports that all up and
down the river the villages are for Otjitju, that Ddngogd is isolated in gen-
erally supporting Ozéni. Otjtitju is already sitting in his “office,” receiving
people and acting very much the gaamd.

The big news is that Gaama Gazdn, the Ndyuka who is the most senior
of all living Maroon chiefs, has sent a personal delegation to Saramaka to
try to sort out the situation. They found Otjtitju in his office and greeted
him as gaamd, even offering him a “piece” of the Ndyuka god Gadn Tatd,
as a gesture of friendship, to help him reign. When they visited Ddngogd,
Captain Ameekdn-6li (a.k.a. Aduéngi) threw them out! He said this wasn’t
a Ndyuka matter and they should get back to their own river. But the Ndyu-
kas came ashore and walked right up to Gadn Tatd’s house. (Since the early
twentieth century, Ddngogd has had a branch of Gadn Tatd that serves as the
major village oracle. They brought it over from Ndyuka.) They asked Cap-
tain Ameekdn-6li what that “thing” on the plank there was—the sddi-gddu of
Mamd Ndyuka? Get outta here! they said. The Ndyuka captain pointed to his
chest and said that the sddi-gddu of Mamd Ndyuka was there, and that what
Dangogé had was worth nothing. The Ndyukas returned to Asindéépo,
where they met with Otjitju and his councilors for three days. The Ndyukas
said that Otjuitju’s name had been written in the whitefolks’ book in the city
for nearly a year already. He’s sitting on the gaamd’s stool. Who's going to pull
him off? No one knows the other man. If Améékdn-6li enstooled him, he’ll
be the one to pay his salary and buy him a uniform, because the whitefolks
never even heard of him.*

Tooy concludes that Otjutju will be the winner. “When Agbagé became
gaamd, he sat on the stool with Todjé [his Wénti|. Songo did it all alone—and
he did it badly. But Otjtitju—he has the great avenging spirit of the Pikilio
in his head! Who'’s about to take the gaamd-ship away from him? The person
who tries—if they don’t bury him in seven days, they’ll bury him in fourteen
days.”

A Ddngogé visitor reports that large numbers of people came for
Otjutju’s enstoolment—several planeloads of whitefolks and even some city
policemen.
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The Saramakas played Nandbuliku [a First-Time ‘play’ whose name derives
from the Yorubaland cult of Nani Burukﬁ7], then Aptiku, then Komanti!
Otjitju has always worked with whitefolks/cityfolks. Even if only for that,
they’ll make him gaamd. You know that Pésé and Songo had agreed to open
up a gold mine in the Pikilio, and the others knew if Otjtitju won, he’'d stop
that, he wouldn’t want some Frenchman to get all the profits. But if Ozéni won,
the contract made by Songo would continue. Otjiitju wants a new contract
with the city. Nowadays, if you go more than 100 meters from the riverbank,
whitefolks start telling you that it’s not your river anymore. Otjitju will end
all that! The city officials have summoned Otjitju to the city, but because of
the national elections it’s been postponed. Ameéekdn-6li and Ozéni are really
screwed! Saramakas had decided they’d make Ozéni a Headcaptain in com-
pensation for him yielding to Otjiitju, but now that Ameekdn-6li insulted the
Ndyukas, he won't get a thing.

Tooy adds that when you take a knife away from a child, you give it a stick.
But Ameekdn-6li ruined all hope of even that happening!

The latest news is that Otjtitju has given a captaincy to Zabulén, who has
Béndékonde’s great avenging spirit Ma Bdsukdma in his head—Lukéinsi’s
unborn daughter! Tooy says that between the two of them—Otjiitju and
Zabulén—no one will be able to defy them in any way and live to tell the
tale. They’re working with two great avenging spirits!

Meanwhile, the city government is at a standstill because of national elec-
tions on May 25—they will do nothing to sort out the dispute in Saramaka
for weeks or months, until a president and a cabinet are in place.

Sensild chimes in with some history, trying to put some perspective on
present-day pretenders to the gaamd-ship. “Once, District Commissioner
Junker summoned Gaamd Djankusé to a meeting. [Junker was trying hard
to get the Saramaka gaamd under his thumb during the early years of the
twentieth century, but Djankusd consistently outmaneuvered him.] Each
one knew the other wouldn’t kill him in public. So they arranged to meet
on neutral ground, at the mouth of Gadnkiiki. The first thing Djankusé said
to the whiteman was, ‘Anacondas—I'm their boss. Jaguars—I'm their boss.
Human beings—I'm their boss. Poisonous snakes—I'm their boss. Do you
think you can fool with me? Let’s live and work together.” That was a gaamd!
Do you think we’ve seen another one lately?”

It’s nine weeks after we leave Guyane on the final day of May 2005 that we
get the news in a phone call from Tooy. Otjitju is the new gaamd.*



TOOY TEACHING I—
MOSTLY LUANGU
AND PUMBU

* 04182005/05302005 *

Tooy’s been thinking about the lackadaisical attitude of many youths toward
learning and tells me two cautionary tales. “Once I went to an Aptku ‘play’
and heard a man sing, Butd maydmbe na kwdndiki, yengué sélélé. And the man
explained that it was with this song that the old people carried the godsina
square basket [pakda]. I just sat there. Then I asked him, ‘Where’d you hear
that song?’ ‘That’s what my elders said.” ‘Was it your mother’s brother, your
older brother, or your grandfather who told you that?” He said, ‘My mother’s
brother.’ I said, ‘Not true! He deceived you. Don't ever play that song again,
you haven’t got the head for it. Leave it alone. Never play that again!"” And
Tooy explained to me, “It’s not an evil or dangerous song, but he stole it.
That song is only for Ludngu ‘plays.” In Ludngu language, when they say
up this bottle with rum.! You see how they mess up the stories? This is not
appropriate to an Apuku ‘play, it’s a part of a ‘play’ for the dead! That man
didn’t know that Ludngu is only played for the dead!”

Tooy then offers another example of his throwing someone out of an
Apuku ceremony because he played a Ludngu song, not realizing it was
Ludngu rather than Aptku. He explains that a man from some other clan
might find himself on the coast with an older Lingu man and, say, theyre in
a canoe and the older man starts to sing and the other man neglects to ask
him what he’s singing and assumes it’s Aptiku. The song in question in this
second example curses someone, saying, “You have chiggers, chiggers have
got you, you walk around on your knees, you no longer walk like a person.”
“In Ludngu,” Tooy tells me, “you say it like this: Kwimabo, wdka na pdsi tan-
tumbe, wimaliingu, wdka na pdsi tantiimbe, sipadiingu, wdka na pdsi tantiimbe,
wédemaltingu, [isikadiingu], wdka na pdsi tantiimbe, vie, tjdtjd, honhonhon hon-
honhon [the last two words are a sound made with the fingers tapping ones
Adam’s apple].”?

I press Tooy about Ludngu—the language and the rites. Are they really
only for the dead? “Ludngu,” he says, “is pure danger! When were burying
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the dead in the morning, they play Papd all night. Then at dawn, they cover
the dbia canoe and start playing Ludngu. Nothing but dgi-tdki [talk about
evil, danger, bad things]. There are certain things to say at six in the morn-

3

ing, other things to say later on. That ‘play,”” Tooy continues, “belongs to
Bundjitapd [his village], since Wii and his sister brought it over from Af-
rica.” I ask if it’s still a lively tradition, if it’s still well known by the descen-
dants of Wii and Antamd and Béti-Kaddsu. He says, “You bet! Evil isn’t hard
to learn!”

Given its danger, it’s not surprising that Tooy doesn’t feel comfortable
sharing this language. At the same time, 'm frustrated, realizing that if
I were able to travel to Bundjitapd with Tooy and happen upon a funeral,
I could fill pages and pages with Ludngu songs and prayers. Absent that,
here are a few fragments he’s taught me. The common Saramaka—and Af-
rican—proverb “Left hand washes right hand, right hand washes left hand”
(Saramaccan Todto mdu wdsi léti mdu, 1éti mdu wdsi todto mdu) is expressed in
Ludngu as Wdsi kagidi tjibadnga. Another bit of proverbial advice, “Not ev-
erything that your eyes see or your ears hear should be spoken about by your
mouth,” is expressed in Ludngu as Panika ni manydfoli. And at a certain point
in a Ludngu “play,” they say: Ldngu dn yéi diingu. Masdngo fiilu na z6, which
means, “Go bring it back, cassava fills the house”—or “Go get the cassava
from the house and bring it here.” Tooy explains that in Ludngu, masdngo
means “cassava” and zd means “house.” This reminds him of another Ludngu
phrase, Kitimba fiilii na z6—“Tobacco [kitimba] fills [is in] the house.””

I'm equally interested in another esoteric language that I know is a spe-
cialty of the Langu clan, the mysterious Pimbu that I began hearing about in
the 1960s, when the erudite Gaamd Agbagd would occasionally throw out a
Puambu phrase, of which I understood nothing, during a major prayer to the
ancestors. Whenever I ask Tooy, he’s evasive, telling me that “those words are
precious—if I speak them, the gods will start wondering what I'm up to and
come to see.” But he does tell me that Pimbu, unlike Ludngu, was learned
from the Indians. It’s “forest talk”—Kadsiptimbu’s Indian brother-in-law
Piydi is its putative source. “Pimbu belongs to Béndiwdta, Kadsi’s village.
That’s the only place Pimbu is played! It’s part of the Béndiwdta Mother.
Piydi taught Kadsi—Piydi’s apinti name is Sdki fii biindu sddjodui anbupé! He
and his sister brought that language. The priests of that god are the ones
who speak it. Pimbu is especially for major prayers, when a great drought
or illness comes upon the land. That’s when they whiten the jug, pour out
water in libations, and speak Pimbu.”

But, says Tooy, Pimbu also has things you can shoot the breeze about.
And a couple of times, he shares fragments with me. One day he says, “When
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a baby is born, if it doesn’t cry, it won't live. Pimbu says it this way: Sébengé
sabdnga, 1ébengé sabdnga, maabeengé sabdnga [with special emphasis on the
penultimate word)]. This is what the newborn says when it first cries, asking
God that it be allowed to live!” And I've already mentioned that once, saying
an emotional goodbye to us in the Dinguldli shrine, Tooy spoke in Piimbu,
saying, nyam-nyam kuvdnde, nyam-nyam vdla (“A long trip causes okra to dry
on the branch”}—see p. 215.

Once, when recounting how (during their migrations southward) his
Langu-clan ancestors went up the Saramacca River before coming over to
see if they could settle on the Suriname River, Tooy told me some Pdmbu
fragments but stopped short of singing the climactic song, saying it was
simply too dangerous. Now, when I press, he finally fills out the story and
sings me the song.

When Kadsipiimbu arrived at the mouth of Agdmadjd Creek, he took his war
club and knocked the tree known [in Pimbu] as biigubiigu three times, piim,
pum, piim. The tree spoke with the bird called kwdikwdi, who then called out
to Kadsipimbu, Kolio, kolio, kolio, kolio, un sa libi, un sa libi, un sa libi ku mi
[Come to the river . . . you can live . . . with me]. Then Kadsi answered with
this highly dangerous song in Pimbu: Mdngan mdngan téebo-e, old, we mi mdsa
Zdmbi-e [well, my master Zdmbi|, mi kd a yu ndni-o [I've come to your house]
aki akié [to see if I can stay].

As he finished the song, Tooy took his right hand and tapped his fingers
against hislips, uttering a falsetto u-u-u-u-u-u-u-u-u-u-u and explaining that
thisis the standard ending for dangerous songs in Pimbu, just as dangerous
Ludngo songs end with vié tjdtjd honhonhonhonhon (the final sound being
made by a jiggling of the Adam’s apple with outstretched fingers).

Another time, I asked Tooy the meaning of a Pimbu phrase I'd heard in
the 1970s, about the death of Antamd’s brother Makambi. Tebini had whis-
pered to me Saa baaba na wdn tén fu gadn kindé, gadn kindé fu Makambi. Tooy
says, “What sadness! Saa baaba means, “Something terrible has happened,”
gadn kindé means, “It’s a really big thing.” Irealize that it may have been with
these very words that Antamd was told of his brother’s death in battle!
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Despite his sorrow over the impending loss of collective knowledge, Tooy
still spends a lot of his time teaching kinsmen and almost anyone else who
expresses interest. One day when I visit he is deep into a discussion with
Mowéti, a younger man from Malobi whom he calls “brother.”* Mowéti is
hungry for knowledge about their collective early history, of which he is
largely ignorant, and Tooy is happy to oblige.

As I sit down with them in the consulting room, where leaves and vines
and barks are piled along the walls, Tooy remarks that their matrilineage
didn’t used to be “low,” it used to have great men. And he adds that, in Papd
language, a messed-up matrilineage is called tikiti no vido, while a matrilin-
eage that’s made something of itself is tikiti didd. An old man who doesn’t
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unin da ti-tiin.* “I'm not a hon tuntuii yagazé! Da hunhun da o-o0-0. No, No
No, No No!Thave my reputation!” he insists, adding that if you want to say,
“That matrilineage is forging ahead,” you say, Lawdmai didd. Lawda mi kéo
nodé. “Papd!” he exclaims with glee, sharing precious bits of this esoteric
language.

Mowéti asks him who their common ancestor Aségogé was, and Tooy
tells the particularly “heavy” story of the origin of the avenging spirit shared
by their two far-off lineage segments (though it affects Hwéte’s progeny
more fully). Hwéte, he begins, had a sister called Bdnki and a brother called
Aségogd, whose wife was Logoso-6bo. (Remember, Tooy is talking matter-
of-factly about people who lived in the mid-eighteenth century!) That man
loved dogs and had three that he particularly liked to hunt with. One day,
the dogs surrounded something in a hole at the base of a giant kwahda [a.k.a.
ddonsedu] tree that stood in the middle of a field of reeds, and they were bark-
ing their heads off when he and his wife arrived. He cut some wood and
closed off the hole, thinking peccary were inside, and then set fire to the tree.
Once it fell, he saw it was anacondas, not peccary! Logoso-6bo proclaimed,
“The better part of all this will go to the descendants of Hwéte.” The two
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Witawent (anaconda) gods he burned that day were Bémba and Lonzdi, the
latter being the oldest active avenging spirit of Tooy’s lineage.

Tooy tells us more about Lonzdi, how he once watched while a priest from
another lineage—it’s always another lineage that directs the rites to appease
a matrilineage’s avenging spirit—went into the forest to gather everything
heneeded. He painted the god (who had possessed a person) with something
yellow, but didn’t say what he’d made the paint out of (though Tooy says he
knows). “I learned that you never use soot to paint the black on a big aveng-
ing spirit—it would bring fire and destruction. And you don’t use annatto
for the red—it brings blood. Instead you use totdbia and bemindja uwii [two
plants that provide those colors]. You can use these for Wdtawend avenging
spirits or Vodui-gddu avenging spirits.” He adds, “In Wdtawent language,
totdbia is called aniindeba and bemindja uwii is aniindedjéme! Before you
anoint the avenging spirit with these leaves, paint them on yourself. Then,
as you do it, you sing: antindeba, aniindedjéme, godogodobii.”

As Tooy continues instructing his downstream brother, Mowéti, and me,
the brother dozes off and Tooy says to me in Papd, using a phrase he taught
me the previous day: “It’s mokii felé mooddn for him! ['He doesn’t appreciate
his elders,” so the matrilineage loses what it once knew.] Let him sleep. I have
one for you now!”

And then he sings me a hauntingly beautiful song in Pap4d that teaches
that you are indeed your brother’s keeper. (For this song, you need to know
thathands of bananas grow inlayers from the top of each stem to the bottom,
with the hands opening, and eventually ripening—and rotting if they’re not
picked—one hand at a time, from top to bottom.)

Alddjio, Aldgba Médo Keéno

Alddjio, Aldgba Médo Keéno

Keéno gd f ’en a Zdngodou, a gd f ’en a Kedé-ee, Dénua-ee, Alada ke, Alddjio ke, Aldgba
Médo Keéno

Keéno gé f ’en a Zdngodou, a gd f’en a Kedé-ee, Dénua-oo, o kido Alddjiooo.

[Alddjio, Aldgba Médo Keéno (four proper names), Keéno’s [stink] went onto Zdn-
godou (proper name), it went onto Kedé, Dénua, Alada (three proper names),
Alddjio ke, Aldgba Médo Keéno | Keéno’s went onto Zdngodou, it went onto
Kedé, Dénua, oh young-guy Alddjio.]

“These are powerful words,” he tells me,

about the kind of banana called Bénteo-pii-bakiiba [or Bénteo-pii-baana]. It has
twelve hands on each stem. So, the man cut a garden (I love talking with you!
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I have so many things to give you, but you must give me some, too! So many
things you say fit what I know! And so many of the “lies” I tell you fit things
you've heard.) OK, the man cut the garden, then he burned the underbrush. He
worked it. He planted the bananas—the ones called Bénteo-pii-baana. Then he
left. The banana trees grew. They flowered. They grew their fruit. Till they got
ripe. The one banana stem had twelve hands. The upper hand said, “It’s time to
split open.” (Now, the way I'm speaking with you here, you must really absorb
what I'm saying.) So, when it split open, its juice began to drip down onto the
next one. The second brother thought to himself, “When the man who has
the garden comes and finds the stink of the juice from my big brother on me,
the death-liquid of my older brother, he’ll think less of me—it’s because my
big brother is punishing me.” (Brother, when I look around at what my old-
folks gave me, then Iwonder what I should pass on to the young ones.) Finally,
the last brother said, my older brother’s dead, I'll play in his honor a whole half
hour. Because if I were the one who had died, it would have been my brother
who would have had to bear my stink. Because we both came out of the same
“sack.” (That’s the way this story goes. People may tell it to you some other way,
but they’d be lying. What I'm telling you here I heard from twelve Papd mas-
ters, and they all told it the same way.) When the first brother died, the second
one feared his stink. When the second one died, the third feared his stink. All
the way to the sixth brother. And finally, the littlest one said. . . . One brother
was Aldgba, the others were Médo, Keéno, Zdngodo, Kedé, Dénua, Alddjio. . ..
There were twelve brothers. The youngest one who said what he had to say
to the oldest, that’s us here today. My own stink, that’s what you must eat. I'd
want to eat your stink, but I don’t really know the path to get to it. But if you
know the path to mine, then it’s your responsibility to eat it, to take it on. Man,
you have to eat my stink! And I have to do my best to eat yours.

“Brother, that’s Aladd [Papd] I'm teaching you!” He wipes away some tears.
Tooy begins ruminating about the dangers of Papd playing, how much
of what you say can kill you. One man, Adubdye, sent word in Pap4 to the
gaamd of the land of the dead that he was overstepping his mark, that there
were getting to be more people in his country than ours. “The land of the
dead is getting fat, the land of the living thin,” he played on his drum. But,
says Tooy, the only time you can play that and get away with it is on the day
they’re going to bury a corpse, just as dawn is breaking. Then you play (in
Papd) Tjé hén kd dd mi-e (normal Saramaccan for “bring him back to me”).
Un de ni todovi alobi alobi alobi alobi da u, tja tja u da o l6lo kabddji, tje hén kd-e
keeto bobiawata ko noinovi u mi. U tjé hén kd-o, todovi dn sa kd noinovi, un tjé hén
kd dd mi e. These are very heavy words! he whispers to me. They pray that
the big avenging spirit of the lineage shouldn’t turn the person who'’s being
buried into another spirit to torment the lineage. Let the person come back
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instead as a namesake for someone in the lineage and bring thelineage good
things. He sings (in Papd), Tédovi dn sa kd noinovi—someone else’s lineage
can’t become your lineage, strangers can’t become kinsmen. And the song
that answers this is Djdome djdn-e, i miisu djdome djan. Adiindiome, adiindi-
ome, i misu djdome djdn. Adiindiome, adiindiome, i miisu djdome djdn. It’s telling
the dead person to leave. It should djdome go and then djdome come back,
but as a namesake, not an avenging spirit. (Djdome, he says, means “carry”
or “bring.”) “What sadness these songs express!” he exclaims. “They’re
heartbreaking to sing and play! They really make you face your mortality.
You're not yourself when you say these things. You're truly speaking with
the dead.”

Tooy has often expressed to me that his self-imposed exile from his Sara-
maka homeland has prolonged his life and happiness—that if he hadn’t left,
the envy of his peers would have long since finished him off. (I assure him
I know whereof he speaks.) “If I'd stayed in my mother’s village,” he con-
tinues, “they’d have killed me long ago. There’s nowhere in the world that
people with knowledge are appreciated. They’d have killed me because of
envy! My older brother Amiséti said to me once at Boonswéki, ‘Don’t con-
tinue learning. You know too much already! I could tell you things from
morning till night and on through tomorrow without repeating myself. But

Shooting the breeze, 2005.
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Pve left those things—it’s been ‘twelve years’ since I really set out to learn.
I've left that part of my life behind. But I still sure do love to shoot the breeze
with you!”

Aswe shot the breeze during that first visit of 2005, Tooy several times rumi-
nated about the alternate registers—the different languages—that knowl-
edgeable Saramakas use to express identical ideas. “Komanti, Aptiku, Vodu-
gddu, Wénti-gddu, Witaweni-gddu, Apinti [drumlanguage], and Anasi-tdli
[folktales] all say the same things, but each in its own language.” I encour-
aged him in these directions, and we spent many hours discussing esoteric
language lore.
He tells me, for example, that

onthe apinti, you play Asantibélen ku awdndja, hén ku pangangosi. Which means,
“The pakiisi fish [Myleus rubripinnis] loves the creek, he’s the chief of the creek!”
Because he used to live in the river, but when he went up the creek, he found
a wife there and there was a big celebration. That’s what the drum says: “He’s
headman of the creek.” But Langu-clan drummers play it differently—they
play, Yiinkuma a yu, a yu kantambili. It means the exact same thing!

Another time, I'm sitting in on a discussion between Tooy and a Démbi-clan
apinti master, where they are comparing notes. Both of them learned some
of what they know from a man named Aydo, whom Tooy called “mother’s
brother,” and the Démbi man called “grandfather.” Tooy tells how one time
at Boonswéki, they invited him to play for a death, an all-night “play.” And
at a certain point they requested that he play “bent-over tree and the owner
of the garden.” (He explains to me that in the garden there was an almost-
dead tree with its head bent down who worried that the owner of the gar-
den would come and chop it down. Meanwhile, the owner of the garden was
afraid that the bent-over tree would fall on his head one day and kill him.
Each, in other words, feared what the other would do.) “Ldngu people play it,
Sese kdi diimba, sesembe sekdi diimba.” The Démbi man tells how Aydo taught
it to him as Godn mdsa, noa mdsa. Goon mdsa, noa mdsa. Noa mdsa légede, legede
fundame, which is the “standard” apinti version. Tooy says his own “father,”
Kulifubégi, told him that there are actually three ways of playing this! “But
in general,” he says, “as far as drumming goes, there’s only one way Ldngu
people do it. In Pimbu there aren’t two ways of saying the same thing. In
Ludngu there aren’t two ways. In Ydka-Gsu 6bia, there aren’t two ways. Butin
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Papd, Apinti, Anasi-téli, or Adunké, every master does it differently.” One
thing seems clear: the Langu clan, in some contexts at least, maintains its
own parallel version of Apinti language.

From Tooy’s perspective, folktales and esoteric languages also say “the
same things.” I once asked him whether he’d heard the tale about an old
man named Gidigidi Zaabwdngolo, who lived off in the forest by himself
and used to hold in his body all of the sicknesses of the world until Anasi, the
spider man, inadvertently brought them back to where we all live.’ He said
he’d never heard the folktale but knew “the same story” in Félubéni (Papd).

A man and his wife made a garden-camp. One day, when they went off to work
and returned, the food they’d left there in the morning was all gone. Another
day the woman was at home alone and heard a big noise. The Evil One arrived.
He said, “Woman, howre you doing?” She said, “Just fine.” He said, “I want to
ask you a favor—to carry Sickness for me.” She said she couldn’t do that for
him—but if he ever learned her name, she supposed she’d have to do it. The
Evil One departed. When the husband came home, she told him what had hap-
pened. Then one day the man went off to work and the Evil One arrived again.
He grabbed the woman and put her in a deep hole, burying her alive with just
a reed to breathe through. When the man came home, he searched for her
everywhere. (If she screamed, you couldn’t hear her.) The woman’s name was
Tébodahuntjdn. The husband was Gdigdn-fu-Adowé. The husband was beside
himself and called out for his wife. [sings] Tébodahuntjdn-e-o ké, Tobodahuntjdn
de ké nydn-o, ainto tjélele sida-o, Tobodahuntjdn-o, Tébodahuntjdn de k6 nydn aki,
ainto djélele sidawd. Then he called her name again. Three times. Finally she
answered: [sings] 0-0-0, é-0-0, Womi Gdigdn-fu-adowé, de kd nydn ainto gbélegede
sidawa.” She was saying, “I'm not dead, man, I'm still alive. Don’t kill yourself
over this.” He sang his song again, and back and forth they sang to each other.
“Woman, [ went away and returned and no longer see you here. Where’d you
go?” (Ainto tjélelé, Tooy explains, means, “You're no longer here.”) He looked
around and saw where the earth had been moved around, and he dug there
and pulled her out. Félubéni! [Papd]. Later the Evil One, who'd now heard her
name, came to the woman and gave her all the sicknesses in the world for
people to have to bear.

Tooy added, “I once sang these songs at Boonswéki, where they were burying
my mother’s sister. I was singing and crying and drumming from midnight
till morning! At one point twelve ghost-spirits were dancing right in front
of me. Papd is so very sad!”
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During that 2005 visit, understanding that I was hungry for lore about
Papd—the quintessential esoteric language, which Saramakas had always
been hesitant to discuss with me—Tooy generously shared fragments. Like
other knowledgeable men I've talked with, he insists that Papd came late to
Saramakas. “In the old days, Papd wasn’t there—we buried the dead with
Anasi-t6li [kéntu (folktales)], apinti [drumming], and Adunké [a First-Time
secular song/dance].”* (When I ask, he says, “Yes, we already had Ludngu
and Pdmbu.”)

Three decades before, Kalusé’s father, the Matjdu-clan Papd player Tandd,
had told me how Papd came to Saramakas not from Africa but from a local
incident that I can date to the mid-eighteenth century. And he explained
why Abaisas and Matjdus have differential knowledge of Papd, Adugbd,
and Adju (the “plays” that follow one another in succession between mid-
night and full daylight on the morning before a Matjdu-clan burial, and for
which Abaisas are said to have the edge for Papd and Matjdus for Adugbd
and Adjui).° He said,

Once, an Abaisa man married a Matjdu woman. A Matjdu man married an
Abaisa woman. They went off, all four of them, to make a garden together. (It
was on the site of an old cemetery, but they didn’t know that.) In the evening,
the two Matjdus fell asleep, but the Abaisas didn’t. And the dead people began to
play Papd, all night long until cock’s crow. Then the Abaisas fell asleep, and the
Matjdus awoke. The dead people began to play Adugbd. Until full dawn. Then
they began the Adjd. The Abaisas slept right through the Adji. Which is why
each clan knows what it does.

And indeed, whenever Matjdu Papd players, such as the late Tandg, are in-
vited as specialists to play at a funeral and are presented with the traditional
baskets full of cloths, bottles of rum, and so on, they always transfer the
baskets’ contents as well as the rum to their own containers, brought for
the purpose. But when the Abaisa Papd masters perform at a funeral, it is
always their prerogative, and their practice, to go home with baskets, rum
bottles, and all.

Then, one day when we were discussing esoteric languages, Tooy told me
more about the Papd song that contains Tandd’s story.

An Abaisa named Ahunsbdalighd had a Matjdu wife. There was a funeral in his
wife’s village, on the Upper Pikilio, in Badkawdta. He visited and went hunt-
ing but got lost in the forest. Around nightfall, he arrived in an abandoned
cemetery. The headman of the cemetery asked what he thought he was doing
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there, since it was far too late in the day for a living person to come there. He
said he was lost. The headman said he’d hide him till morning, and he could
listen to the way they played for a person who was going to be buried. He heard
the Papd, which ended at dawn, and he asked if he could come back the next
night and the man said yes, as long as he hid in the same place. So, he came a
second night. The third night he brought along his brother-in-law, a Matjdu
named Sdmbo-gidjigidji, or Ahtimanyd-dekonu-tdsida. Around midnight,
the Abaisa fell asleep, since he’d been up two whole nights. But the Matjdu
stayed awake and heard the Papd, and when they started Adju before dawn
and played until it was full morning, he heard it all. That’s why Matjdus are the
masters of Adju and Abaisas of Papd. It’s all in that Papd song!

And he added that the Matjdus were always trying to wrest further Papd
knowledge from the Abaisas. For example,

When Ahtinsoaligbé was already dead (though Sdmbo-gidjigidji was still
alive), some Matjdus went to the Abaisas to learn more Papd. They really
wanted to be the bosses of Papd. The first time they met at a “play” and played
their praise names, the Abaisas won. The second time, they came out even.
So they decided on a decisive competition, to meet at a “play” in the village
named Gdmatien—I've never been able to get anyone to tell me exactly where
on the river that village was! They played till it was really hot. And then the
Abaisas played a song, Mi avd gadn tia djdmbo hén mi djémbo, hee-hee. I djombo,
hén mi djombo. Hunsdkedue di i djombo, Sdmbo-gidjigidji di i djémbo, Bdkigdyo
di i djombo, Vitdnokd di i djombo, mi avé Avddja di i djombo, Ma di i djombo, hén
mi djémbo, o hee-hee [All in normal Saramaccan, “My grandmother Gadn Tia
jumped, so I jumped. You jumped, so I jumped. When H jumped, when S
jumped, when B jumped, when V jumped, when my grandmother A jumped,
when you jumped—I jumped.”] (The Old Woman named Gadn Tia had kept
the “play” after the death of Ahtinsoaligh6—she was the one who taught it to
the next generation. She’s the one who taught Papd to Adjimtila. Once she was
in the forest with a young boy, and they got to a large puddle and she jumped
over it and the boy followed her. She asked him why he’d jumped, and he said
because he’'d seen her jump first. That’s what the song commemorates.) When
they played this, the Abaisa headman sangda [the ritualized display of emotion
involving rushing around almost madly, described on p. 64], halahalahalahala
until he confronted the Matjdu headman. Three times this happened. Then the
Matjdu—he had the kind of loincloth that’s called . . . I can’t say its name!—he
grabbed his atakd [Komanti for “spear”] and stabbed him right through the
heart, and the other Abaisas took off. The Matjdus really wanted that “play”!
That song—you can't sing it in an Abaisa village! Even if no Abaisas are there
to hear it, the ancestors will, and they’ll kill you on the very spot. So, Abaisas
were the first to have Papd, and the Matjdus took it from them. And the Matjdus
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gave the Abaisas Adjui. When Papd and Adju came, it was after everyone had
come down from Békakuun [ca. 1750]. Komanti, Apiku, Ludngu, and Pimbu
were already there. But not Papd or Adju.

Abaisas, Tooy reiterates, didn’t used to have Adjui. Once they had buried
someone, that was it—no “second funeral” many months later, culminat-
ing in the Adju “play” that sends the ghost definitively to the land of the
ancestors, the way all Saramakas do it today.”

Abaisas didn’t used to do that. Until one day Evil came to their village, and they
didn’t know how to get rid of it. So they went to the Matjdus and asked their
help in cleaning up the village. The first time the Abaisas went to them, they
saw Sdmbo-gidjigidji, the man who'd learned Adju in the land of the dead.
A short little fellow. They asked him where the elders of the village were. He
said they’re not here, they’re in their gardens. So they left a message. And the
Matjdus sent back word, saying that the short little fellow who’s sitting at the
landing place making a basket is the very man you need. So, the Abaisas came
back. And again he said he’d give the message to the others. After the Abai-
sas had left, Sdmbo-gidjigidji had the town crier call everyone to a council
meeting. So he told them about the request. They agreed to it, as long as once
the Abaisas had chosen a day, they would offer libations the night before and
clean the village path and boil a quantity of sugarcane juice. So, the day ar-
rived and the Matjdus went downstream to the Abaisa village. They played
Papd till midnight and then went into Adju. Till dawn. Matjdus helped the
Abaisas with the Adju just as the Abaisas had helped the Matjdus with Papd.
And once they brought the Adju “play” outside [the house of death]—at day-
light—then Sdmbo-gidjigidji sang three songs. He sang, Kwantidlu, wébi kdka
ziime. Kduydmé, wébi kdka ziime. Alddan kenydnko weménu awdnu, kényan, ké-
nyan ma fu adjii-e, adjii-e weménu, ma fu adjii kényan, kényan. This isn’t Papd, it’s
Adju. (It’s the same language, but this is only said when they’re playing Adju,
not Papd.) So, they performed the Adjud until the Abaisa village was all clean.
And then the Matjdus returned home.

This story reminds him of a time when the Abaisas had cleaned the world
for Matjdus. (One of the protagonists, Sakéto, sometimes called Gtinkamé,
is an immensely mysterious but historically important Matjdu who lived
in the early eighteenth century. The Matjdus discovered Sakdto/Glinkamé
all alone in a watermelon field on the coast as they fled south from slavery.
No one knew his origins—they say he fell from the sky. He was a giant of a
man.)’ All these stories, Tooy keeps reminding me with pleasure, are part
of Papd lore.
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Now, Tatd Sakéto (a Matjdu) had become mdti [ritual friend] with Tatd Ydgazé
(an Abaisa). One day, Sakéto slept at Ydgazé’s place. (Ydgazé isn’t the same man
as Adjimila—they were two brothers, actually three: there was another called
Tatd Boonskakéi, or Mdkazimu. This talk is Félubéni talk, Papd!) So, Sakéto
told Ydgazé, “Mdti, whenIdie, the sun wont rise, the rains won’t fall, fish won’t
come up to the surface to eat, cocks won’t crow, no one will ever be hungry,
and little children won'’t cry.” Sakéto began to shake . . . till morning. He was
gone. And the world became as he said. Ydgazé got in his canoe, straight to
Sakéto’s village. He spoke with no one but went right ashore, carrying his
paddle, and stuck it in the ground right in the great ancestor shrine there. He
said, Abuddma fu agudd. Abuddma fu agudd. Podma fu J. Then Sakéto answered
him so loud that he heard. He said he’d come down [to earth], but now he was
going back. At which point, the earth became as it had been before. And this
thing has stayed with us. When a gaamd dies, at three o’clock in the afternoon
they shoot off a single gun salute, and it’s like Sakdto’s answer. It cleans the
world. This isn’t something you can just say. It’s Sakéto’s leave-taking. It’s im-
mensely sad! His final adieu! Papd. This is how Abaisas made the world clean
for Matjdus. Later, Matjdus made the Abaisa village clean for them.

As I visited with him, Tooy shared other Papd lore, which encapsulated
everything from remarkably precise information about eighteenth-century
battles to the sexual foibles of particular ancestors.

Fold tutii agbdila. This is the first Papd song that belonged to the Langu clan.
No Papd mentions the Langu clan before this! The man was Tatd Bdkisipdmbo.
It happened at Bikakiiun-Wéényé.’ The whites walked along the path called
Tdimeenti [He explains that this is the path that led from Tuido, on the Sara-
macca River, to Bikakdun]. (The path from Bdkaktun to the Gadnlio is called
Zildmeendi—Flibdnti is the expert on these secret names!) The whites arrived
at the foot of the mountain. There were three platforms on that mountain, the
lowest was called Mitjipai, the middle Dinomé, the top one Temeéenu. They
lived on the middle one. The battle wasn’t with guns. There was a deep trench
dug out by the rains before our people ever arrived. (It went down to Armadillo
Creek, which leads into Kayana Creek.) Three tremendous tree roots—from
an awara palm, a maripa palm, and a gidnti tree—were poised at the head of
the trench. The whites circled the mountain until they found the trench and
started up. There was a certain “word” to say, but I can’t speak it. The earth
was already shaking with the sound of the whitemen’s approaching footsteps.
The awara tree was at the ready there—Komanti calls it Dékofdda. They said
those “words,” and the [magical] jug they had there began swirling around,
still staying upright [he demonstrates with a bottle]. The first tree-root was
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launched. Then the second. Then the third. And then the three roots came
back up, and the jug stood up straight! Well, Tatd Bikisipambo arrived—he’d
been out scouting around. He had the gun called Foli [Tooy sometimes says
“Voli” or “Guli” or “Fol6”]. He grabbed it, loaded it, put in powder, and shot,
and took off again. When he got to Kayana Creek, he saw the whitemen rest-
ing in a row on a log at the place called Zambi-a-widta. He took one good shot
and they all fell off. The people up on the mountain heard, and that’s what this
Papd song commemorates."’

And then Tooy adds, we Langus sing Fold tutii agbdila. But Abaisas sing it [and
he sings|, Kanivd, kanivd, kanivd nawa, kanivé nawa bélao, andwaaziio, tuti
gbezdan mafaadjd keedjé imawan daudé, kanivd nawa bélao. It’s saying, when
you go hunting and hear an animal in the underbrush, stand stock still and
youw’llmanage to shoot it. Matjdus sing it, Kédjé mani-e, mani kedjé manie, aka-
tasi mandeu-u mdndegbo-0. Another Saramaka who’s listening with me says
that he’s seen that at funerals: when it’s time to shoot the final gun salutes,
when the coffin is about to be taken away to the cemetery, the Papd-men first
play the Matjdu version, then the salutes are fired, and then they play Fold
tutii agbdila, before ending with Kanivg . .. , the Abaisa version.

Papd, Tooy makes clear, also preserves incidents that are at least in part
comic. The Nasi clan gave a young girl named Lomodjé to the much older
Abaisa Tatd Gbost to raise. When she became sexually ripe, he refused to
give her away in marriage but kept her for himself. Try as he might, however,
he couldn’t get his cock to crow with her! Until finally one day he did, and
made her pregnant. This Papd commemorates Gbosti finally getting it up
for Lomodjé. Tooy sings, Gbosti kili ke dili Lomodjdnki, Alabdisa-o keli keli keli
[“He’s already working away on top of her!” exclaims Tooy]. Gboydn, lindo-
meyo-o, gboyon, lindome-o, kd nydnme-o, aladd kii lomodjd-o.

Other Papd songs Tooy sings for me resemble folktales in their “just-so
story” character—they tell how Saramakas “found” some important aspect
of their culture that wasn’t present in the distant past. Many stories Tooy
tells, for example, allude to the fact that in the early days Saramakas didn’t
bury people in coffins—they would wrap the corpse in cloths, lay it out on
a banana leaf, and bury it like that in the cemetery. (Tooy’s account of his
ancestor Altimba rising from the dead [p. 155], which we can date to the sec-
ond half of the eighteenth century, anachronistically includes this feature,
even though historical documents make clear that by that time Saramakas
were routinely using coffins.) In any case, there seems to have been a time
in the early eighteenth century when coffins were not yet in use." Tooy tells
of their “discovery” in the land of the forest spirits (Apikus), which is pre-
served in Papd.
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Abdmpapd went hunting in the forest and got lost. As he wandered, he came
to an Aptku village, where he heard them knocking something. They were
making a coffin! They asked him who he was, and he told them he was lost.
They brought him over to where they were working and told him he couldn’t
leave till the next day. So, he helped them make the coffin. The next day they
sent him on his way and he arrived home, where he called a council meet-
ing. He called to them in Papd: Naydo. They answered, Nyanki. He said, Abdm-
papd kimaydnu, kifiingu kimaydnu [Kimaydnu, Tooy explains, means “coffin” in
Papd, kifiingu or difiingu means “death”]. And that’s why Maroon coffins are ga-
bled—they saw it in Aptiku land—while whitefolks’ coffins remain flat, like
Noah’s ship.

Tooy boasts to me of having learned Papd from a great Abaisa master who
always said, “Here’s how Abaisas play it” and then, “Here’s how Matjdus play
it.” Imarvel at the way each of these clans assiduously preserves not only its
own version but that of its main rival down through the generations.'
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Often during that stay, understanding my keen interest, Tooy shared eso-
tericlanguage lore in the course of daily activities. When Sally, who'd cooked
lunch since Ma Yaai was off in her garden, came in to say it was ready, Tooy
exclaimed, Matjdu dé a gangda, honi dé a kini [The axe is at the throat, the bee
is at the knee]. Bi a kodini, bi a kddi. “Food’s ready! That’s the way the Old Ones
said it. Apinti [drum] language!” He continues, “Afitimoyon tdki, Seimoyon
tdki. Hunhiin da mi békese da hdgogo. The mother sends the child to go tell
his father that food’s ready. Afitimoyontdki, that’s the mother. Seimoyontdki,
that’s the child. Békese [or Mékese] means, ‘Let’s eat! Mother sent me to tell
you'—Papd language!” It seems clear when I consider it that Tooy can’t eas-
ily pull apart many of the Papd phrases he’s learned by heart and that, in this
case as in others, he knows the meaning of the phrase but not necessarily of
its components.

On a day when Tooy got hungry early and Sally hadn’t yet cooked, he
suddenly sang out to us, M’dn bdi-e, m’dn bdi yéti. A kéte m’dn béi tidé-o. Ké,
m’dn béi-o, m’dn bdi yéti. A kéte m’dn béi tidé-o (“I haven't cooked, I haven't
cooked yet. The pot hasn’t cooked today”), explaining that “this is what the
Wénti woman says to her husband when he returns from an absence and she
doesn’t have food cooked for him yet.” And then he sang, Ko mi-e, Gwakakd
kd mi-e, Ké, Kémi-e, Kémi-e, Kend zdmba kéntu-o (“Come, Gwakakd come, [ex-
clamation], Come, come, Kend zdmba kéntu-o,” adding that this is what the
Wénti wife sings to call her husband to the table once the food is cooked.
Sally took the hint and went to the kitchen.

Several times during that stay, when he got a hankering to snort tobacco,’
Tooy sang an appropriate song; for example, this one in Apiku language:
I ta ganyd ganyd mi kuma ziingadémbu, ziingadémbu-o zipi-o. Ma liiku fa i ta
ganyd mi kuma zingadémbu, ma yii kasiandni (“You are tricking me just like
ziingadémbu [tobacco], ziingadémbu-o zipi-o. But look at how you're tricking
me like ziingadémbu, but you're kasiandni [a clever one],” which refers to how
tobacco’s intoxication—Tooy uses the phrase “making you drunk”—sneaks
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Tooy with his tobacco pot.

up on the user, who is paying attention only to the “sweetness” of snorting
it. Another time, when he wanted tobacco, he sang, also in Aptiku, Ziinga-
démbu-o, man dd mi ziinga. Ziingadémbu-o, man dd mi ziinga, ké kido, bd mildngo
idnyéi, no. Ziinga-e! (“Tobacco-o, Man, give me tobacco. [repeat] Please, kid,
give me some, you hear? Tobacco-e!”) And a third time he spoke the fol-
lowing prayer, also in Aptiku, the language of the forest spirits who are so
enamored of tobacco: Lukii mand luangi kimpé. Kimpé. Kimpé maléa (“Look,
kids, luangf, let’s snort. Let’s snort. Let’s snort maléa.”), and then in normal
Saramaccan, Bd hdi! (“Let’s snort!”)

Sometimes, a particular song (or set of phrases) takes on different mean-
ings in different contexts with the change of only a word or two. Tooy was
sharing some Aptiku lore and told me that Maviingu sings, A béni gd g6, a
béni ydngi. A béni gd gd gd, a béni ydngi-e, zali mukdko tjéngewa-e. “This,” he
explained, “is when someone knocks on your door (g6 gd gd is the knock-
ing)—you say, ‘Come in! and open the door—:zali mukdko tjéngewa is the
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door opening.” But then he added, “Bdsi Gabdi [an Aptiku whom Tooy knew
in possession] used to sing, A béni gd gd, mi na ydngi. A béni gé gé gé gé gd, mi
na ydngi, zali mukdko téé n'en mamd gdngi. Whenever he lit up his pipe and
smoke came out, then he’d sing this! A béni g gd, a béni ydngi, he’d already lit
itup. Zali mukdko, the smoke came out. Té¢ n'en mamd gdngi, all the way to his
mother’s house.” And then he sang it again.

Another day, out of the blue, Tooy exclaims, “I love the way you come and
sit down with me!” “Do you know,” he asks, “the names of Jaguar’s teeth?” I
say Idon’t. “The front one, the one he kills dogs with, is called ddmka kii atjud
méme hdun. Ndyukas call it kdfrika kabd u nii. The big one in the back, that’s
momokiimokiimokii a gwi, kuma ki. This is Komanti, Brother!” I ask whether
other animals’ teeth are named. He thinks for amoment and then offers that,
in their own language, Wéntis call Caiman’s large front tooth vindlio vikddja.”
Then, he treats me to a song by Anaconda. He sings, Gédje niinde-o, gédje
niinde-o, gédje niinde, wdn womi sindd gédje so, gédje minde-e, gédje niinde womi
sindd gédje-e, na mi ankdnu-e, adding, “That’s the way you must sit and talk!
There are so many words tolearn!” And he sings it again and explains, “This
is Witawenu language! Once he’s all coiled up in his place, he says, ‘Come
try to pull me outta here, and I'll teach you who’s boss!” He’s in his house, if
you're a real man, try to get him to move from there! You’ll see!” And then
he tells me an insult or curse you can play in Wdtawenu language: [singing]
Bedésidd bedésidd bedésidd bedésidd u ddome-eo-e, u dé na aladd viu kdkolo, bedé-
sidd, bedésidd u ddome. He explains, “Bedésidd is what anacondas call water
lilies [Saramaccan tokddgbagba)]. The plant sings this song, boasting that it
may not be able to touch the river bottom or the shore, but it sure can choke
up the whole river! If you play this on the drums, youre cursing someone,
saying, ‘Get off my back, who do you think you are? You don’t even touch
the river bottom and you don’t touch the banks, you're just adrift”” And
then he adds, “When they play Kitémbe for an anaconda god, the priest’s
canoe doesn’t land prow first. It lands stern first. And the priest sings [in
Witawenu language], Hokokd-o, liiku di béto kumiitu na Aladdvi-kénde ta kd.
Tdsida piki mifi ké un koni-ee [(Exclamation), look at the canoe that’s arriv-
ing from Aladdvi-Country. Tdsida (anaconda god) children, (exclamation),
be careful]. You must know the exact words to say during this ceremony.
Otherwise you're finished!”

Often, as in an actual “play”—whether Papd, Apuku, or Komanti—Tooy
lets one song or story lead to a similar one until there’s a whole string of as-
sociations. (This is what allows “plays” to go on, uninterrupted, for hours at
a time.) One day, Tooy’s god Dtinuydngi, characteristically, was warning me
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about my tendency to trust people too much, citing the proverbs “A good
greeting is a bad greeting”—always be on your guard—and (one of Tooy’s
favorites) “Anaconda says, ‘The person who does something good for you,
he’s the one you must kill’”

Bat and Cock became formal friends. (They tell this in Komanti!) Bat asked
Cock how he got so strong that he could carry fire on his head. Cock said,
“Friend, this thing isn’t really fire, it just looks like flames, come touch it.” Bat
touched it and said, “It’s true, friend.” In the evening, Bat returned, put Cock
to sleep, and sucked out all his blood. When he awoke, he flapped his wings
a single time and rolled over dead. Bat said to him [singing]: Kétekétewéle ké-
tewéli kétekétewéli kétewéli, kétekétewéle kétewéli kétekétewéli kétewéli, yémbu ta
kdi amimba, yémbu kdi amimba, yémbu kéi amimba, yémbu ta ki amimba, yémbu
i1kdi mi amimba, yémbu kdi amimba-e.

“Now, when you're walking around in Guyane,” Tooy’s god continued, “look
carefully at whoever asks you to eat at the same table with him. Otherwise,
it could be the story of Bat and Cock. I'm giving you sound advice here!” And
then the god tells me about how Possum became formal friends with Cock,
a story also preserved in Komanti.

Possum asked Cock, how did you get so “ripe” that you can carry fire on your
head? Cock said, “Friend, come touch it. This thing isn’t fire.” So Possum
touched it and saw it was cold. Well, once Cock went to sleep for the night,
Possum came and grabbed him by the neck. Cock began to scream. Possum
sang, “Don’t cry out, it’s your friend who’s come to play with you.” He sang,
Mi pelé kd a ini, bd pelé kd a ini, péé peé dou pelé kd a ini, bd pelé, pelé kd a ini [“I'm
playing come inside, let’s play come inside, play all the way play come inside,
let’s play, play come inside.”][and then, spoken] “Friend, don't scream. Your
friend has come to play with you.”

The next day, Tooy says he’ll teach me a Komanti song appropriate to sing
to a “friend” who has deceived me. He sings, Gédegédewéle gédewéle géde-
gédewéle gédewéle. Gédegédewéle gédewéle gédegédewéle gédewéle yémbu mikdima
amimba, yémbu kéi amimba yémbu, kéi amimba, yémbu ta kdi amimba yémbu,
kdi amimba-e. Yémbu, i kdi mi amimba, yémbu—except for the altered phonol-
ogy (which is typical of the variation when Tooy sings songs on different
occasions), it’s the song of Bat and Cock! Tooy explains, “Bat wants to eat the
person. But the person is awake, so how can he eat him? He must fool the
person’s ‘soul’ (akda), which Komantis call yémbu. Bat is calling the person’s
yémbu to trick it. When you sing this song to someone, or even allude to it,
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you're saying to them, ‘Don’t live with me like Bat!’” (Cock has dropped out
of this version of Tooy’s story, but of course he’s still there somewhere in the
recesses of hismind. . .)

And then Tooy offers me a real gem, in that same series of ideas about
deception and revenge, but this time in Papd. He sings, Okddu vélevéle, okddu
vélevéle, tatd taki alagbékiinu, f’en ku adjdmadji kélede avio, avio gwésdn, dye
taina wei, okddo vélevéle. Old Woman, he tells me, had spread out some rice
flour on a bananaleafto dryin the sun. When itlooked like rain was coming,
she asked her children to bring in the flour. She went to the river to get water
and returned. The flour was gone. She asked the children if they’d taken it
in for her, but they said they hadn’t done it yet. “Who ate my rice flour?” she
asked. Dog (aldgbeku in Papd), the guilty party, said, “Don’t worry, Mother.
Justlook for the person whose lips are moving, he’s the one!” and pointed his
nose toward Sheep (adjdmadji in Papd), who's always moving his lips. Sheep
said he would never forget the lie that Dog told about him, that he would be
Dog’s avenging spirit till the end of time. “So,” concludes Tooy, “this is what
you sing to someone who does something really bad against you. Because
you won't forget it till the end of time (‘till the earth is no more’).” And he
sings again, Okddu vélevéle, okddu vélevéle, tatd taki alagbékiinu, f’en ku adjd-
madji kélede avio, avio gwésdn, dye taina wei, okddo vélevéle.

One evening, as were walking out the door of his waiting room together,
Tooy and I catch our first glimpse of the new moon, low in the sky. He greets
it, singing joyfully: Mamd budnga, tatd budnga. Mi mamd budnga, mi tatd
budnga, a Makwald-e. U si ddngo, hokdo. Ao-ye, mi mama budnga-e. Makwald-
e, tidé u si dongo, hokdo. “If you kill big game, or a woman gives birth, or a
man returns after a long stay in whitefolks’ land, this is what you should
sing!” When I ask him to tell me more about Tatd Makwald, whom I'd al-
ready heard of as a great drummer in Apuku land, he divulges some com-
plex Apiku lore. Tatd Boké was the one who had taught Makwald how to
play the drum, saying that he should always begin the “play” with this
rhythm: Miiku djélen djélen djélen djélen djélen djélen djélen djélen. Addniminawa
addniminawa addniminawa addniminawa. Miku djélen djélen djélen djélen
djélen. Addniminawa addniminawa. I sa gé a Dénawa, i sa gé a Dénawa. I sa go a
Tomezila. Walénu, walénu tjd Tomezila. Badkama méki lékpoldkpo, gddu hang-
bénu.® Makwald became the greatest of drummers among Aptikus, no one
could best him. But human beings—for reasons Tooy doesn’t reveal—de-
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cided to do him in. (This story, emphasizes Tooy, is very dangerous!) They
organized a “play” at the base of a katu tree (the sacred tree that Aptikus
call stkufudmba), calling on twelve small black monkeys to help them. (As
soon as one of the monkeys got tired, just as in various Saramaka folktales
involving the Devil, another would replace it without anyone noticing,
with the monkeys/humans thereby winning the contest of drummer versus
dancer.) The humans also ritually prepared a centipede and stuck it inside
the drum. Makwald began drumming, the monkeys danced, until finally he
was exhausted. When he put down the drum, the centipede crawled out and
killed him. Then the humans flocked to the spot to celebrate as they sang,
Yu mamd budnga, yu tatd budnga, Makwald-e-e-e. Tidé i si mamd Alimbodé-e. A-
0, yu mamd budnga-e, Makwald-e-e-e. Tidé i si mamd Alimbodé-e, which means
(in Aptiku), “Your mother warned you, your father warned you, Makwald.
Today you see your mother, Alimbodé [in the land of the dead].” Tooy notes
that this is the Ldngu-clan version, but that downstream they substitute
Tidé man mi kisi dongo-e for Tidé i si mamd Alimbodé, and the song is sung to
a different melody, which he then sings to me. In either case, he says, when
they play this song, everyone must stand up. And finally, he teaches me the
rhythm you need to play whenever you take up the Aptiku drum in order to
put the centipede to sleep so it can’t harm you. When you begin the “play,”
you drum: Gdmbo, gdmbo, gdmbo kd, kd. kd, [repeat all] pdkasa mitdmbuldbuld,
[repeat] muldmutdmbu, [repeat] sésitamangdni tdsitamangdni, tdmu fu léleko,
koki6 kiki kokidme, miémie miémie, tatd kupé, tatd kupé, tdombi, tombi, tdombi
vubémbo, téombi, tombi, tdombi vubémbo. And then you can play all night
long! So, a song of celebration at killing an (Aptiku) enemy becomes a song
of celebration when a baby is born, a man returns from a trip, or the new
moon appears in the sky.

The next day, Tooy tells me why Aptkus no longer come to dance with
human beings. (In other words, Aptikus “in the flesh” used to join humans
at dances, but now appear only when they possess Saramakas who are danc-
ing ata “play.”) In those days, says Tooy, only Aptkus had the Aptiku drum,
which had been made by an Aptiku man called Léngo who had no hands,
no feet, no eyes, and no mouth. Humans first saw an Aptku drum in his
village. So, one day when Longo was absent, humans went to his village and
invited the Apikus to come to their own village for a dance contest. The
humans won and took the drum as the prize. When Léngo returned, the
other Aptkus told him that humans now had his drum. He said, “What sort
of weytiu [human] came and took my drum? This is bullshit. Go tell those
people that now that 'm back, we’ll have a real contest. The drum called
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ngoma, humans can’t play it!” So, they arranged the contest. The humans
were drumming, Longo kept on dancing, and the Apikus won! (This is in
a song, says Tooy.) And then, at the edge of the forest, where it meets the
village, humans cursed Aptikus and Aptkus cursed the humans back. Back
and forth they cursed each other! The humans called Aptikus kiinangbdku
(roughly, “your mother’s cunt”), singing Longo, o mamuleké, ao-e mamuleké,
mamuleké mamuleké-o, vinu kinangbdku-o! And the Apukus cursed them
back, calling them hiiliilipiimbu (which means roughly the same thing),
singing Ao-aoo mamuleké, ao mamuléke mamuléke vinu hiiliiliipiimbu-e-o! The
Aptkus took the drum called ngoma back to Apuku land. And that was the
last time that Aptikus and humans met face to face to dance together.

Akdénomisi in her rice field, 1968.
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A Wénti story that both Tooy and I see as somewhat bizarre nonetheless
demonstrates something of the complexity of Saramakas’ cosmologi-
cal imaginaire. It began for me in 1967, when I met my very first Wénti, a
boy named Sidé who appeared in the head of Akénomisi, a Lingu woman
married to a man in the village of Dangogd, where we were then living.
Akénomisi’s husband, who was my friend, had already told me alittle about
the god—how it made trips to Wénti land, where it would take children
and bring them back to place them in the wombs of infertile women. How
throughout her pregnancy, the woman would wear a charm made by Sidé to
protect her against the Wénti parents coming to try to take back their child.
And how all of Sidd’s babies bear a birthmark—a mole or other sign—that
shows that they’re a child of the water. Sidd, he told me, is actually Toné and
Weénti mixed: Akénomisi had a sister’s son, Ganddji, who was on his way to
the city with his grandfather when he drowned, killed by an avenging spirit.
The men in the canoe had been trying to kill a tapir they’d encountered
swimming across the river, near Domburg in the tidal zone, when their ca-
noe sank. They buried the boy in a small coffin by the riverside, but the wake
of the passing bauxite ships carried it downstream toward the city, where a
Toné woman named Bodiée took him from the coffin and turned him into a
Wénti with the new name of Sidé. When he arrived for the first time in Wénti
land, he saw women at the landing place washing clothes and doing their
dishes; they told him their names were Matilda, Syrop, and Akontumisi-
mayéna. There was also a man there, Goonse, with his hunting dog.
My field notes dated 9/17/67 include:

When I arrived in Akénomisi’s house, Sidé was in her head, which was tied
with a white kerchief, and over one shoulder and across her chest was a white
tie with a bundle hanging in front. Sidé spoke pure Sranan-tongo [the lan-
guage of coastal Suriname] but with a marked Kuli [East Indian] accent. Ex-
tremely realistic. Stunning. We all call Sid6 “mati” [friend]. There are several
clay pots with keéti wdta [kaolin water] in front and a ball of keéti the god gives
out for people to crumble and rub on themselves. Sidé washes a child, then
Pagai who's soon to leave for the coast, then another sick baby—all with keéti
wdta. When I came in, the god said to me, “Fa Fa Fa, mang!” [How are you,
man?] The god answers: “Turd!” to say “yes” to things. Sidg, after divining
various things for people, looked straight at me and said our time to have a
baby hadn’t come yet but that it would soon. Sidé then shook hands all around
and said he would wdka [walk, leave]. Then, a wild, loud, string of speech ap-
parently in akuli tongo [Sranan Hindi, the language of East Indians] for 30
seconds, a sudden bending from waist, out-thrust of arms, and then silence.
Akdnomisi stays bent over on her stool, as if in pain. People smile and file out.
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After aminute and a half shelifts her head and is herself. There’d been a dozen
people present at one time or another. Note the great joy of talking with the
god, the pleasure everyone felt.

Nearly forty years later, when we were chatting about Wéntis one day, Tooy
filled me in on some of the more bizarre aspects of Sidd’s story, reminding
me that Akénomisi was from his own Léngu village of Bundjitapd and that
he himself had been married to the woman who took care of Sidd’s shrine
after Akénomisi’s death. He described how when Sidé had appeared in
Akénomisi’s head for the first time, he had told the story of how he’d become
a Wénti and all the things he’d seen in Wénti land. Her kinsmen in the vil-
lage of Deb6, under the god’s guidance, then made a shrine with an earthen
statue of each of the gods he’d told them about, for example Goonse, whom
they sculpted as a naked man. Then one day, a man named Aminiddba from
the village of Kayana stole into the shrine and began handling the statues,
playing with Goonse’s penis until it broke off! This happened during large
rituals for an Apiku god called Petjietji-gboso (sometimes, Wetjtiwetju-
gboso), and it was decreed that, for messing with the statue, Kayana would
have to pay a fine of twelve bottles of sugarcane syrup, twelve bottles of beer,
twelve lengths of cloth, three white kerchiefs, 5 liters of rum, twelve parrot
feathers, twelve cowry shells, and twelve balls of keéti (kaolin). Kayana at first
refused, saying that the statue was just a piece of earth, not a god. Then Sidé
sang this song, which means, Tooy explains, that whatever is in a shrine and
flecked with keéti is sacred—it might be as lowly as a lizard or a rat, but if
you kill it, it’s like killing a god. Tooy sings Goonse’s song: Goonse-o0, Goonse.
Goonse, Goonse, mi yédo. Yédo, élola-ee. Wenti-e, zdmbi ndmo-e. Mi da sdntrof
sdntrodndi, hén da léventua lévemwddudii, mi da linzahiiin linzamtdmboyo, e-e
Weénti dd wi ndmo-e, after which Kayana immediately agreed to pay up.

Several times, Tooy alludes to a power I'd never before heard of, “Ydka-ésu,”
which he tells me is one of the “great ébias” of his natal village of Bundjitapd.
When I press, he says that its drums and songs resemble the Eastern Maroon
susa “play”*—indeed, he calls it a kind of “Aptiku [forest spirit] siisa”—but
he insists that its origin and significance are unique. At first, Tooy tells me
that the dbia and its “play” were “found” by Lol6i, an avenging spirit in the
head of Bundjitapd Captain Diiféu “during the time of Gaamd Djankusé”
(who died in 1932). But he later explains that the story is more complicated.
There were three brothers who were avenging spirits for the lineage. The
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eldest was Bdkabada—whenever he arrived in possession (and this is still
true today), he sat with his back toward the people who called him for con-
sultation. The second brother was Loléi, a mixed water-and-forest god (a
Bumbd, a “water Aptiku” who “walks” in a small caiman), and who came into
possession in Tooy’s house only last week, when his “master” was visiting.
(Loléi likes to say, Nd mi sanga yu. Kulii sanga yu. Tjdi vinda kd, which means,
Tooy says, in the language of Bumbd gods, “I'm not the one who messed
with you first. You went after me, which is why I've done what I've done. So
get outta here!”) It was Loldi (one day about a century ago) who “found” the
third brother, Amani, who was living on an island surrounded by water in
the middle of the forest. Loldi tried to persuade his brother to come live with
him and Bdkabada, but Amani insisted that he was just fine on his island
with his wife, his mother, his father, his children, and his grandchildren.
(Tooy says he heard all this from a god called Ma Agbatinawi, who is “mixed”
water and forest.) Later, when Lol6i was speaking through Captain Diiféu
one day, Amani possessed him—one god possessing another (but “speak-
ing through the same mouth,” as Tooy says). And it was Amani, speaking
through Diiféu, who brought Ydka-dsu dbia to Tooy’s village.

“Ydka-Gsu,” says Tooy, “is a very dangerous dbia, one of the great war
dbias of this world—its strong name is Kwandjimun. Its ‘leaves’ are ‘heavy,’
heavier than those for Komanti! When they play Ydka-6su, they sing Kwinga
kwé, kwinga kwt, nu ku yeld. Kwinga kwi, kwinga dobukaan, nu ku yeld. Kwinga
kwé, kwinga kd, nu ku yeld. Kwinga kwé, hési kwinga dou, nu ku yééé, which
means, ‘Hurry! Grab your kids and get them into the house. Shut the doors!
A jaguar is on the loose in the village and will eat them!” And when they
dance Ydka-Gsu, when things really get hot, if you don’t know how to do the
footwork—when to lift your leg, when not to—you're dead! (Tooy tells me
that Ydka-6su dancing and drums resemble those for Pasikd, a god who lives
in forest boulders, as well as those for Aptiku, but they are distinct.)

In Ydka-Gsu, there’s a big prayer that commemorates what Amani said to
his brother avenging spirits, telling them that he’s their pathfinder, the one
who clears the path with his machete, the strongest of the three. Tooy sings
it for me: Adjiulald lald, Adjiulald lald, Nand konde flambd, Nand nyankompono,
mi hélu ku adjéusimani. Adjiulald lald, Nand konde flambd, wemi yaii-ké, Nand
nyankdmpono, mi-i-ké adjeti sumani-e. (He explains that in Ydka-6su, adjiulald
means “machete,” adjéustimani means “path,” and Nand kénde flambd is the
fire of Heaven—*“You don't even think of playing with it.”) He also tells me
about a contest between Rum and Sugarcane Syrup to see who was the real
man, a contest inscribed in a Ydka-6su song: Aziingunamitjé, manamitjé kaafu
laldngmami ziingunamitjé, botjéi kaafu laldngmami ziingunamitjé, manamitjé
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kaafu laldngmami ziingunamitjé. (In Ydka-Gsu, Tooy explains, ziingunamitjé
means “rum” and laldngmami “sugarcane syrup.”) “One man drank a liter of
rum and had to sleep for three days before he could stand up. Another drank
a bottle of sugarcane syrup and was out cold for twelve whole days! That’s
what the song says. Sugarcane Syrup won! By the time they play this song,
the Ydka-Gsu priest on the drum is calling people to drink. After that, they
dance on fire!”

That’s almost all I know about Ydka-6su.’ There must be literally hun-
dreds of such village or lineage dbias in Saramaka, some very old, others
dating only from the twentieth century, each with its own drums, songs,

language, and lore.
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When Tooy is feeling drowsy, or bored with my questions, he sometimes
tells me he doesn’t really know much about Diinguldli, Komantf, or Papd, but
that when Tatd Dinuydngi shows up, he certainly can give me the lowdown.
And three or four times during our visit in early 2005, he did.

Thanks to Sally, we enjoy a delicious lunch, accompanied by a bottle of
wine we brought. Then Tooy stands and leads us and Sensilé (who is visiting
from Suriname) in a Wénti song that’s appropriate after you've eaten well, to
thank them and invite them to join you. We stand and hold our glasses (in
the event, plastic and enamel cups) on high, waving them as we sing: Keeni-
djo-yéi gadn 16 gddu, mi keenidjo dd iinu-e. Mi adjo, mi adjo. Mi keenidjo, mi keeni-
djo. Wémédjé fu ayonde, mi keenidjd dd iinu-e. Mi adjo, mi adjo. Tjénugbé, gonobi
olo matoo, hwémato, kinadu gadi mi hwénu kee, mi adjo, mi adjo, tjonugbé-o.!
Tooy, Sensild, and I retire to the leaf room, where Tooy opens three beers
from the six-pack that a client left earlier. He is feeling happy. And soon his
god, Dinuydngi, announces himself, reeling off some of his praise names:

Me! I say that ’'m Abtun-dékpopo-yakpdnu. I'm Ketjiki-dedomi-ma-wamdi-
di-domi-mawd-mi-koonu-dye! I didn’t let my father down. Abun-dékpopo-
yakpdnu. He’s the one who begins playing at twelve o’clock midnight and
doesn’t stop till daylight. He doesn’t stop playing for anything. A real Lingu
warrior! I'm Adunuydngi. I'm Edjénamd-u-Musttu. 'm Dinuydngi-fu-adju.
I'm Avunguld-débe. 'm Pakakd-fu-adji. I'm Fuldnkdma-vuld-bémbd. I'm
Démide-kaldngu, Lazdnkan-kaldngu, Djididji-kaldngu. [to me] Man, come
embrace me, Brother! [begins pouring a libation of beer:] Ma Yowentina, take
some, Ma Digbednsu, take some. Ma Yemdnzda, take some. Were near the sea-
side. Near Afémadla. We must live, we must grow old, we must enjoy our old
age! Youknow how to bring us to the lake they call Simbdmba [more usually he
callsit “Kibdmba”], let us bathe there and then come back. Let’s drink together!

Sensil6 teasingly asks me what I saw in the sea in Martinique one day, and
Tooy’s god encourages me to tell him about the Wénti ship moored below
our house that I'd shown him a photo of at the hospital. After I describe
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it, Sensilé in mock reprimand says I shouldn’t have taken that picture. “If
there were women onboard, do you think they were your wives?” he asks.
Tooy’s god laughs loudly. Sensild says he’s only joking, that I did well. But I
shouldn’t forget that those Wénti women are his! He adds that the workIdo
really has its benefits—the ship that came, didn’t Tooy get out of jail? Well,
who do you think got him out of jail? It was those Wéntis on the ship!

Tooy’s god tells me that the man over there—he points toward his
brother—is very mischievous. If you're angry with him, you're angry with
the earth and the forest. If youre angry with him, you're angry with the
sea. ... Irealize that 'm in the presence of Flibdnti as well as Diinuydngi!
So I ask this dbia, who knows so much about the way the world works,
something I've been wondering for a long time. First excusing myself for
my question—to which Dinuydngi breaks in to say, “There’s nothing evil
about being curious!”—I explain that I come from America, butIdon’t know
what country Tatd Dinuydngi comes from. SensilG’s dbia says, “Friend, he
hails from Oldni! [the great Wénti country in the middle of the sea]. That’s
where he was born. But he was raised on this earth and likes to hang around
here onland. That’s how you and he have gotten to be such buddies.” He tells
me, “Those people from Kinaazdu [another Wénti town], they sometimes
have children with forest spirits here on earth.” And he reminds me, boast-
ing, “I'm the big man of the forest.” He also informs me that “the person who
owns the ship that was moored in front of your house is Mamd Digbednsu of
Ol6ni! It’s her grandchildren who are the crew.”

Diinuydngi interrupts to say, “Set your tape recorder, I want to tell you
something. (Excuse me, ‘taatd™—I call the dbia here ‘taatd.” He owns the whole
part of the earth we live in here!) [singing] ‘If you seek me you will find me.
[repeat] I'm Manidjingmbe. I'm Sakiawdngadjimbe as well! [falsetto] If you
seek me you will find me.’ ’'m the headman of the water, 'm the headman
of the forest. What could you do in the forest without my knowing about it?
It’s not by chance that Stupid-Head [Dinguydngi’s name for Tooy] and Skin
[Dunguydngi’s name for Sensild] love one another. When this man [Sensild]
comes to himself [comes out of possession], tell him that I'm Awdmba-
djingmbe. I say, ‘Skin! It’s not because you and Stupid-Head have the same
mother. There’s a reason. Mother and child, father and child, they must love
each other. Let’s live like that.” Man, let me tell you something. If Stupid-
Head were to forget about Skin or if Skin were to forget about Stupid-Head,
it wouldn’t be because they wanted that. It would be because someone put
something between them. Let them stay together, however messed-up they
are physically. If you try to kill them, you’ll die before them. They’re in the
hands of God. The Sky God is the boss, the Earth God is the boss. . .. There’s
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a prayer for every occasion. . . . ” Tooy’s god teases Sensild’s ébia for a while.
Then Tooy’s god gets on Sally’s case—she’s joined us after washing the
dishes—saying that she really resembles a certain woman he knows, but
he’s not going to say her name. Finally, he says that it’s the one who lives in
the deep in front of our house in Martinique [Zoofayadnde]. “You should
throw a bottle of beer out to her from time to time,” he reminds me. Sensild’s
dbia asks Sally if she’s had children, and when she says yes he tells her to
take good care of them. He takes her hands: “The place you live by the sea,
you know who sent you there?” He laughs . . . “They own that place, those
Wéntis. Live there well, with those children of yours. . . . Take care of your
husband. ... Setatable there, make alittle altar looking out at the sea, where
the wind blows. That ship will come back again and dock there.” Sensilé’s
dbia says his goodbyes. Tooy’s god quietly departs as well.

Another afternoon, when Tooy and I are chatting alone, Dinuydngi sud-
denly appears. “It’s Bdsi Dunuydngi talking to you here! That’s Yédjemand-u-
musttu. That’s Adinaydngi-fu-adjd. 'm the singer/drummer for the whole
world. Man, Ireally love to play! 'm Awdngbadjingmbe, I'm Kasi-fu-wdmba!
I'm Aviingula-bitjébi. I'm Pdkasa-fu-adjébi-fu-dnkama fuld bémbu!” Then
he quickly tells me, “They say that the man called Stupid-Head loves ‘plays,’
that he loves to sing and drum. I say, ‘Bullshit! It’s his head that’s so stupid!
He likes to think he’s smart, but he’s just a stupid-head. On the other hand,
you and I have so much to talk about! When we sit down, we’ll talk about
Kwadjé [vulture Komanti], Aptku, Wdtawent, Maviingu, and Ydu [river Ko-

”2

manti], before we talk about Djebi [jaguar Komanti].”* And he sings me a

song in Komanti.

Ydoo, mi Ydo, mié mié mié mié mié mié mié mié mié. Adinka-e, mié mié, busiki mié
mié ku adjii mié mié, mi ébia mi ka moomi odia poki mi sa fomani mani o mi da
awamba djebi-e, Ydoo. Brother, Giant Otter sang that to God. He’d been hunting
underwater for twelve days and twelve nights without finding a single thing
to eat. Finally he came to the surface and sang this to God. (What he said was
dangerous—*“If God wants him to kill, he’ll eat, if God doesn’t want him to
kill, he’ll still manage to find something to eat.” You really should never say,
“If God wants, you’ll do something, and if God doesn’t want, you’ll still do
it"—it’s only if God wants that you’ll do it. But that’s what he said.) You should
say these words only when you're really in need. As soon as Otter sang them,
he dove under and caught a large kumdlu [a tasty fish].

Duinuydngi grabs Tooy’s tape recorder and starts playing a tape of a Kom-
anti “play” at his house. I notice that most songs are in normal Saramac-
can, with a few Komanti words inserted. Dinuydngi keeps telling me the



274 * DUNUYANGI TAKES OVER

circumstances in which to sing each song—you must prepare the clay pot
of medicine leaves before you sing the one he’s playing now, for example.
Sometimes, he picks out pieces of a song to explain to me: the name of the
ship that carried them from Africa was Dokoféankdma, the name of the cap-
tain of the ship was Abdan!

He turns off the tape and begins a story. “An old man and his wife,
Abaniba—both blind—stayed home while everyone else in the village went
out to hunt kwimdta [a heavily scaled swamp fish that can be caught when
there are heavy rains and that Komanti calls akdntabiiba]. She had one fish
but couldn’t take off its scales because she couldn’t see. So she cried, singing,
Ando kd akd peé asdnti vilivili, djdifosd gwdgwd ké peé asdnti vilivili, Bdsi adinka
gwagwd kd peéé asdnti vilivili, ma bandimba-e kiydo un dn yéi-o akdntabiiba,
asdnti bada, u dn yéi, lilku akdntabiiba. And suddenly she could see! She cut
the fish and cooked it. Komanti, Brother!” Which reminds him of another
Komanti song, this one about Three-Fingered Sloth, whom Komantf calls
adinka. The god sings, Adinka, a ta yénde-o, woyo yénde-e, adinka hén ta yénde-
e, bdsi adinka-e, medi a kdi. “The three-fingered sloth is small and ugly—but
don’t imagine you can bring him down from the tree with a single shot! He
says, ‘When you shoot me, twelve men will hear before I'm dead.” He says
his praise name is ‘Bdsi Adinka fu Umbddjini.’ Or ‘Déble.” When he climbs
up the mombé tree to seek food, he’s so sweet to watch, good-looking guy!”
And he sings again, Adinka, a ta yénde-o, woyo yénde-e, adinka hén ta yénde-e,
bdsi adinka-e, medi a kdi.

“You know what Three-Fingered Sloth says? ‘If you mess with me, I'll
mess with you! If you shoot at me, I'll get you!” In Komantf he sings, Kwan,
kwan, bé yéi, mi o pépé yu, kwan, kwan. And then the hunter says to him,
[singing] Kukube i miti mamima, a kukubele miti mamima.” Dinuydngi is get-
ting excited and says, “Let’s quit talking—there’s too much to say!” and he
begins dribbling some beer on the ground. “Bdsi Djesf, Bdsi Akoomi, Bdsi
Yembudmba, Bdsi Sdka-Amdfu, Avé Adjd, Bdsi Ofilibani Mafuyewd, take this
fine-looking liquid, let’s drink.” Then he sprays some to either side with his
mouth and offers me the bottle.

“Let me teach you how to pray to the Gddu-a-Kamia, the ‘god-of-the-
place’ that lives in each particular spot. You call it Kasidmba Nand Gwam-
bisa, Kasidmba Nand Gadeénza. There’s no place that doesn’t have one! You
say, ‘My djodjo, my sadmba, give me strength, Avé Kasidmba Nand Gwambisa,

bR

Avé Kasidmba Nand Gadeénza.”” And he explains, “Sadmba is the soul [nor-
mal Saramaccan akda], djddjo is the body of your namesake. Avé Kasidmba
Gadeénza is the god on the west side, Nand Gwambisa is the one to the east.

This is ‘country’ talk—not any other particular language.” I try to confirm
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my understanding that there’s an Earth Mother (a Mother-of-the-Earth)
and then there are multiple “gods-of-the-place.” Tooy’s god says, “Yes, the
Earth Mother is the boss and has various ‘gods-of-the-place’ who work for
her. You should call her Maluld Matjadngi.” I ask which of these we prayed to
at Roland’s lumberyard in Martinique, the first time we met. “It wasn’t the
god-who-has-the place—it was the Earth Mother. What we said was, Maluli
Matjdngi asdkpda asdkpda tjd kintkini kapéekapéé kutjdbiabia dumiydyd mdde-
sidaghd. It’s saying that the person who’s trying to kill you there [Roland’s en-
emy, in that case] has his thigh [Saramaccan asdkpda] above his knee [Sara-
maccan kini]—that is, he’s someone real—and that Maluli Matjdngi should
do the necessary to get him away from there. This is ‘country talk.’

“Komanti men sing,” Dinuydngi continues, “Téé mi yéi Afdnti bodko mi
0 fid! Té¢ mi yéi so mi sa fid-e. Afdntinéngeé mi o fid. Téé mi yéi so mi sa fid-o! [in
normal Saramaccan, ‘When I hear Afdntiis defeated, I'll deny it; when I hear
that, I'll deny it; Afdnti people I'll argue; when I hear it, I'll argue’]” “The
country they call Afdnti,” he tells me, “no gun battle could defeat the Afdnti
people! If you're bullshitting me, you could tell me that Afanti’s been de-
feated. If ’'m bullshitting you, I could tell you that Afdnti could be defeated.
But if were not bullshitting each other, there’s no way Afdnti could be de-
feated!”
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Our final day in Cayenne for a while. Tooy decides to offer me a gift—“This
dbia is very special,” he says. “For my closest friend, I'd charge 100 euros,
but for anybody else it would be a thousand or more. Never, never make it
for someone for less than 100 euros!” Not wanting to jack up the price of
this book and not wanting the makers of Viagra or Cialis on my case, I re-
cord Tooy’s recipe verbatim here—except that Ileave out a single ingredient
(as he sometimes does when making an dbia, when he’s unsure whether he
trusts the client), in this case to keep my part of the bargain.

Take some basilique gadn bwa [Saramaccan addya, a variety of Ocimum basilicum,
“basil”]—it can be dried or fresh. Find a stand of sugarcane, pick out a stalk,
and address it: “Sugarcane, I've come to you. You're filled with liquid, but you
stand up straight! Make me stand up straight as well!” Leaving the cane stand-
ing, carefully remove the leaves and discard them. When the cane is stripped,
sliceitoffat the bottom with a single stroke of the machete. Bring ithome, cut it
up and place in amortar, with the basil on top, and pound them together. Then,
place a small mound of salt in the center of a basin, and place little mounds of
sugararound the saltina triangle [Tooy said “like makiiku”—the three earthen-
ware hearthstones that define a woman’s home]. Take three large peanuts and
pray to them, open the shells, take the front nut from each, and throw the rear
nuts behind you, saying that youre throwing away dirt and evil. Put the three
good nuts right on top of the salt. With your hands, gently lift the mashed-up
leaves from the mortar and place them on top of the basin. Add about a cup of
cold water. Then, when you're ready to wash in the bath, add warm water. Do it
every evening for seven days. It will keep you going for months!

As Tooy says his goodbyes to us in the Diinguldli house, where we pray,
drink the 6bid’s liquid, and chat, he tells us that, according to Flibdnti, Diin-
guldli is the gadn-Jbia of Wéntis—their “great dbia.”

Death doesn’t come to Dunguldli country, death doesn’t come to Wénti coun-
try. The first man to have Dinguldli was Moses—he used it in war, sending up
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smoke from his pipe. With that smoke, he parted the sea and killed all those
whitefolks! When he died, Moses became a Wénti. They call him Naosi—it’s in
Wénti songs." He’s the one who gave the ébia to Pupd, in the land of the dead.
Dunguldli isn’t the 6bia’s real name, but you can only pronounce that name
while you are making a sacrifice—perhaps on your next visit.

“Once,” Tooy adds, “Naosi [Moses] divorced his wife. For a whole year she
begged him to reconsider, sending captains and assistant captains to him
to plead her cause. Finally, she went to him herself, stood before him, and
dropped her clothes—she was stark naked! And she sang, Naosi-e, Naost,
Naosi-eldo kido nd mdti, a tjali, s6 néo sembe de f’en-e, Naosi. Naosi-eldo, kido
nad mdti-e, bada s6 nédo sembe dé, Weénti-e [Naosi, don’t be angry kid, that’s
just the way people are, Wénti]. He looked at her hard and sang, Wdmilo
wdnwdn, wdmilo yi wdnwdn-o, M’dn o déde f’i hédi, a tjali-e, i dn miisu keéé fu
mi, Weénti-e. Wdmilo-e. Wdmilo yi wdnwdn-o. M’dn ta déde f’i hédi-o, ké. U dn
miisu kéé fu mi, Wénti-e [Youre just a woman, I won't die over you, it’s very
sad, Wéntis please don’t cry for me]. And Moses took her back!”* He com-
ments, “Wénti songs are really heartbreaking.”

“When you get on the airplane,” he counsels us, “here’s what to sing:
‘Well, my mother Digbeénsu. Come help, my mother. Well, my mother Dig-
bednsu of Oléni, thank you thank you I pray to you. Mother, you see 'm up
near the sun, come bring me back to the sea, Mother Digbednsu.”” He stops
and says that these words make him feel too sad. “You're up in the sky, your
feet can’t reach the ground. What can you do?” (He sings the song again.) He
urges Sally, “You and your husband, when you set that table [prepare that
altar] in Martinique, call these [Wénti] people to come be with you!” Tooy is
wiping away tears, his perennial enthusiasm now mixed with sorrow.



KNOCKING THE STONE

* 11142005[12142005 *

When we pull up the car behind the house, Tooy, shirtless, comes out sing-
ing, arms outstretched: Odo bdi Anigo-o, ddo bdi Anigo-o. Tjd, ménimi tjd. Odo
bdi Anigo-o-yé, tjd Anigo tjdi. Embracing me, he says, “Greetings, Brother!
That’s how we greet Anagé dbia.” Ushering us into his waiting room, he
continues to sing, bursting with happiness: Hangwé-e go na andiiwe, hangwé-
e go na andiiwe, [repeat] andiiwe go f’en na notkadjd-e. Hangwé-e go na andiiwe,
hangwé-e go na andiiwe, andiiwe kisi notkadjd, Wénti-e. “This is about insepa-
rable friends. Tortoise and Tick. You never catch a tortoise without finding a
tick on the underside of its neck. Tick [in Wénti] is hangwé, Tortoise andiiwe,
and tortoise’s shell notkadjd, so the song says, ‘Tick goes to Tortoise, Tortoise
goes into his shell.’ Friend with friend. You and me!”

I'd intended this trip as a near-final working visit to Cayenne, since this
book was largely drafted, to check transcriptions of songs in esoteric lan-
guages. But Tooy decided that we should accomplish two things together.'
He wanted us to pay a courtesy visit to the homeland of Diinguldli and the
Weéntis, Kddji’s village of Tampdki. And it was time, he said, to carry out the
ultimate Diinguldli ceremony—knocking the stone.

Preparations for the ceremony begin almost immediately. Tooy pours
libations at the ancestor shrine in front of his house, telling Kédji and
Akoomi and some fifty others that in a week we will hold a “feast” (nyanyd
tiie) in their honor, and that we’ll knock the stone a week after that. Tooy
surprises me by praying, first, to “Master Yésus Kristus, our mother Santa
Maria, Adam and Eve in Heaven,” which has me imagining that his prayer
might inscribe the conversion to Christianity of some of his Langu ances-
tors in the Kingdom of Kongo two centuries before they arrived in Suriname.
But my dream of this preserved trace of African Christianity in Saramaka is
quickly shattered when Tooy tells me that his knowledge of these “Catholic”
figures comes from his twentieth-century namesake Pobdsi, not from his
more distant Léngu ancestors.
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Our first days in Cayenne are divided between my driving Tooy to sites
near and far in search of the ingredients needed for knocking the stone, lis-
tening with him to recordings from previous visits to check the accuracy of
transcriptions, and hanging out in his house as he receives clients, teaches
younger Saramakas, and is occasionally possessed by his god, Diinuydngi.

Mi dngbo timbo, mi dngbo timbo, he sings one noon when he feels hun-
gry, teaching me the way Papd players ask for food. And eating lunch with
Yaai and Sally, we have an animated discussion about whether aman and a
woman can ever be “just friends”—he insists not. Dinuydngi joins us and
teaches some Papdgddu language. And then Yontini appears, and the two
gods sing with each other for a good hour. It’s much like opera, not in the
melodies but in the alternation of voices and the universal themes: fear, be-
trayal, trust, and love. Then one of Tooy’s old friends, Kayé from Béndékonde,
happens by and tells how Pésé, his boss at the St. Elie mine (where he pulls
a wagon loaded with 700 kilos of supplies by hand, along rails that run
through the forest for 33 kilometers from the riverside), has designs on Sara-
maka territory for his golden ambitions, but that Gaamd Otjutju will surely
thwart him.

The forest trips bring me nostalgic pleasure—it’s been many years since
I've been in high forest. I'd forgotten the tremendous variety of tall trees,
some corrugated, others smooth, others spiky, as well as the varieties of
vines, thick and thin, white and pitch black, soft and stone hard. Tooy’s a
consummate guide, pointing out more plants and trees and vines (and their
uses) than I could ever hope to remember. Each of our day trips is to a site
he’s visited many times, so he knows which ingredients he’s likely to find.
It’s a bit like shopping in several giant supermarkets, walking the aisles and
loading whatever you want into the baskets.

Once we drive for an hour and a half in the direction of Brazil, until he
tells me to go slow and after a couple of kilometers says we’ve arrived. I pull
onto the grassy shoulder, and then we walk through an abandoned banana
grove before entering the forest. Our footsteps are muted by layers upon
layers of moist brown leaves, and as I look upward, there are layers upon
layers of branches and green leaves filtering the light. We soon cross a troop
of little black monkeys leaping from branch to vine to branch. Tooy searches
for the young shoots of a certain plant, but only finds three in fifteen min-
utes. He folds each one over on itself, wraps them in another kind of leaf,
and using the stem of a third kind of leaf, which he splits with his machete,
makes a string to tie the bundle. As we walk deeper, we come upon a musdnse
tree whose bark has clearly been harvested by several others before us. With
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his machete, Tooy slices off some chunks and puts them into the burlap sack
I'm carrying. Over the next two hours, he harvests ten different barks from
large trees, often from their impressive buttresses. The dozen or so vines
he collects range from delicate creepers thinner than ivy to giant 4-inch-
diameter vines that seem to fall from the sky. He often slices into a vine or
even a tree with his machete and rejects it, either by mere sight of its flesh,
by taking a bit and smelling it, or, in a few cases, by licking it for the taste.
Sometimes he asks me, totally clueless, to taste it. As Tooy cuts bark, he
occasionally addresses the tree, “Father, Oh father.” We stock slabs of bark,
branches, and lengths of vines by the path in piles, to pick up as we return.
Our trajectory is downhill toward an unseen river, then back up, retrieving
the piles we've left. The forest harbors active insect life, little flies, small
wasps, mosquitoes, that bite us as we walk. Before emerging to the road,
Tooy says a prayer to Tatd Dunguldli and begins poking his machete into the
path until he feels something more solid. He then clears a small area with
his machete, digs out some earth, and exposes three horizontal roots, each
about half an inch in diameter, which he cuts into foot-long pieces, wraps in
aleaf, and ties with a thin vine. The trunk of our rental car is tightly packed
with rainforest riches.

The forest trips multiply. Tooy keeps telling me how many leaves, barks,
roots, and vines are still lacking. But a few days after the feast for the ances-
tors, he finally begins to feel ready. By now he’s arranged his vines and barks
in a 5-foot-tall tower held up against the wall of the leaf room by a giant
sawfish beak. (The idea is to keep each variety of bark or vine separate so he
can grind them up appropriately for each of the gods and dbias in the house.)
And branches of leaves and piles of roots line the other walls outside the
Dunguldli chamber.

Tooy decides to take Sally and me and Yaai on a visit to his garden camp
in the forest, forty-five minutes by car from the capital and then a quarter
hour by outboard from the town of Roura, to find a few final ingredients.
An Amerindian with a cell phone takes us upstream in an aluminum boat,
promising to be back before nightfall for the return trip. The camp sitsina
beautiful riverside stretch of forest, with a large clearing and three houses
in disrepair. Tooy uses his machete and a broom made from forest plants
to clean up two shrines where we pray and bathe, telling the local powers
of the upcoming Dungulili rites. In an abandoned garden, amidst bamboo
and other brush, we lift up some galvanized roofing to uncover an under-
ground ébia pot—it’s Dankund, a fighting dbia that Tooy also keeps in a
pot in his Dinguldli chamber. He prays and sings to it here in the open air,
and we are each obliged to wash our faces, hands, and ankles with the fetid
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Tooy’s gold-mining machine.

black liquid that he extracts with a calabash. (Later, he tells me that Pobosi’s
god Sdka-Amdfu worked with this 6bia, as did Akoomi, who learned it from
Akeekiina, a woman in the land of the dead, in exchange for his own Kii-
fu dbia.) Not far from this buried dbia, a giant mining machine looms out
of the greenery. Tooy explains that ten years before, he and a partner ran a
clandestine gold-mining operation here, employing nine Brazilians and, at
another time, fifteen Saramakas, until the police closed them down. It was
too expensive to move the machine out of the forest.

We also make a weekend trip to Tampdki, where Tooy says he wants to
wet his head once more in Kédji’s river. The visit is bittersweet. Another of
the handful of knowledgeable old men who are left, Marcel, is dying. Oth-
ers are aging fast. The younger folks who've arrived in the past few years,
who came on a promise from the mayor of Saint-Georges that he would get
them French papers, feel deceived—though it’s not the mayor’s fault but
that of the far-off French Minister of the Interior, who for political purposes
at home is cracking down on foreigners on French soil. On this visit, the old
men treat me for the first time like a Saramaka rather than an outsider. I ac-
company them as Tooy prays and makes offerings at Kédji’s ancestor shrine
and the Wénti house, and visits the shrine of Mamd-Gddu and the ruins of
the Dunguldli shrine in the sacred grove behind the village.
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As Tooy prays to Kédji and the other Tampdki ancestors, in the presence
of other old men, I realize once again how special his knowledge is. In the
course of the weekend, I hear him use esoteric phrases (often proverbs) from
a variety of languages—Komantf{, Papd, Apiku, Apinti, and Ké6ndé—and
learn, from subsequent conversation with those present, that they had un-
derstood little of what he was saying when he addressed the ancestors in
this way. I would estimate that few forty-year-old Saramakas would know
even 20% of the phrases that Tooy likes to use in such circumstances and
that only one in ten men in their sixties or seventies would know the mean-
ing of half of them. Perhaps it’s something like what the proverbial man on
the street would “get” overhearing an exchange between Gayatri Spivak and
Barbara Johnson on the finer points of Derridian deconstruction or between
Einstein and Oppenheimer on quantum field theory. In any case, I realize
that part of the specialness of Tooy’s knowledge is its breadth. There are, in
most large Saramaka villages, a couple of specialists in each of these esoteric
languages. But it is rare to encounter a man who has more than a passing
knowledge of so many.

Knocking the stone—even without the presence of Roland Legros, who ul-
timately chickened out—forms the logical culmination to this story. Tooy
had first mentioned this ceremony the very night I met him in Martinique.
(All gadn-dbia have such rites, designed to produce the mashed-up mix of
leaves-roots-vines-barks-other ingredients to be ingested and bathed in
by the adepts.) Yet no bakda—outsider—had ever, to my knowledge, wit-
nessed one. How, then, to write about a ceremony that is at once secret and
intimate, without evoking the trope of the heroic anthropologist who goes
where no whiteman has ever trod?

Let’s fast-forward through the ceremony, stopping for a few details, as
away of getting an overview. (I have placed transcriptions of the Duinguldli
and Komanti songs that Tooy sang during the night, with his explanations,
in the Coda to this book.)

FAST-FORWARD. Late afternoon, we join a couple dozen Saramaka men,
women, and children clad, respectively, in towels, wrap skirts, and under-
pants, plus a couple of Creole clients in bathing suits, who follow Tooy out
the back door, across the road, through some piles of garbage, and into a
clearing cut in the brush for the Dinguldli ceremony of “separation.” The
accumulated impurities of the year are to be left behind so that each par-
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ticipant will be ready for the New Year. Tooy’s sister’s son Frank lays a wood
fire in a hole he’s dug in the earth, places a parrot feather on top, and lights
it. Tooy goes first. He spreads his legs over the blaze, which Frank extin-
guishes by pouring liquid over him with a calabash while Tooy prays that
the year’s “dirt” leave him. The plastic basin of leaves, roots, and vines is
refreshed every few minutes with buckets of water brought by youngsters
from the house. Tooy calls each person up to take his turn, handing each
an egg to use as “soap,” to wash away the “dirt” while praying out loud and
straddling the hole, facing west. In the gathering darkness, Frank pours the
liquid over each head. Intermittent rain. It’s dark and muddy at the edge of
the city as we huddle underneath a giant high-tension pylon. Frank washes
each person a second time, using the egg on each body and pouring liquid
over each head, turning them west, then east, before he breaks their egg
into the hole. The bedraggled group troops back in the cold rain and dark-
ness and stands shivering in Tooy’s waiting room until all have changed
clothes.

FAST-FORWARD. It’s eight o’clock, and many of the bathers have gone
home. In Dinguldli’s chamber, Tooy sits next to the altar with Yaai at his
side. Eight men plus Sally and I are squeezed onto the benches along the
sides of the tiny room, and a couple of others sit just outside the open door
on chairs. Men take up seedpod rattles as Tooy launches into the first song.
Frank tears up ared cloth, and each person ties a strip around his head—we
look like pirates. As Tooy sings and the others chorus, he occasionally lights
up Andnagda and smokes a bit, and others take their turn at the pipe as they
wish. Each of the thirty or so songs is followed by the Diinguldli chant, spo-
ken in unison: Diinguldli-é. Pdsi paati dbia. Awili. Awili kdndikdndi. Déde kénde
pdsi diingu, 1ibi 1ibi konde pdsi limbo yéti (“Duinguldli-é. Path-splitting dbia.
Awili. Awili kdndikdndi. The path to the land of the dead is dark, the path
to the land of the living still light”). As they get into it, I realize that Tooy
and his comrades are singing against Death, that Diinguldli songs share the
purpose of keeping Death at bay. Tooy sings: “Get out ghost, you get out!
([chorused:] Diinguldli is smoking the place)”. .. “Dinguldli, dangerous In-
dians are coming ([chorused:| Hahhhhhhhhhh), dangerous Indian story (Hah-
hhhhh) . .. but the Pdtakatjdna are coming (Hahhhhh).” . .. “A deep grave,
Dunguldli, they’re digging a large hole, but it’s not for me!” ... “Légbelégbe,
Death’s left hand, Dunguldli, Death’s left hand has come. Chase it back to
the land of the dead, Diinguldli.” As Tooy and his comrades sing on to the
steady rhythm of their seedpods, it’s easy to imagine Kédji a century before,
with Akoomi in his head, teaching and leading the band of singers on the
far-away Oyapock River.
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FAST-FORWARD. It’s ten o’clock, and the singers have moved into the
waiting room, where it’s cooler, to play Komanti. Tooy begins knocking the
ddulo (a small hollow chunk of metal, beaten with a second piece of metal)
in the five-stroke “time-line” rhythm that defines all Komanti music, and
launches into the first song. The other men chorus and occasionally take
over the lead for a song or two. Around midnight, the gong is laid aside and
Tooy begins singing Apiku, which continues for another half hour. Some-
time before 1:00 a.m., the “play” breaks up. A couple of men go into the leaf
room, where under Tooy’s direction they begin sorting and cutting up ingre-
dients for knocking the stone. The others lie down on benches, beds, or the
floor to catch a couple of hours’ rest.

FAST-FORWARD. It’s 3:00 a.m., and were squeezed back into the Din-
guldli chamber. The altar has been removed to reveal a hole in the floor con-
taining Duinguldli’s iron pot. And just inside the doorway, in a 2-foot-wide
depression in the floor, there’s a pile of the chopped-up leaves-barks-vines-
roots that will be knocked with the stone. Tooy takes the first turn, sitting on
the floor, spreading his legs around the depression, and picking up the large
river stone with both hands to begin mashing the mixture, as he launches
the first song. Each person present gets a turn at knocking the stone—usu-
ally about two songs’ worth . . . By dawn, the mixture seems adequately
mashed and Yontini, who’s come into Yaai’s head, sings a song to indicate
that this part of the ceremony is coming to an end. One of Tooy’s assistants
begins forming the mashed-up mixture into baseball-sized balls, which will
dry hard. Tooy prays to Akoom{ and then passes around a calabash of Dun-
guldliliquid, straight from the pot, which we all sip, being careful to hold it
with our left hand, palm down, Dinguldli fashion.

FAST-FORWARD. It’s 6:00 a.m. The fowl sacrifices begin, first a cock
to Akoomi and then a hen to Tooy’s ancestor Gisi (Kwasimukdmba’s son),
whose dbia pot is also in the Dinguldli chamber. Frank offers each chicken,
in turn, a final sip of water and raises the first one by the back of the neck
for Tooy to interrogate. “Did the ceremony not go well?” (Chicken doesn’t
move.) “Should we sacrifice to Gisi before you?” (Chicken doesn’t move.)
“Did we wait too long to do the ceremony?” (Chicken flaps its wings wildly.)
So, knowing that the only problem is that the ceremony was done nearly a
year later than Tooy had once planned it, he feels as if all is well, that he can
simply pray to Dunguldli for forgiveness on that one. As the song of sacrifice
continues, the fowl expires and Frank lays him at the base of Akoomf’s post.
A knife is brought, the belly split, and the testicles examined. They’re pure
white, meaning all is well, and Frank places the tiny organs on top of the
Dunguldli pot, on a bed of malémbelémbe covered by that same leaf. (At Tooy’s
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request, I do not describe here the songs or prayers or rites connected with
the actual sacrifices.)

During the subsequent days, Tooy divides his time between preparing
Duinguldli bottles for those who participated in the rite, treating his usual
clientele, and helping me understand the many hours of songs that I play
back to him. One day three flirtatious Brasileiras visit and ask to be intro-
duced to me. Tooy, feeling affectionate, tells them in Creole, “This man and
I have the same father and mother—full brothers. It’s just that he came out
white and I black.”

The day before our departure from Cayenne, Sally and I watch Tooy, in
the leaf-room, preparing our own bottle, which he’d specified must be made
of thick glass—a champagne bottle or Dutch genever jug, for example. (Even
with a loose cork, an ordinary wine bottle would explode as the liquid fer-
ments, he said.) Tooy stuffs the empty Veuve Cliquot bottle, which we’d re-
cuperated from the trash bin of the mairie, with a vulture feather, vulture-
bone shavings, barks, leaves, and a broken-up ball from knocking the stone
which must contain twenty or thirty forest ingredients. He adds a liquid
mixture of cane juice and the juice from a mashed-up banana tree before
corking the bottle loosely. Then he wraps it tightly in a black cloth tied with
abright-red sash, and carries it into the Dinguldli chamber.

Sitting down with us again, Tooy launches into one of his philosophi-
cal games: “Someday, you’ll forget a person you love,” he tells me, testing.
I say it’s not possible. But he insists that something could happen to come
between us. “For example, I'm sure that if someone says something bad
about me to you, you’ll want to fight him. And if someone says something
bad about you to me, I'll rip him apart. If someone comes to kill you with a
gun, I'd say shoot me first. All that’s clear. But something could still happen
so that I would no longer want to take your bullet.” I can guess where he’s
going. “It’s called betrayal!” he says. “We could fight about something, but
that wouldn't change the way we feel about each other. There’s a god in [the
village of | Kayana called Mitéénzu Bandngoma. When it possesses someone,
it says, ‘Héé! I'm Magwénu from Ayéwe. I'm Your-friend-who-deceives-you-
till-you-find-evil? If a true friend betrays you, do you think you’ll ever cross
his doorstep again?” Tooy pauses, then continues. “There are three kinds of
false friends. There’s the friend who loves you because of something you're
doing that he wishes he could do, too. Or the friend who loves you because
he wants your wife. Or the friend who loves you because you have lots of



286 * KNOCKING THE STONE

money. In each case, when he’s finished getting what he wants, he’s gone.
But a true friend loves your breath, your sweat, the way you are. You know
why I love you?” he asks. A bit embarrassed, I say I suppose it’s because he
is after my wife, which makes him laugh. “Ilove your sweat,” he says, “your
very blood. The way you sit down here, sweating.” He waves us into the room
adjoining the Dinguldli chamber, where he has prepared an dbia canoe filled
with leaves for us to bathe in. It’s been a week since the leaves were left to
soak, and the liquid is not only black but smells something awful. Tooy tells
us cheerfully that he knows we can’t bathe in it the next day: were leaving,
and we’d stink so much they wouldn’t allow us onto the plane.

On our final evening, at Tooy’s suggestion, we arrange for his lawyer La-
martine to join us for a long-postponed celebration of his liberation from
prison, even though Yaai can’t be present since she’s off in her garden camp.
We buy two bottles of champagne, and Lamartine, our journalist friend Ad-
ams, who'd testified at Tooy'’s trial, and Céline join us and Tooy in his dining
room. Before long, Dinuydngi makes his appearance, and the five of us are
regaled with songs and stories from under the sea.

The warmth of that evening carries over into the morning, when Tooy
takes us into the Duinguldli chamber one last time to formally present our
bottle, now ready for the voyage. Mi kéé fu mafondo, fu sa si maldngo vitd, he
tells me, explaining that in Aptiku language, maféndo means “myself